
CABINET 
AGENDA 

 
Page 1 of 2 

 

TUESDAY 19 OCTOBER 2021 AT 7.30 PM 

 
 
The Councillors listed below are requested to attend the above meeting, on the day and at the time 
and place stated, to consider the business set out in this agenda. 
 
 
Membership 
 

Councillor Williams (Leader) 
Councillor Griffiths (Deputy Leader) 
Councillor Elliot 
 

Councillor Anderson 
Councillor Banks 
Councillor Barrett 
 

 
 
For further information, please contact Corporate and Democratic Support on 01442 228209 
 

AGENDA 
 
 
1. MINUTES  (Pages 3 - 7) 
 
 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on  21st September 2021. 

 
2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 
  

To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
 To receive any declarations of interest 

 
A member with a disclosable pecuniary interest or a personal interest in a matter who 
attends a meeting of the authority at which the matter is considered - 
 
(i) must disclose the interest at the start of the meeting or when the interest 

becomes apparent 
 

and, if the interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest, or a personal interest 
which is also prejudicial 

 
(ii)  may not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter (and must withdraw 

to the public seating area) unless they have been granted a dispensation. 
 

Public Document Pack



 
Page 2 of 2 

 

A member who discloses at a meeting a disclosable pecuniary interest which is not 
registered in the Members’ Register of Interests, or is not the subject of a pending 
notification, must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest within 28 days of the 
disclosure. 
 
Disclosable pecuniary interests, personal and prejudicial interests are defined in Part 2 
of the Code of Conduct for Members 
 
[If a member is in any doubt as to whether they have an interest which should be 
declared they should seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer before the start of the 
meeting]  
 

4. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION   
 
 An opportunity for members of the public to make statements and ask questions in 

accordance with the rules as to Public Participation. 
 

 
5. REFERRALS TO CABINET   
 
 There are no referrals to Cabinet 

 
6. CABINET FORWARD PLAN  (Page 8) 

 
7. ECONOMIC RECOVERY STRATEGY  (Pages 9 - 43) 

 
8. FINANCIAL REGULATIONS  (Pages 44 - 125) 

 
9. RIVER GADE RESTORATION AND IMPROVEMENTS TO GADEBRIDGE PARK 

PROJECT  (Pages 126 - 187) 
 

10. COVID UPDATE  (Pages 188 - 216) 
 

11. ANNUAL INFRASTRUCTURE FUNDING STATEMENT  (Pages 217 - 235) 
 

12. HOUSING ALLOCATIONS POLICY  (Pages 236 - 316) 
 

13. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC   
 
 To consider passing a resolution in the following terms: 

 
That, under s.100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 Schedule 12A Part 1 as 
amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 
2006 the public be excluded during the items in Part 2 of the Agenda for this 
meeting, because it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted, that, if members of the public were present during those items, there 
would be disclosure to them of exempt information relating to the financial and 
business affairs of the Council and third party companies/organisations. 
 
Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Part 1, paragraph 3. 
 

 
 



MINUTES 
 

CABINET 
 

21 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 
Present: 
 
Members: 
 
Councillors: Williams (Leader)  
 Griffiths (Deputy 

Leader) 
 

 Elliot  
 Anderson  
 Banks  
 Barrett  
 
Officers: Claire Hamilton Chief Executive 
 Mark Brookes Assistant Director - Corporate and 

Contracted Services 
 James Deane Corporate Director - Finance and 

Operations 
 Mark Gaynor Corporate Director - Housing & 

Regeneration 
 James Doe Assistant Director - Planning, Development 

and Regeneration 
 Ian johnson  
 Matt Rawdon Group Manager - People 
 
Also Attendance: 
 
  

 
 
 
The meeting began at 7.33 pm 
 
 

CA/52/21   MINUTES 
 

CA/53/21   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

There were no apologies for absence. 
 

CA/54/21   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

There were no declarations of interest. 

 

CA/55/21   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



There was no public participation.   
 

CA/56/21   REFERRALS TO CABINET 
 

There were no referrals to Cabinet. 
 

CA/57/21   CABINET FORWARD PLAN 
 

The forward plan was noted. 
 

CA/58/21   SOUTH WEST HERTS JOINT STRATEGIC PLAN 
 

Cllr Anderson introduced the report and invited questions. 

Cllr Elliot thanked JDoe for report and asked, when advising on duty to cooperate, 

how would you see that panning out?  Will that be more prescriptive, how will you 

prove there has been cooperation? 

JDoe responded that it is not enough to have just met, it will be expected that 

common interest between parties have been set out and that they address areas that 

cannot be resolved.  Looking ahead it is speculation, awaiting announcement from 

the Secretary of State.   

Cllr Anderson added to say that the Planning White Paper proposed scrapping the 

duty to cooperate all together but indications are that any Local Authority that tries to 

get their local plan adopted, that has not gone through that duty to cooperate 

exercise will have little chance of getting their plan approved. 

Recommendations Agreed. 

1. RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND: to Council that the Statement of 
Common Ground (SoCG) underpinning the Joint Strategic Plan (JSP) as 
set out in Appendix 1 is approved. 

 
2. RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND: to Council that the Statement of 

Community Involvement for the Joint Strategic Plan (as set out in 
Appendix 2) is approved for consultation. 

 

CA/59/21   Q1 FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT 
 

Cllr Elliot introduced the budget monitoring report 

Cllr Tindall asked; when will Everyone Active be able to resolve their contractual 

terms as agreed before COVID. 

MBrookes responded to advise that in July the contract returned to a surplus for first 

time since start of COVID.  In terms of longer term projection, discussions are 

continuing with Everyone Active to put that together.  There is a meeting taking place 

next week and MBrookes will update Members once information is available. 

Page 4



3 
 

Cllr Birnie asked; have we finished the acquisition of fleet for Clean, Safe & Green, 

particularly the specialist waste collection vehicles?  

JDeane responded that he would check the current position is with regard acquisition 

of vehicles and will respond by email.  

Cllr Griffiths asked that all members of Cabinet receive that response. 

Recommendations Agreed. 

1. RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND: that Council approve the revised HRA 
capital programme to move £4.63m slippage identified at Quarter 1 into 
financial year 2022/23 as detailed in Appendix C. 

 
2. RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND: That Council approve a supplementary 

revenue budget of £590k in the Leisure budget, funded from the 
Economic Recovery Reserve, for financial support to the Council’s leisure 
provider Everyone Active. 

 

CA/60/21   MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 
 

 
Cllr Birnie commented and noted the Council will need to expand its commercial 
activities to enhance income streams, asking; will there be a specific officer in charge 
of that or is it a blanket request for all departments? 
 
Cllr Elliott responded that currently working on team restructure, this will very much 
be about strategic planning and being commercially astute to deliver extra income 
streams that are required over next few years.  The Portfolio Holder advised the 
Council will be bringing in consultants to advise. 
 
Cllr Birnie asked; are we recruiting specifically for that, or relying on existing officers. 
Cllr Elliot advised that would be covered in the part 2 discussions. 
 
Cllr Birnie referred to assumptions underlying MTFS, page 12, note 9 - budgeting for 
a 2% increase in supplies and services and asked; is that realistic given we are 
looking at inflation. 
 
JDeane advised that we are seeing income fluctuation now, will be updating those 
assumptions as we move through. 
 
Cllr Birnie asked; does that mean we might have to revisit this pretty quickly if 
inflation does accelerate? 
 
JDeane confirmed that is correct, it will be looked at as part of next year’s budget 
setting, adding that this is an exceptional year and we expect to see more movement 
than we would ordinarily see. 
 
Recommendations Agreed. 
 

Page 5



1. RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND: to Council the approval of the revised 
Medium Term Financial Strategy for the period 2021/22 – 2025/26, including 
the recommendations at Section 2 of the Strategy. 

 
 
 

CA/61/21   LAND ASSEMBLY FOR HOUSING DEVELOPMENT - PART 1 
 

Cllr Griffiths introduced the report and noted that lots of consultation had been carried 
out and this was an excellent site for the delivery of social housing in Tring. 
Cllr Griffiths then invited questions. 
 
There were no questions. 
  
Recommendations Agreed. 

 
Cabinet Agreed: 
 

1. To approve the acquisition of Land at Bulborne Road, Tring from the Housing 
Revenue account.  

 
2. To confirm that the areas of land at Marchmont Farm, Hemel Hempstead and 

part of Paradise Depot Hemel Hempstead shown edged red at Appendix B 
are no longer required for the development and commercial purposes for 
which they are currently held.  

 
3. To approve the appropriation of land edged red on the plans at pages 3 and 5 

Appendix B pursuant to section 122 of the Local Government Act 1972 for 
the planning purposes of facilitating redevelopment for residential use 
pursuant to section 226 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 
4. To authorise the Assistant Director of Finance to appropriate the sites known 

as Land at Marchmont Farm, Hemel Hempstead and Paradise Depot, Hemel 
Hempstead from planning purposes to housing purposes and to the Housing 
Revenue account following completion of the new build homes. 

 
 

 

CA/62/21   APPOINTMENT OF CONTRACTOR FOR HOUSING DEVELOPMENT 
- PART 1 
 

Cllr Griffiths introduced the report.  There were no questions. 
 
Recommendations Agreed. 
 
Cabinet Agreed: 
 
1. That the contract to construct 58 social rented units at Paradise Fields 

(Mountbatten View), Hemel Hempstead be awarded to Bugler Developments Ltd. 
 
2. That the contracts to construct 30 social rented units at Randall’s Ride, Hemel 

Hempstead be awarded to Bugler Developments Ltd.  

Page 6



5 
 

 
3. That delegated authority be approved to the Council’s Assistant Director 

(Corporate and Contracted Services) to execute and complete all legal 
agreements ancillary to the JCT Design & Build Contract 2016 and/or reasonably 
required to complete the Project, including (but not limited to): 
a. all professional appointments; 
b. collateral warranties; and 
c. Agreements under  

S.38, & S.278, of the Highways Act 1980;  
S.247, Part III of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990; 
S.104 of the Water Industry Act 1991, and  
S.50 of the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991. 

 

CA/63/21   EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 

Members of the public were excluded as the committee moved to Part II 
 

CA/64/21   LAND ASSEMBLY FOR HOUSING DEVELOPMENT 
 

This item is restricted, please see Part II Minutes for details 
 

CA/65/21   APPOINTMENT OF CONTRACTOR FOR HOUSING DEVELOPMENT 
 

This item is restricted, please see Part II Minutes for details 
 

CA/66/21   SENIOR LEADERSHIP TEAM RESTRUCTURE 
 

This item is restricted, please see Part II Minutes for details 
 

CA/67/21   HAMILTON HOUSE 
 

This item is restricted, please see Part II Minutes for details 
 

CA/68/21   HGV SCARCITY SUPPLEMENT 
 

This item is restricted, please see Part II Minutes for details 
 
 
 
The Meeting ended at 8.58 pm 
 

Page 7



 
Last updated: 11 October 2021 

 

 CABINET FORWARD PLAN  
 

 DATE 

MATTERS FOR 
CONSIDERATION 

 
Decisio

n 
Making 
Proces

s 

Reports to 
Monitoring 

Officer/ 
S.151 

Officer 

CONTACT DETAILS 
BACKGROUND 
INFORMATION 

 23/11/21 Climate & Ecological 
Emergency Update  

 04/11/21 Mark Gaynor, Corporate Director 
Housing & Regeneration 
01442 228575 
Mark.Gaynor@dacorum.gov.uk 
 

To be provided 

 23/11/21 Berkhamsted Sports 
Centre 

 04/11/21 Mark Brookes, Assistant Director 
Corporate & Contracted Services 
01442 228236 
Mark.brookes@dacorum.gov.uk 
 

To be provided 

 23/11/21 Garage Strategy  04/11/21 James Deane, Corporate Director 
Finance & Operations  
01442 228278 
james.deane@dacorum.gov.uk 
 

To update on the 
progress of the 
Garage Strategy 
Project 
 

 23/11/21 New Code of 
Conduct for 
Councillors 

 04/11/21 Mark Brookes, Assistant Director 
Corporate & Contracted Services 
01442 228236 
Mark.brookes@dacorum.gov.uk 
 

To be provided 
 

 14/12/21 Appointment of 
Contractors for 
housing 
development 

 25/11/21 David Barrett, Group Manager 
Housing Development 
01442 228252 
David.barrett@dacorum.gov.uk 
 

Wilstone  
•Garage Project 
A29 
 
PART 2 

 

 
 

Page 8

Agenda Item 6

mailto:Mark.Gaynor@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Mark.brookes@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:james.deane@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Mark.brookes@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:David.barrett@dacorum.gov.uk


 
 

Report for: 
Cabinet 
 

Date of meeting: 19 October 2021 

Part: 1 

If Part II, reason:  

 

Title of report: Dacorum Economic Recovery Plan 
 

Contact: 
 
Cllr Alan Anderson, Portfolio Holder for Planning and 
Infrastructure 
 
Author/Responsible Officer 
James Doe, Assistant Director – Planning, Development and 
Regeneration 
Chris Taylor, Group Manager – Strategic Planning and 
Regeneration 
 

Purpose of report: 1. To outline the rationale for the creation of a new 
Economic Recovery Plan for the Borough of Dacorum, 
as supported by the new multi-partner Economic 
Recovery Board; 

2. To set out the content of the proposed Economic 
Recovery Plan; and 

3. To seek Cabinet’s approval of the Economic Recovery 
Plan 

Recommendations 
 

1. That Cabinet approves the Economic Recovery Plan as 
outlined in the report and at Appendix 1. 

 
 
 

Period for post 
policy/project 
review 

It is proposed that the Economic Recovery Plan will be 
reviewed on an annual basis through the Dacorum Economic 
Recovery Board, Strategic Planning and Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (as part of that Committee’s 
established annual review of economic development issues) 
and Cabinet by way of an annual refresh of the Plan.  

Corporate 
objectives: 

 

 Building strong and vibrant communities 

 Ensuring economic growth and prosperity 

 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 7



Implications: 
 
 
 
 
‘Value for money’ 
implications 

Financial 
 
There are no financial implications for the Council as current 
funding such as the Additional Restriction Grant and current 
Council budget and resources will be used. 
 
 
Value for money 
The proposed actions and approach present value for money 
as they require partners to pool their resources and coordinate 
delivery. 
 

Risk implications 
A risk assessment was completed as part of the evidence 
gathering process and the risks associated with no intervention 
are set out in the Economic Recovery Plan. The effects of 
interventions and a planned approach to create an inclusive 
and sustainable economy will have positive implications for 
those residents furthest away from the labour market and will 
support the growth of a diverse and successful economy. 
 

Community Impact 
Assessment 

Community Impact Assessment completed 
 

Health and safety 
Implications 

None arising from this report 

Monitoring Officer/ 

S.151 Officer  

Comments 

Monitoring Officer: 

No comments to add to the report. 

 

Deputy S151 Officer: 

No further comments to add to this report.  

Consultees: 

 

 

Dacorum Economic Recovery Board 

Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership 

Background 
papers: 

Proposed Economic Recovery Plan (Appendix 1) 

Presentation to Economic Recovery Board, 6 September 2021 
(Appendix 2) 

Dacorum Economic Dashboard Link on DBC website here 

Economic Recovery Board Terms of Reference (Appendix 3) 

Glossary of 
acronyms and any 
other abbreviations 

Herts IQ/HIQ – Herts Innovation Quarter, the Enterprise Zone 
for Hertfordshire comprised of defined land at East 
Hemel Hempstead, Rothamsted Research and the 

Page 10

https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiOTkzYWRhNTYtNTUzMy00YTBjLTg5ODgtNDNkM2EyZjdlNWMyIiwidCI6IjUxYmZkZmVhLWRmZjktNDk5OS1hYmY1LTY1YTc2ODI3NjllZiJ9&pageName=ReportSection57ffcfafb135a2b82ee5


used in this report: Building Research Establishment at Garston 

Herts LEP – Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership 

 
 
Background 
 
Dacorum is well placed to become the future economic driver for Hertfordshire and a 
substantial contributor to the UK economy. The borough can present three key 
opportunities which will drive its future economic success forward: 
 

 The Herts Innovation Quarter (HIQ) Enterprise Zone provides for the 
potential of around 3 million sq. feet of new commercial space, with strong links 
to research and development facilities and is focused on attracting knowledge 
based highly skilled jobs to Dacorum.  

 Hemel Garden Communities (HGC) is an ambitious development programme 
that will transform Hemel Hempstead and create attractive and sustainable 
neighbourhoods and communities through the delivery of more than 11,000 
new homes and 10,000 new jobs by circa 2050. 

 Hemel Hempstead town centre Place Strategy will deliver the long-term 
aspiration to provide a town centre for the benefit of residents, visitors and 
businesses within a 21st century Garden Town contxt. The pandemic has sped 
up the need for repurposing and redeveloping the town centre to ensure, not 
only its future survival, but the potential advantage of its position close to 
London and to the two major developments of HIQ and HGC. It will recognise 
the fundamental shift in retailing patterns and behaviours and will address the 
need to increase the level of business activity and improve the town centre’s 
arts, culture, and leisure offer.  

 
However, there are challenges for the continued success of the local economy and 
the opportunity to drive forward Dacorum’s ambition as key contributor to economic 
growth and wellbeing. These include the experience and transformative effects of the 
pandemic, providing a positive response to the effects of EU exit and continued 
automation in workplaces. 

In order to identify weaknesses and set priorities for action in order to develop 
proposals to ensure a future successful economy, the Council commissioned the 
production of an economic dashboard for Dacorum: 

https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiOTkzYWRhNTYtNTUzMy00YTBjLTg5ODgtN
DNkM2EyZjdlNWMyIiwidCI6IjUxYmZkZmVhLWRmZjktNDk5OS1hYmY1LTY1YTc2O
DI3NjllZiJ9&pageName=ReportSection57ffcfafb135a2b82ee5. 

The Council recognised the requirement to produce a partnership-led Economic 
Recovery Plan so, in its role as community leader, invited partners to form an 
Economic Recovery Board, which met for the first time in May 2021, to start 
developing an Economic Recovery Plan. 
 
 
The New Dacorum Economic Recovery Board 
 
The role of the Board going forward, will be to oversee the delivery of the activities 
within the plan and to measure the impact of the interventions.  It will also ensure that 
activities are coordinated and focussed on needs and priorities. The Board includes 

Page 11

https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiOTkzYWRhNTYtNTUzMy00YTBjLTg5ODgtNDNkM2EyZjdlNWMyIiwidCI6IjUxYmZkZmVhLWRmZjktNDk5OS1hYmY1LTY1YTc2ODI3NjllZiJ9&pageName=ReportSection57ffcfafb135a2b82ee5
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiOTkzYWRhNTYtNTUzMy00YTBjLTg5ODgtNDNkM2EyZjdlNWMyIiwidCI6IjUxYmZkZmVhLWRmZjktNDk5OS1hYmY1LTY1YTc2ODI3NjllZiJ9&pageName=ReportSection57ffcfafb135a2b82ee5
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiOTkzYWRhNTYtNTUzMy00YTBjLTg5ODgtNDNkM2EyZjdlNWMyIiwidCI6IjUxYmZkZmVhLWRmZjktNDk5OS1hYmY1LTY1YTc2ODI3NjllZiJ9&pageName=ReportSection57ffcfafb135a2b82ee5


representatives from a range of partners including the university, LEP, Herts 
Chamber of Commerce and Industry, West Herts College and local businesses from 
a range of types and sizes, including social enterprises. 
 
The Board met on 6 September 2021 to review a draft version of Economic Recovery 
Plan and to receive initial comments. The Plan was positively received and members 
were asked to circulate the document within their organisations for further comments. 
 
The Plan also included the six task and finish groups’ initial action plans which had 
been worked up during July and August. A task and finish group is allocated to each 
of the theme as follows: 
 

1. Skills West Herts College (Lead) 
 

2. Business Growth Dacorum Borough Council (Lead) 
 

3. Innovation Herts IQ (Lead) 
 

4. Inward Investment Dacorum Borough Council/Hemel Hempstead 
Business Ambassadors (Lead) 
 

5. Hemel Hempstead 
Town Centre 
Business 
Development  

Dacorum Borough Council (Lead)  
 
 

6. Export and 
Internationalisation 

Chamber of Commerce (Lead) 
 

 
The next step is for the task and finish groups to meet during October/November to 
develop the details of their action plans and to present to the Board’s next meeting in 
December, for delivery to start in January 2022. 
 
Key Issues  
  
Based on the evidence, the Economic Recovery Board agreed a set of priority 
actions for each of the Task and Finish Groups and these are detailed in the 
Economic Recovery Plan. 
 
In summary, the issues and proposed actions includes: 
 

1. Skills and Employment 
 
Issues: 21% of Dacorum’s residents only have the most basic qualifications (NVQ) 
and will have a challenge in accessing employment opportunities in the growing high 
technology sectors. In addition to this, there will be a substantial requirement for 
retraining, due to jobs lost during the pandemic and, in the next 10 years, due to 
automation. As an example, it is forecast that approximately 1,401 retails jobs will be 
lost due to due to expansion of on-line retail. 
 
Response: Actions proposed by the Board are detailed in the Plan and aim to ensure 

that the current and future workforce has the skills and opportunity to take advantage 

of new high skills technology employment. 

 

2. Business Growth 

Page 12



 

Issues: New business growth since 2020 has been sluggish. Businesses 
incorporated since Jan 2020 make up approximately 13% of current active 
businesses in Dacorum, compared to 20% in the UK. 
  
In addition to this, manufacturing employment is in sharp decline, with a reduction of 
22% between 2015-19. There is a clear need to assist companies to diversify and 
encourage longer term planning to survive. The growth of social enterprises also 
needs to be supported as a way of engaging with communities and build their 
entrepreneurial capacity. 
 
Actions proposed by the Board are detailed in the Plan. In summary it proposes a 
focus on engaging with, and supporting, businesses and the development of social 
enterprises/community interest companies’ capacity to facilitate growth, investment 
and to ensure longer term strategic plans meet the needs of the businesses. 
 

3. Innovation 
 

Issues: There has been unstable GVA growth in Dacorum since 2010, especially in 
sectors adding high value such as Information and Communication and Professional 
services. On the other hand, there is an existing well-developed cluster within these 
sectors and they should perform better. There is a clear lack of innovation capability 
and a reason to ensure the future growth and improved performance of these 
sectors. The anticipated growth of the enviro-tech sector in Herts IQ and the 
opportunity to link this with Hemel Garden Communities, requires a coordinated 
approach to ensure success. Another clear indicator to the slow GVA growth is the 
lower than average workplace earnings, showing a lack of innovation growth and 
high paid/skilled employment.  
 
Actions proposed by the Board are detailed in the Plan and aim to support the growth 

of the existing Information, Science, Technology and Professional Services clusters 

and also to focus on developing the growing enviro-tech sector, linking closely with 

Herts IQ and Hemel Garden Communities. 

 

4. Inward Investment 

 

Issues: Dacorum is ideally placed geographically to maximise business investment 
into the area. It needs to develop a brand that sets out the key messages for 
attracting investment that is based on “the place” and which is bought in to by all 
partners and stakeholders. The brand needs to sell the ambitious renewal agenda 
and to promote opportunities for investment in both housing and employment with 
supporting infrastructure. Once the brand is in place, and the Hemel Place Strategy 
is developed, then these key messages can be used to both promote the “place” and 
lobby for funding to support the delivery of ambitious plans to deliver. 
 

Actions proposed by the Board are detailed in the Plan and aim to Identify Dacorum’s 
unique selling point (USP) and develop the engagement with inward investors, 
regional and national partners to promote the opportunities in the Borough and lobby 
for funding and investment. 

5. Hemel Hempstead Town Centre Business Development 
 
Issues: There are pockets of deprivation in and around Hemel Hempstead town 
which illustrate the hallmark of a New Town needing investment and reimagining to 

Page 13



ensure its future sustainability. The volume of new commercial leases in the town 
centres has fallen resulting in a weakened town centre offer with a lack of cultural, 
leisure and workspaces to drive footfall and recovery of the High Streets. To be 
successful in the longer term, and to take advantage of the fact that 27% of Dacorum 
residents work from home, the introduction of new and flexible workspaces will be a 
key component to drive the repurposing of not only Hemel Town centre but also Tring 
and Berkhamsted.  
 
Actions proposed by the Board are detailed in the Plan and aim to repurpose Hemel 
Hempstead Town Centre (HHTC) and introduce new work spaces and employment 
opportunities. 
 

6. Export and Internationalisation 
 
Issues: Dacorum has extensive international links with nearly 100 Dacorum 
businesses exporting goods across the globe. Its excellent location near key 
transport links such as the M1 and M25, enables easy access across the UK and to 
the continent. A contributor to business growth is export and although Brexit has 
provided challenges it also offers opportunities to trade with markets further afield. 
More companies in Dacorum needs to be made aware of the opportunities and how 
to access them. 
 
Actions proposed by the Board are detailed in the Plan and aim to develop the 
International Dacorum offer and brand, promoting export and developing international 
partnership links. 
 
 
Conclusions 
 
Following the pandemic and the introduction of other external factors such as EU exit 
and automation, it is clear that the Dacorum economy needs a reset in order to 
continue the trajectory of its previous current success. The priority for the future is to 
make the economic success in Dacorum sustainable, resilient and accessible to all 
local residents and businesses.  
 
The draft Economic Recovery Plan has been built following an analysis of the 
economic evidence available along with partners’ input and feedback, and it aims to 
provide a coordinated to approach to deliver economic growth in the Borough. The 
Council’s role as a community leader, will be to lead the Economic Recovery Board 
and to ensure the Plan is taken forward and actions are delivered with the desired 
outcomes. 
 
 
Recommendations 
 
That Cabinet approves the Economic Recovery Plan as outlined in the report and at 
Appendix 1. 
 

Page 14



DACORUM ECONOMIC RECOVERY BOARD 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 

 

Vision 

 

 
The Forum’s vision is to jointly develop a future proof and sustainable 
Economic Recovery Plan with partners, which will restart the economy 
following the pandemic.  
 
Also to ensure all current and future opportunities are accessed by all 
residents and businesses in the District, through a partnership delivery 
approach. 
 

Purpose  

 

The main purpose of the Board is to develop and oversee the delivery of an 
evidence based partnership Economic Recovery Plan, including activities to 
enable Dacorum to re-set and recover economically following the pandemic. 
The Recovery Plan also aims to set the interventions needed to achieve long 
term sustainable and inclusive economic well-being. 
 
The Plan aims to inform and direct other related strategies in relation to local 
economy needs, such as the Hemel IQ, Hemel Garden Communities, Town 
Centre Revitalisation Plan. 
 
 
In the first instance, the Board will establish an evidence base and on the 
basis of the evidence, agree focus, outcomes and priorities. Also agreeing 
delivery and governance and seeking buy-in from key agencies and partners.  

 

Corporate Priorities 

 

The Board contributes towards the delivery on the priority in the Corporate 
Plan of ensuring economic growth and prosperity  
 

The strategic priorities of the Council which fall within the remit of the Board 
are included in the relevant subset of the Corporate Plan, and are as follows: 

 

 We will work with Hertfordshire IQ to help establish new enviro-
tech and high value businesses 

 We will continue to support the work of the Hemel Hempstead 
Business Ambassadors 

 We will continue to promote Dacorum as a prime location for  
inward investment and create the regulatory and policy 
environment to help emerging sectors flourish 

 We will continue to work with Government and partners to 
develop plans for the roll-out of gigabit connectivity in the 
borough 

 We will work with Herts LEP and local colleges to develop skills 
for emerging growth sectors 

 We will continue to encourage business start-ups through our 
high quality business centres and business development team 

 We will work with town centre businesses across the borough 
and the Hemel Hempstead BID partners to address the future of 
our high streets to help enable them to develop and flourish 

 
The Board will also contribute to the delivery of the Dacorum Growth and 
Infrastructure Strategy 2020 http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-
source/strategic-planning/dacorum-growth-and-infratstructure-strategy-to-
2050.pdf?sfvrsn=a0fa089e_4  
 
 

Page 15

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/strategic-planning/dacorum-growth-and-infratstructure-strategy-to-2050.pdf?sfvrsn=a0fa089e_4
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/strategic-planning/dacorum-growth-and-infratstructure-strategy-to-2050.pdf?sfvrsn=a0fa089e_4
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/strategic-planning/dacorum-growth-and-infratstructure-strategy-to-2050.pdf?sfvrsn=a0fa089e_4


DACORUM ECONOMIC RECOVERY BOARD 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 

 

In particular it will deliver the following themes: 
o Generating a Vibrant Economy with opportunities for all 
o Harnessing the opportunity of technology and digital 

connectivity 
 

Specific Outcomes and 
Performance Indicators 

 

Initially 3 workshops will be held to set out the:  

 Vision 

 Opportunities 

 Priorities and Focus 

 Outcomes and Outputs 
 
The three workshops will invite a broad base of internal and external 
stakeholders and will be set out as follows: 
 
WS 1 - Where are we now?                                                                 May 
2021 
Reset the economy baseline to understand how Covid and other 
macro-economic impacts have affected/ will affect the economy.  
 
WS 2- Developing the response and activities                          June/July 
2021 
Discuss and agree the objectives, priorities and timescales including 

getting partners buy in and commitment to delivery. This workshop 

will also look at what the “new normal” looks like and how can that be 

built into the Plan to ensure future proofing. 

WS 3 – Presentation of first draft of the Recovery Plan        Sept/Oct   
2021 
 
 
The initial outcomes of the Board will therefore be: 
  

 Procuring an agile and current evidence base 

 Agreeing an Economic Recovery Plan 

 Agreeing a monitoring and performance framework 
 
Outputs of the delivery of the Economic Recovery Plan will include: 
 

 Increased residents’ health and wellbeing including earnings 

 Improved access to new employment opportunities by 
residents currently employed in  shrinking sectors 

 Increased development of new and future sectors 

 Decreased Town Centre vacancy rates 

 Increased footfall in the Borough’s town centres 

 Improved survival rate of businesses 

 Levelling up of access to opportunities amongst resident and 
businesses in the District 

 
 
6 working groups will be formed to progress on the Board’s agreed 

Page 16



DACORUM ECONOMIC RECOVERY BOARD 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 

 

themes: 
 

1. Ensuring a current and future workforce has the skills and 

opportunity to take advantage of new high skills technology 

employment. 

2. Engaging with and supporting businesses and develop social 

enterprises’ capacity to facilitate growth, investment and 

ensure longer term strategic plans meet the needs of the 

businesses. 

3. Supporting the growth of the existing Information, Science, 

Technology and Professional Services clusters and 

developing the growing Enviro Tech sector, linking closely 

with Herts IQ and Hemel Garden Community 

4. Identifying Dacorum’s USP and develop the engagement 

with inward investors, regional and national partners to 

promote the opportunities in the district and lobby for 

funding and investment. 

5. Repurposing Hemel Hempstead town centre and introduce 

new work spaces and employment opportunities. 

6. Developing the International Dacorum brand, promoting 

export and developing international partnership links. 

Key Responsibilities 

 

In delivering the outcomes above, the Board will oversee and manage the 
delivery of the Economic Recovery Plan.  

Particular roles will include: 

 Identify new opportunities and ensure agility in delivery to meet 
new and future challenges. 

 Promote and champion Dacorum to regional agencies and partners 
and to central government to attract support and funding. 

 Deployment of staff and finance. 

 Escalation of issues to SLT and Portfolio Holders as necessary. 

 Monitoring and challenging of performance, especially key 
milestones and key indicators as defined. 

 Develop, promote and gain approval and funding for Business Cases 
for proposed activities and projects. 

Modus Operandi 

 

To function effectively, the Board will: 

 Ensure the Board is inclusive of all relevant internal and external 
stakeholders and ensure co-ordination of stakeholder policies and 
strategies.  

 Secure Dacorum representation and ensure improved influence at 
Herts LEP. 

 Secure ongoing representation at Herts IQ and Hemel Garden 
Communities Boards. 

 Agree pooling of partner resources and joint delivery. 

 Develop an engagement strategy to ensure external partners, 
particularly the private sector, are engaged and that their priorities 
are identified. 

 Raise the profile of Dacorum’s potential to Herts LEP and Central 
Government. 

 Provide the Corporate Performance Team with the information it 

Page 17



DACORUM ECONOMIC RECOVERY BOARD 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 

 

needs to monitor and report progress and performance 

 Where necessary commission research so as to inform strategies, 
plans and decision-making. 

Board Leadership 

(Who will be held 
accountable for the Board’s 
successful operation?) 

The Board’s Chairperson will initially be Dacorum Chief Executive with the 
view for an external partner, such as a local business, to chair once the 
Recovery Plan has been agreed and is being delivered. 

Members of the Forum: 

Dacorum Council 

 Claire Hamilton, Chief Executive 

 Mark Gaynor, Director 

 James Doe, Assistant Director 

 Linda Roberts, Assistant Director 

 Chris Taylor – Group Manager, Strategic Planning and Regeneration 

External Stakeholders: 

 Dacorum Business Ambassadors 

 Hemel Garden Communities 

 Herts IQ 

 West Herts College 

 Herts LEP  

 BID 

 DWP 

 Local businesses 

 Social Enterprise 

 Herts Chamber of Commerce 
 

There is an opportunity to form specific task and finish groups, led by one of 
the Board’s members and engaging a wider stakeholder group and experts. 

For example: 

 Creating Social Value and Ensuring Digital Infrastructure in New 
Developments groups – including developers, Hemel Garden 
Community, Planning 

 Career Advice in Schools – School Heads, businesses, Career Ready 

 

Other Board Members 

(On whose participation 
does the success of the 
Board depend?) 

Other board members will be determined as projects and work streams 
progress 

 

Meetings 

(When and how frequently 
will the Board meet to 
make key decisions?) 

The themed working groups will meet monthly to drive the actions forward 
and report to the Board which will meet quarterly. 

 

 

Page 18



September 2019 V2 1 

Dacorum BC Community Impact Assessment (CIA) Template 

Policy / service / decision Dacorum Economic Recovery Plan 

Description of what is being impact assessed 

What are the aims of the service, proposal, project? What outcomes do you want to achieve? What are the reasons for the proposal or change? Do you 

need to reference/consider any related projects? 

Stakeholders; Who will be affected? Which protected characteristics is it most relevant to? Consider the public, service users, partners, staff, Members, etc 

It is advisable to involve at least one colleague in the preparation of the assessment,  dependent on likely level of impact 

The new Economic Recovery Plan is a multi-agency response to addressing short, medium and long term issues with the local economy. Led by DBC it 

includes key partners such as Herts LEP, HCC, West Herts College, HCCI and local businesses. It deals with recovery from both the Covid19 pandemic but 

importantly looks at economic futures generally and the opportunities they present for Dacorum.  

Evidence 

What data/information have you used to assess how this policy/service/decision might impact on protected groups? 

(include relevant national/local data, research, monitoring information, service user feedback, complaints, audits, consultations, CIAs from other projects 

or other local authorities, etc.). You should include such information in a proportionate manner to reflect the level of impact of the policy/service/decision.   

Economic Dashboard – link within Cabinet report  

Current data regarding unemployment, salaries, skills levels etc.  

 

 

P
age 19



September 2019 V2 2 

Who have you consulted with to assess possible impact on protected groups?  If you have not consulted other people, please 

explain why? You should include such information in a proportionate manner to reflect the level of impact of the policy/service/decision.   

The Economic Recovery Board includes partners from across all sectors that will have a rle and are able to impact positively in 

relation to economic recovery 

 

 

Analysis of impact on protected groups (and others) 

The Public Sector Equality Duty requires Dacorum BC to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster 

good relations with protected groups. Consider how this policy/service/decision will achieve these aims.  Using the table below, 

detail what considerations and potential impacts against each of these using the evidence that you have collated and your own 

understanding.  Based on this information, make an assessment of the likely outcome, before you have implemented any 

mitigation. 

 The PCs of Marriage and Civil Partnership and Pregnancy and Maternity should be added if their inclusion is relevant for impact assessment. 

 Use “insert below” menu layout option to insert extra rows where relevant (e.g. extra rows for different impairments within Disability). 

Protected group 

Summary of impact 

What do you know?  What do people tell you? Summary of data and feedback about service 

users and the wider community/ public. Who uses / will use the service? Who doesn’t / can’t 

and why? Feedback/complaints?  

Negative 

impact / 

outcome 

Neutral 

impact / 

outcome 

Positive 

impact / 

outcome 

Age Focus on youth unemployment within the ER Plan  

☐ ☐ ☒ 

P
age 20



September 2019 V2 3 

Disability (physical, 

intellectual, mental) 

Refer to CIA Guidance Notes 

and Mental Illness & 

Learning Disability Guide 

Focus on Social Enterprises and the inclusion of the third sector 
within the Recovery Board  

☐ ☐ ☒ 

Gender reassignment Support and recovery will benefit across all sectors and positively 
impact on all  ☐ ☒ ☐ 

Race and ethnicity Support and recovery will benefit across all sectors and positively 
impact on all ☐ ☒ ☐ 

Religion or belief Support and recovery will benefit across all sectors and positively 
impact on all ☐ ☒ ☐ 

Sex Support and recovery will benefit across all sectors and positively 
impact on all ☐ ☒ ☐ 

Sexual orientation Support and recovery will benefit across all sectors and positively 
impact on all ☐ ☒ ☐ 

P
age 21



September 2019 V2 4 

Not protected 

characteristics but 

consider other 

factors, e.g. carers, 

veterans, homeless, 

low income, 

loneliness, rurality 

etc. 

Support and recovery will benefit across all sectors and positively 
impact on all 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

Negative impacts / outcomes action plan 

Where you have ascertained that there will potentially be negative impacts / outcomes, you are required to mitigate the impact of 

these.  Please detail below the actions that you intend to take. 

Action taken/to be taken 

(copy & paste the negative impact / outcome then detail action) 
Date 

Person 

responsible 
Action complete 

 

 The Plan provides a strategic basis for detailed action planning which is 

yet to take place. These actions must be considered against the protected 

characteristics as above to ensure there is a positive effect.   

31/01/2022  

☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

P
age 22



September 2019 V2 5 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 

If negative impacts / outcomes remain, please provide an explanation below. 

As above  

Completed by (all involved in CIA) Chris Taylor Group Manager Strategic Planning & Regeneration  

Date 4/10/2021 

Signed off by (AD from different Directorate 

if being presented to CMT / Cabinet) 

 

Date  

P
age 23



September 2019 V2 6 

Entered onto CIA database - date  

To be reviewed by (officer name)  

Review date  

 

 

P
age 24



 

1 | P a g e  
 

 

DACORUM 

ECONOMIC 

RECOVERY PLAN 

 

Sep 2021  

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 25



 

2 | P a g e  
 

1. BACKGROUND 
 

The Pandemic together with Brexit is presenting Dacorum’s residents and businesses with 

unprecedented challenges. The Council, in its role as community leader, invited partners to form an 

Economic Recovery Board, who met for the first time in May 2021 to start developing an Economic 

Recovery Plan. The role of the Board going forward, will be to oversee the delivery of the activities 

and measure impact of interventions together with ensuring activities are coordinated and focussed 

on needs and priorities. The Board includes representatives from a range of partners who can 

provide input to address the activities including Hertfordshire university, Hertfordshire Local 

Enterprise Partnership (Herts LEP) , Hertfordshire Chamber of Commerce and West Hertfordshire 

College and working with some local businesses too from a range of types and sizes and including 

social enterprises. To review the current baseline, Dacorum Council commissioned consultancy 

HATCH to develop a dashboard of statistics of the current economic position of the District. The 

Dacorum Dashboard displays the competitive advantages of the District, as well as threats to its 

future economic success and wellbeing, and broader issues to consider. 

 

 

The Dashboard is accessible on the following link: 

https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiOTkzYWRhNTYtNTUzMy00YTBjLTg5ODgtNDNkM2EyZjdlN

WMyIiwidCI6IjUxYmZkZmVhLWRmZjktNDk5OS1hYmY1LTY1YTc2ODI3NjllZiJ9&pageName=ReportSec

tion57ffcfafb135a2b82ee5 

As a result of the findings from the dashboard together with the input from partners the following 6 

priority themes were identified: 

 

1. Ensuring a current and future workforce has the skills and opportunity to take advantage of 

new high skills technology employment. 

2. Engaging with and supporting businesses and develop social enterprises’/community 

interest companies capacity to facilitate growth, investment and ensure longer term 

strategic plans meet the needs of the businesses. 

3. Supporting the growth of the existing Information, Science, Technology and Professional 

Services clusters and developing the growing Enviro Tech sector, linking closely with Herts 

Innovation Quarter (Herts IQ) and Hemel Garden Community. 

4. Identifying Dacorum’s Unique Selling Point (USP) and develop the engagement with inward 

investors, regional and national partners to promote the opportunities in the district and 

lobby for funding and investment. 

5. Repurposing Hemel Hempstead town centre and introduce new work spaces and 

employment opportunities. 

6. Developing the International Dacorum brand, promoting export and developing 

international partnership links. 

 

This report sets out the key evidence which supports the choice of the themes and the solutions to 

ensure residents and businesses access to future opportunities.  

 

 

 

 

Page 26

https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiOTkzYWRhNTYtNTUzMy00YTBjLTg5ODgtNDNkM2EyZjdlNWMyIiwidCI6IjUxYmZkZmVhLWRmZjktNDk5OS1hYmY1LTY1YTc2ODI3NjllZiJ9&pageName=ReportSection57ffcfafb135a2b82ee5
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiOTkzYWRhNTYtNTUzMy00YTBjLTg5ODgtNDNkM2EyZjdlNWMyIiwidCI6IjUxYmZkZmVhLWRmZjktNDk5OS1hYmY1LTY1YTc2ODI3NjllZiJ9&pageName=ReportSection57ffcfafb135a2b82ee5
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiOTkzYWRhNTYtNTUzMy00YTBjLTg5ODgtNDNkM2EyZjdlNWMyIiwidCI6IjUxYmZkZmVhLWRmZjktNDk5OS1hYmY1LTY1YTc2ODI3NjllZiJ9&pageName=ReportSection57ffcfafb135a2b82ee5


 

3 | P a g e  
 

2. INTRODUCTION 
 

Dacorum is the largest district in Hertfordshire by number of jobs, with a working population of 83,400 
(employees and self-employed).  Before the pandemic, it had a participation rate1 of 85.2% and has a 
healthy mix of industries and sectors that continue to create a diverse and vibrant business 
environment. There is a very high proportion (over 90%) that have less than 10 employees.  
The area is well connected to London, the rest of the country and internationally. The west coast 
mainline means London Euston is only half an hour away, and road junctions on the M1 and M25 a 
short drive away, location is one of Dacorum’s main economic strengths.  

 

 
 
Maylands Business Park is a key employment areas for both the borough and the county. The 
aspiration for Maylands is its continued development, encouraging a high standard of design and 
construction to ensure an attractive work place. 
 
Dacorum is well placed to become the future economic driver for Hertfordshire and a substantial 
contributor the UK economy. The borough can present three key opportunities which will drive the 
future economic success forward: 
 

 The Herts Innovation Quarter (HIQ) Enterprise Zone has 3 million sq. feet of new commercial space 
available, with strong links to research and development facilities and focused on attracting 
knowledge based highly skilled jobs to Dacorum.  

 Hemel Garden Communities (HGC) is an ambitious development programme that will transform 
Hemel Hempstead and create attractive and sustainable neighbourhoods and communities through 
the delivery of more than 11,000 new homes and 10,000 new jobs by 2050. 

 Hemel Hempstead town centre is planned for repurposing and reinventing with the long term 
aspiration to transform Hemel Hempstead from a mark one new town into a 21st century mark two 
new town. The event of the pandemic has speed up the need for repurposing and redeveloping the 
town centre to ensure not only ensure its future survival but also taking advantage of its position 
close to London and to the two major developments of HIQ and HGC.  

 

However, there are challenges for the continued success of the local economy and the opportunity 

to drive forward Dacorum’s ambition as key contributor to economic growth and wellbeing. These 

include the experience of the pandemic, the ongoing implementation of Brexit, and continued 

automation in workplaces. On the basis of current evidence and statistics from the Dacorum 

                                                           
1 Economically active residents 16 - 64 

Page 27



 

4 | P a g e  
 

Economic Dashboard and other sources, the Dacorum Economic Recovery Board has identified the 

priorities (as set out above) to ensure Dacorum reduces the effect of current challenges and ensures 

the continued developments of its strengths and future opportunities. 

 

3. CURRENT BASELINE EVIDENCE 
 

A successful economy with prospects for economic growth 

 

Dacorum is a successful and growing economy with residents earning above UK average and above 

those of comparative areas. It has a dynamic and strong business base with several large sectors 

with a high and growing concentration of active businesses:  

 Information and communication (LQ2 = 3.1 and growth since 2016 is 2.8%); 

 Professional/ scientific and technical services (LQ is 2.4 and 4.6% growth)  

 Construction (LQ is 2.4 and 20% growth)  

 

In particular there has been high employment growth since 2015 in  

 Professional/ scientific and technical services (33%) 

 Logistics (25%) 

 

Dacorum has innovative, high-growth, exporting activity with nearly 100 companies in Dacorum 

exporting high tech goods, providing an excellent platform for further international trade and 

promoting the district’s innovative capacity internationally. Some of the high-tech and innovative 

companies in the district are: 

 Eltec Power - a world leader in high-efficiency power electronics and energy conversion 

 Goodrich Aerospace – providing life support systems to space stations 

 Henkel - operates worldwide with leading innovations, brands and technologies in three 

business areas: Adhesive Technologies, Beauty Care and Laundry  

 HUEL – food supplements and dietary shakes 

 FFEI - a leading integrator and manufacturer of industrial digital inkjet systems and digital life 

science technology. 

 Imagine Tech - provides high quality Web Based Software Solutions to all type of businesses 

 Consort Medical - healthcare company, focused on added value medical technologies 

 

These companies provide an excellent base for attracting similar tech companies and suppliers, 

forming a cluster of innovation and technology. It is also a key selling point for the district to be used 

in inward investment activities. 

 

The emergence of new and future sectors, such as Enviro Tech and Modern Methods of Construction 

presents a real opportunity to continue driving the economic growth forward. This must be linked 

with Hemel Garden Communities and Herts IQ to provide a platform for future high value 

employment growth. 

 

                                                           
2 Location quotient is a measure of concentration of a particular sector/industry. If a particular industry has an 
LQ of more than 1.0, it means that industry has a high concentration in that region/area compared to Great 
Britain as a whole. 

Page 28



 

5 | P a g e  
 

 …. But a vulnerable economy with unstable GVA3 growth and sluggish new business growth 

 

Although Dacorum has some excellent success stories, there are weak areas and persistent 

challenges. Sectors such as Information and Communication and Professional services, which should 

add high value, have  weak economic growth in Dacorum. The sluggish productivity growth is 

reflected in the lower workplace income in 2020 (£30,666) compared to average Hertfordshire 

(£32,541)4. To compare, Watford, with substantially higher productivity, has a higher workplace 

income (£33,662). The link between higher productivity and workplace earnings is clear and shows 

the existence of a larger proportion of higher paid and skilled employment in Watford. In Dacorum, 

this is reflected in the lower-than-Hertfordshire average of residents with NVQ4 (41% and 45% 

respectively) and higher than Hertfordshire average in residents with only NVQ2 (21% and 19 % 

respectively)5, resulting in a slow productivity growth and lower salaries  

 

The slow GVA growth in these sectors could indicate a reluctance to embrace new technologies and 

to innovate, instead relying on traditional work practises. In order to drive up salaries and skill 

demand, all sectors need to be encouraged to restructure their operations and to take on new 

technologies. This is also crucial to enable them to compete in the longer term in the face of 

competition from more productive national and international companies. 

 

In addition, new business growth since 2020 has been sluggish despite strong growth until then. 

Businesses incorporated since Jan 2020 make up approximately 13% of current active businesses in 

Dacorum compared to 20% in the UK. In particular the growth of micro businesses (10 or less 

employees) are reducing and reclining at -1.8%. This is concerning as 92% of all businesses in 

Dacorum are micro businesses6.  

 

Compared to UK average, Dacorum has an oversupply of retail jobs and jobs in elementary sectors 

which are vulnerable to automation and have been affected by the pandemic.  Due to a shift 

towards online sales, Hemel town centre is expected to lose 31% or 1,401 retail jobs. In addition to 

this, there is a sharp decline in manufacturing employment, with a reduction of 22% from 2015 to 

2019. The introduction of automation and new processes has reduced the need for lower skilled 

employment affecting the 21% of residents lacking skills above NVQ2.  

 

Dacorum is an affluent community with a high skilled workforce  

 

Dacorum has all the features to attract inward investors and new residents with low overall 

deprivation with only 6% of Dacorum sits within the top two deciles7 for multiple deprivation 

nationally. Dacorum is an affluent area with high levels of average resident earnings in 2020 of 

£35,134 compared to UK £32,007. However it is worth noting it is below Hertfordshire average 

earnings of £36,346. As a comparison, other new towns such as Harlow (Essex border) shows less 

affluence with an average resident income of £25,827, evidencing the success of Hemel 

Hempstead’s ability as a New Town to retain economic success. 

                                                           
3 Gross Value Added is the total value from sales which is an income to a business. The higher value goods 
produced, the higher GVA. 
4 Skills and Labour Market Review Hertfordshire, 2020 
5 Dacorum Economic Dashboard, 2021 
6 Dacorum Economic Dashboard, 2021 
7 Deprivation is divided in 10 bands nationally and only 6% of Dacorum sits within the two top two most 
deprived deciles 

Page 29



 

6 | P a g e  
 

 

Residents in Dacorum have an excellent standard of living with a quarter of the borough within the 

least deprived decile of England and annual household income after housing costs £4,000 more than 

England.  
 

There is a large local workforce with a growing overall population across all age groups, ensuring the 

accessibility to companies a large number of economically active local workforce. 
 

In relation to skills, 41% of Dacorum residents are qualified to NVQ 4 or above. This is higher than 

national averages.  This means Dacorum can supply a highly skilled workforce to employers, adding 

to the attraction as a location for business.  Relatively low unemployment in the borough has also 

led to many employees commuting from outside, drawing from the London, Luton and Watford 

labour pool. 
 

Dacorum residents are well adapted to home working with 27,.4%8 of Dacorum residents working 

from home and able to take advantage of post pandemic “new normal”. This presents an excellent 

opportunity in a future where attitudes towards working and living full time in the capital are 

changing. It also presents an opportunity to attract large City companies to locate regional hubs in 

Dacorum to service their workforce. 
 

…but pockets of deprivation and low work place salaries within vulnerable sectors 
 

There are pockets of deprivation in and around Hemel Hempstead town centre, particularly in 

relation to crime and barriers to housing and services9. There are marked differences between Tring, 

Berkhamsted, and Hemel Hempstead and a lower-than-Hertfordshire-average income.  

High house prices and lack of affordable housing especially in Hemel Hempstead is a particular 

barrier to increased economic wellbeing with a stark difference between household income before 

and after housing costs. 

 

Another clear indicator to the reduction in resident’s economic wellbeing are the workplace earnings 

at an average of £30,666 in 2020 and lower than Hertfordshire average (£32,541)10. This shows the 

inability of Dacorum’s residents to access the high skilled and paid jobs in the Borough and the lack 

of access and career paths. With many resident’s employed within low paid sectors affected by the 

pandemic and future automation, the prospect of improving their access to opportunity to increase 

their economic wellbeing is drastically reduced without intervention. 

 

Effects of furlough 
 

Dacorum had 4,000 workers on furlough at the end of June 2021 which represents 7% of the total 
workforce. What the final figure of how many of these retained employment and the effects on 
unemployment will be, will not be known until end of October. However Dacorum is well placed to 
bounce back due to the oversupply of jobs pre Covid (Labour Density11 of 1.16 compared to UK 0.86 
in Dec 2019) and lower than UK unemployment in August 2021 (4.8% in Dacorum and UK 5.3%). 
Anecdotal evidence from speaking to Dacorum employers and recruitment agencies also shows a 
difficulty in finding staff pointing at an oversupply of jobs. The difficulty in recruiting staff is adds 
another challenge to achieve future economic growth and for companies to recover post Covid. 

                                                           
8 The Future of Towns and Cities Post Covid, KPMG 2021 
9 Dacorum Economic Dashboard, 2021 
10 Dacorum Economic Dashboard, 2021 
11 Jobs density - Ratio of jobs in relation to residents 

Page 30



 

7 | P a g e  
 

 

However the recovery of employment and decrease in unemployment will be slow as the change in 
the labour market will create mismatches with employees from affected sectors needing to retrain 
to access employment in sectors with job opportunities. This is particularly true for young people, 18 
– 21, where 3 out of 5 have lost their jobs as a result of Covid. Unemployment for this group is 
currently at 6.6% in Dacorum. While some areas of the economy might start to recover, young 
workers are under-represented in these sectors, and the industries that typically employ them will 
be hit hardest in the long term. Longer-term structural changes in the labour market such as 
automation and introduction of new technologies, are likely to reduce job opportunities for young 
people without support to improve their skills. 
 

As a result of the large prevalence of sectors affected by the Pandemic, Dacorum has a high number 

of workers on furlough, 124 per 1,000 compared to England 111 per 100,000. The effect of furlough 

is still uncertain until later in 2021, however it presents a threat and may lead to higher 

unemployment and current inequalities can be exacerbated in the longer term of the pandemic. 
 

Dealing with the effects of the Pandemic on town centres 

 

The event of the Pandemic has sped up some of the inevitable developments such as an increase in 

online shopping and increased home working. Town centres in particular have felt the effects and 

there is an urgent need to review and repurpose the borough’s town centres. Hemel town centre is 

particularly weak and even before the pandemic, had the hallmark of a New Town needing 

investment and reimagining to ensure future sustainability. The KPMG report Future of Towns and 

Cities Post Covid, identifies Hemel Hempstead town centre as one of the most vulnerable towns in 

England, to the effects of COVID and with the most obstacles to recovery. 
 

Town centres must move from being focussed on retail to include a much broader offer such as 

employment space, and cultural/leisure activities in order to survive in the long term. The existence 

of employment space has been drastically reduced over the last 5 years due to permitted 

development. The volume of new commercial leases in the town centres has fallen and in Q1 2021 is 

lower than both previous years, resulting in a poor town centre offering with a lack of cultural, 

leisure and workspaces to drive footfall and recovery of the High Streets. 

 

“Supply of employment space is at critically low levels: growing demand and the loss of existing 
premises has resulted in a shortage of employment space in South West Hertfordshire. The 
availability of space is now at critically low levels in several key locations (e.g. industrial space in 
Dacorum). This could place a significant constraint on growth, particularly in those office-based 
sectors key to increasing productivity.  
 

Changes to permitted development rights have contributed to the loss of offices. Vacancy rates are 
now so low that any further losses are likely to result in the displacement of jobs and businesses. 
Therefore, the South West Hertfordshire authorities should resist pressure for further changes of 
use in key employment areas and explore the potential for Article 4 directions in the most at-risk 
locations.  
 

 The Dacorum Employment Land Availability Assessment states that office floor space has fallen in 
the Borough’s town centres and that there was no justification for any further losses. Indeed, the 
concern is that further losses in Hemel Hempstead town centre will force some local businesses to 
relocate out of the town.”  
 
Dacorum Local Plan; Economic Topic Paper chapter 3 

Page 31



 

8 | P a g e  
 

 
The higher proportion of residents working from home, combined with a lack of employment space 

in the district’s town centre is a considerable threat to the future growth of Hemel town centre as it 

contributes towards the reduction of footfall and highlights the need to repurpose the town centre 

offer to enable a recovery. 

 

“The economic success of a city is determined by its ability to attract exporting12 businesses. Since 
they export, they can inject money into the local economy. Among exporting businesses, it is high-
skilled exporters, such as engineers and financial services businesses that bring the most wealth to a 
local economy.” 
 
What’s in Store, Centre for Cities, 2019 

 

Hemel town centre has an opportunity to play a key role in the recovery of the economy by offering 

new and flexible workspaces, servicing new business start-ups and residents wanting to work locally. 

The focus on attracting knowledge-based companies into the town centre, will provide opportunities 

to increase the amount of high skilled employment and money spent  in town centre retail and 

service establishments. Nearly 30% of residents in Dacorum are expected to continue working from 

home, affecting the footfall in the town centre. This fact, together with a very weak leisure and 

cultural offering attracting footfall, will make the recovery for the town centre challenging without 

intervention and an interruption of the market. 

 

“Remodel city and town centres away from a reliance on retail. Alongside other policies to attract 
more high-skilled jobs, cities should adapt their high streets to better suit customer preferences. This 
means providing offices for new jobs and reshaping the high street away from retail and leisure” 
 
What’s in Store, Centre for Cities, 2019 
 

 

With great connectivity to London and the opportunity to attract City companies to locate regional 

hubs in Dacorum, Hemel is well placed to repurpose the town centre to provide a different mix of 

employment opportunities. This will be a compliment to retail and leisure employment and provide 

a better mix of jobs. 

 

However, there is also a need to improve the infrastructure links around the town centre and then in 

particular links to the train station and Maylands business area/Herts IQ. Also to ensure the 

provision of infrastructure links between the smaller town centres in Dacorum, provides access to 

Hemel town centre and employment areas. 

The lack of connectivity could hamper the level of inward investment of employment space in the 

town centre and is a key issue for the Council to address in the  Hemel Town Centre Plan. 

The importance of attracting a better mix of employment, including exporting and knowledge based 

jobs for the future economic wellbeing of residents in Dacorum is clear. Hemel Hempstead has an 

oversupply of retail jobs, compared to UK average13. Due to a shift in shopping patterns the town is 

                                                           
12 Exporting businesses are those businesses who sell to many markets and can be located anywhere. Usually 
highly skilled/paid jobs. In contrast are local businesses who service the local market such as retail and 
hospitality with often low skilled/paid jobs 
13 The Future of Towns and Cities post COVID, KPMG Jan 2021 

Page 32



 

9 | P a g e  
 

expected to lose 31% or 1,401 retail jobs over the next few years. The introduction of “new” jobs 

into the town centre will ensure local residents have an opportunity to grow their economic 

wellbeing. 

 

4. ENSURING ACCESS TO OPPORTUNITIES 
 

Creating new highly skilled employment, and encouraging businesses to adapt to new technologies 

and access new customers and markets, requires an inclusive approach. The aim of the Economic 

Recovery Board is to coordinate provision and support to create accessible pathways for both 

residents and businesses. Ensuring equitable access to development opportunities is a priority. 

 

Residents 

Reaching the residents who are the furthest away from the labour market is crucial in order to 

create an inclusive economy. This include long-term unemployed, those in low-skilled employment, 

on short-term contracts, and young people trying to enter a competitive labour market. Creating 

accessible career pathways is a priority for the Economic Recovery Board. Some of the solutions are: 

 Coordinate the skills provision and offer and joining up providers 

 Inform residents of career pathways to improved employment 

 Establish a physical facility in Hemel town centre such as a Careers Hub 

 Working with employers to make sure skills provision meets their needs 

Businesses 

Local businesses have an opportunity to access new customers and markets, through the growth of 

the economy, especially the development of Hemel Garden Community and Herts IQ. Ensuring their 

readiness to tender will be through raising awareness and connectivity, adopting new technologies, 

and upskilling their staff. There is a plethora of support available to businesses in a sometimes 

confusing landscape of providers. The Growth Hub provides a coordinated offer across 

Hertfordshire, however there is a need to tailor the support to Dacorum businesses and ensure a 

focussed delivery. The Maylands Business Centre provides the key focus for business support in 

Dacorum including flexible workspace and start up units. The focus will be to reinvigorate the 

engagement with businesses to ensure business support is effective and coordinated. This includes:  

 Open up opportunities for new enterprise formation such as social enterprise,  

 Access to new business from key projects such as Hemel Garden Communities development,  

 Access to innovation support to increase competitiveness  

 Access to international markets 

 

5. APPROACH AND NEXT STEPS 
 

The Recovery Board has been working on developing each of the six themes (see Background) into 

Logic Chains, setting out Outcomes, Outputs and Activities. Each theme has a formed a task and 

finish group who are responsible for developing detailed delivery plans and taking the delivery 

forward and report progress to the Board. 

 

There a recognition that the themes and delivery plans are flexible and will be reviewed on a regular 

basis to take into account any external influences. 

 

The six Logic Chains are detailed below. 

 

Page 33



 

10 | P a g e  
 

Theme 1 – Skills and Employment 

Ensuring a current and future workforce has the skills and opportunity to take advantage 

of new high skills technology employment. 

Issue 

21% of Dacorum’s residents only have the most basic qualifications (NVQ) and will have a challenge 

in accessing employment opportunities in the growing high technology sectors. In addition to this, 

there will be a substantial requirement for retraining due to jobs lost during the pandemic and in the 

next 10 years, due to automation. As an example approximately 1,401 retails jobs will be lost due to 

due to expansion of on line retail. 

 

 

                 

 

  

INPUT 

 

Led by West Hertfordshire College 

Input and support from: 

DBC    Pendley Manor 

DWP                                    Herts CC 

University of Hertfordshire 

Herts LEP 

 

ACTIVITIES 

 Establish a physical presence of a Careers Hub within Hemel Town Centre to offer 
support to all residents 16+. Investigate the potential to co locate the Youth Hub 
working in partnership with West Herts College  

 Establish the Skillmakers initiative, underpinned by an agreed Good Employer 
Charter, which includes paying the Living Wage and offering skills development 
opportunities. Promoting the sign up of the charter through the Business 
Ambassadors and other employer networks. 

 Engage with the National Career service offer and the Herts Opportunity Portal 
promoting careers paths within sectors and using career guidance to enable 
moving between sectors using transferable skills. 

 Scope the available skills and employment support and establish a local Provider 
Network. This will enable joint working and referrals across providers in order to 
offer a coordinated offer to residents. 

 Develop an Employer Engagement Plan (link this with the Business Growth 
proposed Employer Engagement Plan and the Herts Local Skills Improvement Plan) 
aimed at using employers as consultees when developing the skills offer.  

 Create Social Value from development and developer’s Employment and Skills 
Plans. Develop a process to attract skills and employment opportunities from large 
developments and procurement. 

 Track destinations from FE and HE to identify student’s successes and challenges 
when taking up employment after study. 

 Working with Crown Estates, Herts IQ, and other major projects, to investigate 
skills gaps and to identify opportunities to address them across existing and new 
provision. 

 Particularly target young people not in education or employment (NEETS) to 
ensure access to Traineeships and Apprenticeships 

 

Page 34



 

11 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

1. Dacorum has a flexible and highly skilled workforce to enable future economic 
growth and economic wellbeing of its residents. 

2. All residents have access to and knowledge of a coordinated skills offer and available 
career paths to enable them to take advantage of future jobs. 

 

OUTCOMES 

 

OUTPUTS 

 

 Increased number of residents with level 2 qualifications progressing to, and 
achieving, level 3 or above qualifications over the next 5 years 

 Increased number of apprenticeships by 20% compared to pre-pandemic levels and 
across key employment sectors (targeting skills shortages within the Borough of 
Dacorum) 

 Increased take up of work-based Academies across key employment sectors and 
reduce the number of ‘hard to fill’ job vacancies across the Borough 

 Maximising funding opportunities to enhance the existing skills provision in priority 
areas (Digital, Science, Modern Methods of Construction). 

Page 35



 

12 | P a g e  
 

Theme 2 – Business Growth 
 

Engaging with and supporting businesses and develop social enterprises’/community 

interest companies capacity to facilitate growth, investment and ensure longer term 

strategic plans meet the needs of the businesses. 

Issue 

New business growth since 2020 has been sluggish with businesses incorporated since Jan 2020 

make up approximately 13% of current active businesses in Dacorum compared to 20% in the UK.  

In addition to this manufacturing employment is in sharp decline, with a reduction of 22% between 

2015-19. There is a clear need to assist companies to diversify and encourage longer term planning 

to survive. Also to support the growth of social enterprises as a way of engaging with communities 

and build their entrepreneurial capacity. 

 

 

 

  

INPUT 

 

Led by DBC  

Supported by: Herts LEP, Chamber of Commerce, Social Enterprise, Private Sector, 

Hertfordshire University, Business Ambassadors 

ACTIVITIES 

• Produce and promote the package of support through the Council’s Economic 

Development Service. 

• Work with the Herts Growth Hub to encourage referrals, through joint activities such as 

Growth Hub surgeries at Maylands and Networking events.. 

• Set up a Social Enterprise Network to encourage and support existing and budding social 

enterprises. A standalone peer network with DBC involved as a point of contact. 

• Develop a Business Engagement Plan and process, aimed at gathering further evidence 

of business needs to feed into and inform the Council of issues and barriers to growth 

and identify opportunities. 

• Form a borough wide Business Support Network, including all providers of business 

support, meeting regularly to feed back issues and opportunities. (Could morph into the 

Task and Finish group) 

• Organise a “Buy Local” network to develop supply chains, and other business 

networking events, enabling local companies to network, find new customers and 

access information regarding council support and plans.  

• Deliver the annual Dacorum’s Den to give businesses the opportunity to gain financial 

support. 

• Mange the Maylands Business Centre and offering units and offices at a reduced rate to 

allow business start-ups to thrive and grow in a supported environment. Also including 

offering a flexible workspace to micro businesses and start-ups, creating a supported 

working environment where start-up businesses can build relationships with other 

businesses. 

• In partnership with Herts Growth Hub, providing a one stop shop contact point for local 

businesses to provide information of funding, connect businesses on a local level to 

assist with staff and supplies and assist businesses with their transactions and 

interactions with the local council. 

• Liaison with the Hemel Town Centre task and finish group to develop flexible and 

affordable work spaces for start-ups and micro businesses. 

• Develop a monitoring programme for businesses that have departed Maylands Business 

Centre to assess survival rate of these SMEs and identify key advantages they experienced. 

Page 36



 

13 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

To ensure access and awareness of Dacorum’s businesses to quality business support to 

enable an increase in business start-up and survival to Hertfordshire level or above. OUTCOMES 

 

OUTPUTS 

 

• Increase number of business referrals to the Herts Growth Hub and improve two-

way communication and follow up activities.  

• Increase business start-ups from 11% to 13% over 5 years and 1,100 business starts 

per year. 

• 250 number of business supported/engaged yearly by the Council and 500 yearly by 

the Growth Hub whereof 10% receive intensive support ie 12h+ specialist support.. 

• Growth Hub penetration of 14% per 1,000 business in Dacorum 

 

Page 37



 

14 | P a g e  
 

Theme 3 – Innovation and Growth of high value sectors and jobs 
 

Supporting the growth of the existing Information, Science, Technology and Professional 

Services clusters and developing the growing Enviro Tech sector, linking closely with Herts 

IQ and Hemel Garden Community 
Issue 

There has been unstable GVA growth in Dacorum since 2010 especially in sectors adding high value 

such as Information and communication and Professional services. On the other hand there is a well-

developed cluster within these sectors and they should perform better. There is a clear lack of 

innovation capability and a reason to ensure the future growth and improved performance of these 

sectors. The anticipated growth of the Enviro Tech sector in Herts IQ and the opportunity to link this 

with Hemel Garden Communities, requires a coordinated approach to ensure success. Another clear 

indicator to the slow GVA growth are the lower than average workplace earnings, showing a lack of 

innovation growth and high paid/skilled employment.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

INPUT 

 

Led by Herts IQ 

Supported by: DBC, Herts LEP, University of Hertfordshire 

• Review Herts IQ’s sector focus with the aim of broadening it to include other high-

growth/high value sectors. 

• HIQ to work with Rothamsted, BRE and UH to identify collaboration opportunities, 

for example spin outs from corporates. 

• Develop Herts IQ as a test bed for sustainable building methods and digital 

technology, linking to Hemel Garden Community and other areas of major housing 

growth. 

• Identify and support spin out opportunities from large R&D institutes such as 

Rothamstead and BRE. 

• Develop a Digital Plan to ensure companies can take advantage of current and 

future technology and enable them to explore commercial opportunities emerging 

from technologies. 

• Commission research to identify solutions to raise the demand for innovation and 

the related barriers to access support. Solutions could include; 

 Creating an Innovation Network linking in with Business Angels and 

providing support for Micro/SMEs to access funding and support; 

 Investigating if there is a need/demand for an Accelerator Programme for 

Micro/SMEs to make them ready for R&D funding;  

 Developing a programme to support commercialisation, taking innovation 

to production phase 

 Developing a Maker Space and Prototype Development facility 

 

ACTIVITIES 

Page 38



 

15 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

OUTPUTS 

 

OUTCOMES 

 

Increase the level of knowledge intensive employment in Dacorum in order to increase 

the workplace earnings to support future economic wellbeing. 

 

 

Establish a baseline for innovation growth to include: 

 The uptake of R&D credits 

 The uptake of Knowledge Exchange Partnerships 

 Innovate UK funding 

 

 

Page 39



 

16 | P a g e  
 

Theme 4 – Branding and Inward Investment  

 

Identifying Dacorum’s USP and develop the engagement with inward investors, regional 

and national partners to promote the opportunities in the district and lobby for funding 

and investment. 

Issue 

Dacorum is ideally placed geographically to maximise business investment into the area post 

pandemic. It needs to develop a brand that sets out the key messages for attracting investment that 

is based in “the place” and bought in to by all partners and stakeholders. The brand needs to sell the 

ambitious renewal agenda and to promote opportunities for investment in both housing and 

employment with the supporting infrastructure. Once the brand is in place and the Hemel Place 

Strategy is developed then these key messages can be used to both promote the “place” and lobby 

for funding to support the delivery of ambitious plans to deliver. 

                                    

 

 

 

 

 

                 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

INPUT 

 

Led by DBC/Hemel Place Board 

Supported by: Herts Chamber of Commerce, Herts LEP, Dacorum Business 

Ambassadors 

 

 

ACTIVITIES 

OUTPUTS 

 

 Agreed branding and messaging for promotion of “the place” and align this work 

with the Hemel Place Board (may be 2022)  

 Increase in the level of collateral to enable the area to attract the funding from a 

range of areas  and record and monitor responses to investment enquiries  

 Increase the level of investment into the borough from both indigenous and external 

businesses  

 Engagement strategy agreed and delivered consistently by all partners and 

stakeholders with a shared message about the place  

  Implement systems of measuring and monitoring levels of investment brought in to 

the area   

 New employment is attracted to the area alongside the retention of current 

businesses to secure employment opportunities for local people  

 

 Monitor and record all investment enquiries and investment into the area  

 Agree branding and key messages and align with the HH Place Strategy work and the 

Hemel Place Board . 

 Work with partners   to share key messages and shared collateral, funnelling all 

enquiries to a single point of contact    

 Develop a programme to support engagement with investors and indigenous 

business providing after care. 

 External funding and lobbying to be increased using key messages through a range of 

opportunities  

Page 40



 

17 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Partners and businesses agree branding and key messages for attracting investment 

and fulfil an Ambassadorial role promoting the area so that there is one message 

about the place. 

 Increased investment is brought in to the area to deliver key employment 

opportunities, growth and infrastructure to the borough to enable sustainable 
balanced growth  

 Information is available to enable the district to lobby for funding and investment and 

an increased level of funding is brought in to the area to support and deliver a clear 

shared vision 

 

OUTCOMES 

 

Page 41



 

18 | P a g e  
 

Theme 5 – Town Centre 
 

Repurposing Hemel Hempstead Town Centre (HHTC) and introduce new work spaces and 

employment opportunities. 

Issue 

There are pockets of deprivation in and around Hemel Hempstead town which presents a 

particularly weak and bears the hallmark of a New Town needing investment and reimagining to 

ensure future sustainability. Volume of new commercial leases in the town centres has fallen 

resulting in a poor town centre offer with a lack of cultural, leisure and workspaces to drive footfall 

and recovery of the High Streets. To be successful in the longer term and to take advantage of the 

27% of Dacorum residents working from home, the introduction of new and flexible workspaces will 

be a key component to drive the repurposing of not only Hemel Town centre but also Tring and 

Berkhamsted.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

INPUT 

 

Overseen by: Hemel Place Board 

Supported by: Recovery Board Members 

ACTIVITIES 

 Commission research to identify: 

o Market trends and town centre tenure types  

o Pull factors for businesses to locate in the town centre 

o Identify opportunities/demand from large City companies seeking to setup 

regional hubs  

o Identify funding opportunities. 

 Produce marketing strategy based on the above research, linked to attracting 

inward investment and developing Dacorum’s USP 

o Identify/secure presence on inward investment platforms  

o Develop an intermediary engagement programme to build relationships with 

inward investment professionals 

 Research successful flexible office projects, produce business case for 

establishment of “Tech Hub” , linked to proposed Careers Hub. 

 Engage with LEP regarding potential of HHTC. 

 Scope out digital infrastructure and future capacity in HHTC, linked to Digital Plan. 

 Business support activities from WelcomeJoin Jo, Loyal Free. 

OUTPUTS 

 

 Interruption of the market to provide more employment space in order to secure 

the town centre’s future viability and increase footfall to increase economic 

activity. 

 Deliver the Hemel Place Strategy 

 Increase of office space from x (14% in 2017) to x. 

 Support inward investors in their work to attract businesses to locate in HHTC. 

 Understanding of the market trends, types of unit occupancy and/or ownership, 
and the key features to attract employers to locate in the town centre. 

 Attracting funding (LEP, Gov) to develop HHTC, such as Tech Hub or community 
facilities. 

 

OUTCOMES 

 

Page 42



 

19 | P a g e  
 

Theme 6 – Export and International partnerships 

 

Developing the International Dacorum brand, promoting export and developing 

international partnership links. 

Issue 

Dacorum has extensive international links with nearly 100 Dacorum businesses exporting goods 

across the globe. The excellent location near key transport links such as the M1 and M25, enables 

easy access across the UK and to the continent. A contributor to business growth is export and 

although Brexit has provided challenges it also offers opportunities to trade with markets further 

afield. More companies in Dacorum needs to be made aware of the opportunities and how to access 

them. 

 

 

 

 

                 

 

 

INPUT 

 

Led by Herts Chamber of Commerce 

Supported by: DBC 

 

 

ACTIVITIES 

An increase in awareness of the export opportunities by Dacorum companies 

resulting in an increase in the number of companies exporting and an increase in 

employment opportunities 

 

OUTCOMES 

 

OUTPUTS 

 

 Increase the number of companies in Dacorum exporting to over 100 over 
the next 5 years. 

 Increase the number of companies who are part of the Peer Network from 6 
to 15 in 2022. 

 Engagement annually of 10 Dacorum companies in export 
training/awareness sessions  

 

 Collaborate to promote the export support available, through 
communications such as the Council Business Newsletter, Social Media etc. 

 Hold an International Dacorum month in spring 2022 to offer events to link 
with international markets and training sessions on export. 

 Launch the DIT Export Academy series of training sessions. 

 Organise 3 sector based events for key sectors i.e. Manufacturing, Science 
and Professional Services, ICT promoting the opportunity and hosted by a 
company within the sectors. 

 Organise an annual virtual Trade Mission and B2B event with a chosen 
market. 

 Identify and participate in global events such as London Tech Week, 
representing Dacorum businesses. 

 Develop an offer of Dacorum businesses services and products offer and 
promote to international partnerships and organisations such as in-country 
missions in Commonwealth Countries and Chambers of Commerce.  

 

Page 43



Agenda Item 
Page 1 of 4 

Agenda Item 
Page 1 of 4 

 

Report for: Cabinet 

Date of meeting: 19 October  2021 

PART:  1 

If Part II, reason:  

 

Title of report: Review of Financial Regulations 2021 

Contact: Cllr Graeme Elliot, Portfolio Holder for Finance and Resources 
James Deane, Corporate Director (Finance and Operations) 
Nigel Howcutt, Assistant Director (Finance and Resources) 
 

Purpose of report: To present the updated Financial Regulations 2021. 

Recommendations To approve the updated Financial Regulations 2021. 

Corporate  
objectives: 

Delivering an efficient and modern council. 

Implications: 
 

Financial 
Contained within the body of the report. 
 
Value for Money 
Contained within the body of the report 

Risk Implications Contained within the body of the report. 
 

Community Impact 
Assessment 

The content of this report does not require a Community Impact 
Assessment to be undertaken. 

Health And Safety 
Implications 

There are no Health and Safety implications arising from this 
report. 

Monitoring Officer/ 
Section 151 Officer 
Comments 

Monitoring Officer:   
 
No comments to add to the report. 
 
Deputy S.151 Officer 
 
The finanical Regulations are reviewed on an annual basis to 
ensure they are ffit for purpose and in line with current finanical 
regulations and stature.  
 

AGENDA ITEM:   
 

SUMMARY 

Page 44

Agenda Item 8



Agenda Item 
Page 2 of 4 

Agenda Item 
Page 2 of 4 

The changes detailed  in this report are predominantly related 
to improved Internal financial processes, and have no significant 
impact on financial governance and control. 
 

Consultees The position reported within this report has been reviewed and 
discussed with relevant Council Officers. 

Background papers Agenda item 

Glossary of 
acronyms and any  
other abbreviations 
used in this report: 

None. 

 

 

1. Introduction  
 

1.1 The Financial Regulations provide the framework for managing the financial 
affairs of the Council. They are approved by the Council and they apply to every 
Member and employee of the Council, and to anyone acting on its behalf.  
 

1.2 In accordance with good practice, the Financial Regulations are reviewed 
periodically to ensure that they remain relevant throughout any structural or 
operational changes within the Council, as well as legislative changes and 
relevant best practice guidance.  

 
1.3 All sections of the Regulations have been reviewed, and the following substantive 

amendments are proposed. The fully revised Financial Regulations, including the 
recommended amendments, are attached at Appendix A. 

 
1.4 Other minor amendments have been made to the Regulations to ensure they 

reflect current legislation, role titles and best practice guidance. 
 

 
2. Recommended update relating to supplementary budgets 

2.1 Annex B Regulation B.11 Scheme of virement.  Virement is an in- year 
mechanism for formally determining and seeking agreement to the transfer of 
funds from one approved budget heading to another. It applies to both revenue 
and capital budgets. 
 

2.2 The Council’s current Regulations do not distinguish between a virement that is 
one- off in nature (impacting current- year budgets only) and one that is 
permanent (will also impact upon future- year budgets). It is proposed that when 
approval is sought for a virement, it is specified whether the virement is one –off 
or whether it is permanent.  This avoids approval needing to be sought on multiple 
occasions for the same virement. 

 
2.3 The Council’s current Regulations also require all capital virements to obtain the 

authorisation of Cabinet, unless such a virement has been delegated by Cabinet 
to the Portfolio Holder (Finance & Resources).  It is proposed that capital 
virements follow the same hierarchy of authorisations as revenue virements.  This 
is provided at Appendix A, Schedule of Authorisations, item 1.  Note that this 
means that any capital virement over £50k would still need to approved by 
Cabinet. 

 
2.4 The proposed hierarchy of authorisations for capital virements is as follows: 

Page 45



Agenda Item 
Page 3 of 4 

Agenda Item 
Page 3 of 4 

 
 

Type Applies to transfers between  Sanctioning 
Authority 

1 Between Cabinet Portfolios Cabinet 

2 Between Services within a Portfolio Director and Portfolio 
Holder 

3 Between CIPFA Subjective headings 
within the same Service 

Director and Group 
Manager 

4 Between budgets both within the same 
Service and the same CIPFA 
Subjective heading  

Director and Group 
Manager 

5 For items 2, 3 and 4 above where the 
amount to be vired is at least  

 

 £50,000 
And 

 10% of the transferring budget  
 

Cabinet 

 
 

3. Recommended update relating to the acquisitions of assets 
3.1 Annex G Regulation E.5.  Acquisitions of assets.  It is proposed to specify 

within the regulations a scheme of delegation for the acquisition of assets.  
Current practice is to follow the scheme of delegation for payment authorisation 
when acquiring assets.  The proposed scheme of delegation for the acquisition 
of assets is identical to that for payments in terms of price thresholds. 
 

3.2 The proposed scheme of delegation is set out in the following table: 
 

Postholder 
Authorisation 
Level 

  
Total asset 
purchase price 

Chief Executive £500,000 

Section 151 Officer £500,000 

Corporate Director £500,000 

Assistant Director £250,000 

Group Manager £75,000 

Team Leader £25,000 

 
 

3.3 Any acquisition with a total purchase price of over £500k in value shall be 
authorised by Cabinet, with the exception of land or buildings purchased for the 
Council’s Housing Revenue Account new build housing programme and which is 
100% funded from the Housing Revenue Account’s Strategic Acquisitions 
reserve. 
 

3.4 The authorisation of any land or buildings with a total purchase price of over 
£500k purchased for the Council’s Housing Revenue Account new build housing 
programme and which is 100% funded from the Housing Revenue Account’s 
Strategic Acquisitions reserve will be delegated to the Corporate Director, 

Page 46



Agenda Item 
Page 4 of 4 

Agenda Item 
Page 4 of 4 

Housing and Regeneration in consultation with the Corporate Director Finance 
and Operations, the Assistant Director, Corporate and Contracted Services 
and  the Portfolio Holder, Housing and the Portfolio Holder Finance and 
Resources. 
 

4. RecommendationCabinet are recommended to approve the updated Financial 
Regulations 2021. 

 
 
 

Page 47



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

 

Author  James Deane, Corporate Director (Finance & Operations) 

Responsible officer James Deane, Corporate Director (Finance & Operations) 

 

Date of publication October 2021 Date of last version December 2019 

Version no.  6 Date of expiry  N/A 

 

 

Working in partnership, to create a Borough which enables the communities of Dacorum to thrive and prosper 

 

 

 

Page 48



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | i October 2021  
 
 

Contents 

Section Page No. 

 

Financial Regulations 

 

1. Introduction, general and interpretation 1 

A: Financial management 3 

B: Financial Planning and budgeting policy framework 8 

C: Risk management and resource control 10 

D: Income and assets 12 

E: Expenditure, liabilities and procurement of, ordering and paying for goods, 

works, services and assets 

16 

F: External arrangements 19 

  

Detailed regulations and guidance  

Annex A: Monitoring Officer responsibilities – schedule of values 21 

Annex B: Financial Planning and budgeting policy framework 22 

Section 1: Budgeting and budgetary control 22 

Section 2: Capital plans and budgets 23 

Section 3: Scheme of virement 

Section 4: Scheme of supplementary budget 

24 

26 

Annex C: Risk management and resource control 27 

Section1: Maintaining internal control 27 

Section 2: staffing and consultancy arrangements 31 

Annex D: Schemes of delegation 34 

Annex E: Income and assets 35 

Section 1: Accounting for income 35 

Section 2: Documentation and cash handling 38 

Section 3: Petty cash, change floats, and electronic purchasing card purchases 42 

Section 4: Debt write-off and credit write-on procedures and limits 43 

Section 5: Responsibilities for stocks, stores and minor assets 46 

Annex F: Disposal of assets (including stock and stores) 49 

Section 1: Land disposals 49 

Section 2: Equipment disposals 52 

Section 3: Major reusable items 54 

Section 4: Disposal of other assets 55 

Annex G: Expenditure, liabilities and procurement of, ordering, and paying for 

goods, works, services and assets 

57 

Section 1: Detailed regulations governing the procurement of, ordering, and 

paying for works, goods and services 

57 

Section 2: Responsibilities for procurement of, ordering, and paying for works, 

goods and services 

58 

Section 3: Responsibilities of Corporate Directors in respect of contracts 61 

Section 4: Responsibilities for engagement of, and payments to, employees 

Section 5: Responsibilities for the acquisition of assets                                                                                                                                        

  62 

            64 

Annex H: Partnerships, external funding and third party contracts 67 

Section 1: Partnerships expectations 67 

Section 2: Responsibilities in respect of partnerships, external funding and third 

party contracts 

68 

  

Schedule of Authorisations 71 

  

 

Page 49



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 1 October 2021  
 
 

1. INTRODUCTION, GENERAL AND INTERPRETATION 
 

1.1. Financial Regulations provide the framework for managing the financial affairs 
of the Council.  They are approved by the Council and they apply to every 
Member and employee of the Council and to anyone acting on its behalf. All 
Members and employees must adhere to them at all times.   Financial 
Regulations form part of the Council’s constitution.  Any changes to the 
Financial Regulations must be agreed by Council following their presentation to 
Audit Committee. 

 
1.2. The Corporate Director (Finance & Operations) is the Council’s Section 151 

Officer and is accountable to the Council for the financial regulations.  All Chief 
Officers are accountable to the Corporate Director (Finance & Operations) for 
compliance with these regulations. All officers with delegated responsibilities 
for undertaking financial responsibility are accountable to their Corporate 
Director for compliance with the Financial Regulations. 

 
1.3. Executive Members and Corporate Directors must maintain a written record 

where they have delegated decision-making to employees, including seconded 
employees. Where they have delegated or devolved decisions to other 
responsible employees, references to the Corporate Director in the regulations 
should be read as referring to those employees. 

 
1.4. All Members and employees have a general responsibility for taking reasonable 

action to provide for the security of the assets under their control, and for 
ensuring that the use of these resources is legal, is properly authorised, 
provides value for money and contributes to the Council’s strategic aims. 

 
1.5. Should a breach of the Financial Regulations come to light it must be reported 

immediately to the Section 151 Officer. The Section 151 Officer is responsible 
for maintaining a continuous review of Financial Regulations and for submitting 
any additions or changes necessary to the full Council for approval. He/she is 
also responsible for reporting material breaches of the Financial Regulations to 
the Corporate Management Team, the Cabinet or the full Council as he/she 
considers appropriate. Disciplinary action can be taken for breaches of 
Financial Regulations. 

 
1.6. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for issuing advice and guidance to 

underpin Financial Regulations that Members, employees and others acting on 
behalf of the Council are required to follow. 

 
1.7. This document should be read and applied in conjunction with the Council’s 

constitution and other internal regulatory documents forming part of the 
constitution. 

 
1.8. Throughout these Financial Regulations, where the words ‘Corporate Director’ 

and ‘Director’ appear in a departmental context, they refer also to the Chief 
Executive. References are made to ‘Group Managers’.  In these instances 
Assistant Directors are responsible for ensuring that Group Managers for their 
group of services have adequate arrangements in place and will also apply to 

Page 50



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 2 October 2021  
 
 

Assistant Directors where they are directly responsible for functions or projects 
or where there is no Group Manager in post. 

 
1.9. The term ‘current’ as it applies in these Regulations shall mean the last approval 

given by Council, Cabinet or Corporate Director under delegated powers. 
 
1.10. The terms ‘Corporate Director (Finance & Operations)’ and ‘Section 151 Officer’ 

are synonymous in the current structure of the Council. If, at any time, that 
should cease to be the case, all duties, authorities and responsibilities assigned 
to the Corporate Director (Finance & Operations) in these Financial Regulations 
shall be interpreted as applying to the Section 151 Officer. 

 
 

Page 51



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 3 October 2021  
 
 

Financial Regulation A:  Financial Management 
 
Introduction 
 
A.1. Financial management covers all financial accountabilities in relation to the 

running of the authority, including the policy framework and budget. 
 
Committees of the Council 
 
A.2.  The functions and responsibilities of the full Council, the Cabinet, the Overview 

and Scrutiny Committees and Regulatory Committees are set out in Part 3 of 
the Council’s constitution. The Council and all subsidiary bodies must have 
regard to financial regulations and procurement standing orders in the conduct 
of Council business. 

 
Statutory officers 
 
Chief Executive 
 
A.3.  The Chief Executive, as Head of Paid Service, is responsible for the corporate 

and overall strategic management of the Authority as a whole.  He/she is also 
responsible, together with the Monitoring Officer, for the system of record 
keeping in relation to all the Council’s decisions. 

 
Monitoring Officer 
 
A.4.  The Assistant Director (Corporate and Contracted Services) is the Authority’s 

designated Monitoring Officer, under Section 5 of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989. The role of the Monitoring Officer is set out in the Council’s 
Constitution (Article 11). 

 
A.5.  He/she (together with the Section 151 Officer – see below) is responsible for 

advising the Portfolio Holder, Cabinet or Council about whether a decision is 
likely to be considered contrary or not wholly in accordance with the approved 
budget. Actions that may be ‘contrary to the budget’ include: 

 
a) initiating a new policy 
 
b)  taking, or failing to take action which will, or is likely to result in any defined 

budget for the current year being exceeded by a given value, determined 
by the Section 151 Officer  

 
c)  committing, or seeking to commit expenditure in future years above the 

approved level 
 
d)  causing the Council’s total budgeted sum for either the Housing Revenue 

Account or the General Fund to increase by more than an amount 
specified  by the Section 151 Officer in any one year. 

 
Current values in relation to regulation A.5. are given at Annex A.  

Page 52



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 4 October 2021  
 
 

 
Section 151 Officer 
 
A.6.  The Corporate Director (Finance & Operations) is the Council’s designated 

Section 151 Officer. This post has statutory duties in relation to the financial 
administration and stewardship of the Council’s financial affairs. These duties 
arise from Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 and subsequent 
legislation and cannot be overridden.  

 
A.7. The functions of the Section 151 officer are defined in the Council’s constitution 

(Article 11). In particular, he/she has responsibility for the administration of the 
financial affairs of the Council, for keeping proper financial records and 
accounts, and for maintaining an effective system of internal financial control. 

 
A.8.  Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 requires the Section 

151 Officer to report to the Cabinet, Council, and external auditor if the Council 
or one of its officers: 

 
(a)  has made, or is about to make, a decision which involves incurring 

unlawful expenditure 
 
(b)  has taken, or is about to take, an unlawful action which has resulted or 

would result in a loss or deficiency to the authority 
 
(c)  is about to make an unlawful entry in the authority’s accounts. 

 
A.9.  Section 114 also requires the Section 151 Officer to nominate a properly 

qualified member of staff to deputise should he or she be unable to perform the 
duties under Section 114 personally. The Assistant Director (Finance & 
Resources) is the designated officer for this purpose. 

 
A.10. The Act also requires the Council to provide the Section 151 Officer with 

sufficient staff, accommodation and other resources – including legal advice 
where it is necessary to carry out duties under S114. 

 
Corporate Directors 
 
A.11. Corporate Directors are individually responsible for financial management 

within their own areas of responsibility and collectively for matters of corporate 
responsibility. In respect of Financial Regulations they have specific 
responsibilities for: 

 
a) Ensuring that Members of Cabinet and the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee(s) are advised of the financial implications of all proposals and 
that the financial implications have been agreed with the Section 151 
Officer. 

 
b) Consulting with the Section 151 Officer and seeking approval on any 

matter liable to affect the Council’s finances materially before any 
commitments are incurred. 

Page 53



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 5 October 2021  
 
 

 
c) Demonstrating the proper financial management and effective 

deployment of resources allocated to their respective services. 
 
d) Ensuring that all staff have access to a copy of Financial Regulations and 

that these are retained in a current state and ensuring that employees 
comply with them at all times. 

 
e) Ensuring that Assistant Directors, Group Managers and other key 

personnel receive sufficient training to enable them to discharge their 
responsibilities under these Regulations, Procurement Standing Orders 
and related rules and procedures introduced from time to time. 

 
f) Ensuring that their Portfolio Holder and, as appropriate, the Portfolio 

Holder (Finance & Resources) are advised of the financial implications of 
any proposals and that the financial implications have been agreed by the 
Section 151 Officer. 

 
g) Ensuring the financial probity and correctness of all reports, advice and 

opinions submitted to Members and others that may act on such 
information. Where he/she has any doubt in this regard, the Corporate 
Director must consult with the Section 151 Officer prior to issuing a report, 
providing advice or offering an opinion. 

 
h) Ensuring that the Section 151 Officer is consulted on and approves any 

proposal that may affect the ability of stand-alone financial systems and 
processes to be reconciled with any relevant corporate financial 
information system. 

 
i) Signing contracts on behalf of the Council which are not under seal. 
 
j) Ensuring that vouchers and other financial documents are not destroyed 

other than in accordance with the Council’s Corporate Retention of 
Documents Policy. 

 
k) Maintaining a complete management trail allowing financial transactions 

to be traced from accounting records to source and vice versa. 
 
l) Ensuring that all financial systems’ inputs are genuine, complete, 

accurate, timely and not previously processed. 
 
Management of in-year finances 
 
A.12. Corporate Directors are responsible for effective financial management. To 

support them, the Council has specific policies relating to six key control areas: 
 

(a) Transfer of budgets. Council sets the budget and Cabinet has executive 
responsibility for the delivery of services within budgets.  Resources are 
allocated to defined budget headings which are managed by budget 
managers (usually allocated at Group Manager level).  A scheme of 

Page 54



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 6 October 2021  
 
 

virement is required to enable budget holders to transfer resources 
between budgets where appropriate and necessary. The Council is 
responsible for approving a scheme for enabling virement.  This is set out 
in regulation B.11. 

 
(b) Use of contingencies. When approving the annual budget the Council 

may set aside specific sums to meet unforeseen eventualities. 
 

(c) Supplementary budgets. Corporate Directors are responsible for 
arranging the effective delivery of services within the annual budgets 
allocated. Under circumstances where it cannot be dealt with under the 
Council’s scheme of virement, and where appropriate, Cabinet, on the 
advice of the Section 151 Officer, may grant a supplementary budget to 
be met from any contingency provision established under section A12.b 
above. Where insufficient resources exist, Cabinet may, on the advice of 
the Section 151 Officer, seek Council approval to the granting of a 
supplementary budget to be met from relevant balances or reserves. This 
is set out in regulation B.12. 

 
(d) Supplementary budgets: section 106 and Community Infrastructure 

Levy (CIL) Contributions. Council sets the budget and Cabinet has 
executive responsibility for the delivery of services within budgets. 
Delegation is given to the Section 151 Officer for in-year amendments to 
budgets via supplementary budget where a one-off item is to be funded 
wholly from Section 106 receipts or CIL receipts.  This is set out in 
regulation B.12. 
 

(e) Supplementary budgets: grant income. Delegation is given to the 
Section 151 Officer for in-year amendments to budgets via supplementary 
budget where expenditure is to be funded wholly from grant receipts, up 
to the value of £100k.  For expenditure equal to or above £100k Cabinet 
may, on the advice of the Section 151 Officer, seek Council approval to 
the granting of a supplementary budget to be met from grant funding.  This 
is set out in regulation B.12 
 

(f) Under- and overspends. The Council is responsible for agreeing any 
procedures, on the advice of the Section 151 Officer, for carrying forward 
under- and overspending against revenue budgets. The unspent portion 
of budgets will be transferred by the Section 151 Officer to Reserves and 
Balances after the year end. The unspent portion of budgets will not be 
carried forward to the following year’s service budgets without the express 
authority of Council which decision shall be made on the advice of the 
Section 151 Officer. This function has been delegated to the Audit 
Committee as part of the review and approval of the annual Statement of 
Accounts. The Section 151 Officer will report to Cabinet as soon as is 
practicable after the year end on which budgets have underspent and 
which budgets have overspent, together with the net position. Cabinet will 
make recommendations to the Audit Committee who carry out this 
function on behalf of Council as part of their responsibility for review of the 
preparation of the Statement of Accounts. Cabinet and Audit Committee 

Page 55



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 7 October 2021  
 
 

will take account of the advice of the Section 151 Officer on how any net 
overspend should be funded. 

 
(g) Urgency. Nothing in these Financial Regulations shall preclude 

expenditure being incurred where an emergency or disaster involving 
destruction of, or danger to, life or property occurs, or is imminent, that 
may not be contained within the totality of budgets allocated to Corporate 
Directors. If, in the opinion of the relevant Director, in consultation, where 
possible, with the Chief Executive and the Section 151 Officer, the 
urgency of the situation will not permit delay, the Director may authorise 
such expenditure as is measured and reasonable in the circumstances. 
Where a Director has had to act without having been able to consult the 
Chief Executive and/or the Section 151 Officer, he/she/they shall be 
informed as soon as is practicable. Action under this Regulation shall be 
reported at the first opportunity to Cabinet and to the full Council. 

 
The Annual Report 
 
A.13.  The Audit Committee is responsible for approving the Annual Report and 

Statement of Accounts. 

Page 56



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 8 October 2021  
 
 

Financial Regulation B:  Financial Planning and Budgeting Policy Framework 
 
Introduction 
 
B.1.  These Financial Regulations apply to all plans and strategies within the 

Council’s policy framework. Financial Regulations relating to budgets apply to 
General Fund and to Housing Revenue Account matters, and to both revenue 
and capital. 

 
B.2. The Council is responsible for approving procedures for setting and varying 

budgets on the advice of the Section 151 Officer, for agreeing plans and 
strategies forming the policy framework and for determining the circumstances 
in which a decision will be deemed to be contrary to the budget or policy 
framework. The Council is also responsible for setting the level at which the 
Cabinet may reallocate budget funds from one service to another (virement). 
Details of the virement scheme are provided under Regulation B.11. 

 
B.3.  The Cabinet is responsible for taking in-year decisions on resources and 

priorities in order to deliver the budget policy framework within the financial 
limits set by the Council. Consideration of such matters will be on the advice of 
the Section 151 Officer. 

 
Corporate Governance 
 
B.4.  Budgeting and budgetary control forms an essential part of the overall 

governance arrangements of the Council. The full Council is responsible for 
agreeing corporate governance arrangements, its framework and policies and 
the budget. Within such timescale as may be laid down by statute the Audit 
Committee under delegated powers from the Council shall approve publication 
of the Annual Report and Statement of Accounts and the Leader and Chief 
Executive shall concurrently present a statement of compliance with the 
framework. 

 
Revenue budgeting and budgetary control 
 
B.5.   The Section 151 Officer is responsible for determining the format of the revenue 

budgets and ensuring that they are prepared on an annual basis for 
consideration by the Cabinet, before submission to the Council in the fourth 
quarter of the financial year.   

 
B.6.  Corporate Directors, and their delegated representatives, are responsible for 

ensuring that budget estimates reflect agreed service plans and comply with 
the budget guidance issued by the S151 Officer which will take account of the 
Council’s approved Medium Term Financial Strategy. The submitted budgets 
will be scrutinised and endorsed by appropriate Members including Portfolio 
Holders. These will be collated by the S151 Officer for submission to a 
combined meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees to scrutinise the 
draft budget, prior to submission to Cabinet. 

 

Page 57



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 9 October 2021  
 
 

B.7.  Corporate Directors, Assistant Directors and Group Managers are responsible 
for controlling income and expenditure within their area, taking account of 
financial information provided by the Section 151 Officer, as well as 
supplementary local information systems. Each Director shall ensure that all 
expenditure committed by his/her directorates is within a revenue, capital, or 
other budget approved by Council. Any potential expenditure or loss of income, 
which cannot be funded from within the totality of the service budget, supported 
by the approved scheme of virement, shall be reported to the Section 151 
Officer as soon as this is anticipated by the Director. 

 
B.8.  Detailed regulations relating to revenue budgeting and budgetary control are 

set out in Annex B, section 1.   
 
Capital plans and budgets 
 
B.9.  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for ensuring that a rolling 5 year Capital 

Programme is prepared on an annual basis for consideration by Cabinet and 
submission to the Council as part of its annual budget-setting process, and that 
capital and revenue budgets are fully integrated. Detailed regulations governing 
capital budgeting are set out in Annex B, section 2. 

 
Maintenance of reserves 
 
B.10. Under the Local Government Act 2003, the Section 151 Officer must advise the 

Cabinet and/or the Council on prudent levels of reserves and balances. The 
Section 151 Officer will prepare, keep under review and present to Cabinet, at 
least annually, a strategy for the Council’s reserves that provides a justification 
for each earmarked reserve, together with a recommended minimum level of 
general (un-earmarked) reserves. Consideration of these issues will include the 
application of risk management processes. 

 
Scheme of virement 
 
B.11. To support Corporate Directors, Assistant Directors and Group Managers to 

fulfil their responsibilities under Regulation B.7, the transfer of funds between 
budget lines is permitted, subject to approval, where this supports sound 
financial management. The Virement policy is set out in Annex B, section 3 and 
applies to all transfers of budget, of any value and for any reason, including for 
reasons of organisational restructure. 

 
Scheme of supplementary budgets 
 
B.12. To support Corporate Directors, Assistant Directors and Group Managers to 

fulfil their responsibilities under Regulation B.7, under circumstances where 
these responsibilities cannot be dealt with under the Council’s scheme of 
virement, a supplementary budget may be granted, subject to appropriate 
approval, where this supports sound financial management. The 
supplementary budgets policy is set out in Annex B, section 4 and applies to all 
supplementary budgets, of any value and for any reason. 

 

Page 58



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 10 October 2021  
 
 

 
Financial Regulation C:  Risk Management and Resource Control 
 
Introduction 
 
C.1.  It is essential that robust, integrated systems are developed and maintained for 

identifying and evaluating all significant strategic and operational risks to the 
Council and for identifying and evaluating significant opportunities for 
development. This should include the proactive participation of all those 
associated with planning and delivering services. 

 
Risk and opportunity management 
 
C.2.  The Cabinet is responsible for approving amendments to the Council’s risk 

management strategy and for reviewing the effectiveness of the Council’s risk 
management practices. It is also responsible for ensuring that proper insurance 
exists where appropriate. 

 
C.3.  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for preparing the authority’s risk 

management strategy, for ensuring that there is proper management of risk 
throughout the Council, and for advising the Cabinet on proper insurance cover 
or alternative arrangements. 

 
Maintaining internal control 
 
C.4.  Internal control refers to the management processes and systems of control 

devised by management and endorsed by Members to help ensure that the 
Council’s objectives are achieved in a manner that promotes economic, efficient 
and effective use of resources, safeguards the Council’s assets and interests 
and enables the Council to take advantage of opportunities. The operation of 
sound internal control is an essential component of good corporate governance. 

 
C.5.  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for advising on effective systems of 

internal control. Corporate Directors are responsible for establishing sound 
arrangements for safeguarding public funds by planning, appraising, 
authorising and controlling their operations in order to achieve continuous 
improvement, economy, efficiency and effectiveness, and for achieving their 
personal and service based financial and outcome performance targets. 

 
C.6.  Effective internal control is supported by policies relating to: 
 

i) Audit arrangements 
 

ii) Preventing and detecting fraud and corruption 
 

iii) Securing assets 
 

iv) Treasury management. 
 

Detailed regulations governing these policies are set out in Annex C, section 1. 

Page 59



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 11 October 2021  
 
 

 
Staffing Arrangements 
 
C.7.  A staff structure is required to provide support to the Cabinet, the Council and 

the Committees of the Council for the conduct of business. The Chief Executive, 
as Head of Paid Service, is responsible for determining how officer support for 
Cabinet and non-Cabinet roles within the authority will be organised in line with 
hierarchy of the authorisations specified in Annex C, Clause 2.g. The Chief 
Executive is responsible for providing overall management to staff and for 
ensuring that there is proper use of the evaluation or other agreed systems for 
determining remuneration of employment. 

 
C.8.  Detailed responsibilities and regulations governing staffing arrangements are 

set out in Annex C, section 2. This section includes arrangements relating to: 
 

i) The staffing structure.  
 

ii) Consultants.  
 
 
 
 

Page 60



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 12 October 2021  
 
 

Financial Regulation D:  Income and Assets 
 
Introduction 
 
D.1.  The Council has many systems and procedures relating to the control of the 

authority’s assets. These include purchasing, costing and management 
systems. Each must contain effective controls to ensure that all transactions 
are recorded and properly processed, and that errors are detected promptly. 

 
General Responsibilities 
 
D.2.  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for the sound and proper operation of 

the authority’s accounting systems, the form of accounts and supporting 
financial procedures and records. Any changes proposed to be made by 
Corporate Directors to their existing financial systems or the establishment of 
new systems must be approved beforehand by the Section 151 Officer. 

 
D.3.  Corporate Directors are responsible for ensuring that: 
 

a)  there is the proper operation of financial processes within their Directorate 
 
b)  data exists to enable them to plan, formulate and deliver the Council’s 

objectives, targets and budgets 
 
c)  performance is communicated to relevant managers on an accurate, 

complete and timely basis 
 
d)  intelligence exists to warn of potential deviations from targets, plans and 

budgets requiring management attention 
 
e)  systems and procedures are fully documented and operate effectively and 

securely 
 
f)  staff receive relevant financial training approved by the Section 151 

Officer. 
 
D.4. Corporate Directors shall maintain a scheme of delegation identifying officers 

authorised to act on their behalf on financial matters. A copy of this, together 
with specimen signatures shall be supplied to the Section 151 Officer.  A copy 
of the scheme of delegation is attached at Annex D to these regulations.  

 
Accounting for Income 
 
D.5.  Effective income collection systems are necessary to ensure that all revenues 

due to the Council are collected. Income can be vulnerable to loss. In order to 
maximise the Council’s income, it is important that all income due is properly 
identified, collected, receipted, banked and recorded in accounting systems. 

 
 
 

Page 61



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 13 October 2021  
 
 

Key controls and responsibilities 
 
D.6.  The Section 151 Officer and the Corporate Directors are responsible for the 

operation of the key controls governing the receipt of income and for ensuring 
that all due income is correctly recorded and received. Detailed responsibilities 
governing the collection of income are set out at Annex E, section 1.  The 
Section 151 Officer shall review these responsibilities from time to time. 

 
Documentation and cash handling 
 
D.7.  In accordance with these regulations the Section 151 Officer and Corporate 

Directors are responsible for securing the Council’s assets. Cash due and held 
by the Council is vulnerable to loss and must be recorded, held, processed and 
banked securely. Detailed requirements governing documentation and record 
keeping relating to Council income, for handling cash and cash held for third 
parties, are set out in Annex E, Section 2. 

 
Banking and investment arrangements 
 
D.8.  The Section 151 Officer shall: 
 

a)  Make arrangements for all banking services. 
 
b)  Ensure that surplus cash is systematically invested on a daily basis 

consistent with the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy. 
 
c)  Ensure all cheques or other financial instructions issued on behalf of the 

Council bear the impression or manuscript signature of an authorised 
officer, in accordance with the counter-signature hierarchy specified in 
Annex  G, Clause 1.f. 

 
d)  Be responsible for the ordering and control of cheques and similar secure 

stationery, and make sound arrangements for the safe custody of cheque 
stocks, and the control and reconciliation of those issued. 

 
e)  Make secure arrangements for the telephonic and electronic transmission 

of payments and receipts, including the application of effective internal 
controls to mirror those set out above. 

 
D.9.  Corporate Directors are responsible for ensuring that their staff comply with all 

guidance and instructions issued by the Section 151 Officer in this regard. 
 
Petty Cash, Change Floats, and Electronic Purchasing Card Payments 
 
D.10.  The Council’s resources may be held as cash only where there is a business 

need.  Any cash holdings must be authorised by the Section 151 Officer who 
will review the need for such cash holdings periodically and may, at his/her 
discretion, in consultation with Corporate Directors, withdraw or alter the size of 
cash holdings. Detailed regulations governing cash, change floats and 
electronic purchasing cards are set out in Annex E, section 3. 

Page 62



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 14 October 2021  
 
 

 
Debt collection 
 
D.11.  The invoicing, collection and enforcement of Sundry Income is the responsibility 

of the Corporate Director (Finance & Operations) who shall initiate proceedings 
to recover monies owing to the Council in an expeditious manner. The Section 
151 Officer will ensure that there are recovery procedures for all debts due and 
which have remained unpaid. These will take place automatically. 

 
D.12.  Where a debtor is also a creditor to the Council, the amount due to the Council 

shall be deducted from amounts payable by the Council where, in the opinion 
of the Corporate Director (Finance & Operations), such a course would seem 
to be more expeditious and/or cost effective than recovery action through the 
courts. 

 
Bad debts and unclaimed credits 
 
D.13.  Where recovery processes have been fruitless and the debt has become 

irrecoverable, it will be written off. The procedure to be followed for writing off 
bad debts is set out at Annex E, section 4. 

 
D.14.  Where unclaimed credits are held within the Council’s accounts, they may be 

considered for write on. The procedure to be followed for writing on unclaimed 
credits is set out at Annex E, section 4.  

 
Stocks and stores and minor assets 
 
D.15.  Stocks and stores represent short term assets of the authority and are therefore 

subject to the same general regulations applying to other assets and cash 
holdings. Detailed regulations and responsibilities for managing stocks and 
stores are set out in Annex E, section 5. 

 
Trading Accounts/Business Units 
 
D.16.  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for advising on the establishment and 

operation of trading accounts and business units. 
 
D.17.  Corporate Directors shall take advice from the Section 151 Officer where a 

business unit wishes to enter into a contract with a third party where the contract 
expiry date exceeds the remaining life of their main contract with the Council. 
Such contracts should not be entered into unless they can be terminated within 
the main contract period without penalty. 

 
D. 18. All officers must observe statutory requirements in relation to business units, 

including the maintenance of a separate revenue account to which all relevant 
income and expenditure, including full overhead costs are charged, and to 
produce an annual report in support of the final accounts. 

 

Page 63



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 15 October 2021  
 
 

D.19.  Corporate Directors must ensure that the appropriate accounting principles are 
applied to trading accounts as advised by the Section 151 Officer. Each internal 
trading unit shall prepare an annual business plan. 

 
D.20.  Cabinet shall approve the Council’s banking and brokering arrangements, and 

authorised signatories on the advice of the Section 151 Officer. 
 
Document retention – general 
 
D.21.  Hard copy documentation or electronic media admissible by the Courts created 

or maintained for transactions covered by these Financial Regulations or the 
Council’s Procurement Standing Orders shall be retained for a period not less 
than 6 years after the transaction/ project ceases to be current and/or the 
financial year to which it relates. For more specific guidance please refer to the 
Retention Schedule. 

 
D.22.  All quotations (including unsuccessful ones) obtained for orders made in 

accordance with these Financial Regulations shall be retained for not less than 
the current year plus one. 

 
Disposal of Assets (including Stocks and Stores) 
 
D.23.  As a public authority the Council should, in the disposal of its landholdings and 

other assets, always seek to obtain the best price reasonably obtainable, in 
terms of money or monies worth, unless it is absolved from this duty by statute, 
regulation or other lawful authority. If in the particular case of any disposal these 
rules cannot be followed in such a way as to ensure both propriety and optimum 
value, the matter must be reported to the Cabinet by the Corporate Director 
(Finance & Operations) for authority to proceed in a different way. 

 
D.24.  Detailed regulations governing the disposal of assets are set out in Annex F. 

The annex covers detailed regulations concerning the disposal of:  
 

 Land 
 

 equipment  
 

 scrap and ICT equipment 
 

 major reusable items 
 

 investments 
 

 intangible assets. 
 

Page 64



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 16 October 2021  
 
 

Financial Regulation E:  Expenditure, Liabilities and Procurement of, Ordering, 
and Paying for Works, Goods, Services  and Assets 
 
Introduction 
 
E.1  The Council has a duty to manage and spend public money with due regard to 

probity and in accordance with the Council’s policies. All staff and Members of 
the Council are required to comply with the Council’s procurement policies and 
procedures, as set out in Procurement Standing Orders. In particular, every 
officer and Member of the Council must advise the Monitoring Officer of any 
real or perceived links or personal interests they may have with purchasers 
suppliers and/or contractors if they are engaged in contractual or purchasing 
decisions on behalf of the Council. 

 
E.2.  Procurement Standing Orders are supplemented by detailed regulations 

governing the day-to-day ordering of works, goods and services. These are 
provided in Annex G, section 1. 

 
E.3.  The Corporate Director (Finance & Operations) is responsible for reporting to 

the Cabinet not less than twice each financial year on the exercise of his/her 
delegated powers. One such report will comprise an annual report on 
procurement for presentation within the following financial year. 

 
E.4.  It is the responsibility of Corporate Directors to ensure that a proper scheme of 

delegation has been established for the procurement, certification and 
authorisation of payment within their area, and to take steps periodically to test 
that the scheme is operating effectively. Further detailed responsibilities of the 
Section 151 Officer and Corporate Directors in respect of the regulations 
governing ordering and paying for works, goods and services are set out in 
Annex G, section 2. 

 
E.5.  All acquisitions of assets by the Council, as defined in Annex F, must comply 

with the detailed regulations set out in Annex G, section 5. 

 
Contract arrangements 
 
E.6.  All contracts with a value in excess of the amount specified in Annex G, section 

3, are subject to the provisions contained in the Council’s Procurement 
Standing Orders. No tender shall be accepted and no contract shall be entered 
into until all of the requirements of Procurement Standing Orders as well as all 
necessary approvals, sanctions and consents have been obtained. Prior to 
letting a contract, Officers must ensure that they have the necessary delegated 
authority to proceed and there is sufficient budget provision in place. 

 
E.7. For all contract in excess of the value specified in Regulation E.6, the Section 

151 Officer will be responsible for: 
 

a)  Arranging payment in accordance with the contract terms or Council’s 
scheme for prompt payment. 

Page 65



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 17 October 2021  
 
 

 
b)  Examining, at his/her discretion, and making such enquiries as may be 

necessary to satisfy him/herself as to the fairness and accuracy of the 
accounts. 

 
E.8.  The Assistant Director (Corporate and Contracted Services) shall consider all 

claims, which appear not to clearly fall within the scope of the primary contract 
with a view to determining liability. He/she will consult with the Section 151 
Officer on any financial consideration before settlement is reached. 

 
E.9.  Detailed responsibilities of Corporate Directors in relation to contracts are set 

out in Annex G, Section 3. 
 
Engagement of, and Payments to, Employees 
 
E.10.  The Chief Executive, as Head of the Paid Service, has overall responsibility for 

ensuring that all staff emoluments and entitlements are approved for all current 
employees.  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for calculating emoluments 
and entitlements and for ensuring that all payments are timely and accurate. 

 
E.11.  Detailed responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer and Corporate Directors in 

respect of engagement of, and payment to, employees are set out in Annex G, 
section 4. In particular, no advances of pay shall be made without the express 
agreement of the Section 151 Officer. Any advances of pay that are made shall 
be effected through the Council’s payroll system unless determined otherwise 
by the Section 151 Officer. 

 
Payments to Members 
 
E.12.  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for the payment of allowances and other 

sums due to Members in accordance with the Council’s Members’ Allowances 
Scheme, and best practice nationally. 

 
E.13.  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for implementing the provisions for 

Members’ travel and subsistence contained in the Members’ Allowances 
Scheme.  

 
Taxation 
 
E.14.  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for managing the Council’s tax affairs, 

approving systems and processes where in the opinion of the Section 151 
Officer they may have a significant impact on the Council’s tax position, and 
advising Corporate Directors on all taxation issues affecting the authority.  
He/she is also responsible for maintaining the authority’s tax records, making 
all tax payments by the due dates, receiving tax credits and submitting tax 
returns by their due date as appropriate. 

 
E.15.  Corporate Directors are responsible for ensuring that the correct amount of VAT 

is paid and/or collected on rateable purchases and supplies, in accordance with 
guidance issued by the Section 151 Officer, and for making proper 

Page 66



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 18 October 2021  
 
 

arrangements to administer the correct tax liabilities for contractors engaged in 
construction and maintenance works. 

 

Page 67



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 19 October 2021  
 
 

Financial Regulation F:  External Arrangements 
 
Partnerships 
 
F.1.  For the purpose of the Regulations a partnership is defined as a joint working 

arrangement between otherwise independent bodies that: 
 

a)  agree to co-operate to achieve a common goal 
 

b) create new organisational structures or processes to achieve this goal 
separate from their own organisations 

 
c) plan and implement a jointly agreed programme often with joint staff or 

resources 
 

d)  share relevant information 
 

e)  pool risks and rewards. 
 

Service contracts that are described colloquially as “partnerships” are not 
partnerships for this purpose but are regarded as contracted services dealt with 
under procurement rules. 

 
Responsibilities and expectations 
 
F.2.  The Council requires that potential partners are aware of their responsibilities 

under the Authority’s Financial Regulations and the procurement requirements. 
When partnerships are developed, the partners shall agree on which financial 
regulations and standing orders shall apply as part of the governance 
arrangements for the partnership. The Council’s expectations regarding 
partnerships are set out at Annex H, section 1. These should be adapted and 
written into partnership governance documents, as appropriate. 

 
F.3.  The Council is responsible for considering, and where appropriate, approving 

the formation of any strategic partnership or any proposed change to existing 
external relationships, on the recommendation of the Leader of the Council. 

 
F.4.  The Chief executive shall be the Council’s principal advisor and representative 

on partnership and external bodies. Further detailed responsibilities are set out 
in Annex H section 2. 

 
External funding 
 
F.5.  Where funding is due from external bodies the Section 151 Officer shall ensure 

that: 
 

(a) All funding due is received and properly recorded in the authority’s 
accounts. 

 

Page 68



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 20 October 2021  
 
 

(b) Match-funding requirements and obligations are considered prior to 
entering into any agreement, and that future revenue budgets reflect these 
requirements. 

 
(c) Audit requirements are met. 

 
F.6   Further responsibilities in respect of external funding and providing works to 

third parties are set out in Annex H, Section 2. 

Page 69



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex A 
 

Page | 21 October 2021  
 
 

 
Annex A 
 
Monitoring Officer responsibilities – schedule of values 
 
Regulation  A.5. 
 
Last updated:  September 2015 
 
The Assistant Director (Corporate and Contracted Services) is the Authority’s 
designated Monitoring Officer, under Section 5 of the Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989. He/she (together with the Section 151 Officer) is responsible for advising 
the Portfolio Holder, Cabinet or Council about whether a decision is likely to be 
considered contrary or not wholly in accordance with the approved budget. Actions 
that may be ‘contrary to the budget’ include: 
 
a) Initiating a new policy 
 
b) Taking, or failing to take action which will, or is likely to result in any defined 

budget for the current year being exceeded by an amount which in the view of 
the Section 151 Officer, taking into account all the circumstances at the time, is 
contrary or not wholly in accordance with the budget. 

 
c)  Committing, or seeking to commit expenditure in future years above the 

approved level. 
 
d)  Causing the Council’s total budgeted sum for either the Housing Revenue 

Account or the General Fund to increase by more than the following amount in 
any one year (determined by the Section 151 Officer): 

 
£100,000 

 

Page 70



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex B 
 

Page | 22 October 2021  
 
 

ANNEX B  
 
Financial Planning and Budgeting Policy Framework 
 
Section 1: Budgeting and budgetary control 
 
Regulation B.8  
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
The Section 151 Officer shall determine the format of how budgets, revenue and 
capital, are presented and reported on. Revenue and capital budgets shall be 
submitted to Cabinet for consideration together and will be fully integrated and cross-
referenced. 
 
Section 1: Budget preparation 
 
1.a)   The Section 151 Officer is responsible for ensuring that a revenue budget is 

prepared on an annual basis for consideration by the Cabinet, before 
submission to the Council in the fourth quarter of the financial year. Fully-costed 
service budgets shall be prepared by the Section 151 officer in conjunction with 
the delegated budget holder. Budgets proposed to Cabinet should include 
allocations to each service and projects (where appropriate), proposed taxation 
levels and contingency funds (where appropriate). Such budgets will be in 
accordance with the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, will include 
revenue projections covering three years and capital projections covering five 
years, and will include appropriate risk management processes in their 
compilation. 

 
1.b)  It is the responsibility of Corporate Directors, and their delegated 

representatives, to ensure that budget estimates reflect agreed service plans 
and are scrutinised and endorsed by appropriate Members including Portfolio 
Holders and relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committees, prior to collation by 
the Section 151 Officer for submission to Cabinet. 

 
1.c)  The budget submission for the coming year shall show in respect of each 

defined item of income and expenditure: 
 

i) the original estimate and any revised estimate for the current year 
 

ii) the actual outturn for the previous year 
 

iii) estimates for the coming year with appropriate explanation of any 
significant issues or variations anticipated in the future.  

 
In relation to i.) above the responsible Director, or the Section 151 Officer, shall 
report on any material variations. 

 

Page 71



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex B 
 

Page | 23 October 2021  
 
 

1.d)  The Cabinet shall consult with stakeholders and Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee(s) and make amendments as thought fit (subject to the advice of 
the Section 151 officer), prior to recommending appropriate budgets to Council. 

 
1.e)  Changes to the Budget which increase the Council’s total expenditure and 

require either the use of the Council’s general reserves or increased borrowing 
must be referred by the Section 151 Officer to the Cabinet for consideration 
before being referred to the full Council for approval. 

 
Budget monitoring and control 
 
1.f) In order to enable budgets to be monitored effectively, the Section 151 Officer 

will provide appropriate financial information to Corporate Directors, Assistant 
Directors and Group Managers. The Section 151 officer will monitor 
expenditure and income against budget, and will report to the Corporate 
Management Team on the Council’s financial position against its budget on a 
monthly basis, and to Cabinet on a quarterly basis. This will include the detailed 
actual position in comparison to the budget for the year, projected outturn 
position for the end of the year, and any proposed action to be taken to deal 
with any variances. The report will show performance against individual detailed 
service budgets and also on a subjective basis. 

 
1.g)  Corporate Directors shall make appropriate arrangements, subject to these 

having been approved by the Section 151 Officer, to process all income and 
expenditure in a timely manner and charge it to an appropriate account code, 
so that information, and interpretations thereof, provided in accordance with 
clause 1.f above fairly reflects the true position. 

 
1.h)  It is the responsibility of Corporate Directors, Assistant Directors and Group 

Managers to control income and expenditure within their area, taking account 
of financial information provided by the Section 151 Officer, as well as 
supplementary local information systems. Each Director shall ensure that all 
expenditure committed by their directorates is within a revenue, capital, or other 
budget approved by Council. Any potential expenditure or loss of income, which 
cannot be funded from within the totality of the service budget, supported by 
the approved Scheme of Virement shall be reported to the Section 151 Officer 
as soon as this is anticipated by the Director. 

 
1.i)  The inclusion of items in approved revenue or capital budgets shall constitute 

approval to incur expenditure, subject to compliance with Procurement 
Standing Orders or other requirements included within these Regulations. 

 
Section 2: Capital plans and budgets 
 
Regulation B.9 
 
Last updated: December 2019 
 
 
 

Page 72



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex B 
 

Page | 24 October 2021  
 
 

Preparation and approvals 
 
2.a)  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for ensuring that a rolling 5 year Capital 

Programme is prepared on an annual basis for consideration by Cabinet and 
submission to the Council as part of its annual budget-setting process, and that 
capital and revenue budgets are fully integrated. 

 
2.b)  The Programme will be informed by the Council’s Capital Strategy and Medium 

Term Financial Strategy and by such capital and revenue resources as the 
Section 151 Officer recommends be made available over the Programme 
period. 

 
2.c)  The Section 151 Officer, in conjunction with Corporate Directors, will prepare 

and submit to Cabinet the estimates of capital payments planned to be incurred 
in the ensuing years. Capital estimates will be integrated with and cross-
referenced to revenue budget estimates. 

 
2.d)  The Capital Programme submitted to Cabinet for consideration will include the 

total sum set aside for capital projects in the year under consideration and for 
future relevant years, together with details of individual projects being submitted 
for approval. The Capital Programme submitted to Cabinet will also include 
details of and provision for capital schemes already approved and in progress 
from previous years. Projects will be considered for inclusion within the Capital 
Programme in accordance with the arrangements set out in the Capital 
Strategy. 

 
2.e)  So far as is possible, all new schemes for the coming year will be identified in 

the budget report. Any subsequent new schemes will be approved by Cabinet 
within the total made available for capital schemes. Cabinet may ringfence 
sums of capital, or agree schemes in principle, with release of detailed sums 
delegated to the Portfolio Holder (Finance &Resources) if it considers it 
appropriate. 

 
Section 3: Scheme of virement 
 
Regulation B.11 
 
Last updated: October 2021 
 
3.a)  Virement is an in-year mechanism for formally determining and seeking 

agreement to the transfer of funds from one approved budget heading to 
another. The Virement policy set out below applies to all transfers of budget, of 
any value and for any reason, including for reasons of organisational 
restructure. 

 
3.b)  No virement has been carried out unless it has been done in accordance with 

these Regulations, has been approved by the Section 151 Officer and is 
recorded in a register maintained by him/her, and the Council’s corporate 
Financial Management Information System has been updated accordingly. The 

Page 73



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex B 
 

Page | 25 October 2021  
 
 

recording of an approved virement does not alter the original budget approved 
before the start of the year. 

 
3.c)  The rules on virement apply to revenue and to capital and to all accounts under 

the Council’s control. 
 
3.d)  A virement cannot increase nor decrease the total amount of budget resource 

available: the net effect of all virements must be nil. 
 
Levels of authority 
 
3.e)   A hierarchy of authorities is required to determine the type and level of virement 

that may be authorised by committees and officers of the Council. This is given 
in the Schedule of Authorisations, item 1. 

 
3.f)  In no instance should a virement be considered where approval would have the 

effect, or be seen to have the effect of frustrating, circumventing or amending 
the Council’s policies or budget framework. Proposals for any new capital or 
revenue scheme, new sources of income, and significant variation in approved 
charges shall be considered by Cabinet and, if appropriate, Council. 

 
Principles of application 
 
3.g)  The proposed virement must be for a purpose or budget previously approved 

by Council. Sufficient funds must remain in the transferor budget to meet all 
remaining commitments for the year. “Transferor budget” in this context refers 
to individual line budgets and not to the total budget for the service. 

 
3.h)  Subject to being over-ridden by a higher authority, no virement shall take place 

without the agreement of the transferor. 
 
3.i)  In seeking approval for a revenue virement, it must be specified whether a 

virement is one- off in nature (impacting current year budgets only) or 
represents a permanent change (affecting current and all future year budgets).  
Capital virements may only be one- off in nature. 

 
3.j)  Any proposed transfer of funding to ‘employee’ budgets must not increase total 

employment costs beyond the current year. Employment cost for this purpose 
shall include payments to and for staff, agency and other temporary 
engagements, and overtime. 

 
3.k)  Where not specifically budgeted for within a scheme or project, consultancy and 

agency staff fees shall be deemed to be included within ‘employee’ costs for 
the purpose of this scheme. 

 
3.l)  Budgets for central and departmental recharges, asset rents, depreciation, 

interest receivable, capital receipts / charges, and similar corporate ‘accounts’ 
are excluded from this scheme. 

 
 

Page 74



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex B 
 

Page | 26 October 2021  
 
 

Section 4: Scheme of supplementary budgets 
 
Regulation B.12 
 
Last updated: December 2019 
 
4.a)  Supplementary budgets  are an in-year mechanism for formally determining 

and seeking agreement to the increase of a budget heading to be wholly funded 
by a specific funding sources, usually, existing reserves, s106 receipts, CIL 
receipts or grant funding.  The supplementary budgets policy set out below 
applies to all supplementary budgets, of any value and for any reason. 

 
4.b)  No supplementary budget has been carried out unless it has been done in 

accordance with these Regulations, has been approved by the Section 151 
Officer and is recorded in a register maintained by him/her, and the Council’s 
corporate Financial Management Information System has been updated 
accordingly.  

 
4.c)  The rules on supplementary budgets apply to revenue and to capital and to all 

accounts under the Council’s control. 
 
Levels of authority 
 
4.d)   A hierarchy of authorities is required to determine the type and level of 

supplementary budget that may be authorised by committees and officers of 
the Council. This is given in the Schedule of Authorisations, item 2. 

 
4.e)  In no instance should a supplementary budget be considered where approval 

would have the effect, or be seen to have the effect of frustrating, circumventing 
or amending the Council’s policies or budget framework. Proposals for any new 
capital or revenue scheme, new sources of income, and significant variation in 
approved charges shall be considered by Cabinet and, if appropriate, Council. 

 
Principles of application 
 
4.h)  The supplementary budgets must not commit expenditure in any following year. 

Base budgets for the following year(s) shall be ‘re-set’ to exclude any 
supplementary budget made. 

 
4.i)  Any proposed supplementary budgets altering ‘employee’ budgets must not 

increase total employment costs beyond the current year. Employment cost for 
this purpose shall include payments to and for staff, agency and other 
temporary engagements, and overtime. 

 
4.j)  Where not specifically budgeted for within a scheme or project, consultancy and 

agency staff fees shall be deemed to be included within ‘employee’ costs for 
the purpose of this scheme. 

 
 
 

Page 75



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex C 
 

Page | 27 October 2021  
 
 

ANNEX C 
 
Risk Management and Resource Control 
 
Section 1: Maintaining internal control  
 
Regulation C.6  
 
Last updated: December 2019 
 
Audit arrangements 
 
1.a)  The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, require every local authority to 

undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk 
management , control and governance processes. The Corporate Director 
(Finance & Operations) has the responsibility to ensure that the Internal Audit 
Contractor independently reviews and reports formally to the Audit Committee 
on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s control environment. 

 
1.b)  The Section 151 Officer shall maintain an adequate and effective system of 

internal audit of all accounting, financial and other operations of the Council, 
and in particular shall arrange, either directly or through an Internal Audit 
service provided under contract, for the examination, review and appraisal of: 

 
i) the soundness, adequacy and application of internal controls 

 
ii) the safeguards applied to Council assets to protect them from loss, theft, 

fraud, waste, inefficiency, extravagance, or poor value for money 
 

iii) the suitability and reliability of financial and other management 
information 

 
iv)  compliance with rules, regulations, legislation, policy and procedures. 

 
1.c)  The Corporate Director (Finance & Operations) shall be responsible for 

ensuring that  an annual report is prepared setting out: 
 

i) an opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s 
control environment  
 

ii) disclosure and qualifications to that opinion 
 

iii) a summary of the audit work undertaken, and 
 

iv)  any issues that are relevant to the preparation of the Annual Governance 
Statement . This shall be submitted to the Audit Committee as soon as is 
practicable after the end of the year to which it relates. 

 

Page 76



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex C 
 

Page | 28 October 2021  
 
 

1.d)   Internal Audit staff have specific authority to access appropriate Council 
personnel, correspondence and data at any time.  Details of these powers are 
set out in the contract with the Internal Audit provider.  

 
Preventing and detecting fraud and corruption 
 
1.e)  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for the development and maintenance 

of an anti-fraud, anti-corruption and whistleblowing policies. The Monitoring 
Officer shall be advised in any instance where a member may be implicated. 

 
1.f)  The Section 151 Officer shall be notified immediately by the relevant Corporate 

Director of any suspected irregularity: 
 

i) concerning income, expenditure, cash, stores or other property of the 
Council 

 
ii)  in the exercise of the functions of the authority that may appear to place 

an officer(s) or member(s) under suspicion of obtaining financial benefit, 
directly or indirectly, as a result of the exercise of any Council function with 
which he/she is associated. 

 
Where notification has been received, the Section 151 Officer shall take such 
steps as is considered necessary by way of investigation and report. 

 
1.g)  Should it be found that any major irregularity has, is, or is about to occur, the 

Section 151 Officer shall immediately inform the Chief Executive and the 
Chairman of the Audit Committee. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for 
determining whether any irregularity shall be referred to the Police. There shall, 
however, be a presumption when considering any case, that suspected criminal 
acts perpetrated against the Council should be referred to the Police for 
investigation. 

 
Security of assets 
 
1.h)  Corporate Directors should ensure that records and assets are properly 

maintained and securely held. They should also ensure that effective 
contingency plans are in place to: 

 
i) ensure continuity of service in the event of disaster or system failure 

  
ii) ensure that assets are secured in the event of disaster 

 
iii) hold in trust all assets secured as a result of clearing vacated council-

owned premises until such a time as they can be properly disposed of in 
accordance with the regulations to be set out in the contingency plan.  

 
1.i)  The Group Manager (Commercial Assets & Property Development) shall 

maintain a terrier of all land and buildings owned by the Council, or premises in 
which the Council has an interest. He/she shall ensure that all council buildings 

Page 77



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex C 
 

Page | 29 October 2021  
 
 

comply with all relevant legislation and that all relevant permissions and 
consents are secured. 

 
1.j)  The Assistant Director (Corporate and Contracted Services) shall be 

responsible for the safe custody of all title deeds, formal contracts and 
agreements, under secure arrangements agreed with the Chief Executive and 
the Section 151 Officer. 

 
1.k)  Group Managers shall maintain adequate and proper security at all times for all 

buildings, stocks, stores, furniture, equipment, vehicles, plant, cash and other 
assets of the Council, under their control. 

 
1.l)  Maximum limits for cash holdings, in whatever receptacle, shall be agreed with 

the Section 151 Officer, and shall not be exceeded without his/her express 
permission and with regard to the appropriate insurance limit.  Current limits are 
set out in the Schedule of Authorisations, item 3. Cash received in total in 
excess of this amount must be banked within 24 hours. 

 
1.m)  Officers, who in the course of their duties collect monies on behalf of the  

Council, the Council’s partners or third parties, shall take all reasonable steps 
to secure safe custody and shall comply with any instructions given by the 
Section 151 Officer. 

 
1.n)  Each Corporate Director shall make arrangements to maintain a register of keys 

for external doors, safes, cash boxes and others items of similar importance. 
All safes shall meet with such specifications determined by the Section 151 
Officer after consultation with the Council’s insurers. The Register shall list the 
keyholders and out of hours contact arrangements. The Register should be held 
securely and only be available to authorised officers. All keys issued to staff are 
to be carried on the person, or held in a secure place, by those responsible at 
all times. Safe keys must not be left on the premises where the safe is situated. 
The loss of keys must be reported to the relevant Director and Section 151 
Officer immediately. 

 
1.o)  With regard to computing, systems, software and data integrity, the Corporate 

Director responsible for ICT services shall: 
 

i) Ensure  proper security and privacy arrangements are applied in respect 
of all information held on the Council’s computer installations, and that 
information is used is in accordance with Data Protection and other 
relevant legislation. 

 
ii) Ensure that effective contingency plans, disaster recovery and back-up 

procedures enable information systems to resume speedily in the event 
of an interruption. These should be documented and distributed to all 
appropriate personnel. He/she shall from time to time arrange for such 
plans to be tested. 

 

Page 78



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex C 
 

Page | 30 October 2021  
 
 

iii) Ensure that the Council, its employees, contractors, partners and agents 
working in support of the Council, comply with copyright, design, patent 
and similar legislation. 

 
1.p)  Each Corporate Director shall ensure that all staff and third party 

contractors/partners are aware of, and observe such rules and guidance, as 
may be issued under clause 1.m above. In addition, they shall ensure that the 
same standards of care apply to those computer systems directly under their 
control. 

 
1.q)  Corporate Directors are responsible for ensuring that all visitors to any Council 

buildings or sites, except in public areas, are signed-in and wear authorised 
identification. They shall also ensure that any visitor is adequately supervised 
to ensure confidentiality of information and security of Council assets at all 
times. 

 
1.r)  Corporate Directors, acting with the advice of the Section 151 Officer, shall 

ensure that the principles of separation of duties and good control procedures 
are observed in the allocation of accounting duties. They shall make 
arrangements so that:  

 
i)  Duties of providing information regarding sums due to or from the Council 

and of calculating, checking and recording such sums shall be separated 
from the duty of cash or income handling and disbursing them. 

 
ii)  Officers responsible for examining and checking the accounts for cash, 

stocks, stores and similar transactions shall not themselves be engaged 
in any of these transactions. 

 
iii)  The organisational structure provides internal controls and minimises the 

risk of fraud or other malpractice. 
 
Treasury management 
 
1.s)  The authority has adopted the Code of Practice for Treasury Management in 

Local Authorities published by CIPFA  (2017 edition). 
 
1.t)  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for reporting to Cabinet a proposed 

Treasury Management Strategy for the coming financial year on an annual 
basis. The Council is responsible for approving the Treasury Management 
Statement. The Section 151 Officer has responsibility for implementing and 
monitoring the Statement. 

 
1.u)  He/she is responsible for reporting to the Cabinet at least twice in each financial 

year on the activities of the treasury management operation and on the exercise 
of his or her delegated treasury management powers. One such report will 
comprise an annual report on treasury management for presentation within the 
period of the succeeding financial year. 

 

Page 79



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex C 
 

Page | 31 October 2021  
 
 

1.v)  All executive decisions on borrowing, investment or financing shall be 
delegated to the Section 151 Officer, who is required to act in accordance with 
CIPFA’s Code of Practice.  

 
1.w)  All money in the hands of the Council is controlled by the Section 151 Officer. 

All external investments shall be made in the name of Dacorum Borough 
Council and shall be undertaken by the Section 151 Officer. 

 
1.x)  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for authorising the opening of any new 

bank accounts or for closing bank accounts, for managing and controlling all 
bank accounts held by the Council, and for liaison with the Council’s bankers. 
He/she will also approve the financial limits of authorised signatories to bank 
accounts. The term ‘bank account’ includes accounts with building societies, 
the post office or any financial institution and also includes credit or debit card 
facilities. 

 
1.y)  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for applying for any debit or credit cards 

and for determining the ongoing need for any such cards in use. 
 
Section 2: Staffing and consultancy arrangements 
 
Regulations C.7 & C.8 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
Staffing arrangements 
 
2.a)  A staff structure is required to provide support to the Cabinet, the Council and 

the Committees of the Council for the conduct of business. The Chief Executive, 
as Head of Paid Service, is responsible for determining how officer support for 
Cabinet and non-Cabinet roles within the authority will be organised in line with 
hierarchy of the authorisations specified in Annex C, Clause 2.g). The Chief 
Executive is responsible for providing overall management to staff and for 
ensuring that there is proper use of the evaluation or other agreed systems for 
determining remuneration of employment. 

 
2.b)  Corporate Directors, Assistant Directors and Group Managers are responsible 

for ensuring that: 
 

i)  staffing levels can be funded within the totality of the approved current and 
forward years’ budget provision allocated to them 

 
ii)  rules relating to virement as they apply to the engagement of staff are 

observed. 
 
2.c)  The Chief Executive  shall ensure that there is an official record of the officer 

structure showing each post. 
 

Page 80



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex C 
 

Page | 32 October 2021  
 
 

2.d)  The Corporate Director (Finance & Operations) will ensure that the annual 
budget presented for approval balances with the approved structure charts , net 
of any vacancy provision policy that the Council may operate from time to time. 

 
2.e)  Directors may appoint employees only to posts identified in the structure chart 

and on grades set out therein (apart from any additional remunerative 
arrangements such as leased cars, market forces supplements etc. that the 
Council may apply from time to time). 

 
2.f)  The Corporate Director (Finance & Operations) shall ensure that the corporate 

employee database and payroll reflect only the official gradings of posts, and 
that additions to the payroll are effected only for posts within the structure 
charts.  

 
2.g)  Changes may be made to the structure charts in accordance with the hierarchy 

of authorities given in the Schedule of Authorisations, item 4, where the net 
effect of any changes is no increase in cost for the current, or a full year. Where 
a change to the structure chart results in an increased net cost, it shall require 
the approval of Council on the recommendation  of Cabinet. 

 
2.h)  Corporate Directors may engage temporary staff to cover for the exigencies of 

the moment and/or staff absences/vacancies. Whilst not reflected on the 
structure charts , payment may be effected through the payroll if in the opinion 
of the Section 151 Officer it is appropriate to do so. The Section 151 Officer will 
ensure that all such ‘employment’ is clearly shown on system as temporary and 
will ensure that no contractual commitment is entered into that would cause the 
temporary or interim worker to gain full employment rights. 

 
2.i)  The annual budget report submitted by the Corporate Director (Finance & 

Operations) shall include a section identifying any changes made to the 
structure charts since the previous budget report and defining the structure  for 
the coming year. 

 
Use of consultants 
 
2.j)  A consultant organisation or consultant may be engaged, where in the opinion 

of the Chief Executive or relevant Corporate Director he/she considers that the 
consultant will add value to the Council’s determination of a particular technical, 
professional, managerial or political matter. This scheme applies to 
commissioned work and managing or advising consultancy and does not 
embrace the engagement of agency or other personnel covering vacancies 
within established posts. Costs of consultants must be contained within existing 
budgets. 

 
2.k)  A consultancy or interim staffing arrangement will exist where the person and/or 

company is not employed under a direct contract of employment with the 
Council and such appointments shall be procured through the following: 

 
i)  an agency contract agreed under a framework agreement for the supply 

of agency staff as detailed on the Council’s Contract Register; or 

Page 81



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex C 
 

Page | 33 October 2021  
 
 

 
ii)  be procured through the Corporate Procurement Team and in accordance 

with Procurement Standing Orders. 
 

2.l)  Prior to inviting consultancy support the relevant Corporate Director shall 
identify and set down in writing the project objective(s), required ‘deliverables’, 
and timescales, which shall then form the basis of any consultancy contract. 

 
Project brief and monitoring arrangements 
 
2.m)  In letting and managing a consultancy contract, the Corporate Director shall: 
 

i)  ensure that the outcomes and timescales of a consultancy are determined 
in writing in advance of any contract being let 

 
ii)  assign responsibility within his/her directorate for the day to day 

management of the consultancy 
 
iii)  determine the monitoring arrangements, review points, and any 

documentation and/or access and/or other protocols necessary for the 
conduct of the consultancy 

 
iv)  ensure that adequate and appropriate records are kept of consultant hours 

and/or outputs where payment is based on time used or production of 
specified outputs 

 
v)  ensure that all consultants are engaged on the basis of a written contract, 

set down and agreed before the commencement of the consultancy, and 
that such contract requires the consultant(s) to comply and be bound by 
any prevailing policies, standing orders, financial regulations and other 
instructions that are relevant to the consultancy task as though the 
consultant(s) were employees of the Council 

 
vi)  ensure that all documentation or other outputs generated by the 

consultancy are and remain the property of the Council in all respects, but 
especially including copyright and intellectual property rights, and that 
such material shall be in the possession of the Council at the end of the 
consultancy 

 
vii)  ensure that where consultants are retained to supply a product of 

significant ongoing tangible value to the Council, e.g. architects, 
engineers, software consultants etc, that the consultant(s) have adequate 
professional indemnity and public liability insurance cover in place, and 
that the existence of such cover shall be a contractual requirements. 

 
 
 
 

Page 82



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex D 
 

Page | 34 October 2021  
 
 

ANNEX D 
 
Schemes of Delegation 
 
Regulation D.4. 
 
Last updated: December 2019 
 
Corporate Directors are required to maintain a scheme of delegation identifying 
officers authorised to act on their behalf on financial matters. A completed copy will be 
retained by the Section 151 Officer. 
 
The scheme shall cover authorisation of payments to be made to staff, contractors 
and suppliers, the collection of income and placing of orders including variations. The 
scheme shall also apply to the authorisation of Accounts Receivable credits and 
cancellation of invoices. In each instance, the financial limits within which the member 
of staff or agent has authority to act shall be identified as follows. All contracts must 
be let in accordance with the Procurement Standing Orders, and Procurement 
guidance must be sought for the letting of contracts outside of the approval levels 
contained within the table below. Where a postholder meets more than one of the 
criteria below e.g. Section 151 Officer and Corporate Director, the higher of the two 
values should be taken. 
 

Postholder Authorisation Level 

  Contract Letting 
Unit 4 Business 
World Approval 

Chief Executive £500,000 £20,000,000 

Section 151 Officer £500,000 £10,000,000 

Corporate Director £500,000 £1,000,000 

Assistant Director £250,000 £250,000 

Group Manager £75,000 £75,000 

Team Leader £25,000 £25,000 

Page 83



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex E 
 

Page | 35 October 2021  
 
 

ANNEX E 
 
Income and assets 
 
Section 1: Accounting for income 
 
Regulation D.6 
 
Last updated: December 2019 
 
1.a)  The key controls for income are that: 
 

i)  all income due to the Council is identified and charged correctly, in a timely 
manner and in accordance with corporate charging policies, and is 
collected and properly accounted for 

 
ii)  in the case of significant contracts, a financial vetting procedure is used to 

assess the merits of trading with the prospective (or, where appropriate, 
existing) customer 

 
iii)  all income is banked or remitted to the Finance Department within one 

working day in line with the requirements of the Section 151 Officer 
 
iv)  responsibility for cash handling should be separated from the person 

raising the debt 
 
v)  effective action is taken to pursue non-payment within defined timescales 
 
vi)  formal approval for debt write-off is obtained in accordance with Council 

policy and actioned promptly 
 
vii)  retention and storage of all appropriate income documents is in 

accordance with the document retention guidelines. 
 
Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer 
 
1.b)  The responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer are: 
 

i)  To authorise arrangements for the collection of all income due to the 
Council and to approve the procedures, systems and documentation for 
its collection. 

 
ii)  To maintain a financial vetting procedure for use in selecting and 

approving prospective (or, where appropriate, existing) customers in 
respect of significant contracts. 

 
iii)  To establish and initiate appropriate recovery procedures, including legal 

and bailiff action where necessary (subject to legal advice where 
appropriate), for debts that are not paid promptly. 

 

Page 84



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex E 
 

Page | 36 October 2021  
 
 

iv)  To authorise the write-off of bad debts up to an approved limit and to 
ensure that larger sums are referred to the Portfolio Holder (Finance and 
Resources) with his/her recommendation, or to Cabinet as appropriate. 

 
iv) To ensure that appropriate accounting adjustments are made following 

write off action for all debts 
 
vi)  Debts will be collected by the Corporate Director (Finance & Operations) 

unless specifically authorised otherwise by him/her. Assistant 
Directors/Group Managers will notify the Corporate Director (Finance & 
Operations) of all debts due promptly so that he/she can issue debtor 
accounts expeditiously. Such notification to the Corporate Director 
(Finance & Operations) will include all information required by him/her, 
and be in a form required by him/her to enforce collection effectively. This 
may include evidence to support enforcement during legal proceedings. 

 
vii)  To maintain and keep updated by submitting proposals to Cabinet, a 

policy for fees and charges, in consultation with relevant Corporate 
Directors. 

 
viii)  Reviewing the ordering, issuing and control of official receipting 

documentation. 
 
ix)  Regularly advising relevant managers of the status of debts outstanding. 
 
x)  Agreeing, determining and advising responsible officers of the minimum 

amount for which an invoice may be raised. 
 
xi)  Agreeing and determining the use and terms acceptable for credit and 

debit card receipting. 
 
xii)  Ensuring that appropriate accounting adjustments are made following 

write-off action. 
 
xiii)  Where money, money’s worth or the security of financial documents may 

be at risk ensuring, where practical, that at least two employees are 
present when post is opened so that funds, or the financial document 
received is properly identified and recorded. 

 
Responsibilities of Corporate Directors 
 
1.c.  The responsibilities of Corporate Directors are: 
 

i)  To establish departmental charges for the supply of goods or services, 
including the appropriate charging of VAT, and to review them at least 
annually, in line with the corporate charging policies. 

 
ii)  To ensure that the advice of the Section 151 Officer (or an officer to whom 

responsibility has been delegated) is obtained in respect of prospective 

Page 85



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex E 
 

Page | 37 October 2021  
 
 

(or, where appropriate, existing) customers where significant contracts are 
being considered. 

 
iii)  To supply the Section 151 Officer with details relating to work done, goods 

supplied, services rendered or other amounts due in a timely manner, so 
that sums due to the Council are recorded correctly. This includes 
ensuring that there is sufficient evidence of a usable quality is taken and 
held for debt collection purposes such as proving invoices or initiating 
legal proceedings.  

 
iv)  To separate the responsibility for identifying amounts due and the 

responsibility for collection, as far as is practicable. 
 
v)  To ensure that proper banking and accounting procedures are observed, 

which will include the issue of official receipts and to ensure that 
appropriate details are recorded on to bank paying-in slips to provide an 
audit and management trail. These details should match the payment to 
the account or invoice to be credited. 

 
vi)  To assist the Section 151 Officer by providing any further information 

requested by Financial Services to facilitate the follow up and recovery of 
outstanding debts and to assist in the following up of outstanding debts on 
behalf of the Council. 

 
vii)  Identification, collection, receipt, custody, control, disposal and proper 

accounting of all monies received, or receivable by the Council in 
accordance with any requirements of the Section 151 Officer.  

 
viii)  Immediate acknowledgement of sums received by an officer, by the issue 

of a sequentially pre-numbered receipt, ticket, voucher, or other document 
approved by the Section 151 Officer. Accounting for all receipts issued to 
officers, ensuring that they are used for official purposes and that the 
monies so receipted have been promptly collected and paid over to the 
Council, or its bankers intact, and without deduction for other purposes.  

 
ix)  Systematic consideration of bad and doubtful debts, including the 

cessation of service where there is a history of persistent poor payment in 
consultation with the Section 151 Officer. 

 
x)  Levying and collecting charges in advance or at the time for services 

provided. Where this is not feasible responsible officers shall promptly 
issue a sundry debtor account. 

 
Responsibility for recovering the Council’s income 
 
1.d)  The responsibility for recovering the Council’s income is as follows: 
 

i)  Council Tax and Business Rates – Assistant Director (Finance & 
Resources). 

 

Page 86



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex E 
 

Page | 38 October 2021  
 
 

ii)  Housing rents and associated income – Assistant Director (Housing). 
 
iii)  Parking – Assistant Director (Corporate and Contracted Services). 
 
iv)  Entertainments – Assistant Director (Performance, People and 

Innovation). 
 
v)  Sales – various. 
 
vi)  Government grants – Assistant Director (Finance & Resources). 
 
vii)  Commercial rents and associated income – Assistant Director (Finance & 

Resources). 
 
viii)  Planning application fees – Assistant Director (Planning, Development & 

Regeneration). 
 
ix) Building Control application fees – Assistant Director (Planning, 

Development & Regeneration). 
 
x)  Building Control fees (invoiced) – Assistant Director (Finance & 

Resources). 
 
xi)  Licensing application fees – Assistant Director (Corporate and Contracted 

Services). 
 
xii)  Invoicing annual fees - Assistant Director (Finance & Resources). 
 
xiii)  Sundry income invoiced through Accounts Receivable – Assistant 

Director (Finance & Resources). 
 

The definition of “Sundry Income” for the purposes of the above is: 
 
(a) those amounts due in respect of sales, fees and charges for services 

provided by the Council or falling due for payment, and which are: 
 

(b) invoiced using the Accounts Receivable system, and/or 
 

(c)  all income types other than those listed above. 
 
Section 2: Documentation and cash handling 
 
Regulation D.7 
 
Last updated: December 2019 
 
2.a)  All books and forms of account and all official receipt forms or books, licences, 

tickets and all documents or vouchers or tokens representing receipts or money 
shall be in a form approved by the Section 151 Officer. 

 

Page 87



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex E 
 

Page | 39 October 2021  
 
 

2.b)  The arrangements for ordering, storing and control of such receipts, forms, 
books and other documents shall be approved by the Section 151 Officer. All 
receipts and issues of such documents shall be properly recorded and 
acknowledged in a manner approved by the Section 151 Officer. 

 
2.c)  All cash received on behalf of the Council shall be properly acknowledged by 

the issue of an official Council receipt or other document of a type referred to 
above, unless alternative arrangements have been approved by the Section 
151 Officer. 

 
2.d)  Receipts for payments made by cheque should be made when requested by 

the payer. Payments received by automated methods, such as by debit/credit 
cards or via the Internet, must be recorded in such a manner as to facilitate 
reconciliation of the amounts received with the account(s) to be credited. 

 
2.e)  Bankings must always be intact, i.e. to include all monies received that day (or 

other agreed period). 
 
2.f)  No expenditure should be made out of income received which should all be 

banked in full. Refunds of overpayments must be made through the Creditors 
system, unless specifically sanctioned by the S151 Officer. 

 
2.g)  Third-party cheques should only be accepted where the cheque is from an 

approved source, e.g., utility undertaking and where it is used in full or part 
settlement of a Council debt. In no circumstances should they be cashed, or be 
accepted and change given. 

 
2.h)  Council cheques should only be accepted when it has been confirmed with 

Financial Services that no "stop" exists. 
 
2.i)  No cheques from anyone should be cashed at all apart from, in limited 

situations, Dacorum Borough Council cheques being cashed or opened. Where 
a request is made to open a cheque, such action must be approved by the 
Section 151 Officer.  

 
2.j)  Under no circumstances should personal cheques belonging to staff be cashed 

in, or money borrowed from, income or other Council monies. Breach of this 
Financial Regulation will be regarded as disciplinary matter. 

 
Holding cash for third parties 
 
2.k)  In instances where officers of Members of the Council receive cash belonging 

to third parties, such as in the case or clearing council owned property and 
retaining assets until they can be passed to an identified owner, the standard 
procedure note for receipting cash will be followed.  

 
Invoices and record keeping 
 
2.l)  Demand notices or invoices shall be raised in respect of all debts except: 
 

Page 88



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex E 
 

Page | 40 October 2021  
 
 

(i) parking fees 
 
(ii) entertainment tickets 
 
(iii) ad hoc cash sales 
 
(iv) such other situations as the Section 151 Officer may determine as 

appropriate, such situations being recorded in a revision of Financial 
Regulations as soon as is practical. 

 
2.m)  Where income is derived from a certificated grant claim to the government, the 

documentary provisions related to that claim shall apply for record keeping 
purposes. 

 
2.n)  Where a demand notice or invoice is required, the following services shall be 

responsible for issuing them: 
 

i) Council Tax and Business Rates – Assistant Director (Finance & 
Resources) – Demand Notices. 

 
ii) Housing rents and associated income – Assistant Director (Housing) – 

Rent Statements. 
 
iii) Commercial rents and associated income – Assistant Director (Finance & 

Resources) – Invoice. 
 
iv) (Sundry income via Accounts Receivable – Assistant Director (Finance & 

Resources) – Invoice. 
 
2.o)  For debts arising for Council Tax, Business Rates and Housing Rents, there 

are statutory provisions that must be followed for raising demand notices. These 
provisions are set out in separate procedure manuals and are not repeated 
here. 

 
2.p)  Where a debt is to be invoiced and recovered by Financial Services, it shall be 

the responsibility of the Group Manager that has arranged or provided the 
service to ensure that: 

 
(i)  Liability is properly established. 
 
(ii)  The service is documented in a contract or agreement that has been 

correctly signed by all relevant parties. 
 
(iii) That the contract or agreement or other relevant evidence is provided to 

Financial Services as evidence with the invoice request. 
 
(iv)  All liabilities should be raised against individuals or corporate entities. 

Liabilities shall not be raised in the name of “The Occupier” or similar forms 
and neither should trading names be used in the place of proper legally 
recognised persons. 

Page 89



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex E 
 

Page | 41 October 2021  
 
 

 
2.q)  It is imperative that proper evidence supports invoice requests as this prevents 

invalid invoices being issued. Invalid invoices generally lead to debit reversal to 
the originating department cost centre or bad debts and write offs. 

 
2r)  All notifications of debt to debtors will be by official invoice issued by the 

Corporate Director (Finance & Operations) or by another Corporate Director in 
respect of a service and in a manner approved by the Section 151 Officer. 
Under no circumstances may service departments operate unofficial debtor 
systems or seek to manage debt via correspondence with the debtor. 

 
2.s)  All invoices for income due to the Council shall be prepared and issued by 

Financial Services, such issues immediately following an invoice request that 
is supported with the relevant evidence. Invoice requests that are not 
adequately supported will be returned to the originating department for 
rectification. 

 
2.t)  Invoices shall be set out and issued in the manner approved by the Section 151 

Officer. 
 
2.u)  Invoices may be reduced in value if the services provided have been incorrectly 

charged at a higher level. Where the value of an invoice needs to be reduced, 
a written instruction must be provided to Financial Services detailing the 
reasons and the revised amount and authorised in line with the Scheme of 
Delegation, Annex D. 

 
2.v)  Invoices may only be cancelled where: 
 

(i)  the debt has been raised against an incorrect liable party 
 
(ii)  a variation to a lease or licence results in a lower charge 
 
(iii)  the planned service has not been provided, eg. a trade refuse contract 

that has commenced, but the bin was not been delivered 
 
(iv)  the information recorded on the invoice is factually wrong, or 
 
(v)  the “debtor” has no liability in law. 

 
2.w)  Where an invoice is cancelled, the reason for cancellation must be recorded in 

a written instruction and authorised in line with the Scheme of Delegation, 
Annex D. In all other circumstances where an invoice needs to be cancelled, 
the write off procedure must be used. 

 
2.x)  No customer should be advised that a debt is uncollectable or will be written off 

or be given similar undertakings unless the decision making process with 
regard to debt write-off has been completed. 

   
 

Page 90



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex E 
 

Page | 42 October 2021  
 
 

Section 3: Petty cash, change floats, and electronic purchasing card (EPCs) 
purchases 
 
Regulation D.10 
 
Last updated: July 2017 
 
3.a)  The Council’s resources may be held as cash only where there is a business 

need.  Any cash holdings must be authorised by the Section 151 Officer who 
will review the need for such cash holdings periodically and may, at his/her 
discretion, in consultation with Corporate Directors, withdraw or alter the size 
of cash holdings.  

 
3.b)   Any requests for cash holdings shall be made by the relevant Corporate 

Director to the Section 151 Officer. Directors will also furnish the Section 151 
Officer with a schedule of all cash holdings with details of the officer responsible 
for their custody. 

 
3.c)   In all instances vouchers seeking payment shall be properly certified for 

payment by officers authorised to do so and coded. All vouchers shall have 
attached to them securely receipts and/or other appropriate documentation in 
support of the full value of the payment that is requested. Vouchers shall be 
stored in line with the Document retention schedule. 

 
3.d)   The Section 151 officer shall determine the form for vouchers to be used to 

seek disbursement from petty cash holdings or imprests. No other form of 
voucher shall be used to obtain disbursement of official monies in this manner. 

 
3.e)   Cash reimbursements shall be limited to minor purchases (when supported by 

receipts) not exceeding a sum determined by the Section 151 Officer and 
specified in the Schedule of Authorisations, item 5. Payments must not be 
broken up to avoid this limit. Petty cash floats may not be used for 
reimbursements of employee expenses, payments of invoices, or refunds. 
Official monies must never be used for cashing personal cheques. 

 
3.f) Periodically, and at least monthly, responsible officers shall perform, in 

conjunction with another officer regular checks to ensure that the balance of 
credit on the account together with the sums disbursed equal the amount of the 
approved imprest. A record of such reconciliation, signed by both officers, shall 
be retained. 

 
3.g)  Corporate Directors shall ensure that any imprest held by an officer leaving 

his/her post is checked prior to his/her leaving and either paid back into the 
Council’s Bank Account or transferred to another authorised officer. 

 
3.h)   Electronic Purchasing Cards (EPCs) will be issued to, and retained by officers 

who have a business need. Applications for Plastic Cards with Standard Spend 
Limits shall be counter-signed by the Group Manager of the relevant 
Department. In cases where the application is for a higher limit, these shall be 
counter-signed by the Assistant Director of the Department and thereafter the 

Page 91



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex E 
 

Page | 43 October 2021  
 
 

Council’s Section 151 Officer on the advice of the Group Manager (Financial 
Services). 

 
3.i)   The use of EPCs, standard limits and controls are set out in the Councils 

separate e-purchasing cards policy, available to employees on the intranet. 
Employees will only be issued with an EPC after formal training on the scheme, 
and signing a cardholder agreement detailing proper usage. 

 
3.j)   EPCs will never be used for obtaining cash advances. 
 
3.k)  Employees holding EPCs will ensure that VAT receipts are obtained, where 

relevant, for all transactions and that all supporting documentation is handed 
over promptly to permit the payment of EPC bills. 

 
3.l)  In addition to plastic cards, the Council has the ability to lodge embedded cards 

with suppliers. Embedded Cards are recommended for high value transactions, 
and are to be used for the Council’s larger contracts and where the Council will 
generate a significant rebate.  

 
3.m)  The suitability of a supplier for the use of an embedded card will be identified 

by Financial Services and will be approved by the Council’s Section 151 Officer. 
  
Section 4: Debt write-off and credit write-on procedures and limits 
 
Regulations D.13 & D.14 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
Write-offs 
 
4.a)  A write-off request must be prepared detailing: 
 

(i) name and address of the debtor 
 
(ii)  value of the debt 
 
(iii)  service provided 
 
(iv)  reason why the debt is irrecoverable 
 
(v)  the authorisation route that must be followed. 

 
4.b)  The write-off request should account for the full indebtedness of an individual 

or organisation and any information relevant to determining their financial 
obligations to the Council, and should also identify previous write- offs for that 
debtor. 

 
4.c)  Where credits exist in the name of the debtor, they should be offset against the 

debt in order to minimise the extent of write-off. 
 

Page 92



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex E 
 

Page | 44 October 2021  
 
 

4.d)  Where there are multiple write-off requests, the requests shall be compiled into 
a schedule for each month that shows the following: 

 
(i) name of the debtor 
 
(ii)  value of the debt 
 
(iii)  type of reason why the debt is irrecoverable 
 
(iv)  the total value of debt write-off requests in the period covered by the 

schedule and the sub-total of values by type. 
 
4.e)  The write-off request must be supported by appropriate working papers 

that support the reason for writing off the debt. The individual request or 
schedule of requests must be approved by the relevant Group Manager and 
the Section 151 Officer. The Section 151 Officer may request further details of 
write-off requests listed on the schedules prior to approval. 

 
4.f)  Authorisation for write-offs depends on the value of the write-off request. A 

schedule of authorisations is provided in the Schedule of Authorisations, 
item 6. Depending upon the write-off thresholds, the request may be supported 
with a minute/decision sheet relating to a Portfolio Holder or Cabinet decision. 
All proposed write-offs shall be subject to review and approved by the Section 
151 Officer who may, if he/she considers it appropriate, determine that a higher 
level of authority for write-off should be exercised. 

 
Write-ons 
 
4.g)  Where unclaimed credits are held within the Council’s accounts, they may be 

considered for writing on. Where this happens, a write-on request form shall be 
prepared detailing: 

 
(i) name and address of the account holder 
 
(ii)  value of the credit 
 
(iii)  service that the credit relates to 
 
(iv)  reasons why the credit should be written on. 

 
4.h)  The write-on request form must be signed by the relevant Group Manager and 

supported by appropriate working papers. The request will be considered and 
determined by the Section 151 Officer. 

 
4.i)  All write-off and write-on paperwork shall be retained for such period of time as 

required by the Document Retention Schedule for Dacorum Borough Council. 
 
 
 
 

Page 93



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex E 
 

Page | 45 October 2021  
 
 

Write-off recovery thresholds 
 
4.j)  The cost of undertaking recovery proceedings can be expensive and given the 

low value of some debts, it may not be economic to commence such action. 
The Section 151 Officer, shall set de-minimis levels for recovery action and 
review and amend them on a periodic basis.  Write-off recovery thresholds are 
set out in the Schedule of Authorisations, item 7. 

 
4.k)  Where a debt is considered in court proceedings and it is in the interests of the 

Council to accept a consent order for a lower amount in full and final settlement 
of the debt, any value that needs to be written off will be accounted for as per 
the threshold table with the reasons attached to it. Where this occurs, the 
authorising role will not be able to challenge the write-off due to the existence 
of a court order. However, if there are doubts as to the appropriateness of the 
full and final settlement decision that related to the court order, then the Section 
151 Officer shall investigate the case and take appropriate action. 

 
4.l)  With the exception of court order cases, the process of writing off debt is not 

irreversible and in the event that monies are recovered in the future, the 
relevant amount will be credited back into the Council’s accounts. 

 
Credit Limits 
 
4.m)  There is a general presumption that discretionary services provided to a 

customer should be paid for on time. In the event of a repeated failure to pay in 
accordance with the credit terms and where appropriate, the Accounts 
Receivable Team will recommend to the service department that the provision 
of services should cease. In the event that the recommendation is not accepted 
by the service department, then the service department must provide reasons 
in writing to the Section 151 Officer as to why services should continue to be 
supplied. 

 
4.n)  To reduce the risk of loss of income or value of good and services to be 

supplied, the Section 151 Officer shall maintain a financial vetting procedure in 
order to assess or review the risk of entering into or, where appropriate, 
continuing with, significant contracts with existing and prospective customers, 
suppliers or partners. 

 
4.o)  The procedure referred to in Clause 4.n above shall define the term ‘significant 

contract’ and take into account the Council’s revenue streams, procurement 
contracts and partnerships and the prevailing risks associated with them. 
Where a prospective (or, where appropriate, existing) customer, supplier or 
partner fails to achieve a satisfactory financial vetting assessment, the Council 
shall: 

 
(i)  not enter into any new contractual arrangement and 
 
(ii) review any existing contractual arrangement to establish whether it is 

appropriate to continue the said existing contractual arrangement in the 
light of the assessment. 

Page 94



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex E 
 

Page | 46 October 2021  
 
 

 
Section 5: Responsibilities for stocks, stores and minor assets 
 
Regulation D.15. 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer 
 
5.a)  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for: 
 

i)  Adopting appropriate accounting policies and advising Corporate 
Directors of the basis to be adopted for valuing stocks and stores. 

 
ii)  Ensuring that the valuation of all stocks and stores is fairly reflected in the 

Annual Financial Statement of Accounts. 
 
iii)  Determine minimum standards to be complied with under regulations 

relating to assets, at paragraphs (a) (b) and (e) below. 
 
Responsibilities of Corporate Directors 
 
5.b)  Each relevant Corporate Director is responsible for, ensuring : 
 

i)  That there are effective and efficient procedures for procuring, holding and 
the issue of stocks and stores, and that such procedures are to the 
satisfaction of the Section 151 officer. 

 
ii)  That objective statistical methods are used, in accordance with best 

practice, to determine order quantities and maximum and minimum order 
levels, and that such methods are to the satisfaction of the Section 151 
officer.  

 
iii)  Furnishing the Section 151 Officer with details and a signed certificate of 

the value of stocks and stores held within their directorates as and when 
required by the Section 151 Officer. 

 
iv)  Arranging for goods to be checked at the time of delivery to ensure that 

quantity, quality and price comply with the contractual or order 
specification.  

 
v)  That comprehensive, complete and up to date stores/stock records are 

maintained and that such records are in a form that is satisfactory to the 
Section 151 Officer. Where stores / stock recording systems are 
computerised, they shall interface appropriately with the Council’s main 
Financial Management System and interface controls will be to the 
minimum standard determined by the Section 151 officer. 

 

Page 95



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex E 
 

Page | 47 October 2021  
 
 

vi)  Regular and systematic stocktaking, ensuring that every item is checked 
at least once annually, and that fast moving, valuable or desirable items 
are checked more frequently. 

 
vii)  Procedures for the disposal of surplus or obsolete stock are correctly 

complied with. These are set out under Financial Regulation D.23. 
 
Asset inventories 
 
5.c)  Asset inventories shall be held and kept current by Group managers, who will 

ensure that all areas under their authority have an asset inventory. They shall 
contain clear descriptions of all fixed and moveable assets having a current 
value in excess of an amount specified by the Section 151 Officer in the 
Schedule of Authorisations, item 8, other than land and buildings, which are 
listed in the property terrier, which is kept by the Group manager (Commercial 
Assets & Property Development) and ICT equipment for which a separate 
inventory is kept by the responsible Corporate Director. 

 
5.d)  Where assets have unique serial numbers, they shall be recorded in the asset 

inventory. 
 
5.e)  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for: 
 

i)  Ensuring that all equipment, furniture, fixtures and fittings, plant, 
machinery, tools and other valuables are appropriately insured, and that 
appropriate risk management reviews are undertaken periodically. 

 
ii)  Determining the form for official inventories. 
 
iii)  Determining the basis for valuation of items recorded in asset inventories. 

 
5.f)  The Corporate Director with responsibility for ICT Services is responsible for: 
 

i)  The maintenance of a comprehensive Hardware and Software Inventory 
for all Council ITC equipment held throughout the Council. 

 
5.g)  Corporate Directors are responsible for: 
 

i)  Ensuring that each Group Manager compiles and maintains an inventory 
of assets in the official form (other than land and buildings, and ICT 
equipment), and that appropriate entries are made at the time of purchase 
and disposal. 

 
ii) Arranging for an independent annual inspection of all items on the 

inventory. 
 
iii)  Informing the Section 151 Officer and if it appears that assets cannot be 

accounted for. 
 

Page 96



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex E 
 

Page | 48 October 2021  
 
 

iv)  Ensuring that all purchases of ICT equipment are made through ICT 
Services. 

 
v)  Advising the Section 151 Officer of the valuation of inventories for 

insurance purposes. 
 
vi)  Determining the method by which redundant or assets surplus to 

requirements shall be disposed of. Asset disposals shall be undertaken in 
accordance with these regulations and in accordance with European 
Directives on the disposal of electrical and computer equipment. 

 
vii)  Ensuring that all assets are used wholly and exclusively for Council 

business. 
 
Section 

Page 97



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex F 
 

Page | 49 October 2021  
 
 

ANNEX F 
 
Disposal of Assets (including Stocks and Stores) 
 
As a public authority the Council should, in the disposal of its landholdings and other 
assets, always seek to obtain the best price reasonably obtainable, in terms of money 
or monies worth, unless it is absolved from this duty by statute, regulation or other 
lawful authority. The following regulations govern the disposal of assets. 
 
Section 1: Land disposals 
 
Regulation D.24 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
1.a)  For the purposes of the following, "land" includes land of which the Council 

owns the freehold or leasehold interest and interests such as restrictive 
covenants of which the Council has the benefit It includes land and buildings, 
leases, easements and other rights of way. 

 
1.b)  Disposals of land shall always be for the best consideration possible, including 

monetary and other relevant factors. Any authorisations from Government that 
are required in respect of the need to seek best consideration shall be applied 
for by the Corporate Director (Finance & Operations). 

 
1.c)  Disposals of land valued at £500k or above shall be authorised by Cabinet on 

the basis of advice by the Corporate Director (Finance & Operations), and 
Cabinet shall also approve any nonmonetary aspects of the disposal where 
they are material to the consideration sought. 

 
1.d)  Disposals of land valued above £15k but below £500k may be authorised by 

the Corporate Director (Finance & Operations) in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder for Finance & Resources. Where the disposal relates to assets held by 
the Council’s Housing Revenue Account, the Corporate Director will, in 
addition, consult with the Portfolio Holder for Housing.  

 
1.e)  Disposals of land valued at £15k or below may be authorised by the Corporate 

Director (Finance & Operations) or the Assistant Director (Finance and 
Resources). 

 
1.f)  All valuations and negotiations in respect of land disposals must be carried out 

by or under the supervision of a properly qualified member of the Society of 
Valuers and Auctioneers or a member of the Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors, who is not a member of the Council and who is in a position to judge 
the conditions prevailing in the local property market. 

 
1.g)  All valuations will be carried out in a manner that will satisfy external audit 

requirements, and the advice of the Section 151 Officer will be taken in that 
respect. 

 

Page 98



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex F 
 

Page | 50 October 2021  
 
 

1.h)  Negotiations with prospective developers should take place at the Council's 
offices or the developer's office within normal office hours (subject to the 
necessity for such negotiations to be extended in exceptional circumstances 
beyond those hours). Two officers of the Council will be present during 
negotiations and all such valuations and negotiations shall be subject to written 
record and approved by the Corporate Director (Finance & Operations), unless 
delegated. A signed record of all meetings shall be retained. 

 
1.i)  The Corporate Director of the appropriate directorate and the Council's duly 

appointed valuer or other agent shall be involved in or appraised of all major 
steps in the negotiations in respect of transactions or of a series of transactions, 
the estimated value or the aggregated value of which exceeds an amount 
specified by the section 151 Officer in the Schedule of Authorisations, item 
9. 

 
1.j)  It shall be the duty of the Corporate Director (Finance & Operations) to report 

on the progress of any major transaction authorised by the Council to Cabinet 
at least at six monthly intervals and upon completion of the transaction. This 
duty will apply to transactions in respect of which the aggregate consideration 
is likely to exceed the amount specified in Clause 1.g above and those where 
there are significant operational implications. 

 
1.k)  No land owned or leased by the Council shall be disposed of to another body 

or person until it has been offered to all other services of the Council, unless in 
the opinion of the Corporate Management Team such land is of no conceivable 
value or interest to any of the Council's services. Transfer of land between 
services requires the approval of: 

 
i) the Corporate Management Team 
 
ii) the "transferor" Cabinet Portfolio Member* 
 
iii)  the "transferee" Cabinet Portfolio Member*. 

 
*Approval by Cabinet Portfolio Holders in this regard shall be by formal Portfolio 
Holder decision. 

 
1.l)  The Corporate Director (Finance & Operations) shall effect any transfer in the 

accounts that may be required. 
 
1.m)  No land owned by the Council or of which the Council is lessee shall be 

disposed of except by way of renewal of lease until a report has been prepared 
by the Corporate Director (Finance & Operations) containing:- 

 
i) an inspection report describing the land and, where appropriate, its 

physical characteristics and development constraints 
 

ii) a report on title by the Assistant Director (Corporate and Contracted 
Services) 

 

Page 99



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex F 
 

Page | 51 October 2021  
 
 

 
iii) any information from the Council's records which would affect the land's 

value or development potential 
 
iv) where appropriate an assessment of the development potential of the land 

by the Assistant Director (Planning, Development & Regeneration) 
 

v)  any advice by the Corporate Director seeking to dispose of the land.  
 
1.n)  In formulating his/her advice, the Corporate Director (Finance & Operations) 

shall make recommendations in respect of 
 

i) issues that need to be resolved before marketing of the land can proceed 
 
ii) the method of disposal 
 
iii) the title to be transferred 
 
iv) the price the Council should receive along with the "asking" and "reserve" 

price 
 
v) any special conditions of sale 

 
vi)  any appointment of external advisers or agents that may be desirable. 

 
1.o)  All disposals of land owned or leased by the Council shall be by one of the 

following methods. The Corporate Director (Finance & Operations) shall 
determine on the basis of appropriate professional advice which method is in 
the best interests  of the Council at any given time. 

 
i)  Private Treaty 

This method may be used where in view of the size, value or location of 
the land there is only one prospective purchaser with a foreseeable 
interest in acquiring it. It may also be appropriate where the number of 
those interested is limited to two or three and the value of the land is low, 
but in any such case those with a foreseeable interest should be notified 
of the Council's intention to dispose of the land and any interest in 
acquiring it should be pursued and assessed. 

 
ii)  Tender 

This method may be appropriate where there are two or more prospective 
purchasers with a foreseeable interest in acquiring the land. Where the 
estimated value of the land exceeds a value specified by the Section 151 
Officer in the Schedule of Authorisations, item 10 and more than one 
prospective purchaser exists, this method should be used in preference 
to Private Treaty. Advertisements should be placed in the local newspaper 
and, if appropriate, national newspapers. Tenders should be on the basis 
of identical terms and conditions of the sale. The tender documentation 
should make it clear that the Council is not obliged to accept the highest 
or any tender and in the event of any higher offer being received before a 

Page 100



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex F 
 

Page | 52 October 2021  
 
 

contract is exchanged, the Council may be obliged to consider it. In the 
event of any such higher offer being received, all interested parties who 
have submitted a tender must be given the opportunity of making a further 
or revised offer by a specified date. 

 
iii)  Public Auction 

This method will be used where the value of the land is difficult to ascertain 
in view of its size, location, development constraints or other factors, and 
interest in it is unknown. If the land is valued by a Chartered Surveyor as 
likely to achieve £500k or over, then appropriate conditions of sale and 
any reserve price should be approved by Cabinet. If the land is valued by 
a Chartered Surveyor as likely to less than £500k, then appropriate 
conditions of sale and any reserve price should be approved by Corporate 
Director (Finance & Operations) in consultation with the Portfolio Holder 
for Finance & Resources. Where the disposal relates to assets held by 
the Council’s Housing Revenue Account, the Corporate Director will, in 
addition, consult with the Portfolio Holder for Housing.  The current 
requirement for third party valuation of land for disposal would remain, as 
would the requirement for sign off by the Council’s S151 Officer and 
Monitoring Officer. 
 

iv)  Building Agreements 
Where land is to be disposed of under a building agreement and 
subsequent lease, developers' proposals should be invited by public 
advertisement and considered by the appropriate Cabinet Portfolio 
Member.  

 
1.p)  These rules do not apply to a disposal under the "Right to Buy" provisions of 

the Housing Act 1985, to disposals under any scheme adopted by the Council 
for the extension of the "Right to Buy", to any disposal which is required either 
by statute or by a court of law, or to a disposal otherwise than for best price 
reasonably obtainable under a general or specific consent of the Secretary of 
State. 

 
Section 2: Equipment disposals 
 
2.a)  This Section applies to all plant, equipment and other smaller assets. It includes 

vehicles, plant, machinery, office equipment (including ICT equipment) etc. It 
also applies to items of stocks and stores with an individual value of less than 
the amounts specified by the Section 151 officer in the Schedule of 
Authorisations, item 11. 

 
2.b)  Save for any ICT equipment, any vehicle or article of equipment, machinery, 

furniture, etc., which is surplus to the requirements of one of the Council's 
service units must be valued by or under the instructions of the Group Manager 
of the service unit which has responsibility for it. The need for accuracy in the 
valuation will depend largely upon the intrinsic value placed upon the article. 

 
Scrap Items (where the responsible Group Manager is satisfied that there is 
no economic value in the item for its original or intended use). 

Page 101



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex F 
 

Page | 53 October 2021  
 
 

 
2.c)  The Group Manager should use his/her best endeavours to obtain best price 

on the open market. 
 
2.d)  If on investigation a better value can be obtained in a trade-in for new equipment 

than on a sale on the open market, the Group Manager may conduct the 
disposal on the basis of trade-in. 

 
ICT Equipment 
 
2.e)  All ICT equipment for disposal should be passed to the ICT Service. 
 
2.f)  The ICT Service should ensure all equipment conforms to licensing and Health 

and Safety requirements. 
 
2.g)  Where possible the ICT Service should re-use the equipment within the 

Council. 
 
2.h)  If the equipment is not required by the Council, it may be given free of charge 

to voluntary or not-for-profit organisations. 
 
2.i)  If the equipment has value, the best price possible to should be obtained.  
 
2.j)  The ICT Service is required to schedule and retain documentary evidence of 

the disposal of ICT equipment for a period, as outlined in then Retention 
Schedule for documents. 

 
2.k)  The Group Manager responsible for the ICT service will ensure that all ICT 

equipment disposed of has sensitive data or material that would contravene the 
Data Protection Act or other legislation erased irretrievably and retained in 
accordance with the Council’s document retention strategy. 

 
Other Minor Usable Items (with an intrinsic resale value up to the value 
specified in clause (a) above. 

 
2.l)  The responsible Group Manager should first cause an internal advertisement 

for the article to be published amongst all Group Managers with a potential use 
for the article for Council business. 

 
2m)  Where no service unit Manager requires the article to be disposed of, it may be 

advertised for sale to Council employees at the price placed upon the article by 
the responsible Group Manager. 

 
2.n)  Where no Group Manager or employee requires the article to be disposed of 

it may be publicly advertised for sale at the price placed upon the article by the 
responsible Group Manager; or it may be offered to a voluntary or educational 
organisation. 

 

Page 102



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex F 
 

Page | 54 October 2021  
 
 

2.o)  The responsible Group Manager is authorised to dispose by way of trade-in or 
by way of Private Treaty with a view to obtaining best price or value reasonably 
obtainable. 

 
2.p)  Where the value of asset to be disposed of is as specified by the Section 151 

Officer in the Schedule of Authorisations at item 11b, sections 2a)- 2.o) 
above apply and the Group Manager must also seek formal authorisation for 
the disposal from the Section 151 Officer and relevant Corporate Director via 
an approved officer decision sheet, prior to any disposal taking place. 

 
Section 3: Major reusable items  
 
3.a)  This section applies to assets with an intrinsic resale value in excess of the 

amount specified under Clause 2.a) above and to stocks and stores with an 
individual value above this amount. 

 
3.b)  Assets within this section should be the subject of public advertisement in local 

or national newspapers and/or appropriate trade journals and open tendering 
procedures. Tenders should be on the basis of identical terms and conditions 
of sale. The tender documentation should stipulate that the Council is not 
obliged to accept the highest or any tender. 

 
3.c)  Alternatively these items may be disposed of by way of public auction, with or 

without reserve price including via electronic auction on a recognised auction 
website. 

 
3.d)  Alternatively, these items may be disposed of by way of trade-in for new or 

replacement equipment if this method will achieve better value than the best 
open market price reasonably achievable. 

 
3.e)  Disposals of major reusable items must be authorised by the Cabinet where the 

disposal may achieve a receipt in excess of an amount above that specified by 
the Section 151 Officer in the Schedule of Authorisations, item 12. The 
responsible Group Manager must prepare a report containing: 

 
 i)  An inspection report describing the equipment and its condition. 
 
ii)  Any information from the Council's records or within the responsible Group 

Manager's knowledge which would affect the equipment's value. 
 
iii) Recommendations where appropriate on the following: 

 
a.) issues that need to be resolved before marketing of the equipment 

can proceed 
 

b.) the method of disposal 
 

c.) the price the Council should receive along with the "asking" and any 
"reserve" price, if the equipment is to be sold by public auction. 

 

Page 103



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex F 
 

Page | 55 October 2021  
 
 

 
d.) any special conditions of sale 

 
e.) the appointment of external advisers or agents 

 
f.)  whether negotiations should proceed with a special purchaser. 

 
3.f) These rules shall not apply to disposal by the Council of items by way of sale 

in the normal course of the Council's business (e.g. food from the food outlets 
etc.). 

 
Section 4: Disposals of other assets 
 
4.a)  This Section applies to all other tangible or intangible assets, including but not 

restricted to stocks and shares, works of art, debts, goodwill and intellectual 
property such as copyright. 

 
Investments 
 
4.b)  The disposal of all investments is delegated to the Section 151 Officer and shall 

be made in compliance with the best prevailing advice of the Council’s 
appointed advisers, CIPFA or other reputable and authoritative sources such 
as the Bank of England, Stock Exchange or HM Treasury. 

 
4.c)  All procedures relating to the disposal of investments shall be detailed in a 

Treasury System Document produced by or under the direction of the Section 
151 Officer. 

 
Other Intangible Assets 
 
4.d)  All ‘Other Assets’ other than investments (eg debts, patents, trade marks) which 

are to be disposed of shall be valued by a person who is professionally qualified 
in the particular field.  

 
4.e)  The appropriate Corporate Director will obtain Cabinet authorisation where the 

value of the asset(s) to be disposed of exceeds an amount specified by the 
Section 151 Officer in the Schedule of Authorisations, item 13. The Cabinet 
report will include: 

 
a) a description of the asset 

 
b) a report on title by the Assistant Director (Corporate and Contracted 

Services  
 

c)  any information from the Council's records or within the knowledge of its 
employees which may affect the asset’s value. 

 
4.f)  The report to the Cabinet Portfolio Member shall contain recommendations on: 
 

a) the method of disposal 

Page 104



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex F 
 

Page | 56 October 2021  
 
 

 
b) an estimate of the price which the Council should receive along with the 

"asking" price and any "reserve" price, if appropriate 
 

c) any special conditions of sale 
 

d) the appointment or external advisers or agents 
 

e)  whether negotiations should proceed with a special purchaser. 
 
4.g)  The method of disposal of other assets will depend upon the nature of the asset, 

its intrinsic value and the professional advice of any employee or appointee 
who is qualified to advise in the particular field. 

 

Page 105



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex H 
 

Page | 57 October 2021  
 
 

ANNEX G 
 
Expenditure, Liabilities and Procurement of, Ordering, and Paying for Works, 
Goods, Services and Assets 
 
Section 1: Detailed regulations governing the procurement of, ordering and 
paying for works, goods and services 
 
Regulation E.2 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
1.a)  Every officer and member of the authority must comply with the Ethical Code 

contained in the Council’s Procurement Standing Orders (Section 1, 
paragraphs 5 and 6). 

 
1.b)  Official orders must be in a form approved by the Section 151 Officer in 

conjunction with the Monitoring Officer. Official orders must be issued for all 
works, goods or services to be supplied to the authority, except for supplies of 
utilities, periodic payments such as rent or rates, petty cash purchases or other 
exceptions specified by the Section 151 Officer. 

 
1.c)  Each order must conform to approved procurement guidelines and the 

standardisation of supplies and materials. Standard terms and conditions must 
not be varied without the prior approval of the Corporate Director (Finance & 
Operations). 

 
1.d)  Apart from petty cash, and other payments from advance accounts, the normal 

method of payment from the authority shall be by BACS or cheque (or other 
instrument or approved method), drawn on the Council’s approved bank 
accounts by the Section 151 Officer or a signatory approved by the Section 151 
Officer. 

 
1.e)  Direct debit facilities shall not be set up other than by the Section 151 Officer 

and no officer shall commit to payment by that means without the prior 
agreement of the Section 151 Officer.  

 
1.f)  Arrangements for signing and countersigning cheques and other payments will 

be determined by the Section 151 Officer. Signing and countersigning limits are 
set out in the Schedule of Authorisations, item 14. 

 
1.g)  Official orders must not be raised for any personal or private purchases, nor 

must personal or private use be made of the Council’s contracts. 
 
1.h)  All goods and services may be ordered only by persons authorised to do so in 

line with each Corporate Director’s scheme of delegation and must be correctly 
recorded. 

 

Page 106



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex H 
 

Page | 58 October 2021  
 
 

1.i)  Goods and services received must be checked to ensure that they are in 
accordance with the order. The person who placed the order should preferably 
not receive goods. 

 
1.j)  Unless specifically agreed with the Section 151 Officer in each instance, 

advance payment shall not be made for goods or services. The Section 151 
Officer may authorise specific categories and/or values of expenditure as 
standing exceptions to this Regulation, and may amend or delete any such 
exceptions from time to time. Standing exceptions are recorded in the 
Schedule of Authorisations, item 15. 

 
1.k)  Payments shall be made to the correct person, for the correct amount and shall 

be properly recorded, regardless of the payment method. 
 
1.l)  Payments by the Council shall be made only on an official invoice, except for 

recurring payments, for contract payments and for other exceptions as may be 
specifically approved by the Section 151 Officer. 

 
1.m)  Appropriate evidence of the transaction and payment documents shall be 

retained and stored for the defined period, in accordance with the Council’s 
document retention schedule. 

 
1.n)  Expenditure, including VAT, shall be accurately recorded against the correct 

budget code.   
 
1.o)  Processes shall be put in place, according to the regulations governing 

responsibilities, to maintain the security and integrity of data for transacting 
business electronically. 

 
1.p)  Invoices shall be settled within the period defined by Government prompt 

payment requirements. Where invoices are disputed, that fact will be clearly 
recorded on any invoices together with the date that the dispute was settled 
before such invoices are passed for payment.  

 
1.q)  In the case of significant contracts, a financial vetting procedure shall be used 

to assess the merits of trading with the prospective (or, where appropriate, 
existing) supplier. 

 
Section 2: Responsibilities for procurement of, ordering, and paying for works, 
goods and services 
 
Regulation E.4 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer 
 
2.a)  The Section 151 Officer shall: 
 

Page 107



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex H 
 

Page | 59 October 2021  
 
 

i)  Ensure that sufficient fidelity guarantee insurance is in place to cover 
those officers authorised to initiate or make payments. 

 
ii)  Make payments from the Authority’s funds on the authorisation of the 

appropriate officer that the expenditure has been duly incurred in 
accordance with financial regulations. 

 
iv) Subject to the receipt of properly signed-off invoices in good time,  arrange 

payment to suppliers promptly. 
 
iv)  Make payments, whether or not provision exists within the estimates, 

where the payment is specifically required by statute or is made under a 
court order. 

   
v)  Make payments to contractors on the certificate of the appropriate 

Corporate Director, which must include details of the value of work, 
retention money, amounts previously certified and amounts now certified.  

 
vi)  Determine, in conjunction with the Assistant Director (Corporate and 

Contracted Services), the form of official orders. 
 
vii) Agree and determine a scheme for the issue and usage of corporate 

electronic payment cards where the costs of ordering and procuring is 
excessive when judged against the value of purchases.  

 
viii)  Approve ‘draw-down’ arrangements for supplies and provisions covered 

by annual contracts. 
 
ix)  Maintain a financial vetting procedure for use in selecting and approving 

prospective (or, where appropriate, existing) suppliers in respect of 
significant contracts. 

 
Responsibilities of Corporate Directors 
 
2.b)  Corporate Directors shall ensure that: 
 

i)  All procurement practices accord with the Council’s policies on 
procurement. 

 
ii)  Relevant officers authorised to sign orders or certify payments do so with 

a full signature where done manually or under a password-controlled 
electronic process. Initialled authorisations will be rejected by the 
Section 151 Officer’s Accounts Payable Team. 

 
iii)  Official orders are used for all goods and services, other than for 

exceptions specified, and that they are used only for goods and services 
to be consumed by services under the Director’s control. 

 
iv)  The authoriser of the order should be satisfied that the goods and 

services ordered are appropriate and needed, that there is adequate 

Page 108



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex H 
 

Page | 60 October 2021  
 
 

budgetary provision and that quotations or tenders have been obtained 
where required by these regulations and other instructions. 

 
v)  Goods and services are checked on receipt to verify that they are in 

accordance with the order. A different officer from the person who 
authorised the order should where possible, carry out this check. 
Appropriate entries should then be made in inventories or stores records.  

 
vi)  Payment is not made unless a proper VAT invoice has been received, 

checked, coded and certified for payment. When an authorised officer 
certifies an invoice for payment, he/she is confirming:  

 
(a.) That the official order procedure has been observed and that 

Standing Orders are complied with. 
 

(b.) Receipt of goods or services. 
 

(c.) That the invoice has not previously been paid. 
 

(d.) That expenditure has been properly incurred and is within budget 
provision. 

 
(e.) That prices and arithmetic are correct and accord with quotations, 

tenders, contracts or catalogue prices.  
 

(f.) That the correct accounting treatment of tax has been followed in 
line with guidance issued by the Section 151 Officer. 

 
(g.) That the invoice is correctly allocated to an approved budget code 

under the director’s jurisdiction. 
 

(h.) That discounts have been taken where available and where it is 
cost effective for the Council to take them. 

 
(i,)  That appropriate entries have been made in inventories, stores 

records or stock books and in accounting records. 
 

vii)  The principle of division of duties is applied wherever practicable. 
Different members of staff shall be involved in the ordering, receiving 
and payment processes. Where practical, a different officer from the 
person who authorised the order, and in every case, a different officer 
from the person checking an invoice, should authorise the invoice. 

 
viii) Payments are not made on a photocopied or faxed invoice, statement or 

document other than the formal invoice. 
 
ix)  Invoices are duly and correctly processed in good time to make payment 

to suppliers within stipulated timeframes. 
 

Page 109



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex H 
 

Page | 61 October 2021  
 
 

x)  Loans, leasing or rental contracts are not entered into without agreement 
of the Section 151 Officer.  

 
xi)  The Section 151 Officer is notified of outstanding expenditure (formal 

commitments) relating to the previous financial year as soon as possible 
after 31 March in line with the timetable determined by the Section 151 
Officer. 

 
xii)  With regard to contracts for construction and alterations to buildings and 

for civil engineering works, that procedures exist to document and agree 
with the Section 151 Officer the systems and procedures to be adopted 
in relation to financial aspects, including certification of interim and final 
payments, checking, recording and authorising payments, the system for 
monitoring and controlling capital schemes and the procedures for 
validation of subcontractors’ tax status.  

 
xiii)  The Section 151 Officer is notified immediately of any expenditure to be 

incurred as a result of statute/court order where there is no budgetary 
provision. 

 
xiv)  All appropriate payment records are retained and stored for the period 

defined by the Council’s document retention schedule. 
 
xv)  No Group Manager, Assistant Director or Corporate Director shall 

commit expenditure against any budget head for which he/she is not 
accountable, without the specific and written authority of the accountable 
budget holder and in accordance with the virement scheme set out in 
these regulations. 

 
xvi)  Suppliers’ invoices are not amended manually. 
 
xvii)  The advice of the Section 151 Officer (or an officer to whom 

responsibility has been delegated) is obtained in respect of prospective 
(or where appropriate, existing) suppliers where significant contracts are 
being considered. 

 
Section 3: Responsibilities of Corporate Directors in respect of contracts 
 
Regulations E.6 & E.9 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
3.a)  All contracts are subject to the provisions contained in the Council’s 

Procurement Standing Orders. 
 
3.b)  Corporate Directors shall be responsible for: 
 

i)  Maintaining a Contract Register which shall include major contracts (as 
defined by the Group Manager (Commissioning, Procurement & 
Compliance) entered into by the Directorate and schedules of payments, 

Page 110



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex H 
 

Page | 62 October 2021  
 
 

retentions, fees and other specific matters relating to each contract let to 
individual contractors. 

 
ii)  Informing the Group Manager (Commissioning, Procurement & 

Compliance) of all major contracts, and contract extensions entered into.  
 
iv)  Advising the Group Manager (Commissioning, Procurement & 

Compliance) of all relevant contract payments. 
 
v)  Making payments to contractors on account only on approved certificates 

issued by the authorised Managing Officer or Consultant. 
 
vi)  Ensuring that any variation order is authorised in writing and can be met 

within the approved budget. 
 
vii)  Where the sum of all variations pertaining to a contract, is likely to result 

in a cost over-run exceeding a value shown in the Schedule of 
Authorisations, item 16, reporting the potential over-run for approval to 
both the relevant Portfolio Holder and the Section 151 Officer prior to 
payment. Such cost over-runs shall be contained within the Portfolio 
Holder’s overall budget allocation. 

 
viii)  Seeking claims for restitution, acceleration of programme or liquidated 

damages when appropriate.  
 
ix)  Ensuring that the release of retention monies and final payments under a 

contract are not made prior to checks on contractors’ final claims being 
undertaken by a qualified independent officer. 

 
Section 4: Responsibilities for engagement of, and payments to, employees 
 
Regulation E.11. 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer 
 
4.a)  The Section 151 is responsible for: 
 

i) Calculation and payment of all staff emoluments and entitlements for 
current and former employees. 

 
ii) Reconciliation of and reporting on payroll expenditure against approved 

current budgets and future budget allocations.  
 
iii) Securely retaining payment details, including pension payments history in 

accordance with the Council’s Document retention schedule. 
 
iv) Agreeing, where appropriate an advance of pay, on request of a Director. 
 

Page 111



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex H 
 

Page | 63 October 2021  
 
 

v) Ensuring that current HM Revenue and Customs requirements are 
properly applied and that the correct liabilities are duly accounted for 
within the statutory periods.  

 
vi) Providing guidance to Corporate Directors with regard to the Council’s 

potential tax and national insurance liabilities. 
 
vii) Ensuring those adequate arrangements exists for administering 

superannuation matters. 
 
viii) Controlling and paying to third parties sums deducted from pay by Court 

Order or at the employee’s request in a timely manner.  
 
Responsibilities of Corporate Directors 
 
4.b)  Corporate Directors shall be responsible for ensuring that: 
 

i)  Appointments are made in accordance with the regulations and can be 
afforded within budgets delegated to them. 

 
ii)  The Section 151 Officer is notified of all appointments, terminations or 

variations that may affect the pay or pension of an employee or former 
employee, in the form and to the timescale required by the Section 151 
Officer. 

 
iii)  Adequate and effective systems and procedures are operated, so that: 

 
a.)  Payments are only authorised to bona fide employees. 
 
b.) Payments are only made where there is a valid entitlement, and 

budget provision exists to fund employment. 
 
c.)  Conditions and contracts of employment are correctly applied. 
 
d.)  Employees’ names listed on the payroll are checked at regular 

intervals to verify accuracy and completeness. 
 
e.)  Appropriate time keeping and charging rates are operated, such that 

Directors are aware of, and may therefore be held accountable for 
the effective deployment of staff. 

 
iv)  An up-to-date list of the names of officers, authorised to sign records is 

provided to the Section 151 Officer, or such contractor as may be engaged 
by him/her together with specimen signatures. 

 
v)  Payment to staff is processed only through the payroll system. 
 
vi)  Careful consideration is given to the employment status of individuals 

employed on a self-employed consultant or subcontract basis. In cases of 
doubt, advice should be sought from the Section 151 Officer.  

Page 112



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex H 
 

Page | 64 October 2021  
 
 

 
vii)  Travel and subsistence claims and other allowances are appropriately 

examined and approved. Certification is taken to mean that journeys were 
authorised and expenses properly and necessarily incurred. Due 
consideration should be given to any tax implications affecting claims.  

 
viii)  The Section 151 Officer is notified of the details of any employee benefits 

in kind, by a date determined by him/her for each year to enable full and 
complete reporting to HM Revenue and Customs. 

 
ix)  Appropriate payroll documents are retained and stored for the defined 

period in accordance with the document retention schedule. 
 
x)  Statistical returns are accurately completed by the due date. 

 
Travel and subsistence 
 
4.c)  The Section 151 Officer shall: 
 

i)  Make all payments in respect of travel and subsistence expenses to 
employees when properly due and authorised by the appropriate officer. 

 
ii)  Determine the specification of all reimbursement forms to be used. 
 
iii)  Ensure that all employees making expenses claims in respect of the use 

of their private cars on council business have adequate motor insurance 
in place. 

 
4.d)  Corporate Directors shall make arrangements to ensure that: 
 

i)  Claims are properly certified by an officer specifically authorised to do so. 
 
ii)  A current list of authorised officers, with specimen signatures, is provided 

to the Section 151 Officer. 
 
iii)  The lower of actual costs, or the allowances permitted under the scheme, 

are certified for payment. 
 

4.e)  All employees are responsible for ensuring that expense claims are submitted 
promptly in accordance with timetable specified by the Payroll Client Officer. 
Claims must be submitted within one month of the date of the expenditure and 
within the financial year in which the expenditure was incurred. All claims, 
including claims for mileage incurred on Council business, must be supported 
by a VAT receipt where VAT is incurred. 

 
Section 5: The acquisition of assets 
 
Regulation E.5 
 
Last updated: October 2021 

Page 113



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex H 
 

Page | 65 October 2021  
 
 

 
5.a)  Asset definitions are given at Annex F.  The purchases of these assets shall be 
authorised under a scheme of delegation as follows: 
 

Postholder Authorisation Level 

  
Total asset purchase 

price 

Chief Executive £500,000 

Section 151 Officer £500,000 

Corporate Director £500,000 

Assistant Director £250,000 

Group Manager £75,000 

Team Leader £25,000 

 
 
i)  Any acquisition with a total purchase price of over £500k in value shall be 
authorised by Cabinet, with the exception of land or buildings purchased for the 
Council’s Housing Revenue Account new build housing programme and which is 
100% funded from the Housing Revenue Account’s Strategic Acquisitions reserve. 
 
ii)  Authorisation of the acquisition of any land or buildings with a total purchase 
price of over £500k purchased for the Council’s Housing Revenue Account new build 
housing programme and which is 100% funded from the Housing Revenue Account’s 
Strategic Acquisitions reserve will be delegated to the Corporate Director, Housing 
and Regeneration in consultation with the Corporate Director Finance and Operations, 
the Assistant Director, Corporate and Contracted Services, the Portfolio Holder 
Housing and the Portfolio Holder, Finance and Resources. 
 
 
Responsibility of the Section 151 Officer 
 
5.b)  The Section 151 Officer shall: 
 

i)  Ensure that sufficient fidelity guarantee insurance is in place to cover 
those officers authorised to initiate or make payments. 

 
ii)  Make payments from the Authority’s funds on the authorisation of the 

appropriate officer that the acquisition is carried out in accordance with 
financial regulations. 

 
 
Responsibilities of Corporate Directors 
 
5.b)  Corporate Directors shall ensure that: 
 

i)  Relevant officers authorised to sign orders or certify payments do so with 
a full signature where done manually or under a password-controlled 
electronic process.  

 

Page 114



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex H 
 

Page | 66 October 2021  
 
 

ii)  No Group Manager, Assistant Director or Corporate Director shall commit 
expenditure against any budget head for which he/she is not accountable, 
without the specific and written authority of the accountable budget holder 
and in accordance with the virement scheme set out in these regulations. 

 
iii)  The advice of the Section 151 Officer (or an officer to whom responsibility 

has been delegated) is obtained in respect of prospective (or where 
appropriate, existing)  asset purchases being considered  relating to land, 
buildings or with a purchase price of over £100k . 

 
iv)  The advice of the Assistant Director (Corporate and Contracted Services) 

or an officer to whom responsibility has been delegated) is obtained in 
respect of prospective (or where appropriate, existing) asset purchases 
being considered relating to land, buildings or with a purchase price of 
over £100k. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 115



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex H 
 

Page | 67 October 2021  
 
 

ANNEX H 
 
Partnerships, External Funding and Third Party Contracts 
 
Section 1: Partnerships expectations 
 
Regulation F.2. 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
1.a)  The Council requires that potential partners are aware of their responsibilities 

under the Authority’s Financial Regulations and the procurement requirements. 
When partnerships are developed, the partners shall agree on which financial 
regulations and standing orders shall apply as part of the governance 
arrangements for the partnership. The following expectations should be 
adapted and written into governance documents, as appropriate  

 
i)   The agreed set of financial regulations governing this partnership will be 

those of XXXXX [organisation]. 
 

Partners will: 
 

ii) Support the concept of risk management within the partnership and 
actively work with the Council to ensure that risk management processes 
are in place to identify and assess all potential risks. 

 
iii)  Ensure that project appraisal processes are in place to demonstrate the 

viability of the project in terms of resources, staffing, expertise, and 
expected outcomes. 

 
iv)  Agree and formally endorse the roles and responsibilities of each of the 

partners involved in the project before the initiative commences. 
 
v)  Communicate regularly with other partners throughout the initiative so that 

potential problems are identified, shared and successfully resolved. 
 
vi)  Openly and explicitly share a vision of collective and individual 

expectations. 
 
vii)  Demonstrate an ability and willingness to add real value to any 

relationship. 
 
viii)  Be open and honest about any conflicts of interest that might arise, and 

demonstrate a willingness to agree mechanisms to resolve these from the 
outset. 

 
ix)  Demonstrate a willingness to take on a role in the broader programme 

appropriate to the skills and resources of the partnering organisations. 
 

Page 116



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex H 
 

Page | 68 October 2021  
 
 

x)  Act in good faith at all times and in the best interests of the partnership’s 
aims and objectives. 

 
xi)  Will be comfortable with, support, and comply with the principles of “open-

book accounting”. 
 
xii)  Hold as confidential any information received as a result of partnership 

activities or duties that is of a sensitive or confidential nature. 
 
xiii)  Act as champions and ambassadors for the project. 

 
Section 2: Responsibilities in respect of partnerships, external funding and third 
party contracts 
 
Regulations F.4 & F.6 
 
Last updated:  September 2011 
 
2.a)  Cabinet is responsible for approving the contractual arrangements for any work 

proposed to be undertaken for external bodies. 
 
Responsibilities of the Monitoring officer 
 
2.b)  The Monitoring Officer is responsible for: 
 

(i)  Ensuring that governance and standards of conduct arrangements to be 
adopted by partnerships and joint ventures are no less stringent than 
apply to the Council. 

 
(ii)  Ensuring that partnership contractual documentation requires any 

partner(s) to comply with the agreed Financial Regulations and 
Procurement Rules unless Council determines otherwise. 

 
Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer 
 
2.c)  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for: 
 

(i)  Ensuring that accounting, audit, control, governance, and risk 
management arrangements to be adopted by partnerships and joint 
ventures are no less stringent than apply to the Council. 

 
(iii) Ensuring that partnership contractual documentation requires the Partner 

to comply with the agreed Financial Regulations, to the satisfaction of the 
Monitoring Officer. 

 
(iv) Providing advice on the key funding elements of any project, including: 

 

 Appraisal of financial viability for the current and future years. 
 

 Risk appraisal and management. 

Page 117



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex H 
 

Page | 69 October 2021  
 
 

 

 Resourcing, including taxation issues. 
 

 Audit, security and control requirements. 
 

 Budget ‘carry-forward’ arrangements. 
 

(iv)  Issuing guidance with regard to the financial aspects of third party 
contracts. 

 
(v)  Ensuring that the Council’s accounting and costing conventions identify 

the fair cost of trading and working for third parties.  
 
(vi)  Maintaining a financial vetting procedure for use in selecting and 

approving prospective (or, where appropriate, existing) partners in respect 
of significant contracts. 

 
Responsibilities of Corporate Directors 
 
2.d)  Corporate Directors are responsible for:  
 

(i)  Ensuring that appropriate approvals are obtained before any negotiations 
are concluded. 

 
(ii)  Maintaining a register of all contracts entered into with external bodies in 

accordance with procedures specified by the Monitoring Officer and 
Section 151 Officer. 

 
(iii)  Ensuring that, before entering into agreements with external bodies, a 

comprehensive risk assessment has been carried out, a risk register 
drawn up, and appropriate mitigation action taken. 

 
(iv)  Ensuring that such agreements and arrangements do not impact 

adversely upon the services provided by the Council or other services 
provided to the Council. 

 
(v)  Ensuring that all agreements, arrangements and contracts are properly 

documented. 
 
(vi)    Ensuring that partnership contractual documentation requires the Partner 

to comply with the agreed Financial Regulations, to the satisfaction of the 
Monitoring Officer. 

 
(vii)  Providing information to the Section 151 Officer as may be required by 

him/her to enable a note to be entered into the authority’s statement of 
accounts  

 
(viii)  Ensuring that all claims for external funds are made by the due date. 
 

Page 118



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex H 
 

Page | 70 October 2021  
 
 

(ix)  Ensuring that the project progresses in accordance with the agreed project 
plan and that all expenditure is properly incurred and recorded. 

 
(x)  Informing, where the project is potentially deviating significantly from the 

plan, his/her Portfolio Holder and the Section 151 Officer as soon as this 
becomes apparent. 

 
(xi)  Ensuring that records are kept of resource usage and/or service delivery 

that accord with the requirements of the external funding source. 
 
(xii)  Ensuring that all requirements and stipulations relating to the payment of 

external funding and the auditing thereof, are understood and acted upon. 
 
(xiii)  Putting appropriate insurances in place through the Section 151 Officer 

for all dealings with third parties and external partners. 
 
(xiv)  Ensuring, as far as reasonably possible, that the external contracts and 

partnerships for which they are responsible do not put the Council at risk 
from bad debts. 

 
(xv)  Ensuring that no contract entered into with third parties is subsidised by 

the Council either directly or indirectly. 
 
(xvi)  Seeking, wherever possible, payment in advance of the delivery of the 

service. 
 
(xvii) Ensuring that the Division/unit has the appropriate expertise to undertake 

the contract or to manage the contract in a client capacity. 
 
(xix)   Seeking the advice of the S151 Officer (or an officer to whom 

responsibility has been delegated) is obtained in respect of prospective 
(or, where appropriate, existing) partners where significant contracts are 
being considered. 

Page 119



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations 
 

Page | 71 October 2021  
 
 

DACORUM BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 
SCHEDULE OF AUTHORISATIONS 
 
Item 1.  Virement policy – hierarchy of authorisations 
 
Annex B, clause 3.e) 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 

Type Applies to transfers between  Sanctioning Authority 

1 Between Cabinet Portfolios Cabinet 

2 Between Services within a Portfolio Director and Portfolio 
Holder* 

3 Between CIPFA Subjective headings within the 
same Service 

Director and Group 
Manager 

4 Between budgets both within the same Service 
and the same CIPFA Subjective heading  

Director and Group 
Manager 

5 For items 2, 3 and 4 above where the amount to 
be vired is at least  
 

 £50,000 
And 

 10% of the transferring budget  
 

Cabinet 

 
All proposed virements shall be subject to review and comment by the Section 151 
Officer. He/she shall determine whether the proposal should be subject to the positive 
endorsement of a higher authority. 
 
*“Portfolio Holder” means a formal Portfolio Holder decision. 
 
Item 2.  Supplementary budget policy- hierarchy of authorisations 
 
Annex B, clause 4.d) 
 
Last updated: December 2019 
 

Type Applies to supplementary budget 
wholly funded by  

Sanctioning Authority 

1 Reserve balances held Cabinet, to recommend to 
Council 

2 Grant income S151 Officer, Director and Group 
Manager 

3 For item 2 above where the amount is 
greater than £100k 

Cabinet, to recommend to 
Council 

4 S106 income or CIL income S151 Officer, Director and Group 
Manager 

 

Page 120



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations 
 

Page | 72 October 2021  
 
 

All proposed supplementary budgets shall be subject to review and comment by the 
Section 151 Officer. He/she shall determine whether the proposal should be subject 
to the positive endorsement of a higher authority. 
 
Item 3. Limits on cash holdings 
 
Annex C, clause 1.l) 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
Maximum limits for cash holdings, in whatever receptacle, shall be agreed with the 
Section 151 Officer, and shall not be exceeded without his/her express permission 
and with regard to the appropriate insurance limit. Cash received in total in excess of 
this amount must be banked within 24 hours. The current limit is: 
 
£500 
 
Item 4.  Changes to Structure  - hierarchy of authorisations 
 
Annex C, clause 2.g) 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
Where the net effect of any changes is no increase in cost for the current, or a full 
year, changes may be made to the official structure in accordance with the following 
hierarchy of authorities. Where a change to the official structure results in an increased 
net cost, it shall be allowed only on the authority of Cabinet. 
 

Type  Applies to Changes where one or more 
changes impacts as follows 

Sanctioning 
Authority 

1 Between General Fund and HRA 
Services 

Council 

2 Between Cabinet Portfolios Cabinet 

3 Between Services within a Portfolio Director and Portfolio 
Holder 

4 Between budgets, activities and project 
provision being the responsibility of an 
individual Group Manager 

Director and Group 
Manager 

 
All proposed changes to the official establishment shall be subject to review and 
comment by the Section 151 Officer. He/she shall determine whether the proposal 
should be subject to the positive endorsement of a higher authority. 
 
In considering the matter, the Section 151 Officer shall satisfy him/herself that all 
proposed changes will be correctly recorded on the corporate employee database and 
that all necessary budgetary virements have also been identified and will be 
implemented. 
 
 

Page 121



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations 
 

Page | 73 October 2021  
 
 

Item 5.  Petty Cash, Change Floats, and Electronic Payment Card Purchase 
Value of cash reimbursements for minor purchases 
 
Annex E, clause 3.e) 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
The value of cash reimbursements shall not exceed: 
 
£50.00 
 
Item 6. Debt write-offs - Hierarchy of authorisations 
 
Annex E, clause 4.f)  
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 

Individual value (per debtor) Authorised by: Conditions 

Up to £20,000 Section 151 officer in 
consultation with the 
appropriate Corporate 
Director 

 

Above £20,000 Portfolio Holder 
(Finance & Resources) 
on the advice of the 
Section 151 Officer and 
Corporate Director 

Applicable in situations 
where a referral to 
Cabinet (see below) is not 
necessary 

Above £20,000  Cabinet on the advice 
of the Section 151 
Officer and Corporate 
Director 

Where the write off, if 
approved, would, in the 
opinion of the Section 151 
Officer, have budgetary 
implications for the 
relevant service 

Any value, where the amount 
written off will cause the 
Council’s General Fund or 
Housing Revenue Account to 
fall into deficit 

Council on the advice 
of the Section 151 
Officer 

 

 
Item 7. Debt write-off recovery threshold 
 
Annex E, clause 4.j) 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
The de-minimis level for debt recovery action and review is determined by the Section 
151 Officer and shall be as follows: 
 
£50 
 
 

Page 122



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations 
 

Page | 74 October 2021  
 
 

Item 8.  De minimis amount for asset registers 
 
Annex E, clause 5.c) 
 
Last updated: September 2015  
 
Asset inventories shall be held and kept current by Group Managers, who will 
ensure that all areas under their authority have an asset inventory. They shall contain 
clear descriptions of all fixed and moveable assets, other than land and buildings, 
having a current value in excess of an amount specified by the Section 151 Officer. 
This amount is: 
 
£500 
 
Land and buildings are listed in the Asset Management System (see Regulation.C6), 
and ICT equipment is listed in a separate inventory kept by the relevant Corporate 
Director. 
 
Item 9.  Transaction authority level for asset disposals 
 
Annex F, clause 1.g) 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
The Corporate Director of the appropriate directorate and the Council's duly appointed 
valuer or other agent shall be involved in or appraised of all major steps in the 
negotiations in respect of transactions or of a series of transactions, the estimated 
value or the aggregated value of which exceeds the following amount: 
 
£100,000 
 
Item 10.  Disposal by tender 
 
Annex F, clause 1.m), ii) 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
Disposal by tender may be appropriate where there are two or more prospective 
purchasers with a foreseeable interest in acquiring the land. This method should be 
used in preference to Private Treaty where: 
 
i)   more than one prospective purchaser exists, and 
ii)  the estimated value of the land exceeds the following amount: 
 
£25,000  
 
Item 11.  Disposal of equipment 
 
Annex F, clause 2.a) 
 

Page 123



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations 
 

Page | 75 October 2021  
 
 

Last updated: December 2019 
 
The regulations relating to disposals within Section 2 of this annex apply to all assets 
specified in clause 2.a) as follows: 
 
11a)  those with a value of up to and including £50,000; 
 
11b)  those with a value of greater than £50,000 but less than £100k. 
 
Item 12.  Major reusable items 
 
Annex F, clause (3.e) 
 
Last updated: July 2017 
 
Disposals of major reusable items must be authorised by the Cabinet where the 
disposal may achieve a receipt in excess of the following amount: 
 
£50,000 
 
Item 13.  Disposals of other intangible assets 
 
Annex F, clause 4.e) 
 
Last updated: July 2017 
 
The appropriate Corporate Director will obtain Cabinet authorisation for the disposal 
of other intangible assets where the value of the asset(s) to be disposed of exceeds 
the following amount: 
 
£50,000, 
 
Item 14. Hierarchy of authorisations for cheque and electronic payments 
 
Annex G, clause 1.f) 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
Payment by cheque (or any electronic payment) by an amount to be determined by 
the Section 151 Officer shall be signed by one of those approved to do so by the 
Section 151 Officer. One authorised officer shall countersign cheques (or any 
electronic payment) over a value to be determined by the section 151 officer.  The 
values so determined are as follows: 
 

Value Authorising signatories 

Up to £40,000 Any one authorised officer (electronic or manual signature) 

Above £40,000 Any two authorised officers (electronic or manual signatures ) 

 
 
 

Page 124



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations 
 

Page | 76 October 2021  
 
 

Item 15.  Exceptions to advance payments regulations 
 
Annex G, clause 1.j) 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
Advance payment shall not be made for goods or services. The Section 151 Officer 
may authorise specific categories and/or values of expenditure as standing exceptions 
to this Regulation, and may amend or delete any such exceptions from time to time. 
Standing exceptions currently in place are as follows: 
 
Software Support and Maintenance 
Software Licences 
Artists/Performer Fees 
 
Item 16.  Value of cost-overruns to be reported 
 
Annex G, clause 3.b) vii) 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
Where the sum of all variations pertaining to a contract, is likely to result in a cost over-
run exceeding the value shown below, The relevant Group Manager shall report the 
potential over-run for approval to both the relevant Portfolio Holder and the Section 
151 Officer prior to payment: 
 

Value of scheme Over-run limit 

Up to £100,000 £5,000 

Above £100,000 10% of value of scheme 

 

Page 125



  
 

  
 

 
 

Report for: Cabinet 
 

Date of meeting: 19 October 2021 

Part: 1 

If Part II, reason:  

 
Title of report: River Gade Restoration & Improvement Project in 

Gadebridge Park 
Contact: Cllr Graham Barrett, Portfolio Holder for Environmental 

Services 
 
Author/Responsible Officer: Bill Buckley, Interim Assistant 
Director (Neighbourhood Delivery)  

Purpose of report: 1. Cabinet to consider the restoration and diversion scheme 
of the river Gade channel to prevent flooding within 
Gadebridge Park and the improvements to environmental 
amenities of the park.  

2. The Environment Agency is seeking a financial 
contribution of £100-120k from the Council to fund 
inclusion within the scheme of an additional footbridge, 
footpaths, beaches etc to enhance the scheme and 
improve the park. 

Recommendations That Cabinet 
 
1. Agrees to support the Environment Agency and Affinity 

Water Ltd in the restoration of the river Gade and 
improvements to Gadebridge Park project. 

2. Approves access to Gadebridge Park for the Environment 
Agency and its contractors to carry out restoration and 
improvement works during 2022. 

3. Approves, subject to Council, a contribution of up to a 
maximum of £130,000 for Environmental Amenity works 
as part of the project. 

4. Delegatea authority to the Assistant Director 
Neighbourhood Delivery in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder of Environmental Services to agree expenditure up 
to a maximum of £130,000. 

 

Page 126

Agenda Item 9



  
 

  
 

5. Delegatea authority to the Assistant Director 
Neighbourhood Delivery in consultation with the Assistant 
Director (Corporate and Contracted Services), Legal 
Governance Management to approve legal agreements 
and documentation between the Council and the 
Environment Agency and Affinity Water Ltd.  

Period for post 
policy/project 
review 

The project will be an ongoing review until completion of the 
scheme and for a minimum of 12 months after completion and 
prior to physical assets transferring to the Authority  

Corporate 
objectives: 

The Project supports two of the Corporate Objectives- 
 
Safe and Clean Environment with and improved recreational 
and environmental amenity of Gadebridge Park, and 
 
Climate & Ecological Emergency as the realignment of the river 
into its natural flood plain will reduce the incidence of flooding, 
improve the water quality and the natural habitat of the wildlife 
within the river and in the park 

Implications: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
‘Value for money’ 
implications 

Financial 
 
The financial implications are set out within the report below 
and Cabinet are invited to consider and approve a financial 
contribution up to a maximum of £130,000 towards the project 
for environmental amenities within Gadebridge Park. This 
funding cannot be contained within existing budgets and would 
have to be found from Council Funds. 
 
Value for money 
 
The procurement process by the Environment Agency will 
ensure value for money and scrutiny will be by the Assistant 
Director Neighbourhood Delivery in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services for any financial 
contribution and expenditure from the Authority 

Risk implications The main risk is the ability of partners to deliver on the project 
within the timeframe.  So far, we have sought to minimise this 
risk by gaining buy in to the process from key partners and 
providing influence over the project.  This approach being 
taken should significantly minimise this risk further to 
Gadebrige park. 
Appendix III identifies potential operational risks with 
mitigations to the Authority. 
 
If Members decide not to contribute, the EA could still go 
ahead with the diversion of the river without the environmental 
amenities restricting access to the park for users.    

Community Impact 
Assessment 

This has not been completed, as the Environment Agency is 
the lead key partner and will complete such an assessment as 
the project progresses. 
 
The park is available to all communities across the Borough 
and the project will improve access to park areas via DDA 
compliant bridges and footpaths.   

Page 127



  
 

  
 

Health and safety 
Implications 

The project will have to be managed in accordance with Health 
& Safety legislation including the CDM Regulations by the EA 
their consulting Associates and the contractor. The Authority 
will monitor compliance through Environmental Services with 
support from the Corporate Health and Safety Team when 
works commence and through discussions with the EA.  
 
Preliminary discussion will be held as the project progresses as 
the landowner and ensuring legal agreements are in place 
between partners to safe guard the Authorities interests and 
offset liabilities  

Monitoring Officer/ 
S.151 Officer  
Comments 

Deputy Monitoring Officer 
 
Under section 137 of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
Council has the power to incur expenditure, which in its opinion 
is in the interest of and will bring direct benefit to its area or any 
part of it or all or some of its residents. The improvements to 
Gadebrige Park as proposed by the recommendations will 
directly benefit local residents and improve the park. 
 
Deputy S151 Officer 
 
The funding requirement of up to £130k for this project would be 
drawn down from the Dacorum Development Reserve (DDR) 
 
 

Consultees: 
 

The SPAE Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered a 
report and presentation from the Environment Agency at its 
meeting on 15 June 2021 and resolved: the Committee 
recommends that Cabinet do not to move forward with the 
plans in their current state without further information.  
 
Further information has been provided which is contained 
within the report. 
 
In 2020, Portfolio Holders for Environmental Services, Planning 
& Regeneration and Communities have met with the 
Environment Agency to be briefed upon the proposed project 
 
The Environment Agency as the lead partner has consulted 
widely with stakeholders and the public   
 
James Deane, Corporate Director Finance & Operations 
James Doe, Assistant Director Planning, Development and 
Regeneration  
Richard LeBrun, Assistant Director Neighbourhood Delivery 
Nigel Howcutt, Assistant Director Finance & Resources  
Craig Thorpe Group Manager Environmental Services 
Simon Coultas, Operations Manager Clean, Safe and Green 

Background papers: The SPAE Overview and Scrutiny Committee report dated 15 
June 2021 

Glossary of 
acronyms and any 

EA – Environment Agency 
AF  - Affinity Water Ltd 
DBC – Dacorum Borough Council 

Page 128



  
 

  
 

other abbreviations 
used in this report: 

WFD- European Water Framework Directive 
AEP- Annual Exceedance Probability (usually expressed as a 

percentage) 
FCRM- Flood and Coastal Risk Management (EA funding 

stream)  
NPPF – National Planning Policy Framework 
MoU – Memorandum of Understanding 

 
List of Appendices: 
Appendix I - River Gade Restoration & Improvement Plan 
Appendix II - Illustrated designs of Environmental Amenities 
Appendix III – Benefits & Potential Risks from Clean, Safe and Green 
Appendix IV – Environment Agency Engagement Plan 
 
1. Executive Summary 
 
1.1 The Environment Agency (EA) wishes to work in partnership with the Council 

and Affinity Water Ltd (AW) to restore the river Gade at Gadebridge Park and 
improve the environmental amenities within the park. This is a project to change 
the river channel back to the lowest level in the park and estimated original 
course on the natural flood plain. Furthermore, it will reduce the incidence of 
flooding within the park and downstream. This will improve the biodiversity and 
quality of the river in compliance with European Water Framework Directive 
(WFD).  

 
1.2 The EA is seeking a financial contribution from the Authority to fund the 

environmental amenities of a footbridge, footpaths, river beaches, dipping 
platforms, signage and park furniture.  Affinity Water Ltd as a key partner has 
granted funding towards the project. 

  
2. Introduction  
 
2.1 The Environment Agency (EA)) is working with Dacorum Borough Council (DBC) 

and Affinity Water Ltd (AW) to help restore the River Gade at Gadebridge Park, 
a globally rare and valuable chalk stream. The project will provide multiple 
benefits, including improved habitats for wildlife, the protection of water 
resources for both people and the environment, and it will enable local residents 
and visitors to get closer to the river and enjoy nature. 

 
2.2 The River Gade is a chalk river, one of approximately 200 chalk rivers in the 

entire world. Unlike most rivers, chalk rivers are fed from chalk aquifers – 
underground porous rock formations that store water. They are directly 
connected to these aquifers, making their water clear running, mineral rich, and 
home to an extremely diverse population of flora and fauna. Chalk rivers have 
clean gravel beds, providing the ideal habitat for a unique range of plants and 
animals. 

 
2.3 However, chalk rivers and the unique habitats they provide have degraded over 

time and are at significant risk of further deterioration if action is not taken. A 
range of factors threatens the ecological health of our chalk rivers including 
historic modifications, abstraction, pollution, and invasive species. The River 
Gade has not escaped these threats. The Gade has been changed and modified 
over time, is significantly impacted by channel alterations, is disconnected from 
groundwater, and suffers from low flows, which has resulted in poor habitat 
quality and diversity. 

Page 129



  
 

  
 

 
2.4 Currently, only 17% of chalk streams are in their natural state. Like many chalk 

streams, the River Gade faces pressure from low flows and historic modifications 
to its channel that limit the river’s habitats and the wildlife it can support. The 
watercourse is at present classified as having a 'poor' ecological status under 
the European Water Framework Directive (WFD)  

 
2.5 The main reason for the scheme is to reduce the incidence of flooding within the 

park and downstream in Hemel Hempstead, as the current river course is located 
above the flood plain. 

 
3. Background 
 
3.1 The proposed restoration of the Gade through Gadebridge Park has been 

considered for a number of years and this restoration has since become part of 
the wider Revitalising Chalk Rivers Initiative. This is a partnership between the 
Environment Agency and Affinity Water, working alongside landowners and 
catchment hosts and partners. This partnership working is to protect and restore 
chalk rivers throughout Hertfordshire and Buckinghamshire, and parts of 
Bedfordshire. 

 
3.2 Working with Dacorum Borough Council, the EA explored a collective vision for 

the park and funded the production of the Indicative Landscape Plan, which was 
the practical expression of our joint ambitions including river improvements, 
landscaping, improvements to facilities, and access and 
information/interpretation.  

 
3.3 An important part of the work undertaken to help shape the vision was a public 

consultation which, in 2018, included a series of drop-in events attended by over 
80 people and a public consultation which received 147 responses. 

 
3.4 A total of 85% were in full support of the project and supported the idea of being 

closer to nature. 10% were undecided. The EA would like to maintain this level 
of enthusiasm, reassure those who are unsure, and complete the project as soon 
as possible while funds are available to them. 

 
3.5 Several projects have taken place or are currently in progress on the River Gade, 

both upstream and downstream of Gadebridge Park. The details of which have 
been provided and examples are: access improvements at Great Gaddesden; 
upper Gadebridge Park Restoration project, fish passage at Noake Mill; channel 
restoration at Box Moor, weir restoration at Bulbourne Moor and flood relief 
structure at Bury Mill etc.   

 
3.6 As part of its draft local plan, the Council has listed the importance of protecting 

chalk streams and mitigating and adapting to climate change. In addition, the 
scheme addresses the EA and DBC obligations for compliance with the Water 
Framework Directive, as the Upper Gade water body is classified as Poor. This 
project addresses several ‘Reasons for not achieving Good’, such as Physical 
Modification and Flow. 

 
3.7 In 2020, Portfolio Holders for Environment, Planning and Communities 

supported by senior managers met with representatives of Herts & East London 
Area EA to discuss, clarify the proposals, flood risk, value for money, costings 
and consider the financial request.  

 

Page 130



  
 

  
 

4. Local Authority Water Framework Obligations 
 
4.1 All partners have a duty to improve the ecology of the River Gade so it supports 

‘Good Ecological Status’ under the Water Environment Regulations 2017. 
Associated with this is the need to mitigate the impacts of climate change and to 
adapt to future climate scenarios. This includes improving resilience to low flow 
events and drought conditions, when the water available is reduced and 
improving floodplain connectivity when rainfall is high. Regulation 17 of the Water 
Environment Regulations 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/407/contents/made states that, like 
other public bodies, local authorities must “have regard to the River Basin 
Management Plan for that district” and “any supplementary plans” in exercising 
their functions. 

 
5. Reasons for the Project 
 
5.1 A perched channel: 
 

The River Gade was previously used as a mill leat. This means that the channel 
is at a higher level than the bottom of the valley (half a metre in this instance). In 
times of high flows, water can overtop the banks and flood the lower levels of the 
park. Once the water levels drop, this water cannot flow back into the channel. It 
therefore sits for long periods in the park. The channel is also disconnected from 
the groundwater table. For a chalk stream, where over 70% of flow is from 
groundwater, this can have a big impact on both its resilience to low flows and 
to wildlife in the channel.  

 
Below is the flood diagram of how flooding occurs when the channel is perched: 

 

 
 
5.2 Gauging Station: 
 

The Environment Agency has a gauging station at the bottom of the park to 
monitor flows on the River Gade. It is a concrete flume and weir structure. The 
data is required to monitor periods of low and high flows. The weir is too high for 
fish to pass, so it presents a barrier to fish passage upstream. The channel 
consists of a concrete bed and banks for about 40 metres. The weir also 
impounds the river upstream to the White Bridge. This impoundment results in 
the loss of gradient over this reach and reduces the diversity of flow types and 
habitats. The low energy flows result in the deposition of fine sediments over the 
gravel bed. All of these points affect the ecology that the channel is able to 
support. 

 
5.3 Low Flows: 

Page 131



  
 

  
 

 
The River Gade often suffers from low flows due to: 

 
 spring flows (groundwater emerging at the surface) being diverted into an 

underground tunnel (culvert) rather than feeding the river Gade. The culvert 
was built to stop the town from flooding and discharges into the fishing lake 
at Kings Langley, about 5km downstream of Gadebridge Park. 
 

 being disconnected from the groundwater table. For a chalk stream, where 
over 70% of its flow is from groundwater, this can have a significant impact 
on both its resilience during periods of low flows and on wildlife in the 
channel.  

 
 water being taken (abstracted) for public water supply. 

 
Most water consumed in the South East comes from rainwater stored deep in 
natural chalk ‘aquifers’. These also feed our chalk streams. In 2018, Affinity 
Water reduced net abstraction in the Gade catchment by 2,342,400 m3/year 
(that is an average of 6.4 million litres a day). However, demand for water in the 
South East remains high. 
 

5.4 Poor Habitat Quality and diversity 
 

As a result of being a historic mill leat and previous management such as 
dredging, the channel is very straight and is over-wide for the amount of flow. 
This combined with the impoundment means that there is excessive vegetation 
growth that will readily grow across the entire channel if maintenance is not 
carried out. There are also remnant weir structures which have been notched 
(the middle removed), but still cause slight impoundments. These characteristics 
provide the channel with little resilience to drought conditions as the water is 
spread thinly across a wide expanse of channel. 

 
6. Project Objectives 
 
6.1 To improve the ecology, recreational value and environmental resilience of the 

River Gade through Gadebridge Park by 2022 
 

 Improve the River Gade and the adjacent parkland for wildlife; 
 

 Provide more opportunities, accessible to everyone, for people to get close 
to the river and enjoy nature; 

 
 Provide more opportunities to learn about the River Gade, both its historical 

importance to the landscape and its value as a rare chalk stream; 
 

 Improve the river’s resilience – it’s ability to cope with and adapt to the 
pressures of low flows and climate change; 

 
 Improve floodplain connectivity, but reduce the impact of flooding – i.e. flood 

water can be stored on the floodplain when needed, but doesn’t sit on the 
parkland for long periods of time; 

 
 Improve biodiversity in the River Gade, so that it supports Good Ecological 

Status under the European Water Framework Directive; 

Page 132



  
 

  
 

 
7. The Project Delivery 
 
7.1 The river improvements will contribute to:  
 

 Improving the Gade towards reaching Good Ecological Status and meeting 
the UK’s desire to improve the health of our water environment.  

 
 Meeting the EA obligations under the Water Framework Directive, the 

commitments expressed in the Thames River Basin Management Plan and 
the Government’s Five-Year Environment Plan.  

 
 Mitigating the impacts of climate change and adapting to future climate 

scenarios.  
 
 Improving resilience to low flow events and drought conditions when water 

availability is reduced, and improving floodplain connectivity and drainage 
when rainfall is high. To allow free movement of fish and river wildlife. 

 
7.2 These benefits are consistent with the Dacorum draft Local Plan that contains 

references to the importance of protecting chalk streams and mitigating and 
adapting to climate change. The policies most relevant to this project have been 
outlined below: 

 
Policy Description 
Local Plan 104 c- Supporting initiatives to improve the quality of water 

in rivers and canals. 
f- Restoring culverted watercourses to a more natural 
state. 

Local Plan CS26 The strengthening of biodiversity corridors; the creation 
of better public access and links through green space; 
and a greater range of uses in urban green spaces.  

Local Plan CS27 The conservation of heritage assets and requires the 
integrity, setting and distinctiveness of designated 
heritage assets to be protected, conserved and if 
appropriate enhanced. 

NPPF Paragraph 190 Identify and assess the particular significance of any 
heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal 
(including by development affecting the setting of a 
heritage asset) taking account of the available evidence 
and any necessary expertise.  

 
7.3 The Council’s pre-planning response in October 2018 to the EA stated: “In 

principle, the Council supports the aims of the project. Environmental 
improvements and the development of low key, outdoor, riverside recreational 
facilities will be favourably considered provided there would be no adverse effect 
on residential amenity or the value of the river for nature conservation”. 

 
8. The Project- Environmental Improvement Scheme 
 
8.1 The works will comprise of new channel 250 meters of the river Gade being 

restored, 1.1 kilometres will be opened up to fish and eel passage and 6.1 
kilometres improved with the provision of spring flow downstream. The 

Page 133



  
 

  
 

associated bridges, footpaths, dipping platforms, beaches, signage, landscaping 
and recreational amenity etc. 

 
8.2 A River Gade Restoration Plan with details of works and environmental 

amenities is attached to visualise the changes and improvements to the Park 
and its use at Appendix I.  Examples of the environmental amenities such as the 
footbridge, signage, and park furniture are illustrated in Appendix II. 

 
8.3 The benefits in reducing potential flooding are illustrated in the before and after 

diagrams below. The current river channel ‘before’ results in a greater area of 
flooding within the park encroaching on the splash park, towards the bowls club 
and grassed leisure areas is a 1 in a 100 years occurrence (1%). 

 
8.4 The ‘after’ works of the new channel projections of the 1 in 100 years flooding 

occurrence results in a markedly reduction in potential flooded areas.  
 
8.5 As climate change continues and with climatic fluctuations in rainfall, the flooding 

incidences cannot be eliminated but the river restoration and new channel will 
capture more run off and enable flooded areas to soak away much more quickly.   

 
Current 1% AEP flood extent (PROVISIONAL) Proposed scheme 

1% AEP flood extent 

 
Diagrams illustrating current and proposed scheme as 1/100 year flood 
events on the river.  

 
9. Time Line 
 
9.1 The proposed milestone and time line provided by the EA is outlined in the table 

below:  

Page 134



  
 

  
 

 
Milestone / Engagement Phase Date 
Share draft detailed designs publicly and invite comment  September 2021 
Park event to share draft detailed designs with public 21 September 2021 
Comments reviewed and addressed October-December 2021 
Submit planning application September to October 2021  
Full Council to approve detailed designs October-November 2021 
Construction phase tender January 2022 
Project commencement communications February to March 2022 
Start works – opening ceremony April to May 2022 
Install interpretation boards May 2022 
Project completion communications July 2022 
Post project review August 2022 
Post project review (1 year on)  August 2023 

 
9.2 At each key milestone, the EA will update the local community of the project 

progress via the ColneCAN catchment partnership website, the Revitalising 
Chalk Rivers website, emails to their mailing list and other social media. The 
Council will include similar articles within their Clean, Safe & Green website, 
Dacorum Life and on our social media pages.  

 
9.3 The programme of works will ensure disruption to the park is minimised. With 

access at all times from various points to the park facilities, splash park, 
temporary bridge to bowls club, temporary site compound created, new footpath 
and DBC foot bridge, channel creation, followed by diversion of flow, infilling old 
channel, and decommissioning of EA gauging station and installation of new 
gauging station with footbridge near the Bury and Bowls Club. Landscaping, 
making good, park furniture and signage. 

 
9.4 The project will be subject to planning consent and the EA will be submitting a 

planning application for the scheme to the Planning Authority (DBC) during 
October/November 2021. 

 
10. Project Costs 
 
10.1 The Environment Agency has spent £198,000 to date on this project, covering 

the feasibility study, investigations, outline designs, public consultation and 
detailed designs. The EA is committed to spending a total of £235,000 up to the 
construction phase, with staff costs this amounts to approximately £364,000. 

 
10.2 It is estimated that delivery of the river restoration elements of the project during 

the construction phase will cost £753,000. The Council has been requested to 
contribute funding to pay for the environmental amenity aspects of the project 
e.g. a footbridge, footpaths, beaches, dipping platforms, signage etc., which 
have been estimated up to £120,000. Therefore, the whole project cost is 
estimated to be in the region of £873,000. 

 
10.3 Affinity Water Ltd have granted £250,000 towards the project which can be used 

from 2020-23. 
 
10.4 The EA Water resources and FCRM funding bids have been made for 2022/23. 

Additional funding will likely to be required for any shortfall and the EA are 
investigating options.  

 

Page 135



  
 

  
 

10.5 If Cabinet were to agree to a contribution, subject to Council approval, the 
estimated cost of these environmental amenity works are outlined in the table 
below: 

 
Feature Specification Cost* 
DBC Bridge 1x bridge in the centre of the park 

 6 m x 3 m 
 £1500 per square metre 

 

Approx. 
£35,000 

Path 1 x footpath 1.5 m wide.  
Finish options:  

 semi-bound = £40 per metre 
With the preferred option being a semi-bound, finish which is a 
DDA compliant surface x 325m including installation. 
 

Approx. 
£19,500 

Bins 4 X bins @ £200 
 

£1,600 

Signage 3 X information boards @ £1000 per sign 
 

£3,700 

Furniture 4 X benches @ £455 
5 X picnic table @£802 (or refurbish) 
2 X dipping platforms @ £100-£150 per m2 
 

£3,000 
£4,010 
£4,000 

Beaches 2 X assuming 300mm depth of gravel - £10-£15 per m2 
 

£3,000 

*including installation costs which are contained within the totals 
 
10.6 Current estimates equate to approximately £74,000, which will be subject to the 

EA procurement process and scrutiny by DBC senior managers regarding value 
for money.  The costs are estimates at this stage and may vary from the 
procurement process, there may be unforeseen works so a contingency element 
is included. In addition, the contribution enables the authority being a key partner 
to influence the project and impact on the park. It is suggested that a maximum 
contribution of up to £130, 000 be considered for approval.   

 
10.7 This funding cannot be contained within existing budget provision and would 

need to come from Council funds.   
 
10.8 If a funding contribution up to a maximum of £130,000 is not available from the 

Council, the work could start without the environmental amenity element.  
 
10.9 Despite this, the EA believes that it is important that the Council contributes 

towards the scheme, as well as the site being located on Council land, it will help 
the authority fulfil its obligations under the Water Framework Directive. The EA 
are unlikely to be able to fund the environmental amenity aspects of the project. 
These are the parts of the scheme that will provide real benefits to people, will 
increase the amenity use and value of the park.  

 
10.10 Whilst the EA believes the project could go ahead without these components it 

would not deliver the full benefits to the wider community and the use of the park 
as it would split the park in two with reduced access. 

 

Page 136



  
 

  
 

10.11 If Cabinet is mindful to support the funding contribution, it is proposed that 
delegated authority be granted to the Assistant Director Neighbourhood Delivery 
in conjunction with the Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services to approve 
expenditure up to a maximum of £130,000. 

 
11. Memorandum of Understanding 
 
11.1 A Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) is being drafted between The 

Environment Agency, Dacorum Borough Council and Affinity Water, the ‘key 
partners’ involved in the River Gade River Restoration project. Its purpose is to 
record the roles, responsibilities and commitments of the key partners to achieve 
the project’s objectives collaboratively.  

 
11.2 The MoU does not have any binding legal effect and does is not create any legal 

relationship between the partners. Once the project’s construction timetable has 
been agreed, (following the EA procurement process), a legally binding 
collaborative agreement between the key partners will cover all legal matters. 

 
11.3  It is proposed that approval of legal agreements and documentation between 

the Council, EA and AW is delegated to the Assistant Director Neighbourhood 
Delivery in conjunction with the Assistant Director (Corporate and Contracted 
Services), Legal Governance Management.  

 
12. Risks and Mitigation 
 
12.1 The main risks of the project are borne by the EA and their contractors from the 

project management, construction works, financial and legal. This includes the 
health and safety management and public liabilities etc.  

 
12.2 The Council’s risks are in relation to being the landowner, health and safety and 

taking over the physical assets on completion of the works. These will be 
mitigated within the future binding legal agreement between partners, the 
Authority’s own insurance cover and the provision of certificates of completion, 
licence for access and alterations on our land together with guarantees and 
warranties for assets transferred to the Authority. Adoption of any footbridges 
would be subject to an independent assessment on behalf of the authority. 

 
12.3 Appendix III identifies the benefits and potential risks of the project from a Clean, 

Safe and Green Service with mitigation.  
 
13. Communications 
 
13.1 The EA has developed a comprehensive engagement plan that is attached at 

Appendix IV. There have been a range of stakeholder and consultation events 
over previous years including a recent engagement event in the park on 21 
September to which Members, stakeholders, and the public were invited to 
attend.  

 
13.2 Social media has been used as a source of information, expressing opinions and 

updates that will continue throughout the project timeframe and after the works 
have been completed 

 
13.3 The DBC website, its social media messages and Dacorum Life present project 

information which links directly to the EA website for this specific project 
 

Page 137



  
 

  
 

14. EA are requesting 
 
14.1 The EA is seeking assurance that, subject to relevant assessment and 

approvals, the river restoration project at Gadebridge Park has the support of 
Dacorum Borough Council as the landowner and facility manager and to proceed 
between April to July 2022. EA would like specific agreement on: 

 
 access to the park to undertake river works 

 
 support for the project and a funding contribution 

 
 the project timeline as proposed 

 
 assigned roles and responsibilities for each partner through an MoU and  a 

future binding legal agreement 
 
15. Conclusions  
 
15.1 The river Gade restoration project in Gadebridge Park is essential to protect the 

river, its natural habitats and reduce the incidence of flooding within the park and 
downstream. The scheme is part of a wider improvement initiative for chalk 
streams across Hertfordshire, Buckinghamshire and parts of Bedfordshire.  The 
project will provide multiple benefits, including improved habitats for wildlife, the 
protection of water resources for both people and the environment, and enabling 
local residents and visitors to get closer to the river and enjoy nature.  

 
15.2 A proposed financial contribution from the Authority for the environmental 

amenities required for accessing increased areas of the park will ensure 
maximum benefits for residents and users and prevent the park being split into 
two halves.  

 
15.3 Overall, the project and partnership with the key players and stakeholders will 

enhance, sustain and benefit the main park within the Borough for future 
generations.    

 
16. Recommendations 
 
16.1 Cabinet to: 
 

i. Agree to support the Environment Agency and Affinity Water Ltd in the 
restoration of the river Gade and improvements to Gadebridge Park project. 

 
ii. Approve access to Gadebridge Park for the Environment Agency and its 

contractors to carry out restoration and improvement works during 2022. 
 

iii. Approve, subject to Council, a contribution of up to £130,000 for 
Environmental Amenity works as part of the project. 

 
iv. Delegate authority to the Assistant Director Neighbourhood Delivery in 

consultation with the Portfolio Holder of Environmental Services to agree 
expenditure up to £130,000. 

 
v. Delegate authority to the Assistant Director Neighbourhood Delivery in 

consultation with the Assistant Director (Corporate and Contracted 

Page 138



  
 

  
 

Services), Legal Governance Management to approve legal agreements 
and documentation between the Council and the Environment Agency and 
Affinity Water Ltd.  

Page 139



  
 

  
 

 

Page 140



Indicative Landscape Plan: Gadebridge Park
River Restoration

Existing features:
shown in black 

Proposed features:
shown in blue

Events space

P

P

P

Fletcher
 W

ay

H
i g

h
 S

t r e
e

t

Splash park

Forget-me-not
Memorial Garden

Skate Park

White Bridge

Public green

Club green

Bowling
club house

Q u e e n s w a y

St. Mary’s Church

Manor House Walls

Charter Tower

The Bury

Site of late 18th century gardens

G a d e b r i d g e  L a n e

P
i c c o

t t s  E
n

d
 R

o
a

d

Proposed new
channel alignment

Existing perched channel to be 
grassed

Gravel beach between 
splash park and play area

Indicative location for gravel beach

Version 7-0
11/7/18

Site of late 19th to 20th 
century watercress beds

Dog access/erosion
control points to both banks

L
e

i
g

h
t

o
n

 
B

u
z

z
a

r
d

 
R

o
a

d

Proposed new paths
(indicative routes)

Area to be terraced to provide grassed seating area 
for passive recreation, with views over the channel

Area to be terraced to provide grassed seating area 
for passive recreation, with views over the channel

Existing perched channel 
to be grassed and 

Metal fencing to Splash park

Play Areas

Historical sign TBC

River signage

DBC funded bridge

Bank left wild/meadow 
cut by DBC

Riverside planting and 
vegetation

Bench

Bin

Page 141



Appendix II 

 Illustrations of designs for Environmental Amenities to be included in Restoration Project 

 View of new DBC Footpath and river with beach 

 

 

 

 

DBC Footbridge  

Page 142



Litter Bins and Benches (Same design as used currently in the park) 

 

  

Page 143



Example of similar Information Sign Board (based upon an existing board) 

 

Page 144



Appendix xxx 

Benefits & Potential Risks identified by Clean, Safe and Green 

Benefits of the scheme:  

 Increased river flow due to incorporation of spring water which currently does not go into 
the river. 

 Improve Biodiversity and mitigate impact of climate change. 

 Public will be able to interact with the river more. 

 Reduced Flood Risk. 

 Could bring more visitors to the park, which should have a positive effect on the local 
economy.  

 Maintenance of the river should be easier in the long term and short term potentially, and 
there by save on resources. 

 Removal of exiting gauging station and freeing up of the site for use by authority. 

 

Potential Risks: 

 Funding shortfall would mean some aspects of the project are not delivered. (Mitigated by 
EA  funding options  

 River project does not obtain planning permission for project works etc.  

 River closer to sewage line which does have a tendency to over flow in adverse wet weather 
conditions. This may lead to the river being potentially polluted. (Scheme should mitigate) 

 Timings could affect the park when it is the height of the summer and the park is at capacity. 
This could be due to poor planning or project overrun due to climatic or unknown reasons. 
(Mitigated by timeline of onsite works concentrated in one phase over a 6-8 week period 
from April to July 2022. The onsite works are required within this period to comply with fish 
spawning season,  potential water vole breeding season, reduced effect of inclement 
weather whilst major construction of new channel. 

 Flooding and proximity of the river to the new play area and splash park. (Mitigated in the 
scheme) 

 Potential to flood the bowls club due to proximity. (Mitigated in the scheme) 

 May have an impact on the existing biodiversity in the current river location? ( Mitigated by 
the long term benefits of the project) 

 New location of the river will cut through the high use area of the park, and cut the park into 
two areas. Mitigated by provision of new footbridges and footpaths infrastructure within the 
scheme). 

 Loss of revenue income during construction because of events not being able to take place. 
(Minimised by concentrated timeline and impact from the project.) 

Page 145



 Overall impact on the parks aesthetics because of the project and the construction works. 
(Mitigated within the scheme with landscaping and making good the topography within the 
park.) 

 

Page 146



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

 

   
Engagement plan 
Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration         Version 7 
 
This engagement plan sets out the project partners’ (Environment Agency, Dacorum Borough Council and Affinity Water) intended engagement 
with stakeholders in relation to improving the River Gade through Gadebridge Park, Hemel Hempstead. The Environment Agency is leading the 
planning and delivery of stakeholder engagement, supported by Dacorum Borough Council and Affinity Water.  
 

Contents 
 
Background ............................................................................................................................................................................... 2 

Project team .............................................................................................................................................................................. 4 

Business objectives ..................................................................................................................................................................... 5 

Engagement objectives ................................................................................................................................................................ 6 

Ways of working ......................................................................................................................................................................... 8 

Milestones and engagement phases ............................................................................................................................................ 11 

Key messages ......................................................................................................................................................................... 12 

Stakeholders ............................................................................................................................................................................ 13 

Action plan .............................................................................................................................................................................. 20 

Evaluation ............................................................................................................................................................................... 40 

Appendices .............................................................................................................................................................................. 40 

 

P
age 147



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

Background 
 
We (the Environment Agency (EA)) are working with Dacorum Borough Council (DBC) and Affinity Water (AW) to help restore the River Gade 
at Gadebridge Park, a globally rare and valuable chalk stream. The project will provide multiple benefits, including improved habitats for wildlife, 
the protection of water resources for both people and the environment, and allowing local residents and visitors to get closer to the river and 
enjoy nature. 
 
The River Gade is a chalk stream; a globally rare and valuable habitat. 85% of the world’s chalk streams are in England and 30% (68) of these 
are in the south east. Chalk streams are unique because they get most of their water from rain-fed groundwater held in underground chalk 
‘aquifers’. This mineral-rich water is able to support a wide range of plants and wildlife.  
 
At the moment, only 17% of chalk streams are in their natural state. Like many chalk streams, the River Gade faces pressure from low flows 
and historic modifications to its channel that limit the river’s habitats and the wildlife it can support. The watercourse is currently classified as 
having a 'poor' ecological status under the European Water Framework Directive (WFD). 
 
A perched channel: 
 
The River Gade was previously used as a mill leat. This means that the channel is at a higher level than the bottom of the valley (half a metre in 
this instance). In times of high flows, water can overtop the banks and flood the lower levels of the park. Once the water levels drop, this water 
cannot flow back into the channel. It therefore sits for long periods of time in the park. The channel is also disconnected from the groundwater 
table. For a chalk stream, where over 70% of flow is from groundwater, this can have a big impact on both its resilience to low flows and to 
wildlife in the channel. 
 
Gauging station: 
 
The Environment Agency has a gauging station at the bottom of the park to monitor flows on the River Gade. It is a concrete flume and weir 
structure. The data is needed to monitor periods of low and high flows. The weir is too high for fish to pass, so it presents a barrier to fish 
passage upstream. The channel consists of a concrete bed and banks for about 40 metres. The weir also impounds the river upstream to the 
White Bridge. This impoundment results in the loss of gradient over this reach and reduces the diversity of flow types and habitats. The low 
energy flows result in the deposition of fine sediments over the gravel bed. All of these things impact the ecology that the channel is able to 
support. 
 
Low flows: 
 
The River Gade often suffers from low flows due to: 
 

P
age 148



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

- spring flows (groundwater emerging at the surface) being diverted into an underground tunnel (culvert) rather than feeding the river 
Gade. The culvert was built to stop the town from flooding and discharges into the fishing lake at Kings Langley, about 5km downstream 
of Gadebridge Park. 
 

- being disconnected from the groundwater table (see Image 3). For a chalk stream, where over 70% of its flow is from groundwater, this 
can have a significant impact on both its resilience during periods of low flows and on wildlife in the channel.  

 
- water being taken (abstracted) for public water supply. 

 
Most water we drink in the South East comes from rainwater stored deep beneath our feet in natural chalk ‘aquifers’. These also feed our chalk 
streams. In 2018 Affinity Water reduced net abstraction in the Gade catchment by 2,342,400 m3/year (that’s an average of 6.4 million litres a 
day). However, demand for water in the South East remains high. 
  
Poor habitat quality and diversity: 
 
As a result of being a historic mill leat and previous management such as dredging, the channel is very straight and is over-wide for the amount 
of flow. This, combined with the impoundment means that there is excessive vegetation growth that will readily grow across the entire channel if 
maintenance is not carried out. There are also remnant weir structures which have been notched (the middle removed), but still cause slight 
impoundments. These characteristics provide the channel with little resilience to drought conditions as the water is spread thinly across a wide 
expanse of channel. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 149



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

Project team  

 
 

 
Environment 

Agency 

Name Role in project Initials used in plan 
Kelly Standbrook Project Manager KS 
Ruth Butcher Geomorphology RB 
Maria Bailey Biodiversity MB 
Colette Sales Analysis and reporting CS 
Rhodri Richards Operations RR 
Laura Hepworth Partnerships and Strategic Overview LH 
Nina Garner Operations NG 
Craig Jeffries Flood Risk Modelling review CJ 
Jennie Brennan Engagement JB 
Andy Turton Defra Comms AT 
Chris Padley Sustainable Places (Planning Specialist) CP 
Richard Woodbridge Hydrometry and Telemetry  RW 
Geoff Angell Hydrology GA 
Lewis Thomas Fisheries LT 
Phil Belfield Fisheries PB 
Louise Vincent Defra Group Commercial LV 
Helen Wood Finance business partner HW 
Suzanne Allen Legal SA 
Linda Mutua Estates LM 
Kate Cook CDM Principal Designer KC 
Kelvin Reay CDM client KR 

Dacorum Borough 
Council 

 

Rob Cassidy Parks and Open Spaces Officer (engagement lead) RC 
Simon Coultas Parks and Open Spaces Manager (DBC lead contact) SC 
Bill Buckley Interim Assistant Director (Neighbourhood Delivery) 

(planning lead) 
BB 

Affinity Water 
? Financial partner ? 
David Watts  Programme Delivery Manager DW 

 
 
 

P
age 150



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

Business objectives 

By the end of 2022, the Environment Agency, Dacorum Borough Council and Affinity Water will have worked together to improve the ecology, 
recreational value and environmental resilience of the River Gade through Gadebridge Park. We will:  
 

- Improve the River Gade and the adjacent parkland for wildlife; 
- Provide more opportunities, accessible to everyone, for people to get closer to the river and enjoy nature; 
- Provide more opportunities to learn about the River Gade, both its historical importance to the landscape and its value as a rare chalk 

stream; 
- Improve the river’s resilience – it’s ability to cope with and adapt to the pressures of low flows and climate change; 
- Improve floodplain connectivity, but reduce the impact of flooding – i.e. flood water can be stored on the floodplain when needed, but 

doesn’t sit on the parkland for long periods of time; 
- Improve biodiversity in the River Gade, so that it supports Good Ecological Status under the European Water Framework Directive; 
- Reduce the barriers to fish movement and impoundment caused by river structures, including the Environment Agency’s gauging 

station; 
- Improve flows in the river, to lessen the build-up of sediment and vegetation and to reduce the need for maintenance; 
- Improve the ability to monitor river flows in the River Gade. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 151



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

Engagement objectives 
 
 

Ref. Objective What will success look like? How will we measure it? Stakeholder 
audience 

EO1 Before detailed designs are 
finalised, stakeholders 
understand the project’s 
objectives and latest proposals, 
have had an opportunity to 
provide their comments, and 
know where they can find further 
information or contact us with 
queries or concerns. 

- Wide support for project 
- Comments on the proposals received 

from range of stakeholders. 
- Enquiries sent directly to EA’s project 

inbox or DBC’s regeneration inbox.    

- Stakeholder comments 
- Action plan and 

engagement activity log 

MPs, councillors, 
members of the 
public, local 
interest groups. 

EO2 Throughout the project, ensure 
that any enquiries, data requests 
and complaints are answered 
within suitable timescales, with 
sufficient detail and in 
accordance with the General 
Data Protection Regulation 
(GDPR). 

(EA timeframes) 
- General enquiries responded to within 10 

working days  
- Data requests responded to within 20 

working days and follow FOI/EIR 
procedures. 

- Executive correspondence responded to 
within 10 working days and follows 
relevant procedure. 

- Complaints responded to within 10 
working days and follow relevant 
procedure.  

- No GDPR breaches. 
- Limited follow-ups due to sufficient first 

response.  

- Record kept of reactive 
communications, response 
detail and timescales. 

MPs, councillors, 
members of the 
public, local 
interest groups. 

EO3 Ensure that stakeholders are 
kept informed of project 
progress, are proactively 
updated as key milestones are 
reached and, where relevant, 
are consulted as part of our 
decision-making. When 

- A list of key stakeholders and a plan of 
engagement activities/updates that align 
with project milestones. 

- Key stakeholders’ feedback has helped 
shape our plans.  

- Action plan and 
engagement activity log. 

- Stakeholder comments and 
feedback 

- Final detailed designs.  

MPs, councillors, 
members of the 
public, local 
interest groups. 

P
age 152



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

stakeholders are consulted, it is 
clear what can and cannot be 
influenced.  

EO4 At project completion, 
stakeholders are informed of the 
outcomes of the project, 
understand how they can get 
involved in any related river-
based events in the future and 
are aware of the appropriate 
channels to contact us with any 
questions or comments. 

- Engagement does not stop as soon as 
the project is complete. 

- Action plan of comms and activities 
beyond project completion.  

- Attendance at future river-based learning 
events.  

- Gadebridge Park project completion 
survey 

- Action plan and 
engagement activity log. 

- Project completion survey 
and results 

MPs, councillors, 
members of the 
public, local 
interest groups. 

EO5 By project completion, 
stakeholders will have a better 
understanding of the 
environmental issues facing the 
River Gade in Gadebridge Park, 
how the project has helped 
address these issues and what 
action we can all take to help 
protect chalk streams. 

- Project’s key messages include 
information about why the River Gade 
needs improving, how we will/have 
addressed issues and how we can all 
protect chalk streams. They are used 
widely in project communications. 

- Wide support for the project, evident from 
consultation responses.  

- Information boards successfully installed 
in the park. 

- Attendance at post-completion river-
based learning events. 

- Share project completion survey and 
environmental monitoring results with 
stakeholders.  

- Stakeholder comments 
- Stakeholder feedback 
- Press and social media 

coverage. 

All 

EO6 
 
(EA 
internal) 

Throughout the project, ensure 
that the Environment Agency’s 
technical teams and Area 
Leadership Team are confident 
on the key project aims and the 
current agreed timeline, are 
consulted when required and are 
kept up-to-date of key 
milestones.  

- A plan of internal updates that align with 
project milestones 

- EA technical feedback helps shape 
detailed final designs.  

- Action plan and 
engagement activity log 

- Internal feedback 

EA technical 
teams, Area 
Leadership Team  

P
age 153



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

Ways of working 
 
Project partners single point of contact details for communications approvals: 
 

- Environment Agency: Kelly Standbrook at gadebridgepark@environment-agency.gov.uk 
- Dacorum Borough Council: Simon Coultas at Simon.Coultas@dacorum.gov.uk 
- Affinity Water: David Watts at david.watts@affinitywater.co.uk 

 
Steering group members single point of contact details for communications approvals: 
 

- Hemel Hempstead History and Museum Society: Michael Stanyon at stanyon09@gmail.com  
- Dacorum Environmental Forum: Gruff Edwards at gruff.edwards@tiscali.co.uk  
- Friends of Gadebridge Park: Rob Beauchamp at rob.beauchamp56@gmail.com  
- Bowls Club: Brian Smith at briandella@talktalk.net  

 
 

Approvals process 
 
All official publicity and external communications or reports about the project should be drafted and approved by partners as per the agreed 
approvals process below: 
 

1. EA or DBC project team member to produce the draft engagement materials as indicated in the action plan.  
2. Pass to their relevant Engagement or Communications Officer to proof read/plain English and then arrange any internal approvals e.g. 

for MP correspondence, EA should get Area Director approval. 
3. EA/DBC to pass to other party’s single point of contact. If there’s a short deadline, mark email as urgent and follow-up with phone call. 

Where content specifically mentions AW or their work, also pass to AW point of contact for comments/approval. Consider whether any 
additional members of the Steering Group also need consulting e.g. the Local History and Museum Society for communications 
including historical information.    

4. Second project team to review and provide comments/approve.  
5. Pass back to first team’s point of contact and discuss any major issues/changes. 
6. Once agreed, points of contact to share with internal contacts in own organisations as well as partners outside of EA and DBC, where 

appropriate. 
7. First project team to publish (unless otherwise agreed). 

 
 
 

P
age 154



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

Proactive communication methods 
 

 Briefings, newsletters and official emails: to follow the approvals process above. Materials to include all partner logos (EA, DBC and 
AW) and Revitalising Chalk Rivers logo wherever possible.  
 

 DBC webpage updates: to follow approvals process above. 
 

 Posters, information boards, leaflets and display material: to follow approvals process above. Materials to include all partner logos and 
Revitalising Chalk Rivers logo wherever possible. 
 

 Social media: EA to tweet via @EnvAgencySE account and DBC to tweet via @DacorumBC following approvals process above. Tweet 
to include tags of other partners as appropriate; Facebook text to be approved following the approvals process above. 
 

 Press releases: These should be issued by EA or DBC (or jointly) as indicated in action plan and ideally include a quote from the other. 
For the EA, the press release should be drafted by Defra Communications and should be approved by their project team before entering 
the approvals process at stage 3. For DBC, the press release should be drafted by their press team and be approved by their project 
team before entering the approvals process at stage 3. 
 

 Meetings and events: Any meetings or events with a focus on this project should be arranged jointly where possible unless it is 
inappropriate to do so (for example with stakeholders who only have interest in one aspect of the project) and should be attended by a 
representative from all parties. 
 

All engagement materials to reference the project email address gadebridgepark@environment-agency.gov.uk for enquiries, with the following 
note: Please only contact Kelly with questions specifically about Gadebridge Park’s river restoration project. Questions about all other aspects 
of Gadebridge Park should be sent to Robert Cassidy at Robert.cassidy@dacorum.gov.uk  
 
 
Reactive communication methods 
 

 Customer enquiries: Where possible, enquiries should be answered using agreed lines by the receiving organisation, including those 
received via email and social media. For those that require a more detailed response, it is assumed that the EA will lead (unless it is a 
specific DBC aspect of the project) and where required, customers should be directed to send their enquiry to 
gadebridgepark@environment-agency.gov.uk. In accordance with General Data Protection Regulations, customer details should only 
be shared between organisations where consent has been given by the customer to do so.  

 
For the EA, any enquiries that include information requests under the Freedom of Information Act (FOI) and Environmental Information 
Regulations (EIR), should be logged, tracked and responded to by the Customers Team at HNLenquiries@environment-agency.gov.uk. 

P
age 155



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

For DBC, any enquiries that include information requests under the FOI and EIR, should be sent to 
customer.services@dacorum.gov.uk. 

 
 Press enquiries: Enquiries can be answered using agreed lines by the receiving organisation. Organisations will notify each other of any 

detailed press enquiries they’ve received. Communications/press officers from EA and DBC should work together on a response if it is a 
particularly contentious issue. 
 

 Radio and TV interviews: Requests for radio or TV interviews should be offered to the most suitable organisation first wherever this is 
obvious and practical. 
 

 Social media enquiries: For quick responses teams should use agreed messages. For more detailed responses, see ‘Customer 
enquiries’ above.  
 

 Meeting invitations: Any invitations to meet with key stakeholders, such as MPs or Councillors, to discuss the project should be shared 
with the other parties so that they can attend if appropriate. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 156



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

Milestones 
 

Milestone / Engagement Phase Date 
Draft designs public consultation July 2018 to September 2018 
Vegetation management February 2020 
Trenching March 2020 
Dacorum Borough Council Scrutiny Committee June 2021 
Draft detailed designs to Environment Agency for review  August 2021 
Share draft detailed designs publically and invite comment  September 2021 
Park event to share draft detailed designs with public September 2021 
Comments reviewed and addressed October 2021 
Submit planning application September to October 2021 (approval by end of December) 
Attend Cabinet to approve draft detailed designs October 2021 
Construction phase tender January 2022 
Project commencement communications February to March 2022 
Start works – opening ceremony April to July 2022 
Install interpretation boards May 2022 
Project completion communications July 2022 
Post project review August 2022 
Post project review (1 year on) and associated communications August 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

P
age 157



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

 
Key messages (require updating – in progress) 

 
 

 The River Gade is a chalk stream, which is a globally rare habitat, with only 210 examples worldwide. 85% of these streams are in 
England, particularly the South and East. 

 Despite being rare and valuable habitats, only 17% of chalk streams currently meet good ecological status under the Water Framework 
Directive (2019 classification) – the stretch of the River Gade which flows through Gadebridge Park is currently at ‘Poor’ status. 

 The river suffers from a number of issues caused by human interaction that has resulted in its poor environmental condition. It has been 
significantly impacted by historic channel alterations and low flows caused by over abstraction.  

 We are working with Dacorum Borough Council and Affinity Water to improve the ecology, recreational value and environmental 
resilience of the river. 

 A new channel will be created downstream of the historic white bridge, with natural meanders and connection to groundwater and its 
spring flow. This will create a more biodiverse habitat characteristic of unmodified chalk streams.  

 The EAs gauging station will be relocated onto the new channel, to remove the current barrier to fish.  
 The relocation of the channel has been designed to avoid the loss of trees.  
 All decision making will take into account the new features created within Gadebridge Park such as the Splash Park, car park, and new 

play area, to provide an enhanced visitor experience. 
 We will be finalising our detailed designs in summer 2021 and aim to get planning permission in summer 2021 with delivery of the works 

starting in autumn 2021. 
 We have considered the optimum environmental window for construction to allow for the fish spawning season and other ecological 

processes.  
 Completing the project in 2 phases will allow for establishment of the new channel whilst protecting the fish and wildlife which live in the 

existing channel. 
 This project will make the floodplain more resilient and encourage natural flood management, such as allowing the floodwater to drain 

faster 
 We have investigated the site for historic and archeologically significant features. We are able to confirm there will be no detriment to 

any of these features within the park.  

 
 
 
 

P
age 158



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

Stakeholders 

 

Stakeholder What do they want from us? What do we want from them? Timeframe Type of 
engagement 
(provide, receive, 
collaborate) 

Technique 

Dacorum 
Borough 
Council 

 Leadership/accountability for the project 
 A clear understanding of how the project will 

impact on the use of the park. 
 A detailed timeline of works 
 Regular communications and updates for 

themselves and their constituents 
 Assurance that the park will be left for the 

better 

 Provide support and be an 
active partner throughout the 
project.  

 Access to the park to do works 
 Local intelligence 
 Resource provision including 

help with funding strategy, 
planning and communications. 

Ongoing Collaborate Emails / 
Meetings / 
Phone 
calls 

Affinity Water  Successful partnership to deliver river 
restoration. 

 Funding. 
 Sharing their professional 

advice. 
 Collaborative working 

Ongoing Collaborate Emails / 
Meetings / 
Phone 
calls 

JBA 
Consulting  

 EA leadership on the project both internally 
and externally 

 Liaison with external partners 
 Communications for the project 
 Assurance of project funding 
 Provision of construction phase tender 
 Technical expertise- Searches, permissions 
 CDM 

 Completion of all surveys and 
investigation work. 

 Detailed designs including 
early contractor involvement. 

 Run public engagement event. 
 Obtain full planning permission. 
 Tender pack for construction 

phase 

Ongoing Collaborate Emails / 
Meetings / 
Phone 
calls 

Hertfordshire 
County 
Council 

(LLFA) 

 Any relevant information to help decision 
making. 

 To enhance the local environment for 
people and wildlife. 

 Support for the project. 
 Check planning application 

requirements and flooding 
involvement with regards to 
surface water and 
groundwater. 

Ongoing Provide & Receive Emails / 
Meetings/ 
Phone 
calls 

P
age 159



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

Hertfordshire 
County 
Council 

Highways 
department 

 Any relevant information to help decision 
making in relation to drainage from roads 
into site 

 Professional advice 

 Permission to use access 
points and traffic management 
along Leighton Buzzard Road if 
required 

Ongoing Collaborate Emails / 
Meetings/ 
Phone 
calls 

Hertfordshire 
County 
Council 

Archaeology 
department 

 Any relevant information to help decision 
making in relation to archaeological interest 
and investigation on the site. 

 Sign off archaeological 
investigations 

 Professional advice during 
detailed designs 

 

Ongoing Provide & Receive Emails / 
Meetings/ 
Phone 
calls 

Sir Mike 
Penning MP 

 To enhance the local environment for 
people and wildlife. 

 Regular updates 

 Support for the project. 
 Promotion of the project to 

constituents. 
Ongoing Provide & Receive Emails /  

Meetings 
(and/or site 
visits) 

ColneCAN  To enhance the local environment for 
people and wildlife. 

 Support for the project. 
 Promotion of the project to 

catchment partners and 
general public. 

Ongoing Provide & Receive Emails 

Revitalising 
Chalk Rivers 
Project 

 To enhance the local environment for 
people and wildlife. 

 Support for the project. Ongoing Provide & Receive Emails 

Chris Ridley & 
Rodney 
Tucker 
(Riverfly 
monitoring) 

 To enhance the local environment for 
people and wildlife. 

 Support for the project. 
 Riverfly monitoring data (before 

and after) 
Ongoing Provide & Receive Emails 

P
age 160



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

Dacorum 
Environmental 
Forum 

 To ensure the river environment is improved 
for the better, with no increase in flood risk 
or reduction in flow 

 Inclusion of the local community in decision 
making  

 To ensure there is no detriment to wildlife in 
the park 

 To ensure there is no detriment to the 
splash park and the play areas 

 Increased opportunity and education for the 
local community on environmental issues 

 Support for the project. 
 Promote the importance of 

revitalising our chalk streams 
 Key partner 
 Adviser on local issues 

 

 

Ongoing Provide & Receive Emails and 
meetings 

Hemel 
Hempstead 
Local History 
and Museum 
Society 

 Minimal disruption throughout works 
 Preservation of existing channel/mill leat 
 Preservation of 18-20 Stevenson stones 

(granite blocks) 
 Provision of hedgerow along Leighton 

Buzzard Road 
 Minimal future maintenance 
 Information to create a history walk  

 Support for the project 
 Key partner 
 Help with signage 

 

Ongoing Provide & Receive Emails and 
meetings 

Friends of 
Gadebridge 
Park 

 To enhance the local environment for 
people and wildlife. 

 Minimal disruption throughout works 
 Preservation of assets 
 Assurance over losing reach concerns 
 Protection of DBC events space 
 Assurance over flood risk 
 Investigation into Thames Water manholes 
 Involvement with long-term maintenance 

plans 
 Wheelchair friendly access 
 Provision for the sight impaired 
 Health walks from white bridge 

 Support for the project 
 Key partner 
 Help with outfall surveys 

 

Ongoing Provide & Receive Emails and 
meetings 

Hemel 
Hempstead 
Bowls Club 

 Minimal disruption throughout works 
 Direct access to the clubhouse 
 No increase to flood risk for the facility  

 Support for the project 
 Key partner 

 

Ongoing Provide & Receive Emails and 
meetings 

P
age 161



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

Hemel Skate 
Park Group 

 Minimal disruption throughout works.  Support for the project. 

 

At key 
milestones 

Provide & Receive General 
comms 
through 
Facebook 
and DBC 
digital 
digest 

Kings Langley 
Fishery 

 To ensure no detrimental impact on fishery 
as a result of works 

 Support for the project. 

 

At key 
milestones 

Provide & Receive Emails and 
meetings 

Highways 
England 

 Relevant project information.  Potential input surrounding the 
highway outfalls entering the 
site (although this may sit with 
Herts CC). 

At key 
milestones 

Provide & Receive Emails and 
meetings 

Hertfordshire 
and Middlesex 
Wildlife Trust 

 To enhance the local environment for 
people and wildlife. 

 Support for the project. 
 Promotion of the project to 

members and the general 
public. 

 Advice on planting schemes, 
habitat creation and 
management plan. 

 Involvement with community 
engagement e.g. host an open 
day around the dipping 
platforms. 

At key 
milestones 

Provide & Receive Emails and 
meetings 

Boxmoor 
Rivers Trust 

 To enhance the local environment for 
people and wildlife. 

 Support for the project 
 Regular updates on 

introduction of water voles and 
their migration 

 Lessons learnt on completion 
of River restoration projects 

At key 
milestones 

Provide & Receive Emails and 
meetings 

P
age 162



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

Ward 
Councillors 

 To enhance the local environment for 
people and wildlife. 

 To alleviate concerns over water losses 
within this reach 

 To alleviate concerns over transfer of road 
run-off into the new channel’s 

 Support for the project. 

 

At key 
milestones 

Provide & Receive Emails and 
potential 
site visit. 

Thames Water  Relevant project information. 
 Information relating to the local 

sewer network. 
 Work closely with our 

consultants. 

Ongoing 
(JBA) 

Ongoing 
(EA) 

Provide & Receive Emails 

BT  Relevant project information. 
 Information relating to the local 

telecommunications network. 
 Work closely with our 

consultants. 

Ongoing 
(JBA) 

Provide & Receive Emails 

Local 
Schools 

West Herts 
College 

The Collett 
School 

Gade Valley 
Junior, Infant & 
Nursery 

Saint Cuthbert 
Mayne 

Cavendish 
School & Sixth 
Form 

 To enhance the local environment for 
people and wildlife. 

 Support for the project. 
 Promotion of the project to 

members and the general 
public. 

At key 
milestones 

Provide & Receive General 
comms 
through 
Facebook 
and DBC 
digital 
digest 

P
age 163



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

George Street 
Primary 

Residents 
Associations 
– DBC can 
lead on this 
engagement 

Community 
Action 
Dacorum 

Jewish 
Community 
Housing 
Association 

Warners End 
Community 
Centre 

Local church 
groups 

 To enhance the local environment for 
people and wildlife. 

 Support for the project. 
 Promotion of the project to 

members and the general 
public. 

At key 
milestones 

Provide & Receive General 
comms 
through 
Facebook 
and DBC 
digital 
digest 

Local 
Businesses 

 Minimal disruption to road network 
(Gadebridge Lane used as a cut through 
between Leighton Buzzard Road and 
Piccotts End) 

 Support for the project. At key 
milestones 

Provide & Receive General 
comms 
through 
Facebook 
and DBC 
digital 
digest 

Emergency 
Services 

 Compliance with CDM? 

 Emergency procedures included within site 
risk assessments 

 Availability for emergencies 
during construction works? 

When 
required 

As necessary General 
comms 
through 
Facebook 

P
age 164



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

and DBC 
digital 
digest 

Disability 
groups 

 Enhanced access to nature 
 Support for the project 
 Representation during 

consultation events and 
suggestions for final finish of 
amenity/recreational aspects of 
the project e.g. creation of 
dipping platforms and 
information boards  

At key 
milestones 

Provide & Receive General 
comms 
through 
Facebook 
and DBC 
digital 
digest 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 165



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

Action plan 

 
Phase 1: Options appraisal and consultation 

 

No. 
Date of 
activity 

Stakeholder(s) 
you are 

targeting 

Action (communication method 
and message) 

Who from 
project 

team will 
lead 

Which 
objective(s) 

does this 
meet? 

Progress Evaluation evidence collected 

1 
July to 
September 
2018 

All 
Public consultation through Citizen 
Space, drop in sessions and private 
meetings 

LN, JT and 
CC 

1, 5 Complete 
Facebook comment from member of the 
public: “looks great! Have sent in my 
comments.” 

2 Various General public 

Raising awareness of the project and 
ongoing consultation by 
communicating through events within 
Gadebridge Park 
 

Gadebridge Park events.msg
 

LN, JT and 
CC 

1, 5 Complete 

(Friday 10 August) 5 Tweets: 11 
retweets; 9 likes; seen by 9000 
accounts. 
 

3 
28th of 
each 
month 

Local residents 

Raising awareness of the project and 
ongoing consultation by 
communicating through DBCs Digital 
Digest 

LN, JT and 
CC 

1, 5 Complete 
Survey responses jumped from 5 to 60 in 
the four days following publication 
                                     

4 July 2018 All 
Press release - Options appraisal 
consultation 

CC, LN and 
JT 

1, 5 Complete 
Nothing picked up in local media 
(clashed with Extreme Hot and Dry 
Weather  coverage) 

5 
9 August 
2018 

General public Drop in (part of Action 1) 
LN, JT, CC 
and CR 

1, 5 Complete 
Email from member of the public praising 
the drop in. 
 

P
age 166



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

“I enjoyed meeting your EA colleagues” 
“I was impressed by their positive 
attitude to the project” 
 

FW  Gadebridge Park 
river restoration - consultation details.msg 

6 
23 August 
2018 

Friends of 
Gadebridge 
Park 

Meeting with stakeholder as part of 
the consultation 

LN, JT and 
CC 

1, 3, 5  Complete 

End of meeting feedback: 
 
“Thank you for taking your time as 
professionals to meet with us” 
 
“We appreciate you sitting down with us 
and listening to our comments and  
concerns” 
 
“We are looking forward to see the 
project move forward and would like to 
be involved where possible” 
 
Chairman of FoGP emailed shortly after 
the meeting thanking us. 

FW  Friends of 
Gadebridge Park Meeting.msg 

7 
September 
2018 

General public Drop in (part of Action 1) 
LN, JT and 
CC 

1, 5 Complete  

8 
6 
September 
2018 

Dacorum 
Environmental 
Forum 

Meeting with stakeholder as part of 
the consultation 

LN, JT and 
CR 

1, 3, 5 Complete  

9 
October 
2018 

Hemel 
Hempstead 
History and 
Museum 
Society 

Meeting with stakeholder as part of 
the consultation 

LN, JT and 
CC 

1, 3, 5 Complete  

P
age 167



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

10 
Mid  
November 
2018 

Dacorum 
Environmental 
Forum – Water 
Group 

Provide an update of the project at 
their bi-annual meeting 
 

LN and CC 1, 3, 5 Complete  

11 
December 
2018 

All 

1. Review consultation 
responses and publish those 
where consent was given 

2. Produce and publish 
summary report 

JT and LN 1, 3 Complete  

 
 
Phase 2: On-site surveys 
 

No. 
Date of 
activity 

Stakeholder(s) 
you are 
targeting 

Action (communication method 
and message) 

Who from 
project team 
will lead 

Which 
objective(s) 
does this 
meet? 

Progress Evaluation evidence collected 

12 
February 
2020 

All 

Vegetation management comms: 
 

- Email sent to key 
stakeholders.  

- Article placed on 
ColneCAN and 
Revitalising Chalk Rivers 
websites 

 

KS, FS 3 Complete  

13 March 2020 Various 

Trenching update: 
 

- email to key stakeholders 
and briefing note to MP 
Mike Penning. 

- Explanatory poster 
attached to fencing 
onsite.  

- DBC post on Facebook. 
 

KS, FS 3 Complete  

P
age 168



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

14 June 2020 All 

Trenching update - findings and 
forward look: 
 

- Update on ColneCAN and 
Revitalising Chalk Rivers 
websites 

- DBC post on Facebook. 
 

KS, EB 3 Complete  

15 
August 
2020 

Dacorum 
Borough 
Council, Hemel 
Hempstead 
History and 
Museum 
Society, 
Dacorum 
Environmental 
Forum, Friends 
of Gadebridge 
Park, Bowls 
Club 

Steering group meeting - project 
progress and timeline.  

KS 
JBA  
DBC 

1, 3 Complete  

16 September 
2020 

Dacorum 
Borough 
Council, Hemel 
Hempstead 
History and 
Museum 
Society, 
Dacorum 
Environmental 
Forum, Friends 
of Gadebridge 
Park, Bowls 
Club 

Steering group meeting - project 
progress and timeline.  

KS 
JBA 
DBC 

1, 3 Complete  

17 
February 
2021 

Dacorum 
Borough 
Council, Hemel 
Hempstead 

Steering group meeting - project 
progress and timeline.  

KS 
JBA 
DBC 

1, 3 Complete  

P
age 169



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

History and 
Museum 
Society, 
Dacorum 
Environmental 
Forum, Friends 
of Gadebridge 
Park, Bowls 
Club 

 
 
Phase 3: Committee Approval and Draft Detailed Designs  
 

No. 
Date of 
activity 

Stakeholder(s) 
you are 
targeting 

Action (communication method 
and message) 

Who from 
project team 
will lead 

Which 
objective(s) 
does this 
meet? 

Progress Evaluation evidence collected 

18 June 2021 
Dacorum 
Councillors 

Meeting to obtain committee 
approval for project 

CH, MM  
DBC 

1, 3, 5 Complete  

19 
11 August 
2021 

Dacorum 
Borough 
Council, Hemel 
Hempstead 
History and 
Museum 
Society, 
Dacorum 
Environmental 
Forum, Friends 
of Gadebridge 
Park, Bowls 
Club 

Steering group meeting to 
discuss: 
 

- project progress 
- draft detailed designs – 

sharing with public 
- timeline 

 

CH 
JBA 
DBC 

1, 3 
Not 
started 

Minutes and actions will be 
cascaded. 

20 
August 
2021 

Dacroum 
Borough Council 
residents 

Publish Dacorum Borough 
Council webpage dedicated to 
river restoration project. 

KS, JB 
DBC 
 

3 
In 
progress 

 

P
age 170



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

21 
15 
September 
2021 

Dacorum 
Borough 
Council, Hemel 
Hempstead 
History and 
Museum 
Society, 
Dacorum 
Environmental 
Forum, Friends 
of Gadebridge 
Park, Bowls 
Club 

Steering group meeting to 
discuss: 
 

- draft detailed designs 
 

KS 
JBA 
DBC 

1, 3  
Minutes and actions will be 
cascaded. 

22 
x 
September 
2021 

All 

Citizen Space information page 
published - sharing draft detailed 
designs and inviting comments 
(on specific elements). 
 
(If possible) paper copies of draft 
detailed designs to be made 
available in DBC town office with 
option to submit comments by 
post.  

JB, KS  
JBA 

1, 3, 5 
In 
progress 

 

23 
x 
September 
2021 

Stakeholder 
email mailing list 
and steering 
group members 

 
Email update promoting: 
 

- Citizen Space page 
inviting comments 

- Event in park 
 

JB, KS 1, 3 
Not 
started 

 

24 
x 
September 
2021 

MP Mike 
Penning 

 
Email update promoting: 
 

- Citizen Space page 
inviting comments 

- Event in park 
 

JB 
 
(to be sent via 
Area Director 
Sam Lumb) 

1, 3 
Not 
started 

 

P
age 171



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

“Please encourage your 
constituents to view our plans and 
share their comments.”  
 

25 
x 
September 
2021 

Press 

Environment Agency (or joint with 
DBC) press release: 
 

- Draft detailed designs 
available to view on 
citizen space. Send us 
your comments. 

- Event in park 
- Construction due to start 

Spring 2022.  
- Chalk stream education.  

AT 1, 3, 5 
Not 
started 

 

26 

x 
September 
2021 
 

All 

Environment Agency tweet from 
South East account: 
 

- Draft detailed designs 
available to view on 
citizen space. Send us 
your comments.  

- Chalk stream education 
 
Ask DBC, AW and steering group 
members to retweet.  

JB, AT 1, 3, 5 
Not 
started 

 

27 
x 
September 
2021 

Dacorum 
Borough Council 
residents 

Promotion of Citizen Space page 
and event in park via Dacorum 
Borough Council’s: 
 

- Facebook page 
- Twitter (share EA tweet) 
- ‘Dacorum Life’ weekly 

email (sent on Thursdays) 
- Digital information board 

in town centre 
- Webpage update 
- Posters in park? 

JB, KS 
DBC 

1, 3, 5 
Not 
started 

 

P
age 172



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

- Promotion at park events 

28 
x 
September 
2021 

All 

Updates to following websites 
with information about citizen 
space page and event in park: 
 

- Revitalising Chalk 
Streams 

- ColneCAN 
- Parks Herts 

JB, KS 1, 3 
Not 
started 

 

29 
21 
September 
2021 

All 

Event in Gadebridge Park: 
 

- Meet stakeholders 
- Promote draft detailed 

designs and opportunity 
to provide comments.  

- Information about chalk 
streams, flood resilience.  

KS  
JBA  
DBC 

1, 3, 5 
Not 
started 

 

30 
September 
to October 
2021 

Dacorum 
Borough Council 

Submit planning application KS 
JBA 
DBC 

3 
Not 
started 

 

31 

October? 
(submit 
draft by end 
of 
September) 

Dacorum 
Borough Council 
residents 

DBC Magazine winter edition 
published with article on 
Gadebridge Park river restoration 

JB, KS 
DBC 

1, 5 
Not 
started 

 

32 
October 
2021 

Dacorum 
Borough 
Council, Hemel 
Hempstead 
History and 
Museum 
Society, 
Dacorum 
Environmental 
Forum, Friends 
of Gadebridge 

Steering group meeting: 
 

- Discuss comments 
received on draft detailed 
designs KS 

JBA 
DBC 

1, 3 
Not 
started 

 

P
age 173



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

Park, Bowls 
Club 

33 
5 October 
2021 

Dacorum 
Environmental 
Forum  

Provide paper? 
KS 1, 3 

Not 
started 

 

34 
19 Oct? 
2021 

Dacorum 
Councillors 

Attend Cabinet to approve draft 
detailed designs. 
 
Site visit to talk Councillors 
through detailed designs. Invite 
steering group members? 

KS 
JBA 
DBC 

1, 3, 5 
In 
progress 

 

35 
x October/ 
November 
2021 

All  
Publish Citizen Space summary 
document of comments (and our 
response) on detailed designs.   

JB, KS 1, 3 
Not 
started 

 

36 
x October/ 
November 
2021 

Stakeholder 
email mailing list 
and steering 
group members, 
plus anyone 
who made 
comments and 
provided contact 
details 

Email update: 
 

- Thank you for your 
comments 

- Summary document 
available at… 

- Where to send 
questions/concerns 

- What’s next 

JB, KS 1, 3 
Not 
started 

 

37 
x October/ 
November 
2021 

MP Mike 
Penning 

Email update: 
 

- Thank you for your 
constituents’ comments 

- Summary document 
available at… 

- Where to send 
questions/concerns 

- What’s next 

JB 
 
(to be sent via 
Area Director 
Sam Lumb) 

1, 3 
Not 
started 

 

 
 
Phase 4: Preparation for construction 
 

P
age 174



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

No. 
Date of 
activity 

Stakeholder(s) 
you are 
targeting 

Action (communication method 
and message) 

Who from 
project team 
will lead 

Which 
objective(s) 
does this 
meet? 

Progress Evaluation evidence collected 

38 
December 
2021 

Dacorum 
Borough 
Council, Hemel 
Hempstead 
History and 
Museum 
Society, 
Dacorum 
Environmental 
Forum, Friends 
of Gadebridge 
Park, Bowls 
Club 

 
Steering group to discuss 
planning requirements and tender 
for works 

KS 
JBA 
DBC 

3 
Not 
started 

 

39 
January 
2022 

EA and JBA 
Construction phase scope and 
target price issued 

KS 
JBA 

 
Not 
started 

 

40 
February 
2022 
 

Dacorum 
Borough 
Council, Hemel 
Hempstead 
History and 
Museum 
Society, 
Dacorum 
Environmental 
Forum, Friends 
of Gadebridge 
Park, Bowls 
Club 

Steering group to discuss 
commencement of construction 
phase 
 

KS 
JBA 
DBC 

3 
Not 
started 

 

41 
x March 
2022 
 

Stakeholder 
email mailing list 
and steering 
group members 

Email update: 
 

- Construction starting 
- Works commencement 

ceremony 

JB, KS 3 
Not 
started 

 

P
age 175



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

- Progress updates 
available via x 
(Flickr/Instagram/Youtube
?) 

42 
x March 
2022 
 

Dacorum 
Borough Council 
residents 

Construction starting, works 
commencement ceremony and 
progress updates via x 
(Flickr/Instagram/Youtube?) via: 
 

- Facebook page 
- Twitter (share EA tweet) 
- ‘Dacorum Life’ weekly 

email (sent on Thursdays) 
- Digital information board 

in town centre 
- Webpage update 
- Posters in park 
- Promotion at events in 

park 

JB, KS 
DBC 

3 
Not 
started 

 

43 
x March 
2022 
 

MP Mike 
Penning 

Email update: 
 

- Construction starting 
- Invite to works 

commencement 
ceremony? 

- progress updates via x 
(Flickr/Instagram/Youtube
?) 

 

JB 
 
(to be sent by 
Area Director 
Sam Lumb) 

3 
Not 
started 

 

44 
x March 
2022 
 

All 

Website updates - construction 
starting, works commencement 
ceremony and progress updates 
via x (Flickr/Instagram/Youtube?) 
for: 
 

- Revitalising Chalk 
Streams website 

- ColneCAN website 

JB, KS 3 
Not 
started 

 

P
age 176



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

- Parks Herts website 

45 
x March 
2022 
 

Press 

Environment Agency press 
release (or joint with DBC): 
 

- Construction starting 
- Works commencement 

ceremony 
- progress updates via x 

(Flickr/Instagram/Youtube
?) 

- Chalk stream education.  

AT 3, 5 
Not 
started 

 

46 
x March 
2022 
 

All 

Environment Agency tweet from 
South East account: 
 

- Construction starting 
- Works commencement 

ceremony 
- progress updates via x 

(Flickr/Instagram/Youtube
?) 

- Chalk stream education 
 
Ask DBC, AW and all Steering 
group members to retweet.  

JB, AT 3, 5 
Not 
started 

 

 
 
Phase 5: construction 
 

No. 
Date of 
activity 

Stakeholder(s
) you are 
targeting 

Action (communication method 
and message) 

Who from 
project team 
will lead 

Which 
objective(s) 
does this 
meet? 

Progress Evaluation evidence collected 

47 April 2022 All  

Works commencement ceremony 
- Councillor Anderson or 
descendant of Paston-Cooper to 
officially start works? 

KS, JB, AT 
DBC 

3, 5 
Not 
started 

 

P
age 177



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

 
Launch of: 

- Drone footage of before 
and after/ Time-lapse 
video for Youtube? 

- Flickr/Instagram photo 
updates? 

48 April 2022 Park users 

Posters on fencing? 
 

- What’s happening 
- QR code to 

Flickr/Instagram/Youtube 
- Contact details 

JB, KS 3, 5 
Not 
started 

 

49 May 2022 Park users 

Install information boards  
 
(Make inclusive with audio 
option/braille if possible).   

KS, JB  
MB 

3, 5 
Not 
started 

 

50 
Throughout 
construction 

All 

Environment Agency SE tweets 
with regular progress updates and 
links to Flickr/Instagram/Youtube 
updates 
 
Ask DBC, AW and steering group 
members to retweet.  

JB, AT 3 
Not 
started 

 

51 May 2022 

Dacorum 
Borough 
Council, 
Hemel 
Hempstead 
History and 
Museum 
Society, 
Dacorum 
Environmental 
Forum, 
Friends of 
Gadebridge 

Steering group to discuss project 
progress 

KS 
DBC 

3 
Not 
started 

 

P
age 178



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

Park, Bowls 
Club 

 
 
 
Phase 6: Post completion 
 

No. 
Date of 
activity 

Stakeholder(s) 
you are 
targeting 

Action (communication method 
and message) 

Who from 
project team 
will lead 

Which 
objective(s) 
does this 
meet? 

Progress Evaluation evidence collected 

52 

Summer 
2022 
(published 
July?) 

Dacorum 
Borough Council 
residents 

Publish article in DBC Summer 
magazine edition showcasing 
progress on project construction. 

JB, KS 3 
Not 
started 

 

53 
July 2022 
 

Stakeholder 
email mailing list 
and steering 
group members 

Email update: 
 

- Construction complete 
- What’s next 

JB, KS 3, 4 
Not 
started 

 

54 
July 2022 
 

Dacorum 
Borough Council 
residents 

Construction complete and what’s 
next via: 
 

- Facebook page 
- Twitter (share EA tweet) 
- ‘Dacorum Life’ weekly 

email (sent on Thursdays) 
- Digital information board 

in town centre 
- Webpage update 
- Posters in park? 
- Promotion at events in 

park 

JB, KS 
DBC 

3, 4 
Not 
started 

 

55 July 2022 
 

MP Mike 
Penning 

Construction complete and what’s 
next  

JB 
 

3, 4 
Not 
started 

 

P
age 179



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

(to be sent by 
Area Director 
Sam Lumb) 

56 
July 2022 
 

All 

Website updates - construction 
complete and what’s next: 
 

- Revitalising Chalk 
Streams website 

- ColneCAN website 
- Parks Herts website 

JB, KS 3, 4 
Not 
started 

 

57 
July 2022 
 

Press 

Environment Agency press 
release (or joint with DBC): 
 

- Construction complete 
- What’s next 
- Chalk stream education  

AT 3, 4, 5 
Not 
started 

 

58 
July 2022 
 

All 

Environment Agency tweet from 
South East account: 
 

- Construction complete 
- What’s next 
- Chalk stream education 

 
Ask DBC, AW and all Steering 
group members to retweet.  

JB, AT 3, 4, 5 
Not 
started 

 

59 July 2022 

Dacorum 
Borough 
Councillors 
 
Steering group 
members 

Site visit with cabinet councillors, 
steering group members and 
internal EA teams to observe fish 
capture, transfer of water into new 
channel and infilling of old 
channel. 

KS 
JBA 
DBC 

1, 3, 5   

60 
August 
2022 

Dacorum 
Borough 
Council, Hemel 
Hempstead 
History and 
Museum 

Steering group to discuss 
completion of project and post 
project review (what went well, 
what didn’t, lessons learnt, 
forward look) 

KS 
DBC 

3, 4 
Not 
started 

 

P
age 180



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

Society, 
Dacorum 
Environmental 
Forum, Friends 
of Gadebridge 
Park, Bowls 
Club 

61 
August 
2023 

All 

Post project review (1 year on) - 
successes highlighted by 
environmental monitoring and 
community feedback. Share 
results via: 
 

- ColneCAN and 
Revitalising Chalk Rivers 
website 

- MP 
- EA SE tweet 
- DBC’s Facebook page, 

webpage, ‘Dacorum Life’, 
Magazine, Twitter 
(retweet EA’s tweet), 
posters in park? 

 
Ask DBC, AW and steering group 
to retweet EA tweet.   

KS, JB 3, 4, 5 
Not 
started 

 

62 
September
2023 

Dacorum 
Borough 
Council, Hemel 
Hempstead 
History and 
Museum 
Society, 
Dacorum 
Environmental 
Forum, Friends 
of Gadebridge 
Park, Bowls 
Club 

Steering group meeting to discuss 
the project 1 year on. 

KS 
DBC 3, 4 

Not 
started 

 

P
age 181



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

63 
October 
2023 

All 

Send out survey seeking people’s 
views on the completed project. 
Promote survey via: 
 

- Stakeholder email mailing 
list and steering group 

- ColneCAN and 
Revitalising Chalk Rivers 
website 

- MP 
- EA SE tweet 
- DBC’s Facebook page, 

webpage, ‘Dacorum Life’, 
Magazine?, Twitter 
(retweet EA’s tweet), 
posters in park? 

 
Ask steering group to retweet EA 
tweet.   

KS, JB 
DBC 4 

Not 
started 

 

64 
January 
2024 

Dacorum 
Borough 
Council, Hemel 
Hempstead 
History and 
Museum 
Society, 
Dacorum 
Environmental 
Forum, Friends 
of Gadebridge 
Park, Bowls 
Club 

Steering group to discuss the 
survey results 

KS 
DBC 

3, 4 
Not 
started 

 

65 March 2024 All 

Share results of survey via: 
 

- Stakeholder email mailing 
list and steering group 

- ColneCAN and 
Revitalising Chalk Rivers 
website 

KS, JB, AT 
DBC 

4 
Not 
started 

 

P
age 182



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

- MP 
- EA SE tweet 
- DBC’s Facebook page, 

webpage, ‘Dacorum Life’, 
Magazine, Twitter 
(retweet EA’s tweet), 
posters in park? 

 
Ask steering group to retweet EA 
tweet.   

 
 
Environment Agency internal engagement 
 

Date of activity 
Stakeholder(s) 

you are 
targeting 

Action (communication method and 
message) 

Who from 
project 

team will 
lead 

Which 
objective(s) 

does this 
meet? 

Progress 
Evaluation 
evidence 
collected 

July/Aug 2018 
Internal EA teams 
– SP, PSO, FBG, 
EM, GWCL, H&T 

Meeting to discuss pre-app planning 
and requirements for future planning 
application 

LN 6 complete  

August 2020 Internal EA teams  
Meeting to discuss project progress 
with consultants 

KS 6 complete  

2020       

February 2021 Internal EA teams  
Meeting to discuss project progress 
with consultants 

KS 6 complete  

May 2021 Internal EA teams  Meeting to discuss project progress  KS, CH 6 complete  

July 2021 Internal EA teams  Meeting to discuss project progress  KS, CH 6 
Not 
started 

 

August 2021 Internal EA teams  
Meeting to discuss draft detailed 
designs, modelling outputs and 
stakeholder engagement. 

KS, CH, JB 6 
Not 
started 

 

P
age 183



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

August/September 
2021 

Internal EA teams 
- ALT and project 
team 

Share draft engagement material for 
review and approval where required.  

KS, JB 6 
Not 
started 

 

September 2021 

Internal EA teams 
- NCCC, HNL 
and Thames C&E 
and exec office 
cc. ALT and 
project team 

Email to update teams about 
publishing of citizen space page 
asking public for comments. Explain 
ways of working for any associated 
enquiries and complaints. 

JB 2, 6 
Not 
started 

 

September 2021 Internal EA teams  
Meeting to discuss planning 
application and public comments on 
detailed designs.  

KS, CH 6 
Not 
started 

 

December 2021 Internal EA teams  
Meeting to discuss construction scope 
and target price.  

KS, CH 6 
Not 
started 

 

February 2022 
Internal EA teams 
– SP, PSO, FBG, 
EM, GWCL, H&T 

Meeting to discuss commencement of 
works in April 2022. 

KS 6 
Not 
started 

 

April 2022 All staff 

Weekly Buzz article, National chalk 
streams comms and ALT briefing note 
on project commencement and how to 
view progress (via 
Flickr/Instagram/Youtube?). 

KS, JB 6 
Not 
started 

 

May 2022 
Internal EA teams 
– SP, PSO, FBG, 
EM, GWCL, H&T 

Site visit to observe construction of 
new channel and gauging station 

KS, 
Consultant 

6 
Not 
started 

 

July 2022 
Internal EA teams 
– SP, PSO, FBG, 
EM, GWCL, H&T 

Site visit to observe fish capture, 
transfer of water into new channel and 
infilling of old channel 

KS, 
Consultant 

6 
Not 
started 

 

August 2022 All staff 
Weekly Buzz article, National chalk 
streams comms and ALT briefing note 
on project completion 

KS, JB 6 
Not 
started 

 

August 2022 
Internal EA teams 
– SP, PSO, FBG, 
EM, GWCL, H&T 

Meeting to discuss lessons learnt KS 6 
Not 
started 

 

P
age 184



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

Summer 2023 
Internal EA teams 
–PSO, FBG, H&T 

Site visit to review success of project 
one year on.  

KS 6 
Not 
started 

 

Summer 2023 All staff 

Weekly Buzz article, National chalk 
streams comms and ALT briefing note 
to showcase the project successes 
one year on.  

KS, JB 6 
Not 
started 

 

January 2024 Internal EA teams Meeting to discuss the survey results KS, JB 6 
Not 
started 

 

February 2024 All staff 
Weekly Buzz article, National chalk 
streams comms and ALT briefing note 
on survey results 

KS, JB 6 
Not 
started 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 185



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

Evaluation 
 

Evaluation evidence can be found within the Action Plan above.  
 
A comprehensive report has been written to provide an overview of Phase 1 and can be found at:  
\\prodds.ntnl\shared\SE\WGC\Groups\Area File Plan\Environment Management\Manage Operational Assets\Conservation\Colne\River 
GADE\Gadebridge Park\River restoration(restored)\Engagement\Consultation\Report draft materials 
 

Appendices 

Project Documents: 

Project folder:  
\\prodds.ntnl\shared\SE\WGC\Groups\Area File Plan\Environment Management\Manage Operational Assets\Conservation\Colne\River 
GADE\Gadebridge Park\River restoration(restored)  

Equality analysis:  
An Equality Analysis for the outline designs consultation and draft detailed design phases of engagement are available at 
\\prodds.ntnl\shared\SE\WGC\Groups\Area File Plan\Environment Management\Manage Operational Assets\Conservation\Colne\River 
GADE\Gadebridge Park\River restoration(restored)\Engagement\Engagement Plan 

Outline design consultation report:  
G:\Groups\Area File Plan\Environment Management\Manage Operational Assets\Conservation\Colne\River GADE\Gadebridge Park\River 
restoration\Engagement\Consultation\Gadebridge_consultation_report_Dec18_V1.pdf 

 

Website Links: 

Citizen Space Consultation: https://consult.environment-agency.gov.uk/hnl/gadebridge-park-river-restoration  

Dacorum Borough Council: http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/leisure-culture/parks-play-and-open-spaces/gadebridge-park-hemel-hempstead  

Affinity Water: https://stakeholder.affinitywater.co.uk/river-gade.aspx  

ColneCAN: http://www.colnecan.org.uk/index.php/the-action-plans-2/rivers-gade-and-bulbourne/rivers-gade-and-bulbourne-news/498-
gadebridge-park-river-restoration  

P
age 186



Project: Gadebridge Park river restoration           Last updated: 06/08/2021 (JB) 
 

ParksHerts: https://www.parksherts.co.uk/parks/view/gadebridge-park  

Revitalising Chalk Rivers: http://www.revitalisingchalkrivers.org.uk/index.php 

P
age 187



 
 

Report for: Cabinet 
 

Date of meeting: 19th October 2021 
Part: 1 
If Part II, reason:  

 
Title of report: COVID-19 IMPACT PAPER 

 
Contact: Andrew Williams, Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for 

Corporate & Contracted Services  
 
Author/Responsible Officer: 
 
Claire Hamilton, Chief Executive 
 
James Deane, Corporate Director (Finance and Operations) 
 
Mark Gaynor, Corporate Director (Housing and Regeneration) 
 
Mark Brookes, Assistant Director (Corporate & Contracted 
Services) 
 

Purpose of report: 1. To provide Cabinet with an update on the projected financial 
impact of Covid-19. 

 
2. To highlight the work and support the Council has been carrying 

out across service areas in relation to Covid-19. 
 

 
Recommendations 1. That Cabinet receives and notes: 

 
(a) The projected financial impact of Covid-19 for 2021/22 as 

set out in section 1. 
 

(b) The service updates provided in section 2. 
 

 
Corporate 
objectives: 

The financial impact and the Council’s response to Covid-19 will 
impact all of the Council’s Corporate Objectives. 
 

Implications: Financial 

 

Page 188

Agenda Item 10



 
 
 
‘Value for money’ 
implications 

 
Financial Implications are covered in section 1. 
 
Value for money 
 
Covid-19 will have various value for money implications which will 
be assessed as proposals develop in response to the issues raised.  
 

The Council’s initial response focused on continuity of service 
provision and support for key groups and organisations – the 
measures implemented are aimed at assisting the recovery and 
minimising the long terms impacts as much as possible. 
 

Risk implications Due to the significant impact of Covid-19, a new strategic risk has 
been entered into the Council’s Strategic Risk Register.  
 

Community Impact 
Assessment 

The Council’s response to date has been to ensure minimal service 
disruption to the community. The recovery phase of the Council’s 
response is now being developed, as highlighted in the report, and 
the Council will regularly assess the impact of Covid-19 on the 
community to ensure there is a balanced and effective response in 
place. 
 

Health and safety 
Implications 

The Council has acted promptly and put in place appropriate 
measures to ensure that staff, Councillors and the community are 
protected from Covid-19 whilst trying to ensure minimal service 
disruption.  This will continue to be assessed through the recovery 
stages. 
 

Monitoring Officer/ 
S.151 Officer  
Comments 

Monitoring Officer comments 
 
The Monitoring Officer continues to monitor the key issues raised 
by legislative changes and relevant government guidance to ensure 
that effective policies and procedures are in place to assist services 
to continue to deliver during the pandemic and subsequent 
recovery phase. 
 
Deputy S151 Officer comments 
 
The Financial Implications section of the report has been written 
by the Deputy S151 officer and will continue to be monitored as 
actual costs become clearer.   Members will be regularly updated 
on the financial implications of Covid-19 as they develop. 
 

Consultees: Leader of the Council, Councillor Andrew Williams 
 

Background 
papers: 

Coronavirus Covid-19: Guidance for Local Government 
 
Procurement Policy Note 02/20 – Supplier Relief due to Covid-19 
 

Glossary of 
acronyms and any 
other abbreviations 
used in this report: 

None 

Page 189



 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY – FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
1.1 This section provides an update on Covid-related financial pressures. It does not 

include the business-as-usual pressures that emerge over the course of the year. 
These will continue to be reported to Members through the scheduled Budget 
Monitoring reports.  

 
1.2 The forecasts in this report have been updated to reflect five months’ worth of current 

year data, as well as the most recent announcements from Government on the 
financial support that will be provided to councils over the course of the year.  

 
1.3 As at the end of August, DBC is forecast to face a net General Fund pressure in the 

current financial year of around £0.7m. This is net of the additional £2.1m of approved 
funding from reserves for Covid related issues. 

 
This is a net position, incorporating the following: 

 
 £0.4m additional expenditure (see paragraph 1.13) 
 £0.8m reduced income (see paragraphs 1.7 – 1.12) 
 
Offset by: 

 Government grants to offset expenditure pressure of £250k 
 Income Guarantee Scheme for Quarter 1 of £250k 

 
1.4 The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2021 recommended by Cabinet to Council at its 

September meeting proposes continuing with the strategy proposed in 2020 of 
managing Covid-related pressures as a time-limited pressure, distinct from the 
underlying savings challenges the Council faces to ensure it remains sustainable over 
the medium-term. This strategy relies on the use of the earmarked Economic Recovery 
Reserve, although ensuring the continuation of Council services, will inevitably reduce 
the capacity of the Council to deliver the ambitions for which the reserves were 
originally earmarked. In light of the significant and fast-changing budgetary implications 
of Covid, the MTFS is being kept under constant review and will be reported back to 
Members.  

 
1.5 Falling collection rates for both Council Tax and Business Rates could create funding 

issues in future years. However, the technicalities of these funding streams means that 
the current year’s budget will not be affected. 

 
1.6 The HRA is currently forecasting a break-even position. The nature of the HRA’s 

budget, is that significant elements of the budget relate to construction and 
maintenance spend, a sector of the economy that at present is struggling to deliver to 
both time schedules and cost profiles; this is being monitored closely.  

 
Pressure on General Fund income streams 
 
1.7 The most significant financial threat in the medium term continues to be lost income 

for Council services. The table below shows the latest year-end forecasts for key 
affected income streams. It should be noted that these projections could alter 
dramatically over the remainder of the year depending on wider economic factors that 
cannot be estimated within any certainty and are beyond the Council’s control, e.g. the 
impact of the end of furlough and government-led business support and any potential 
for future national or local restrictions/lockdowns linked to Covid. 

Page 190



 
1.8 The table below provides an update on the Council’s key income streams that are still 

impacted by Covid in 21/22. 
 

Income stream     
Budget  

August 
Forecast 

Budgeted 
Pressure 

Commentary 

Investment 
Property 

£4.4m £4.7m -£0.3m There is still uncertainty over the commercial 
portfolio as the economy re opens and the retail 
sector looks to recover. At P5 billing levels are close 
to "normal" but businesses are still being uncertain 
as to future trading levels, especially in and around 
town centres. As at the end of Period 5 income 
collection rates are at 76%, this is 5% up year on 
year and circa 10% down on pre Covid levels. At 
present the projection is to achieve a surplus of circa 
300k, 6% better than budget. 

Car Parking £2.8m £2.3m £0.5m Car parking income is still being affected by 
restrictions and lower footfall numbers. April was 
27% down on budget, May -20%, June -22% and 
July 20% down. This projection assumes that there 
is a steady improvement as the year goes on to be 
10% down by year-end. 

Commercial 
Waste 

£900k £800km £0.1m Commercial waste is projected to be circa 22% 
down on budgeted levels. Businesses closed at the 
start of the year, and unsettled trading patterns have 
reduced demand, but this is slowly beginning to pick 
up. 

Temporary 
Accommodation  

£950k £900k £0.05m Temporary Accommodation income - Covid 
Restrictions on occupancy of the Council’s hostels 
due to Covid has reduced projected rental income 
by £50k. 

Waste (General 
Waste and 
Recyclables) 

 £940k £820k £0.12m A reduction in AFM income of £260k offset by an 
increase in recycling credits of £140k, see para 
1.10-1.12 

Civic/Sports/APG 
hire 

£0.3m £0.25 £0.05m Income continues to be hit by social distancing. In 
20/21 these services were 50% down on budget and 
in 21/22 this has improved to circa 30% down on 
budget. 

Investment 
Income 

£0.25m £0 £0.25m The Council invests cash balances as part of 
standard treasury management practices, the return 
on these investments is averaging circa 0.1% in 
21/22 as opposed to 0.8% prior to Covid. 

Total £12.8m £12.0m £0.8m   

 
1.9 The income streams most exposed to potentially significant changes are; Investment 

Property and Car parking which together comprise £7.2m of the Council’s overall 
income. The commercial rental income is under significant scrutiny at present with the 
commercial property sector under continued strain as the economy re-opens and the 
retail sector re-assesses its future strategy. As at period 5, performance is strong, up 
6% on budgeted levels. This budget is supported by a £1m contribution from the ERR 
in year to compensate for the impact of Covid, so although in year budgetary 

Page 191



performance is strong compared to pre Covid levels the service is still £0.7m down on 
‘normal’ trading levels. The car parking income is supported by the government’s 
income protection scheme for the 1st quarter of 21/22, but demand at present is circa 
20% down on budgeted expectations. The risk of significant swings within the current 
year reduces with each month that passes where the expected recession has not taken 
effect. 
 

1.10 One effect of lockdown has been the increased waste generated across the entire 
county, which has increased HCC’s disposal costs and therefore reduced AFM 
payments.  

 
1.11 As a result of this, the Council now faces a further £260k income pressure. 

Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) has advised that its forecast Alternative Financial 
model (AFM) payment to DBC of c£260k is now likely to reduce to almost £0. The AFM 
is used by HCC to reward district councils for reducing its landfill disposal costs: 
effectively, the fewer tonnes of landfill waste that HCC needs to dispose of, the more 
it avoids disposal costs, and the greater the AFM payments it makes to districts. The 
final payment amount will be determined at year-end, and the current forecast must be 
considered highly vulnerable. 

 
1.12 This loss of AFM income is slightly offset by a £140k increase in recycling credits due 

to the increased tonnage of recyclable material the Council is collecting and selling.

Page 192



 

Pressure on General Fund expenditure  
 
1.13 The areas forecasting significant expenditure pressure remain the same as those 

reported in 20/21. The overall expenditure pressure is c.£430k, and at present, the 
total remains in excess of the £250k of Government grant funding received. The 
updated figures are as below: 

 
  

 
Pressure on Council Tax collection 
 
1.14 At the end of August, year-on-year collection rates were up 0.9% but down 0.9% on 

pre pandemic levels (19/20), with 47.1% of the annual total having been collected, 
compared to 46.2% at the same stage last year. This has been a consistent 
performance throughout 21/22, with each period in 21/22 performing between 0.8 and 
1% better year on year. The final year-end position will depend on several items 
including the extent of the impact of the move from 10 to 12 monthly payments and the 
impact of the end of furlough and government business support on household incomes. 

 
1.15 The mechanics of the Council Tax Collection Fund mean that a short-fall in the current 

year collection rate will not result in a budgetary pressure for the Council until next 
financial year.  

 
Pressure on Business Rates collection 
 
1.16 From a budgetary perspective, DBC will not be impacted in the current financial year 

by falling collection rates. This is because the grant DBC receives from Government is 
based on ‘assessment of need’, with a maximum of 7.5% of the grant at risk if Business 
Rates collection falls below a baseline level. The at-risk element is based on the 
previous year, so any contraction of the local economy won’t impact DBC until next 
financial year. Members will be kept updated on the emerging position. 

 
Summary of General Fund budgetary position and potential mitigations  
 
1.17 Based on the forecasts in this report, DBC faces a potential in-year Covid-related 

budgetary pressure of: 
Increased expenditure     £0.4m 

Expenditure 
Type 

Pressure Commentary   

Waste Services £300k A combination of factors created by the Covid response 
have impacted on the cost of delivering the Waste Service 
these include; Requirement for additional rural rounds to 
meet social distancing requirements, congested streets 
from increased home working resulting in demand for 
additional mop up rounds, increased agency requirements 
due to isolation and social distancing restrictions, 
additional trucks being hired to cope with increased 
tonnages. 

Temporary 
Accommodation 

£130k A combination of reduced capacity due to social 
distancing and increased demand/turnover for those 
properties being used due to the Covid Bill. This has 
resulted in increased maintenance costs and increased 
vacant property hostel costs.  

Total £430k  

Page 193



 

Income pressure   
Less additional Government grants 
Net budgetary pressure 

£0.8m 
(£0.5m) 
£ 0.7m 

 
1.18 The Budget approved by Cabinet in February 2021 recommended a strategy of 

managing Covid-related pressures through the use of earmarked reserves. This 
enables the protection of Council services, but is unavoidably at the expense of the 
future projects the reserves were created to support, (in some cases to finance 
schemes which are fundamental to meeting future savings requirements). 
 

1.19 As a result of this strategy the 21/22 Base budget is supported by £2.1m of Economic 
Recovery Reserve (ERR) draw downs, £1.5m to support 21/22 budgeted income 
reductions and £0.6m to support the Leisure service.  

 
1.20 The ERR capacity to support in year Covid Financial Pressures in 21/22 of £0.7m has 

now been reached. Any further additional financial pressures related to Covid in 21/22 
will need alternative financial support or funding. 

 
Housing Revenue Account 
 
1.21 As at the end August, the Covid-related impact on the HRA is a balanced position. The 

threat to the HRA is significantly lower than the General Fund, as any delays to rental 
income are likely to be short term whilst tenants transfer to Universal Credit. 

 
 
2 RESILIENCE AND RECOVERY SUPPORT 
 
2.1 Members will note that this is the fourth update report on the Council’s response to 

Covid-19 and this part of the report will highlight some of key work and support that the 
Council has provided across its various services to ensure continuity of service and 
recovery resilience.   

 
Managing the pandemic 
 
Linkages to Wider Local Resilience Forum Recovery Structure 
 
 2.2      In respect of the current pandemic, a Hertfordshire wide Recovery Coordinating  

Group (RCG) has been established. The RCG is a multi-agency officer group with clear 
linkages and reporting lines to the Strategic Co-ordinating Group (SCG). The Covid-
19 Health Protection Board also meets weekly to work on implementation of the Covid- 
19 Outbreak Plan, this has representation from the SCG, RCG, County, Public Health 
England, Police, CCG and Health Service.  There are a number of specific cells 
coordinating operational activity and supporting these Groups and Boards.  

 
2.3      The Dacorum incident and recovery continues to be managed by the Incident 

Management Team (IMT) which has been managing the pandemic to date and meets 
at least once a week to review all key issues. Dacorum has also instigated a Covid 
Recovery Group to focus on recovery work for the Council’s activities, as well as the 
wider borough.  

 
2.4      There is continued and effective liaison between work streams at county and borough 

levels and daily updates are received from the Health Protection Board including 
infection rates for the county and borough, which enables targeted and coordinated 
work to be undertaken to manage any local outbreaks. 

 

Page 194



 

2.5 The Environmental and Community Protection team continues to be engaged in local 
Track and Trace, and dealing with complaints and requests for advice surrounding 
businesses’ Covid Secure Status. From 1st December 2020, a local Dacorum Track 
and Trace call centre and contact tracing service was operated from within the 
Environmental and Community Protection Team with initial numbers of 50 cases per 
week linking into the County and National schemes. Case numbers have been around 
115 per week, which has put extreme pressure on the wider team. The Local Zero 
system of contract tracing had to be suspended mid-July and the national test and 
trace system had to carry out some of the initial investigations.  In practice this has not 
relieved much pressure on the team due to a decrease in co-operation with Test and 
Trace generally. 

 
2.6 The Team has visited 28 workplaces with multiple cases, to check Covid compliance 

and ensure close workplace contacts of the cases have also been isolating, in a bid to 
halt the spread of the disease in the Dacorum area. Cases have been located across 
the Borough. The cases are predominantly with younger adults, although cases now 
appear to have reached a plateau. 

 
2.7 The Team has also been involved in the health, safety and resilience plans of the 

Council, through the work around risk assessments ad controls, as well as 
operationally leading on the setting up of a quarantine hotel within the Borough.   
 

 
Recovery 

 
2.8 With the planning of lifting of lockdown restrictions imminent, the Council’s IMT was 

clear that it was essential to have the right approach to Recovery in place and, as a 
result, it was proposed that the Covid Recovery Management Team (CRMT) would be 
established and led by Group Managers for Strategic Housing and Strategic Planning 
& Regeneration.   CRMT recognised the importance of ensuring that Recovery in the 
borough was aligned with the approach across the county and that it was not about 
regeneration or renewal activity, but a co-ordination and focus of activity across the 
organisation and borough to enable a return to business as usual. 
 

2.9 On 5 August, CRMT held a workshop to draft the terms of reference for the Recovery 
group and to identify key activity to formulate the Council’s action plan.  CRMT’s 
identified vision for Recovery is outlined below and in the terms of reference at 
Appendix 1. 
 

 We work collectively to maximise health, economic and social 
outcomes and enable Dacorum to return to business as usual. 
 

 We must have the right approach to recovery in place and align to the 
work being carried out at County level. 
 

 The Council needs to continue to protect the residents and support 
community partners and businesses of Dacorum through provision of 
dedicated Covid19 Recovery communications and support.  
 

 The Council will ensure long term support and development of 
initiatives are implemented to reduce impact on the community and 
businesses  

 
 

Page 195



 

2.10 A further session was held with Group Managers on 12 August to refine the action plan 
in advance of briefing IMT on 16 August.  CRMT outlined the proposed approach to 
Recovery across the Dacorum borough and shared at Appendix 2 Dacorum’s 
Recovery Plan and approach, which was supported by IMT. 

 
 
Support to Communities 
 

 
2.11 Residents in Dacorum continue to experience a number of pressures as a 

consequence of Covid-19. Officers continue to liaise with community and charitable 
organisations who are providing essential services to residents in the borough to 
assess the short, medium and long term impacts. 
 

2.12 Organisations, such as Citizen Advice Dacorum (CAD), have compared the demand 
from Q1 in 2019 pre-pandemic to Q1 in 2021 to demonstrate the impact of the 
pandemic on the community's advice needs.  

 
 125% increase in relationship advice – including child maintenance queries and 

separation and divorce.  
 160% increase in housing advice – including private sector, local authority and 

environmental and neighbour issues. 
 270% increase in employment advice - including furlough, unemployment and 

welfare benefits. 

The additional income provided by the Council and other funding streams has provided 
support to recruit new staff and to increase the size and skills sets of the volunteer 
team and increase the capacity of the Centre.  

 
2.13 It is expected that demand for advice with employment issues will increase again next 

quarter as the Furlough Scheme is phased out over the coming months and employers 
are expected to make larger contributions to employee pay. This may also increase 
demand on advice on housing as a result of increased debts and ultimately, housing 
issues for these clients.   
 

2.14 The new mandatory scheme “breathing space” which was implemented in May 2021, 
gives people temporary protection from most types of debt collection whilst they take 
action to get on top of their debts and this support can be applied for once in a 12 
month period. CAD and DBC officers have worked with DWP colleagues and the 
Insolvency Service to implement this system and to ensure that all teams are trained 
to assist clients. 

 
2.15 There continues to be a need to support residents’ physical and mental health needs. 

In particular, there is a need to address isolation and loneliness, physical health issues 
from reluctance to access GP services and increased waiting lists for non-urgent 
treatment. Additionally, there is an increased need for mental health support for 
anxiety, depression and grief/bereavement.  Over 1000 people have now been 
assisted to gain access to health and wellbeing support through the Healthy Hub and 
programs like The Virtual Wellness Festival as well as other activities developed 
through our sports and physical activities action plan, have been developed by DBC 
and partners to assist in this area. 

 
2.16 In acknowledgement of the support provided to residents by the Voluntary and 

Community sector, DBC were successful in a bid for funding of £1,035,000 from the 

Page 196



 

Health Protection Board (HPB) on behalf of all Hertfordshire districts. DBC received 
£110,000 of this fund to provide support to local community groups to enable them to 
re-open and to cover bills and costs that would normally be funded through fundraising 
initiatives. The Covid Community Grant has so far allocated £34,375.00 to local 
partners and a further round is currently open, closing at the end of October 2021. 

 
2.17 Covid-19 has increased health inequalities across our communities so partnerships 

between DBC, HCC and health colleagues have been created to focus on promoting 
access to covid vaccines. Following a successful grant application to the Health 
Protection Board, 3 x COVID Engagement Officers, who work with the GP Federation, 
and a COVID and Community Engagement Officer who works in the Community 
Partnership and Wellbeing Team were recruited.  

 
2.18 These roles are working together with individual residents, community groups and 

leaders to encourage the uptake of vaccines. This is a relatively new project within 
Herts and is being closely monitored by other Local Authorities in Herts and across the 
Country, taking learning and best practice. A number of pop-up clinics have been 
planned through this project and a local delivery plan and strategy will set out the 
approach in Dacorum to targeting groups and areas where there is vaccine hesitancy. 
These roles may well result in being key for the COVID recovery process as health 
inequalities highlighted by the pandemic continue to be seen.  
 

 
Leisure 
 
2.19 Members will be aware from previous reports that the pandemic has had a significant 

impact of the Leisure sector and its ability to generate revenue whilst it is incurring 
costs associated with staff and maintenance when they have been closed. 
 

2.20 The Council’s contract management team have worked closely with Everyone Active 
to ensure that the centres operate in a Covid secure manner whenever they have been 
able to open.  The member base and weekly user numbers have seen a positive 
increase since re-opening in April 2021.    Weekly user unique visits increased from 
7,573 in the first week of April to 12,253 in the first week of August, although this is still 
some way short of the pre-covid number of circa 20,000 per week. Membership 
numbers have also been increasing but they are still 1255 less than the pre-covid 
membership levels (5,585 March 2020 to 4,330 August 2021). 

 
2.21 Officers continue to meet Everyone Active on a monthly basis to review actual income 

and projections for the rest of this financial year and ahead into 2022/23.  Further 
updates will be given to members as they become available through quarterly 
performance reports. 

 
 

Support to Individuals 
 
2.22 Supported Housing Officers completed another round of face to face visits to all tenants 

following the last easement of lockdown measures on top of the regular contacts and 
only a handful of tenants wanted phone call contacts the majority now prefer face to 
face communication. Since then the officers are now based in schemes / onsite 
providing doorstep visits, actual visits and responding to emergencies as well as 
completing other compliance duties. Since the first lockdow, Supported Housing 
Officers have completed over 111,507 contacts and completed 1337 internal and 
external referrals to different support agencies.  These have included social services, 
Age UK Dacorum, Community Mental Health Team, Hertfordshire Independent leaving 

Page 197



 

Services, GP surgeries etc. 
 

2.23 The Supported Housing team recognises the impact Covid19 has had on vulnerable 
tenants and has prioritised working with local charities such as Age UK Dacorum, 
Community Action Dacorum and Let's Dance to provide organised activities and events 
in some of the communal lounges geared to enable the tenants the opportunity to get 
out and socialise in a safe environment and working to extend the variety of activities 
during out of hours and weekends. - at the moment the communal lounges are only 
opening for 2 days a week due to the shortage of staff in the cleaning team and the 
subsequent inability to maintain the twice a day minimum wipe down in key contact 
areas, but Housing Services is looking at alternative ways to mitigate the ongoing 
issue. 

 
2.24 The Supported Housing team also had their annual Erosh accreditation review meeting 

last month where tenants and staff were interviewed and questioned on a number of 
issues including the support they have received during lockdown and the assessor has 
rated the service as outstanding.  

 
2.25 Possession hearings are being heard again in court with the risk of eviction for a 

minority of those not engaging with the process. Judges are reviewing the impact of 
the pandemic on finances and wellbeing and are looking at the support offered to 
tenants prior to making any decisions. Evictions warrants will only be applied for in the 
most extreme cases where tenants have not engaged despite all efforts and where 
they have not adhered to a court judgement. 

 
2.26 At the time of writing this report, there are currently 142 households in temporary 

accomodation and, whilst numbers occupying temporary accommodation have 
reduced due to proactive prevention and gaining access to suitable move on 
accommodation to relieve homelessness, approach numbers remain high. Below is 
the comparison of approaches to the service during 2021 for the last 3 months, 
compared with the same period in 2020 – this is a strong indication as to the impact 
that the pandemic has had in relation to the varying factors which impact housing 
status, the most common being: relationship breakdown, affordability/arrears, fleeing 
domestic abuse and loss of private sector accommodation. 

 
June 2021 - 349  
June 2020 – 275 

 
July 2021 - 278  
July 2020 – 180 

 
August 2021 – 282 
August 2020 - 172 

 
2.27 The Council was successful in securing funding from three different sources via the 

MHCLG, the Next Steps Accommodation Programme (NSAP), Rough Sleeper 
Accommodation Programme (RSAP) and Accommodation for Ex-Offenders Scheme 
(AEO).  

 
 

2.28 Through NSAP funding, the Council has been able to work jointly with Hightown to 
repurpose an existing property into five units of shared accommodation. These 
placements come with tenancy sustainment support attached for up to two years and 
a move on plan into settled accommodation. Funding was awarded via the RSAP 
programme in August 2021 and the Strategic Housing Service is in liaison with the 

Page 198



 

Housing Development team to finalise proposals for the scheme, which is due to be 
submitted for planning consideration shortly.  The proposal is for properties to be 
utilised for rough sleepers with low to medium support needs as move on 
accommodation, clients will be identified after undertaking a successful period of 
accommodation at the Elms Hostel.  Funding via AEO has enabled the council to 
collaborate Emerging Futures to provide a Housing Navigator service for ex-offenders 
who have difficulty in obtaining accommodation. The above-mentioned projects are in 
addition to the council’s statutory responsibilities and existing provision for homeless 
people, which supports our commitment to prevent and relieve homelessness in line 
with our Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy.  

 
2.29 The Tenancy Sustainment Team continues to give advice and support 

to tenants/applicants with additional or complex needs.  In relation to Covid specifically 
the team is working on recovery phase and next steps, for some this will be around 
getting back out into the community for others it will being working towards financial 
stability.  Case loads remain high but are more stable than in the last reporting 
period.  Currently there are 483 open cases, with a further 12 on a waiting list. 

 
2.30 The number of new cases remains steady and counterbalanced by the number of 

cases closed per month.  The average number of live cases on any particular month 
stands at 65. Common complaints are still in relation to noise nuisance and cannabis 
use i.e. noxious smells.  Both types of nuisance complaints could be attributed to the 
prolonged lockdown and/or isolation periods sanctioned on the general public earlier 
this year.  As “normality” returns and children return to school, we would envisage that 
the number of noise complaints received will likely drop. 
 
Since March for this year, the Tenancy Enforcement Officers have completed the 
following actions: 
 

 Issued 24 Community Protection Notice Warnings 
 Issued 5 x Community Protection Notices  
 Issued 1 x Fixed Penalty Notice  
 Served 6 X Notices of Seeking Possession 
 Obtained 1 full closure order 
 Obtained 1 outright possession order 

 
In addition to this, there are four cases with Legal Services for possession 
proceedings. 

 
Forum/staff occupied buildings 
 
2.31 Officers have been working on a New Ways of Working (NWOW) project to redesign 

the Forum office space to provide for a hybrid office/remote work solution for all staff.  
This will provide space and zones for officers who need to work in the Forum on a 
regular basis, together with flexible space for staff who need to choose the right 
location for the task in hand.   Collaborative work zones will also designed to provide 
space for staff and their teams to meet in a more informal setting for regular one to 
ones, team meetings or other forms of collaborative working.  NWOW is planned to 
come into effect in the Forum at the end of October and to be rolled out across all 
Council office buildings in the coming months.    

 
3 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION 

 

Page 199



 

3.1 Members will note that this report comprehensively sets out the actions taken in 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic during the last quarter.  The report also 
summarises the financial impact on the Council as currently forecast.   

 
3.2 Officers will keep under review any impact on service delivery and associated financial 

implications arising from the pandemic, particularly leading into the period of 
preparation for any impact resulting from winter pressures.  Officers will continue to 
provide appropriate briefings and reports to Portfolio Holders and elected members on 
a regular basis. 

 
 

Page 200



 

CORPORATE COVID RECOVERY GROUP 
 

Communications (KS)  
Community (LW) 
Economy (CT) 
Finance (FJ) 
Health (EW)  
Housing (NB) 
Infrastructure (AR) 
Revenue & Benefits (CB) 
 

 
TERMS OF REFERENCE  

 
Vision 
 
We work collectively to maximise health, economic and social outcomes and enable 
Dacorum to return to business as usual 
 
We must have the right approach to recovery in place and align to the work being carried out 
at County level. 
 
The Council needs to continue to protect the residents and support community partners and 
businesses of Dacorum through provision of dedicated Covid19 Recovery communications 
and support.  
 
The Council will ensure long term support and development of initiatives are implemented to 
reduce impact on the community and businesses  
 
Objectives 
 
To capture the current and ongoing needs of residents, community, voluntary sector partners 
and businesses in the borough. 
 
To ensure that internal projects and recovery work are effectively coordinated to ensure 
clear objectives and reduce duplication 
 
Ensure that through effective engagement in established partnerships and forums that the 
council have a clear understanding of the countywide position and are aligned with 
Hertfordshire County Council’s recovery plans. 
 
To identify where Dacorum’s services have gaps or require additional resource capacity to 
enable effective recovery. 
 
To understand what services are available within our community that have capacity 
currently, how they link with each other and where there are gaps. 
 
To achieve a better understanding of the pathways to access support, in particular with 
regard to residents and customers with complex needs and sections of the community who 
are less able to recover independently. 
 
To establish joint working opportunities or partnerships across relevant agencies where 
required. 
 

Page 201



 

To work with partners to ensure that the Economic Recovery Board is developed and oversees 
the delivery of an evidence based Economic Recovery Plan. 
 
. 
Linked groups 
 
Contact Tracing Cell 
Communications Cell 
District planning group 
District Covid Vaccine Leads Group 
Economic Recovery Forum TOR and Draft Recovery Strategy (6 priority themes)  
Education steering group 
Gypsy and Traveller cell 
Health Inequalities in Ethnic Minorities 
Health Inequality Vaccine Group 
Health Protection Board 
HEHOC 
Hertfordshire Accommodation Cell & Recovery Group 
Hertfordshire Local Resilience Forum 
Public Health Board 
OTCG 
Outbreak District Planning Meeting 
SCG 
Schools Cell 
TCG 
Self-isolation workstream 
Supported Accommodation Cell 
Vaccines inequalities cell 
VAM cell 
District Borough and Liaison Group (was VPAC) 
 
SLT and IMT interface 
 
Meeting frequency, action planning and associated activity will be co-ordinated by Group 
Manager Strategic Planning & Regeneration and Group Manager Strategic Housing. Meetings 
will be chaired on a rotational basis and the Chair of this meeting will report to monthly SLT 
meetings, where there will be a standing Recovery item on each SLT agenda.  
 
Corporate Graduate support will be in place to assist with co-ordination of activity, 
development of agendas and recording of meetings to enable minutes and actions to be 
accurately documented. 
 
Monthly IMT reporting. 
 
Member interface 
 
Periodic updates as determined by SLT or Quarterly/Twice yearly updates to be provided to 
members via Covid Cabinet reporting. 

Page 202



 

 

 
 

 
 
 

Dacorum Borough Council  
COVID RECOVERY PLAN 

Sept.2021  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 203



 

 
Executive Summary 
 
There is much to reflect on and learn from events since the outset of the Covid-19 pandemic.  We have responded effectively and 
proactively to the challenges faced by Covid-19 and have provided amazing support to the community and businesses, from the 
response to the Dame Louise Casey ask to bring ‘Everyone in’, protecting those at risk of homelessness, minimising vaccine inequality 
and vital economic support to our small businesses.  This response has been replicated across the borough with communities coming 
together to support each other and Team Dacorum will continue this collaborative approach to recovery, the pandemic has 
emphasised the difference we can make and the influence we have, when we work together.  
 
The impact of the pandemic and lockdowns will be far reaching, as the virus continues to mutate it is important that we continue to 
ensure our measures are sufficient to contain and with caution we must now move into recovery.  We know that our communities, 
voluntary sector and businesses will have been impacted in many ways as a result of the pandemic and in some instances with 
devastating consequences.  It is therefore crucial that whilst we continue to undertake work to contain outbreaks, we provide help 
and support to those who will most benefit from it and those most impacted in our borough along with helping our economy to recover. 
 
Covid-19 has also presented us with opportunities, we will continue to embrace these opportunities throughout our recovery phase. 
Dacorum will aid recovery and innovation in ways specifically designed to support our district, reflecting what we have learned and 
what we could do differently in the future to ensure that as many of our residents as possible are able to gain from the opportunities 
created. Our plan is focused on activity that takes a holistic, whole society, approach to the current pandemic.  
 
This plan should be read in conjunction with the council’s Corporate Plan, Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and service 
plans, as the intention is still to deliver the priorities committed to in these plans. The recovery plan will focus on how we can build on 
this and respond specifically to the challenges and opportunities presented by the pandemic. We have been listening to the voices 
of our staff, communities, voluntary sector and local businesses to ensure that our response is shaped to provide the best support to 
Dacorum through the recovery phase and after.  
 
Despite the difficulties faced, our commitment is to do all we can to ensure that Dacorum continues to be a place where our 
communities and businesses can thrive and prosper.  
 
 
 

P
age 204



 

 
Where are we now?  
The pandemic has highlighted some of the most important challenges our society faces, including:  
 
1. Communities in our borough have come together to offer support to individuals in need, providing support to reduce loneliness 
and isolation.  
 
2. Our Businesses have been severely impacted. The council have managed a significant number of requests for help and 
Government grant funding. Local businesses will need continued support to re-establish their income streams, stabilise their 
businesses and then begin to grow again. Our Economic Recovery Strategy  
 
3. The pandemic has hit those most in need in our society the hardest, widening gaps and acutely highlighting issues of 
inclusion, equity and opportunity. We know that there has been a disproportionate impact on young people, women, minority 
groups and those living in areas of deprivation. Domestic Violence, risk of homelessness, mental health issues and health issues 
more generally, and debt have all increased. People who were experiencing poverty will continue to be at risk of further economic 
hardship throughout 2021, as Government grant schemes, such as furlough and changes to tenancy agreements, come to an end.  
 
4. The pandemic has reinforced the need for, and the benefits of collaborative partnership working. Throughout 2020 across the 
county and locally, our public sector services have responded quickly, working with our local communities.  
 
There are signs of hope emerging which relate to the roll-out of the national vaccination programme.  
 
 
 

Our Post Pandemic Commitments 
We will: 

1) Place our Communities at the heart of our recovery  
2) Work with our businesses to help them stabilise and rebuild during economic uncertainty 

3) Ensure those most impacted by the pandemic are supported 
4) Continue to strengthen our relationships with key partners, to deliver joint, practical solutions to local challenges 

 
 

P
age 205



 

 
1. Place our Communities at the heart of our recovery 
The role of strong, inclusive, caring and resilient communities has been an enormous factor in helping many people through the 
pandemic. We have all been reminded that ‘bottom up’, locally driven approaches usually work best.  
 
We want to engage and build meaningful relationships with our communities. We want to hear all voices and we want to involve local 
people in decision-making processes – whether that be hearing views on areas of growth; or understanding what local parishes and 
groups feel their communities need.  
 
The roll of volunteering and locally based groups cannot be underestimated throughout the pandemic. It has been inspiring. We want 
to continue to work with local groups and create more opportunities for volunteering (recognising that currently people are very tired) 
and more focus on projects that residents feel will benefit their communities.  
 
We will place Community-led and locally developed plans at the heart of our approach to recovery. We want to work with our parishes 
to identify, and find solutions for, local challenges. We also have worked closely with the County Council as a strategic partner to 
better plan, influence and work alongside those services that directly impact upon our residents and intend to build on this partnership. 
 
2. Work with our businesses to help them stabilise and rebuild during economic uncertainty 
 
Over the past 12 months, the financial resilience of many businesses has been eroded. Employers including micro, small and medium 
sized companies will need support to re-build their business base. We want to stop businesses that were thriving pre-COVID, from 
now failing. We will need to be quick and agile in our response, tailoring our support to local demands – so business and employment 
intelligence will be vital. We must ensure that our partnerships with related organisations are strong and we agree priorities quickly. 
We need to plan for a short and long term recovery with these partners, utilising national schemes and resources as they exist and 
building confidence in private sector investment.  
 
Many people have lost their jobs or are at risk of unemployment when furlough ends. Helping people find new jobs, re-train and 
further develop their skills or qualifications will be key. Many individuals will not have been unemployed in their adult lives or sought 
further education opportunities. We will need to help people navigate through what will be a very uncertain time, and support education 
providers to provide courses that enable people to re-enter the job market as soon as possible. 
  

P
age 206



 

We will work with our partners to provide employment opportunities, including apprenticeships, internships and utilising the Kick-start 
programme to support young people. We will ensure that as an employer ourselves, we do all we can to ensure our recruitment 
processes are accessible and inclusive. We will expect our development partners to create employment for local people, both directly 
and through their supply chains. Our areas of growth should benefit local people.  
 
Dacorum is committed to a Green Recovery. Balancing our commitment to our environment and climate change, with the demands 
for growth, housing and transport is one of our greatest challenges.  
 
3. Ensure those most impacted by the pandemic are supported 
 
Throughout the pandemic, working with local communities and partners, we have seen the challenges many households face with 
regards to basic requirements that are often the cause of health inequalities – good food, a warm home and stable employment.  
 
Housing supply and accessibility will remain a key issue for the borough, exacerbating a challenge that Dacorum was dealing with 
pre-pandemic. Ensuring that housing of different tenures and affordability are brought forward for development will play a key role in 
supporting our communities and the local economy. We will continue to push for affordable housing on development sites, and to 
expect high quality energy efficiency in our homes.  
 
We want people to feel safe in our communities. Domestic Abuse has sadly been the experience of many people nationally during 
the pandemic and we want to ensure that the council is well equipped to identify and support individuals at risk of or experiencing 
abuse in their homes.  Through our Domestic Abuse project review, we will ensure that the council develops robust strategy, policy 
and procedures in response to the new Domestic Abuse Act 2021. 
 
Young people have been particularly affected by the impacts of multiple lockdowns, missed hours of learning and schooling from 
home. We will work with education colleagues at the County Council to support children and young people whose education has 
been disrupted. We will particularly focus on those in receipt of Free School Meals, those who are Not in Employment, Education and 
Training, Children who are looked after and Children Leaving Care. Ensuring we are helping with any identified needs, such as mental 
health, Careers Advice & Education, and pathways into employment, education and training.  
 
We will support mental health initiatives and work closely with mental health services, to assist those suffering from anxiety and low-
level depression. We have seen throughout the pandemic what happens when acute needs are not addressed immediately.  
 

P
age 207



 

4. Continue to strengthen our relationships with key partners, to deliver joint, practical solutions to local challenges 
 
 
Partnership working will continue to be key across a board range of issues. It will be important to work with the County Council on 
any changes/pressures on their services and with our health colleagues. Working with other Councils in Hertfordshire, to understand 
how we can support our collective recovery ambitions and interdependent economic challenges and avoid duplicating efforts.  
 
Further work is needed to assess the inequalities that have been exposed more acutely in our society through the pandemic. We 
need to approach the planning, delivery and evaluation of our work on recovery differently.  
 
Previously the challenge for the council has been balancing the demands for growth, particularly in housing and transport 
(connectivity) alongside a focus on sustainability. As we face a pandemic-related recession, the Council will need to consider the 
local impact on business, employment and skills/education in order to help the local economy recover, and once again grow.  
 
We will work closely with our health partners (including the new Integrated Care System), community groups and parishes and other 
local authorities, to ensure our communities enjoy good access to healthcare and social care and have support to take positive actions 
to stay healthy.  
 
We will work very closely with our neighbouring Local Authorities, the LEP and the County Council, building on the relationships we 
have established and enhanced during the pandemic. We will work jointly on key local issues and shared priorities; identifying who 
is best placed to deliver services and support. We will share resources, skill sets and agreed outcomes, working together as strategic 
partners. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 208



 

Action Plan 

Ensure our communities, voluntary organisations and businesses recover from impacts of COVID19 
 
What we will do Timeline Responsible  How will we know when this has been achieved 
Ensure Covid- 19 related grant payments 
to local residents and business are made 
promptly and accurately.  
 

Within grant 
scheme 
guidelines  

Chris Taylor/ 
Chris Baker (as 
appropriate) 
and Fiona 
Jump.  

 
Volumes of complaints around delayed/ inaccurate 
payments is low.  
  

Ensure appropriate financial monitoring and 
reporting on the ongoing impact of Covid-
19 on the Council’s finances is undertaken. 
This covers financial reporting to officers 
and Members also the completion of 
relevant government returns.  
 

Quarterly, in 
line with the 
corporate 
financial 
monitoring 
timetable.  As 
per return 
deadlines for 
government 
returns.  

Fiona Jump    
Reports are submitted to relevant committees in line with 
the corporate timetable.  
  

Provide support to services within the 
Council to access Covid-19 related funding, 
including grant funding.  
 

As required.  Fiona Jump   
The Council is in a position to bid the maximum amount 
of funding it is eligible for.  
  

Ensure the Council is supporting its sundry 
debtors and suppliers, by monitoring its 
recovery and payment processes and 
adjusting as needed.  This would take into 
account the desire for the Council to 
maximise income collection and manage its 
own cash-flow position.  
  

Ongoing  Richard Rice / 
Fiona Jump   

 
Payment of suppliers is reflected in relevant KPIs.  We 
regularly monitor the sundry debt that is being repaid 
via payments plans and will report on trends on a regular 
basis.  

P
age 209



 

Continue the managed re-introduction of 
formal recovery processes for council tax 
and business rates arrears, ensuring that 
we have the capacity to deal with enquiries 
and support residents and businesses, 
while increasing collection. 

Ongoing Chris Baker Collection rates are monitored by KPIs   

Support the Voluntary and Community Sector 
to address health inequality, poverty, poor 
mental health and other risk areas 

End of March 
2022 

Layna Warden Better community cohesion, more grants and financial 
support available, local groups are sustainable  

Use a place-based evidence approach to 
identify neighbourhoods and demographic 
groups that have been more widely affected by 
Covid  

October 2021 Layna Warden We will know which areas and communities in Dacorum 
to provide targeted support 

Deliver a programme with partners to 
reduce isolation and loneliness with focus 
on Supported Housing and older residents  

Ongoing Oliver Jackson/ 
Layna Warden 

Reduced isolation and loneliness  

Work proactively with Housing tenants to 
maximize income and continue to adopt a 
support based approach to income 
collection for those whose finances have 
been impacted by the Pandemic. 

Ongoing Oliver Jackson Rent arrears will remain stable with minimal council 
tenant evictions 

Provide dedicated communications support 
to services within the Council to deliver a 
programme of COVID-19 support and 
recovery. 
 

Ongoing Kelvin Soley Increased awareness and access to support and 
recovery information, programmes and initiatives. 

A large amount of recovery 
activities have already taken place with 
more to come as businesses and Council 
Services re-opened as part of the road 
map. This is set to continue with the new 
ways of working for Forum Services 

Ongoing Emma Walker All Council Services are up and running with a suitable 
and sufficient Covid Risk Assessment in place and 
in line with the approved Corporate Covid Risk 
Assessment.  
  

P
age 210



 

and more activites re-opening and the 
existing legal requirements to have a Covid 
Risk Assessment in line with government 
Guidance   

All business sectors are safely re-opened, non-
compliant businesses are dealt with in line with 
our enforcement policy. To ensure that business 
employees and customers visit safe premises, with safe 
ways of working and to ensure that all businesses 
are dealt with fairly and equitably   
 

Continue to support local outbreaks of 
Covid-19, particularly those that are more 
at risk in the community.   

Ongoing Emma Walker Work with the LRF Partners, Businesses and Individuals 
to continue to manage outbreaks of Covid-19 in line with 
the relevant legislation and guidelines. Risk – Contain 
funding comes to an end in March 22. Both the test and 
Trace and Covid Advisor services are funded through 
this income stream, as is the addition wider capacity in 
the team.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 211



 

Co-ordinate and collaborate with partners to deliver joint outcomes 
 
What we will do Timeline Responsible  How will we know when this has been achieved 
Work with Hertfordshire County Council to 
coordinate recovery actions where 
appropriate to ensure maximum value is 
achieved from activities across the county   

September 
2021  

Claire Hamilton  
 
Natasha 
Beresford 
Chris Taylor  

All districts across Hertfordshire are sharing information 
and outcomes to enable a more joined up approach 
where beneficial  

In collaboration with partner agencies 
provide individual support to vulnerable 
tenants and residents who could be at 
greater risk due to the impact of the 
Pandemic.  
 

Ongoing  Oliver Jackson  
Layna Warden  

Increased health and wellbeing outcomes and more 
awareness of which locations and residents have been 
more effected 

Expand delivery of the Healthy Hub to 
provide residents support through 
community partners 

End March 
2022 

Layna Warden Delivery of additional pop up days, increased referrals 
and health outcomes 

In partnership with Hertfordshire County 
Council and district colleagues, ensure 
implementation of the Rough Sleeper 
Delivery, which must be aligned with the 
Complex Needs Strategy. 

Ongoing Natasha 
Beresford 

Reduction in rough sleeping in line with government 
agenda to eradicate rough sleeping by 2027. 

In partnership with Hertfordshire County 
Council and district colleagues, ensure 
implementation of targeted communications 
campaigns supporting COVID-19 recovery. 

Ongoing Kelvin Soley Increased awareness, access and delivery of joint 
outcomes. 

Through continued engagement via the 
Hertfordshire Accommodation Cell, VPAC 
and County Vaccine Lead group ensure 
joined up approach to recovery activity 
across Hertfordshire to support households 
most impacted. 

Ongoing Natasha 
Beresford 
Layna Warden 

Identification of collaborative projects, increased funding 
and initiatives delivered in Hertfordshire. 

P
age 212



 

In collaboration with Everyone Active, seek 
to return contract to strong financial position 

Ongoing Ben Hosier Reduction in financial loss to DBC 

 
 
Take a joint and strategic approach to co-ordinate actions to ensure delivery of our post pandemic commitments 
 
What we will do Timeline Responsible  How will we know when this has been achieved 
Ensure appropriate financial monitoring 
and reporting on the ongoing impact of 
Covid-19 on the Council’s finances is 
undertaken. This covers financial reporting 
to officers and Members also the 
completion of relevant government 
returns.  
 

Quarterly, in 
line with the 
corporate 
financial 
monitoring 
timetable.  As 
per return 
deadlines for 
government 
returns.  

Fiona Jump    
Reports are submitted to relevant committees in line 
with the corporate timetable.  
  

Provide support to services within the 
Council to access Covid-19 related 
funding, including grant funding.  
 

As required.  Fiona Jump   
The Council is in a position to bid the maximum amount 
of funding it is eligible for.  
  

Create a Local Delivery Plan setting out 
Dacorum’s approach to tackle vaccine 
inequality 

September 
2021 

Layna Warden Increased vaccine take up in areas of deprivation and 
within BAME communities. Successful roll out of booster 
and flu jab 

Set up Economic Recovery Board with Key 
stakeholders and agree a TOR and a 
Recovery Strategy that is owned and 
delivered by all participants  

May 2021 Chris Taylor  Group is well represented and committed to working 
together to develop and deliver the recovery strategy  
 

Identify the priority areas and leads for 
each work area for delivery including 
identification of any resource implications 

July – August 
20  

 
Chris 
Taylor/Gunilla 

 
A draft strategy will be presented to the group on 
September 6th for agreement with the Board  

P
age 213



 

for the delivery of outcomes (6 areas 
below) and the issues, activities and 
outcomes are endorsed by the Board  

Edwards plus 
partners  

The Economic Recovery Strategy is 
adopted by the Council  
 
 

October 2021  Claire Hamilton 
 
Chris Taylor  

Strategy is adopted at Cabinet and subgroups begin to 
scope out delivery plans based on the priority areas 
ADD LINK TO THE ECONOMIC RECOVERY  
STRATEGY  

Monitor delivery and outcomes from the 
Economic recovery Strategy in the S,M & L 
term through the board by a series of sub 
groups and report to Hemel Place Board 
and Cabinet  

 
Ongoing  

Chris Taylor  
 
Dacorum 
Economic 
Recovery Board  

 
Outcomes and outputs within the strategy will be 
planned, delivered and monitored and the impacts 
assessed and any adjustments made as necessary  

Create a Communications Delivery Plan, 
setting out Dacorum’s communications 
activities and actions to support the 
programme of works outlined in the 
COVID-19 Recovery Plan. 

Ongoing Kelvin Soley Activities and actions within the Communications 
Delivery Plan will be planned, delivered and monitored. 

  

P
age 214



 

Ensure the resources of the council help our teams and services to recover from Covid  
 
What we will do Timeline Responsible  How will we know when this has been achieved 
Ensure appropriate financial monitoring and 
reporting on the ongoing impact of Covid-
19 on the Council’s finances is undertaken. 
This covers financial reporting to officers 
and Members also the completion of 
relevant government returns.  
 

Quarterly, in 
line with the 
corporate 
financial 
monitoring 
timetable.  As 
per return 
deadlines for 
government 
returns.  

Fiona Jump    
Reports are submitted to relevant committees in line with 
the corporate timetable.  
  

Ensure we have a fit and healthy workforce 
to drive the CV-19 recovery.  
 
Ensure we have staff that have the 
appropriate skills set and management 
support.  

Ongoing  Matt Rawdon Sickness level remain consistent and feedback from 
managers.  Continue to deliver on performance KPIs. 
 
Corporate training budgets spent in line with training 
needs.  Successful leadership development programme 
delivered which meets the skills required to lead the 
organisation through the recovery stage.  

Provide support to services within the 
Council to access Covid-19 related funding, 
including grant funding.  
 

As required.  Fiona Jump   
The Council is in a position to bid the maximum amount 
of funding it is eligible for.  
Services are resourced appropriately across the council 
to deliver the Recovery Strategy  
  

Address the ECP service backlogs and the 
additional demands to Business as 
Usual arising from Covid. There 
was approximately 150% increase 
on Business as usual requests in ECP in 
the year 19/20 compared to 20/21.    

Ongoing Emma Walker All service back-logs will be cleared   
KPI’s will return to green   
Team will be resourced in line with the new normal to be 
able to respond to business as usual, requests.    
 

P
age 215



 

Address the Property and Place service 
backlogs and the additional demands to 
business as usual arising from Covid, with 
particular focus on Housing Repairs, 
Cleaning and staff resourcing. 

Ongoing Jason Grace All service back logs to be cleared 
KPI’s to return to green 
Improved service resourcing 
Sheltered scheme lounges able to re-open 
 

Identify opportunities to address reduced 
income in relation to off-street parking, 
penalty charges impacted as a direct result 
of Covid. 

As required Ben Hosier  Improved financial position 
Trend analysis of car park usage 
  

Consider appropriate action to enable 
effective management of increased 
domestic waste as a result of Covid and 
increased home working. 

Ongoing Craig Thorpe  Improved service to Dacorum residents 
Identify vehicle solutions due to access issues 

Review management of Gadebridge Splash 
Park in advance of next season to ensure 
effective management in line with Covid 
requirements 

Ongoing Craig Thorpe Service delivery plan ahead of new season 
Clear communication for booking arrangements and 
capacity to residents 

 

P
age 216



 
 

Report for: Cabinet 
 

Date of meeting:  

Part: 1 

If Part II, reason:  

 
Title of report: Infrastructure Funding Statement 

Contact: Cllr Alan Anderson Portfolio Holder for Planning and 
Infrastructure 
 
Responsible Officer:  
James Doe, Assistant Director, Planning, Development & 
Regeneration 
Chris Taylor, Group Manager, Strategic Planning and 
Regeneration 
 
Author: 
Emma Cooper, Infrastructure Officer (CIL) 
Elisabeth Griffiths, Infrastructure Officer (S106) 
Shalini Jayasinghe, Team Leader, Infrastructure 
Pennie Rayner, Assistant Team Leader, Infrastructure 
 
 

Purpose of report: To bring to Cabinet’s attention the Infrastructure Funding 
Statement (IFS) that the Council is required to publish on the 
Dacorum Borough Council website by 31 December 2021 in 
accordance with Schedule 2 of the Community Infrastructure 
Levy Regulations (CIL) 2010 (as amended).  

 

Recommendations That Cabinet notes the information provided in the 
Infrastructure Funding Statement in Appendix 1 and approves 
its publication as required under the CIL Regulations 2010 (as 
amended). 

 

Page 217

Agenda Item 11



Period for post 
policy/project 
review 

The Infrastructure Funding Statement will be updated and 
posted on the Council’s website for review annually. 

Corporate 
objectives: 

The Infrastructure Funding Statement shows that developer 
contributions are being used to support all corporate objectives, 
for example: - 
 

• A clean, safe and enjoyable environment: e.g. utilising 
developer contributions to promote walkable 
neighbourhoods, accessible green infrastructure and 
prioritising pedestrians. 

• Building strong and vibrant communities: e.g. utilising 
developer contributions to create a sense of place. 

• Ensuring economic growth and prosperity: e.g. utilising 
developer contributions to facilitate sustainable transport 
opportunities to and from our business locations and 
creating a sense of place. 

• Providing good quality affordable homes: e.g. using 
developer contributions to fund delivery of affordable 
housing. 

Implications: 
 
 
 
 
 
‘Value for money’ 
implications 

Financial 
 
The IFS will create an awareness of funds held and spent by the 
Council and may attract further scrutiny from developers, other 
stakeholders and members of the public. 
 
Value for money 
 
This report is an opportunity to evaluate that the Council is 
fulfilling its requirements to bring forward infrastructure through 
developer contributions and other sources. 
 

Risk implications  

Community Impact 
Assessment 

Not required for this report as it gives an overview of funds 
received as opposed to how they will be deployed in the future. 
Proposals for specific projects will require individual 
community impact assessments to be carried out.  

Health and safety 
Implications 

N/A 

Monitoring Officer/ 

 

Publication of this statement is a statutory requirement 
pursuant to the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 
(CIL) 2010 (as amended).  

 

S.151 Officer  
Comments 

The CIL and S106 funds have been collected and retained in 
line with the Council’s policies for these charges.  
 

Consultees: 

 

The following officers have been consulted on the draft IFS: 

 Fiona Jump, Group Manager (Financial Services) 

Page 218



 Nigel Howcutt, Assistant Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

 Alex Robinson, Strategic Planning Manager 

 

Background 
papers: 

 Cabinet Report titled “Community Infrastructure Levy 
Governance Update” – 27th June 2017 

 Cabinet Report titled “Governance Arrangements of the 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) – 29th November 
2016 

 Cabinet Report titled “Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) – Adoption of Charging Schedule and associated 
documents” – 10th February 2015 

 Cabinet Report titled “Governance Arrangements for the 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)” – 25th November 
2014 

 CIL Charging Schedule, Regulation 123 list and policies, 
2015 

 Developer Contributions (s106) – Projects Funded in 
2020/21 (Appendix 2) 

These documents may be viewed at www.dacorum.gov.uk. 

Glossary of 
acronyms and any 
other abbreviations 
used in this report: 

CIL – Community Infrastructure Statement 

DBC – Dacorum Borough Council 

IDP – Infrastructure Delivery Plan 

IFS – Infrastructure Funding Statement 

S106 – Section 106 

 
 
Introduction/Background:  
 

1. The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is one of the primary mechanisms for 
collecting financial contributions from new developments to help fund the 
provision of infrastructure required to support housing and commercial growth 
in the Borough. 
 

2. The Council started charging CIL on all new developments receiving planning 
permission from the 1st July 2015. The extent of applicable charges by use and 
geography is set out within the Council’s adopted Charging Schedule 
(www.dacorum.gov.uk/cil).  
 

3. In addition to CIL, the Council continues to secure affordable housing and site 
specific infrastructure items and undertakings which are both financial and non-
financial in nature, (for example restrictions on use or management plans), 
through the use of legal agreements under Section 106 (S106) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).  
 

Page 219



4. As a result of recent changes to the Regulations implemented through the 
Community Infrastructure Levy (Amendment) (England) (No.2) Regulations 
2019 (which came into force on 1 September 2019), authorities will now need 
to increase transparency for communities, by reporting on what they have 
received and spent through CIL and developer contributions and include 
information for the following year on CIL priorities. 
 

5. Each calendar year (between 2nd Dec – 31st Dec) the Council must publish an 
Infrastructure Funding Statement in relation to the next calendar year, detailing 
the infrastructure priorities which it intends will be wholly or partly funded by 
developer contributions. 
 

6. Cabinet should note that the requirement for the Council to maintain a CIL 
Regulation 123 list has been removed following the enactment of the new CIL 
Regulations 2019 on 1st September 2019.  The Council's CIL Regulation 123 
list will be replaced by the Council's new Infrastructure Funding Statement by 
31st December 2021. 

 
Key Issues  
 

7. On 27th June 2017, an update on the Community Infrastructure Levy 
governance was reported to Cabinet. At this meeting, Cabinet, (minute 
CA/68/17), delegated authority to the Assistant Director for Planning, 
Development and Regeneration to adjust the timetable for CIL bid submissions 
on an annual basis in consultation with the Portfolio Holder as the need may 
arise. 
 

8. The headline CIL totals held by the Council are: - 
 

Total CIL held as at the end of the 
reporting period of 31 March 2021 

£11,410,456 

Total CIL within reporting period £4,720,840 
The total value of demand notices issued 
in the reported period1 

£2,946,024 

 
9. The Council has not yet spent any CIL funds directly on the provision of 

infrastructure. The Council is at a key point with its new Local Plan, which will 
set out its strategy for development in the Borough to 2038. As such, it is logical 
to defer any spending of CIL until the Infrastructure Development Plan, which 
will support the new Local Plan, has been completed. This will enable any 
spending to be focused on key infrastructure needs that will unlock potential 
growth. Officers will bring forward draft proposals for the spend of CIL for 
infrastructure to support the delivery of key sites in 2021, to be considered 
through the established governance process for CIL allocation.  
 

10. The headline S106 totals held by the Council are: - 
 

Total S106 funds unallocated as at the 
end of the reporting period of 31st March 
2020 

£1,916,033 

Total S106 funds received within reporting 
period 

£184,643 

                                                
1 Note that this is the total amount of demand notices raise, in some instances i.e. appeals or 
payment deferrals this figure is likely to change. 

Page 220



Total S106 funds spent within reporting 
period 

£958,080 

Total S106 funds unallocated as at the 
end of the reporting period of 31st March 
2021 

£602,732 

 
 
Conclusions:   
 

11. The Infrastructure Funding Statement (Appendix 1) has been completed in line 
with the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) and 
has been circulated for information purposes only. 

 
12. This information will be published on the DBC website by 31 December 2021. 

 
 
 

Page 221



 

Page 1 of 10 
 

 

 

 

 

Dacorum Borough Council 

Annual Infrastructure 

Funding Statement 
for 

Community Infrastructure Levy and 

Section 106 

 
Reporting Period: 

 From 01 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 

 

  

Page 222



 

Page 2 of 10 
 

Introduction 

Charging authorities are required to produce an Infrastructure Funding Statement (IFS) as a 

result of recent changes to the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations.  

The IFS is an annual report that will set out details about planning obligation receipts and 

anticipated expenditure.  

This report covers the period between 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021. 

The report is split into three sections;  

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Matters 

This section details the collection and expenditure of CIL funds prior to and during the 

reporting period.   

CIL is a charge levied by local authorities on new development in their area. It is an 

important tool to use to help deliver the strategic infrastructure needed to support 

development in the area. 

The Levy only applies in areas where a local authority has consulted on and approved, a 

charging schedule which sets out its levy rates. Dacorum Borough Council’s charging 

schedule has been in place since July 2015. 

The Council has taken the decision to defer any spending of CIL until the Infrastructure 

Development Plan, which will support the New Local Plan, has been completed. This will 

enable any spending to be focused on key infrastructure needs that will unlock potential 

growth.  

 

Section 106 (S106) Matters 

This section details the collection and expenditure of S106 funds prior to and during the 

reporting period.  

S106 agreements assist in mitigating the impact of development to make it acceptable in 

planning terms. The obligations within a S106 must meet three legal tests; 

 Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;  

 Directly related to the development; and 

 Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

Whereas CIL funds can be spent on strategic infrastructure, S106 obligations are specific to 

the locality of the development.  

Hertfordshire County Council obligations are often included within the S106 agreement and 

will be reporting separately on S106 obligations that have been paid or are due to them.  

 

The Infrastructure List 

Changes to the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 in September 2019 

removed the need for Councils to publish a Regulation 123 list, detailing infrastructure items 

that would be funded either partly or wholly through CIL. This section of the IFS will instead 

outline priorities for the future year.   

Page 223

file:///C:/Users/ecooper/Desktop/000004187-Demand_Notice_1001132433983.pdf
file:///C:/Users/ecooper/Desktop/000004187-Demand_Notice_1001132433983.pdf


 

Page 3 of 10 
 

Community Infrastructure Levy Matters 

Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations (2019 Amendment) Regulation 121A 

Schedule 2 Section 1 

a) The total value of demand notices issued in the reported period is £2,946,024. 

This value is of demand notices issued within the reported period that have not been 

suspended or superseded by new demand notices outside of the reported period. 

 

Of total value the amount from Liability Notices (liable floorspace after any relief that 

has been granted) is £2,917,925. The total value is from surcharges imposed due to 

breaches of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations is £28,099 and the total 

value of the late payment interest accrued is £0.00. 

 

b) The total amount of CIL collected within the reported period totals £4,720,840. 

 

c) The amount of CIL collected prior to the reported period totals £6,689,616. Of this 

total the following amount was collected in Cash and as Land Transactions (including 

payments in kind and infrastructure payments) and the following amounts remain 

unallocated: 

Type Received Unallocated 

Cash £6,653,616 £5,848,172 

Land Payment £36,000.00 £36,000.00 

 

d) The total amount of CIL collected prior to the reported period allocated in the 

reported period in relation to cash received is £194,625 and in relation to land 

payments (including payments in kind and infrastructure payments) is £0.00. 

 

e) The total CIL expenditure recorded for the reported period is as follows: 

Type Expenditure 

Admin CIL £236,042 

Neighbourhood CIL £0.00 

CIL Land Payments £0.00 

Other CIL Cash £0.00 

Total Value £236,042 

 

f) The total amount of CIL allocated and not spent during the reported period is as 

follows, this does not include allocations made within the reported year that have 

been fully spent: 

Type Allocated Spent Remaining 

Admin CIL £236,042 £236,042 £0.00 

Neighbourhood CIL £425,150 £0.00 £425,150 

CIL Land Payments £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Other CIL Cash £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

 

Page 224



 

Page 4 of 10 
 

g) i) The items of infrastructure on which CIL (including land payments) has been spent 

within the reported year, and the amount of CIL spent on each item is as follows:  

Infrastructure Date Amount Description  

    

 

ii) The amount of CIL spent on repaying money borrowed, including any interest, and 

details of the items of infrastructure which that money was used to provide (wholly or 

in part) is as follows:  

Date Amount Used Loan/Interest Infrastructure Funded 

    

 

iii) The amount of CIL collected towards administration expenses is £236,042. This 

was 5% of the total CIL receipts collected (£4,720,840) in the reported period.  

Dacorum Borough Council has set a collection percentage of 5.00%. The percentage 

taken may differ due to Land payments (including payments in kind and infrastructure 

payments) not being allocated to administration expenses, Surcharges and Late 

Payment Interest not being split with Neighbourhood Areas.  

The amount of CIL spent on administration expenses during the reported year was 

£236,042. This was 5% of the total CIL collected within the reported year. 

 

h) Regarding CIL collected and allocated within the reported year that has not been 

spent, summary details of what has been allocated, is remaining to be spent and 

what it has been allocated towards is as follows: 

Infrastructure Amount 
Allocated 

Amount 
Unspent 

Allocation Dated 

    

 

i) i) The total amount of CIL passed to a neighbourhood zone under Regulation 59A 

(collected on behalf of the neighbourhood zone in cash), cash collected and allocated 

towards Neighbourhood CIL, and 59B (cash provided by the Charging Authority to 

Neighbourhood Zones equivalent to what they would have received on a payment in 

kind), are as follows: 

Zone Date Amount Passed 

Berkhamsted Town Council 31 March 2021 £14,561 

Bovingdon Parish Council 31 March 2021 £40,342 

Chipperfield Parish Council 31 March 2021 £5,220 

Flaunden Parish Council 31 March 2021 £1,183 

Kings Langley Parish 
Council 

31 March 2021 £4,576 

Nash Mills Parish Council 31 March 2021 £15,342 

Northchurch Parish 
Council 

31 March 2021 £152,067 

Tring Rural Parish Council 31 March 2021 £2,744 

Tring Town Council 31 March 2021 £189,114 

 

 

Page 225



 

Page 5 of 10 
 

The following amounts were allocated towards neighbourhood zones under 

Regulation 59B, cash provided by the Charging Authority to Neighbourhood Zones 

equivalent to what they would have received on a payment in kind, during the 

reported year: 

 Zone Amount Date Re-allocated from 

Tring Town 
Council 

£5,400.00 28 September 
2020 

R123 List Sums 

 

ii) The following spends within the reported year have been passed to a third party to 

spend on the provision, improvement, replacement, operation or maintenance of 

infrastructure under Regulation 59(4): 

Infrastructure Amount Date Spend Description 

    

 

j) i) The total collected by Dacorum Borough Council for the reported year under 

Regulation 59E (CIL returned to the Charging Authority after 5 years if not spent) was 

£0.00 and under Regulation 59F, CIL collected and retained by the Charging 

Authority for areas that are not designated Neighbourhood Zones, was £0.00. 

 

ii) The amount of CIL allocated during the reported year under Regulation 59E, CIL 

returned to the Charging Authority that had been passed to a Neighbourhood Zone 

and had not been applied to infrastructure after a 5 year period, during the reported 

year is as follows: 

Infrastructure Neighbourhood 
Zone 

Amount Date 

    

 

The amount of CIL spent under Regulation 59E during the reported year is as 

follows: 

Infrastructure Amount Date Spend Description 

    

 

The amount of CIL allocated during the reported year under Regulation 59F during 

the reported year is as follows: 

Infrastructure Neighbourhood Zone Amount Date 

    

 

The amount of CIL spent under Regulation 59F during the reported year is as 

follows: 

Infrastructure Amount Date Spend Description 

    

 

 

 

 

Page 226



 

Page 6 of 10 
 

k) i) The amount of CIL requested under Regulation 59E for the reported year is as 

follows per neighbourhood zone: 

Neighbourhood Zone Amount Requested 

  

ii) The amount of CIL still outstanding for recovery under Regulation 59E at the end 

of the reported year for all years is as follows for each neighbourhood zone: 

Neighbourhood Zone Amount Outstanding 

  

l) i) The amount of CIL collected, not assigned for Neighbourhood CIL or CIL 

Administration, for the reported year and that had not been spent is £3,774,232. 

ii) The amount of CIL collected, not assigned for Neighbourhood CIL or CIL 

Administration, from 01 July 2015 to the end of the reported year that had not been 

spent is £9,145,525. 

iii) The amount CIL collected and that had not been spent under Regulations 59E 

and 59F during the reported year are as follows: 

Type Retained 

Regulation 59E £0.00 

Regulation 59F £0.00 

 

iv) The amount of CIL collected from 01 July 2015 to the end of the reported year 

under Regulations 59E and 59F that has not been spent is as follows: 

Type Retained 

Regulation 59E £0.00 

Regulation 59F £0.00 

 

  

Page 227



 

Page 7 of 10 
 

Section 106 Matters 

Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations (2019 Amendment) Regulation 121A 

Schedule 2 Section 3 

a) The total amount of money to be provided under any planning obligations which were 

entered during the reported year is £1,607,217 (including those obligations due to 

Hertfordshire County Council). Of these total obligations £1,574,217 is due to Dacorum 

Borough Council1.  This figure does not consider indexation (inflation/deflation) that may 

be applied when the money becomes due. 

 

b) The total amount of money received from planning obligations during the reported year 

was £184,643. 

 

c) The total amount of money received prior to the reported year that has not been 

allocated is £1,916,033. 

 

d) During the reported year the following non-monetary contributions have been agreed 

under planning obligations: 

 

i) The total number of affordable housing units to be provided is 157. 

 

e) The total amount of money from planning obligations allocated towards infrastructure 

during the reported year was £880,229. Of this amount £539,864 was not spent during 

the reported year.  

 

f) The total amount of money from planning obligations spent during the reported year was 

£958,080. Of this amount £600 was spent by a third party on behalf of Dacorum 

Borough Council.  

 

g) The following items have had money allocated towards them during the reported year 

with unspent allocations: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1 It should be noted that Section 106 agreements with financial obligations are almost always linked to planning 

applications – but not all sites granted planning permission are developed immediately or indeed at all, and there may be 
several planning applications for the same site. Therefore, this represents a maximum figure which is greater than will be 
received in reality. 

Page 228



 

Page 8 of 10 
 

Infrastructure Allocated Date Allocated Unspent 

Play facilities in 
Berkhamsted 

£139,669 12 February 2021 £139,669 

Pitch Improvements 
at Cupid Green 
Playing Fields 

£120,930 30 September 2020 £23,000.00 

DBC tree planting 
project 

£26,774 01 October 2020 £26,774 

Maylands Area 
Wide Travel Plan 

£2,083 01 June 2020  £2,083 

Eastwick Row 
Housing 
Development 
(Social Rent) 

£533,749 25 November 2020 £320,923 

Spencer's Park 
Phase 1, Three 
Cherry Trees Lane - 
Security & Safety 

£30,461 03 September 2020 £27,415 

 

h) In relation to money which was spent by Dacorum Borough Council during the reported 

year: 

i) The items of infrastructure that planning obligation money has been spent on and 

the amount spent are as follows: 

Infrastructure Spent Date Spent Spend Description 

Grovehill-Woodhall 
Farm Adventure 
Playground 

£109,128 31 March 2021 Replacement of play 
equipment and 
refurbishment of site 

Spencer's Park 
Phase 1, Three 
Cherry Trees Lane 
- Security & Safety 

£3,046 31 March 2021 CCTV monitoring 
funding (Year 1 of 
10) 

Adeyfield 
Adventure 
Playground 

£70,000 31 March 2021 Replacement of play 
equipment and 
refurbishment of site 

Playing pitch 
maintenance 

£15,221 31 March 2021 Various sites across 
borough 

Pitch 
Improvements at 
Cupid Green 
Playing Fields 

£97,930 31 March 2021 Raise pitch standard 
from ‘poor’ to 
‘community’ (Year 1 
of 3) 

Nash Mills Notice 
Board 

£600 31 March 2021 Transferred for third 
party spending 

Adeyfield APG 
sports pitch 

£54,561 31 March 2021 Installation of 3G 
artificial pitch 

Cupid Green 
tennis/netball 
courts resurfacing 

£60,000 31 March 2021 Resurfacing of hard 
courts and general 
improvements 

Grovehill-Woodhall 
Farm APG sports 
pitch 

£156,647 31 March 2021 Installation of 3G 
artificial pitch 

Page 229



 

Page 9 of 10 
 

Infrastructure Spent Date Spent Spend Description 

Eastwick Row 
Housing 
Development 
(Social Rent) 

£212,826 31 March 2021 Partial funding of 34 
new Social Rent 
properties 

Nicky Line 
Improvements 

£36,656 31 March 2021 Enhancement of 
public access and 
improvement of 
habitat diversity 
(Year 2 of 4) 

Northend & 
Westerdale 
housing 

£122,835 31 March 2021 Temporary  
accommodation flats 
(Year 2 of 2) 

TA housing 
creation 

£18,630 31 March 2021 Temporary  
accommodation 
units 

  

ii) The amount of planning obligation money spent on repaying money borrowed, 

including any interest, with details of the items of infrastructure which that money was 

used to provide are as follows: 

Date Amount Used Loan/Interest Infrastructure Funded 

n/a n/a n/a n/a 

 

iii) The amount of planning obligation money spent in respect of administration of 

planning obligations and monitoring in relation to the delivery of planning obligations 

during the reported year was £2,292. 

 

j) The total amount of money retained (i.e. unallocated) at the end of the reported year is 

£602,732. Of this amount retained, an amount of £0 has been retained for long-term 

maintenance.  

  

Page 230



 

Page 10 of 10 
 

Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations (2019 Amendment) Regulation 121A  

The Infrastructure List  

A statement of the infrastructure projects or types of infrastructure which the charging 

authority intends will be, or may be, wholly or partly funded by CIL. 

 
A report to Cabinet in November 2016 detailed the following themes that the Infrastructure 

Advisory Group identified as priorities for funding:  

 

 Transport Infrastructure  

 Infrastructure for East Hemel Hempstead 

 

The Council is currently preparing its revised Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) alongside the 

revised new Local Plan. When completed the IDP will provide a more detailed list of 

infrastructure priorities which will require funding, this will be reflected in future updates to 

the Infrastructure Funding Statement. 

Page 231



Developer Contributions (S106) – Projects Funded in 2020/21 

 

New homes and other buildings create extra demands on local facilities.  Where it is not possible 

to address a development’s impact on-site, the Council seeks off-site contributions from 

developers via agreements known as Section 106s. These payments are used to mitigate impacts 

by funding new facilities or to expand and improve current amenities in the locality. Below are 

some projects which have been fully or part-funded by these developer contributions in the 

financial year 2020/21. 

 

 

Adventure Playground Refurbishments 

The play equipment at Adeyfield and Grovehill & Woodhall 

Farm Adventure Playgrounds had become rotten and some had 

been removed, leaving very little play value for visitors. The old 

structures were replaced with new play equipment in 2020 

meeting modern standards which means that the Adventure 

Playgrounds are now safer and require less maintenance than 

previously.  

There has been fantastic feedback from users of the sites, with 

families commenting on how colourful the playgrounds now 

look and appreciating the more inclusive equipment.  Covid 

restrictions have meant a limit on the number of people that 

could be on site at any one time, but the sites were nearly 

hitting full capacity every day in the first half of July 2021. 

 

Adeyfield Adventure Playground funding: £70,000 

Grovehill & Woodhall Farm Adventure Playground funding: £109,000 

Page 232



 

New 3G Floodlit Sports Pitches 

New 3G artificial turf pitches with floodlighting were 

installed at the Adeyfield and Grovehill & Woodhall 

Adventure Playground sites in 2020. 3G artificial turf is a 

very durable all weather surface which does not get easily 

damaged or waterlogged.  When combined with the 

floodlighting this means that  the pitches can be used for 

more hours a day and more days per year than traditional 

turf pitches.   

 

The Adeyfield 3G pitch is 35m x 18m, whilst Grovehill has a 

full size pitch. Demand for all weather sports pitches in the 

borough is high – these will provide additional facilities that 

can be used by the public, community and sports clubs. 

Feedback from users has been very positive since these new 

facilities opened. 

 

 

Adeyfield 3G pitch funding: £54,500 

Grovehill & Woodhall Farm 3G pitch funding: £156,500 

 

 

Housing at Northend and Westerdale 

Williams House, Northend and Howe Grove 

House, Westerdale in Hemel Hempstead were 

completed in Summer 2020. They are two 

former council garage sites and now provide 12 

flats to support residents in need of temporary 

accommodation. Across the two developments 

they offer 10 two-bedroom and two one-

bedroom flats. 

 

 

 

Developer Contributions Funding: £1.2 million (funded over 2 years) 
Page 233



 

Cupid Green Playing Pitches 

Dacorum Borough Council has 5 football pitches at Cupid 

Green playing fields - these range from junior pitches to full 

size adult pitches. The location suffers from poor drainage 

which results in match/practice cancellations or damage to 

the pitches. Developer Contributions have funded new 

equipment to assist with drainage works and funding for 

works to improve the playing surface, with the aim of 

bringing it from ‘poor’ to ‘community’ standard within 3 

years. The results are already looking good! 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Developer Contributions Funding: £121,000 over 3 years (2020/21 was Year 1) 

 

 

Cupid Green Tennis/Netball Courts 

The courts at Cupid Green Playing Fields were showing 

their age. They received a complete resurface, new nets 

and gates were installed and general improvements 

were made to the area. The courts re-opened in Spring 

2021.  There are 4 tennis courts/3 netball courts 

available to hire and these can be used by the general 

public free of charge, with a small charge for 

organisation or club use. 

Developer Contributions Funding: £60,000 

Page 234



 

 

   Improvements to the Nicky Line 

 

The Nicky Line, a former railway line, is a popular cycle route and 

footpath. It also forms an important green corridor for wildlife. A 

four year project funded by Developer Contributions aims to 

enhance public access to, and use of, the Nicky Line as a 

sustainable transport option and for leisure purposes. The 

project also focuses on improving habitat diversity, and 

appropriate management of trees near adjacent properties to 

reduce risk to these buildings. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Developer Contributions Funding: £146,625 

over 4 years (2020/21 was Year 2) 

 

 

 

 

Page 235



 
 

Report for: Cabinet 
 

Date of meeting: 19 October 2021 

Part: 1 

If Part II, reason:  

 
Title of report:  

Contact: Councillor Margaret Griffiths, Portfolio Holder for Housing 
 
Author/Responsible Officer – Natasha Beresford, 
Strategic Housing Group Manager 

Purpose of report: 1. To inform members of the revisions to the Housing 
Allocations Policy and provide the opportunity for 
members to offer comments. 

Recommendations 1. That Cabinet approves the implementation of the new 
Housing Allocations policy. 

 
 

Period for post 
policy/project review 

The Policy will be reviewed annually following 
implementation and upon any legislative change or case 
law revision. 

Corporate objectives: Providing good quality affordable homes in particular for 
those most in need 
 
Building sustainable communities 

Implications: 
 
 
 
 
‘Value for money’ 
implications 

Financial 
 
No identified financial implications for the service through 
implementation of the new policy. 
 
Value for money 
 
The Housing Service & its costs are reviewed annually 
through a national benchmarking organisation 
(Housemark). The Council properties let via the Council’s 
Housing Allocations Policy are let in line with the Rent 
Regulators framework. 

Risk implications The intention of this report is to comply with legislation 
and therefore avoid the risk of non-compliance. 
 

 

Page 236

Agenda Item 12



Community Impact 
Assessment 

Community Impact Assessment carried out as per 
Appendix 8. 
 

Health and safety 
Implications 

Health & Safety is an identified key risk for the Housing 
Service and is managed in line with corporate guidelines. 

Monitoring Officer/ 

S.151 Officer  

Comments 

Deputy Monitoring Officer 

1.The allocation of housing accommodation by local 
housing authorities (LHAs) is regulated by Part VI of the 
Housing Act 1996.  Further to Section 166A(1) of the 
Housing Act 1996 (as amended by the Homelessness Act 
2002 and the Localism Act 2011) it is a statutory 
requirement for the council to have a scheme for 
determining priorities between qualifying persons and as 
to the procedure to be followed. 

2.It is good practice to review the schemes regularly to 
ensure compliance with the law and relevant guidance 
and that the scheme is addressing housing need 
effectively in the LHA’s area.  

Deputy S151 Officer 

The proposed changes to the housing allocations policy 
will not have a direct impact on financial Strategy of the 
HRA.   

Consultees: 

 

Mark Gaynor – Corporate Director, Housing and 
Regeneration 

Oliver Jackson – Group Manager, Tenants and 
Leaseholders 

Layna Warden – Group Manager, Communities 

Tenant & Leaseholder Committee 

Cybele Fernandes, Diversity & Inclusion Lead Officer 

Portfolio Holder Chief Officer Group 

Background papers: Appendix 1 - Housing Allocations Policy 2017 

Appendix 2 – TLC Presentation November 2020 

Appendix 2a – Housing Allocations Policy TLC report 

Appendix 3 – Member Development presentation 
December 2020 

Appendix 4 – Consultation results (survey) 

Page 237



Appendix 5 – Herts LA income thresholds and Local 
connection  

Appendix 6 – Village Connection data  

Appendix 7 – New Draft Housing Allocations Policy  

Appendix 8 – Equalities Impact Assessment 

Glossary of acronyms 
and any other 
abbreviations used in 
this report: 

TLC – Tenant and Leaseholder Committee 

 
 
1.0  Introduction 
 
1.0.1 The Council’s current Housing Allocations policy was reviewed In November 

2017 and adopted in April 2018 following Cabinet approval.  There were minor 
amendments made to the policy by way of Portfolio Holder decision since 
adoption and the policy was last updated in February 2021. A copy of the 
current Housing Allocations Policy is at Appendix 1. 
 

1.0.2 Local authorities are required to have a defined housing allocations scheme 
in line with the Housing Act 1996, Part 6 (Allocations).  A housing authority 
allocates accommodation when it:  

 selects a person to be a secure or introductory tenant of accommodation held 
by that authority; 

 nominates a person to be a secure or introductory tenant of accommodation 
held by another housing authority; 

 nominates a person to be an assured tenant of accommodation held by a 
Private Registered Provider. 

 
The Act provides detailed explanation of the rules and exceptions governing 
the allocation of social housing.  Local authorities must ensure that their 
allocations scheme is compliant with the framework, associated legislation and 
caselaw.   

  
1.0.3 In accordance with the Localism Act 2011, each local authority has the right to 

determine its own Housing Allocations Policy. This allows local authorities to 
give “reasonable preference” to certain categories of applicants, ensure that 
properties are allocated in a fair and reasonable manner as well as enabling 
better management of stock. The defined policy sets out the rules that the 
Council must follow when letting properties. This also allows the Council to 
manage unrealistic expectations of those applicants who have little or no 
prospect of being allocated a property. It is a legal requirement that the policy 
is reviewed in the event of legislative and or caselaw change, in absence of 
such change the policy should be revised every 4 years. 

 
2.0  Reviewing existing policy 
 

Page 238



2.0.1 In reviewing the existing policy, the service has engaged with key stakeholders 
and customers, regarding key service issues and trends identified during the 
life of the policy. This has been an extensive process with several opportunities 
for feedback to be provided. 

 
2.0.2 Initial consultation was undertaken with the TLC in November 2020 (Appendix 

2 and 2a), followed by a dedicated Member Development session in December 
2020 (Appendix 3). This gave the opportunity for an overview of the Allocations 
Policy framework and discussion of key issues. 

 
2.0.3 Internal service engagement was undertaken by the Housing Needs Team 

Leader through a series of 121 meetings and discussions at the Housing 
Operations Meeting.  This, and the prior sessions with the TLC and Members, 
helped to inform the survey developed in partnership with the Corporate 
Communications team. 

 
2.0.4 A public consultation was made available via a link on the Council’s main 

Moving with Dacorum website, which was shared with key partners and 
promoted via social media, this provided a six- week window through 
February and March 2021 for stakeholders to give their feedback.  Results of 
the survey can be seen at Appendix 4. 

 
2.0.5 Following receipt of the survey results, there was final internal consultation via 

the Housing Senior Management Team in May 2021 proposing key changes 
that were to be presented to the TLC on 27 May 2021.  Thereafter feedback 
and comments were shaped into the draft Housing Allocations Policy, which 
was discussed with the Portfolio Holder, Councillor Margaret Griffiths.  This 
led to a further elected member group discussion in July 2021 relating to 
proposals regarding the local connection criteria, which helped to shape the 
final policy draft. 

   
3.0 Revised policy development and key changes proposed 
 
3.0.1 The following points outline the key areas of change proposed in the new draft 

policy following extensive engagement. 
 
3.0.2 The council retains 1906 supported housing properties, broken down these 

are 691 dispersed properties in the community such as bungalows and 1215 
properties that are within a scheme. The Housing Needs Team have 
continually experienced challenges in allocating to supported housing 
properties for a number of reasons, which is primarily due to the stock not 
lending itself to modern living requirements of the applicants.  In addition to 
this, and in line with the previous policy. a capital threshold of £250,000 was 
set for applicants in order to be eligible to apply for stock.  Applicants owning 
property or having savings/capital above this value cannot be considered.  
Elected Members have been consulted and have provided no strong steer in 
relation to the threshold, however have been clear that letting supported 
housing stock is a priority.  It is proposed to remove the capital threshold, 
which will enable more households to access social housing and reduce the 
number of vacancies in the stock.  

3.0.3 Current Allocation Policy states that local connection should be 10 years 
residence in Dacorum at any point in an applicant’s lifetime or 10 years 
residence of an immediate family member. In addition, applicants with 16 

Page 239



hours or more permanent employment within the borough boundary for 2 
years or more would qualify for local connection.  Applicants wishing to live in 
a village within Dacorum, would need to identify a local connection for 10 
years or more to that village.  It is proposed that the local connection is not 
reduced in line with the Homelessness legislation (6 out of last 12 months or 3 
out of 5 years) and that it should remain as previously mentioned.  In relation 
to village connection criteria it is proposed that this be reduced to 5 years (to 
specific village) with a 10 year Dacorum connection. This is to reflect the 
growing number of allocations being made to applicants without a village 
connection or less than 10 years. 

3.0.4 Currently applicants applying to the housing register, must evidence that they 
have capital/savings below £16,000 and household income of no more than 
£60,000.  The service is experiencing unprecedented demand for social 
housing, in many cases from households who are able to resolve their 
housing difficulty through their own means and do not require access to social 
housing.  As a result, it is proposed to introduce tiered income thresholds for 
applicants joining the register, so as to ensure that social housing is for those 
households who are unable to access other forms of affordable 
accommodation. Proposed thresholds are indicated below: 

1 bedroom: £40,000; 2 bedroom £50,000 and 3 bedroom + £60,000. 
 

3.0.5 The Dacorum Bedroom Standard states that a pair of same sex children up to 
the age of 16 years old can share a bedroom and a pair of different sex 
children are entitled to their own bedroom once the eldest child reaches 5 
years, in this instance overcrowding points are awarded. This was previously 
introduced to free up two-bedroom properties, however the change several 
years on has meant that there is an increased demand for three-bedroom 
properties which cannot be realised. Following engagement, it was deemed 
reasonable to propose that a pair of different sex children should be eligible 
for their own bedroom at the age of 10 years unless a medical need 
determines otherwise.  This proposal may see a reduction in the number of 
households living in unaffordable accommodation as a result of the bedroom 
tax and brings the standard in line with Housing Benefit Regulations. 

 
3.0.6 Throughout the review process the service has also considered feedback 

from complaints, MP enquiries and service requests.  An observation of the 
current policy is that several areas are open to interpretation, which can lead 
to confusion for applicants and increased customer enquiries as a result, 
which impacts on service delivery and response times.  The new draft policy 
seeks to resolve this by providing an increased level of detail regarding the 
application and assessment process, plus information regarding other related 
areas. In addition, there is a further intention that a suite of supporting 
documentation and detailed process maps will be developed to enable our 
customers to better self-serve, which is hoped will further reduce response 
times. 
 

3.0.7 As the letting of social housing using the Allocations Policy framework is a 
statutory function, the service must ensure it is compliant with the legislative 
framework that underpins the policy.  As a result, the new draft policy, which 
can be viewed at Appendix 7 has been reviewed by external counsel and the 
Council’s own Legal Service prior to presentation to Portfolio Holder Chief 
Officer Group. The external Barrister has provided comments on the policy 

Page 240



and made minor amendments to wording and key statements, and has 
confirmed that the document is sufficient to comply with the legislative 
framework and associated caselaw. 

 
3.0.8  The service has liaised with the Diversity and Inclusion Lead Officer to 

undertake an Equalities Impact Assessment, which can be seen at Appendix 
8. 

 

4.0 Conclusion 

4.0.1 The Strategic Housing Service has completed a full review of the Housing 
Allocations Policy, which can be seen at Appendix 7.  Full consultation has 
been undertaken with all key stakeholders and the policy is considered to 
meet the statutory framework. 

 
5.0       Recommendation 

 
5.0.1 That Cabinet approves the draft Housing Allocations policy at Appendix 7. 
 

Page 241



 

Page 242



 

  

 

  Housing Allocations Policy 
 

Last reviewed November 2017, adopted April 2018.  

(Updated February 2021) 

P
age 243



 

 

  

1.0 Allocations policy overview  

This policy will be reviewed on an annual basis. 

Contents 
1.0 Policy overview 

1.1 Introduction 
1.2 Aim(s) of the policy 
1.3 Links to the council’s corporate aims 
1.4 Equality and diversity 
1.5 Policy statement 

 
2.0 Eligibility and Qualification  

2.1 Age 
2.2 Local Connection 
2.3 Right to Move 
2.4 Home Ownership 
2.5 Financial Means 
2.6 Anti-social Behaviour 
2.7 Rent Arrears 
2.8 Deliberately Worsened Circumstances 
2.9 False, Misleading or Withheld Information 
2.10  The Household 

 
3.0 Administration of the Housing Register  

3.1 Bidding 
3.2 Property Adverts 
3.3 Direct Offers 
3.4 Checks and Assessments 
3.5 Renewal and Removal 
3.6 Review and Appeal 
3.7 Disclosure of Information and Conflicts of Interest 

 
4.0 Points and Additional Priority   

4.1 People Who Are Homeless 
4.2 Unsanitary, Overcrowded and Unsatisfactory Housing 
4.3 Medical and Welfare  
4.4 Moving Due to Hardship 
4.5 Armed Forces 
4.6 Right to Move 
4.7 Other Additional Priority Criteria 
4.8 Bedroom Criteria 

 
5.0 Further Specific Criteria 

5.1 Adapted Properties 
5.2 Village Lettings 
5.3 Local Lettings Scheme 
5.4 Supported Housing and Flexi Care 

 
6.0 Exemptions and Exceptions 

 
7.0 Appendices  

1.1 Introduction  
Dacorum Borough Council (DBC) is committed to allocating all 

social and affordable housing within the borough to those in 

most need and ensuring people have the best possible chance 

of sustaining their tenancy. This Housing Allocations Policy sets 

out how we prioritise applications for council and housing 

association homes based on a person’s circumstances and 

level of housing need. 

To deliver this, we manage a choice based lettings system in 

Dacorum and households wanting to apply to be on the 

Council’s housing register will need to complete an application 

form online at Moving with Dacorum. Whilst Moving with 

Dacorum advertises all social and affordable housing options, 

this policy only applies to the allocation of council-owned 

homes.  

 

Support is available to those applicants who are unable to 

submit their application online by either visiting the customer 

service unit at The Forum or by requesting a paper application. 

Each housing association within the borough will have its own 

allocations policy, which may have different rules about who is 

eligible. These policies should be available on their website or 

by contacting the housing association directly.  

DBC no longer maintains a deferred housing register.  

Applicants who are not accepted to the housing register are 

encouraged to re-apply if and when their circumstances 

change.  

1.2 Aim(s) of the policy  
The aims of this policy are to: 
 Ensure we allocate homes appropriately and fairly to 

those in need;  

 Ensure we make best use of local housing stock; 

 Create sustainable communities; and 

 Set out our approach to eligibility for and qualification to 
DBC’s housing register.  
 

1.3 Links to council’s corporate 
aims 
This policy supports the council’s corporate priorities of 
providing good quality affordable homes, in particular 
for those most in need; and building strong and vibrant 
communities. Our corporate priorities are set out in 
‘Delivering for Dacorum – Corporate Plan 2015-2020’.  
 

1.4 Equality and diversity  

The council is committed to promoting equality of 
opportunity in housing services and has procedures in 
place to ensure that all Applicants and Tenants are 
treated fairly and without unlawful discrimination in 
line with the Equality Act 2010.  
 

1.5 Policy Statement(s) 

Applicants will need to meet eligibility and any 
applicable qualification requirements in order to be 
active on the housing register (see 2.0).  
 

We will administrate the housing register and allocate 

homes by adhering to a fair and transparent process 

(see 3.0).  

 

Points will be awarded to applicants based on their 

housing need and priority group status (see 4.0).  

 

We will offer additional priority to applicants who fit 

specialist criteria (see 5.0).  

 

There are a number of exemptions and exceptions to 

the guidelines laid out in this policy (see 6.0).   

P
age 244

https://www.movingwithdacorum.org.uk/
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/council-democracy/corporate-plan_v9.pdf?sfvrsn=0


 

 

 

  

2.0 Eligibility & Qualification 

As a local authority, we must adhere to all legal 
requirements that affect who we allocate social and 
affordable housing to. We are required to consider an 
applicant’s eligibility at the time of their initial 
application and again when they have been successful in 
bidding for a property in order to allocate them a home. 
If an applicant is found not eligible at any time during 
this process, the allocation cannot continue and neither 
a sole nor a joint tenancy can be granted.      

Under this policy, an applicant is not eligible if:   

 They are subject to immigration control (unless 
covered under the exceptions stated in the Housing 
Act 1996, Part 6).  

 They are prescribed as being ‘persons from abroad’ 
as defined in the Housing Act 1996, Part 6. 

Where an applicant lacks capacity, the housing service 
will liaise with the relevant appointed representative to 
ensure that their housing needs are fully assessed and 
appropriate arrangements are made to meet future 
accommodation needs. This may include liaison with 
alternative housing agencies to provide specialist 
packages of support. 

In addition to eligibility, applicants must also meet the 
criteria outlined within the rest of this policy in order to 
qualify for the housing register and bid on homes. 
Eligible but non-qualifying applicants will not receive a 
sole tenancy under this policy; however, they will be able 
to enter into a joint tenancy as long as the other 
applicant is both eligible and qualifying. The qualifying 
criteria do not apply to applicants to whom a reasonable 
preference must be given under the Housing Act 1996 
and Regulations made by the Secretary of State. 

2.1) Age 

Applicants must be 18 or over, unless age 16 or 17 and 
are either entitled to a reasonable preference under Part 
6 of the Housing Act 1996 or are otherwise considered as 
part of a high risk property group (see 4.0).  

 

2.2) Local Connection 
 

Subject to the exceptions outlined below, applicants must 
meet the local connection criteria by providing evidence of 
at least one of the following:  

 A 10 year residency within the borough at some point 
in their lifetime;  

 Family connection where an immediate family member 
(parents, children, siblings) has continuously been a 
resident within the borough for 10 years immediately 
preceding the date of application; 

 Currently in permanent employment within the 
borough boundary, consisting of 16 hours a week or 
more, and which has been continuous for the last 24 
months.  

Additional local connection criteria apply to certain villages 
within the borough; applicants will need to meet criteria  
above for the specific village and applicants with a 
connection to the specified village are given priority at the 
short listing stage (see 5.2). There are however a number 
of circumstances which mean that an applicant may not 
need to meet the local connection criteria in order to 
qualify, these are as follows:  

 Current council or housing association resident living 
within the borough;  

 Applicants for sheltered housing aged 60 and over or 
between 50 – 59 when there is a medical or social 
isolation need recognized by the internal housing 
panel; 

 Members of the armed forces where the application is 
made within 5 years of discharge (includes bereaved 
spouses and civil partners leaving service family 
accommodation following the death of their partner);  

 Existing social housing tenants seeking to transfer from 
another local authority district in England because they 
work in the district, need to avoid hardship or need to 
move to take up an offer of work in the area (see 
below ‘Right to Move’)  

 Where the requirement of a local connection may 
infringe equality and diversity legislation (e.g. Equality 
Act 2010). These applications will be considered on a 
case by case basis by the Housing Panel; or 

 Residents living in refuges within the Dacorum area.  

2.0 Eligibility and 

Qualification  

 

P
age 245



 

  

to the council (including council tax), a housing association 
or a private rented sector landlord, unless six months of 
regular repayments have been made and these 
repayments have been shown to reduce the arrears debt. 
This includes both current and former arrears. Applicants 
will also not qualify if they or any member of their 
household:  
 

 Have been evicted on the grounds of rent arrears from 
a council or housing association property in the five 
years immediately preceding the application; or 

 There is an existing notice or a possession order on the 
property.  

 
Exceptions may be made in certain circumstances, e.g. a 
current tenant downsizing to make rent payments more 
manageable, which will be considered at the discretion of 
the internal housing panel. When exceptions are made, 
and an applicant with arrears is permitted to move, any 
debt owed to the council will still be required to be paid. 
 
2.8) Deliberately Worsened Circumstances 
 

An applicant will not qualify if there is evidence that they 
have deliberately changed their circumstances in order to 
qualify to and/or receive additional priority on the housing 
register.  
 
2.9) False, Misleading or Withheld Information 
 

Applicants will not qualify if they have deliberately 
provided fraudulent information by: 
 

 Giving false information; 

 Not disclosing all information required; or  

 Not informing the housing service of any important 
changes to their situation.  
 

If an applicant is found to have provided any false or 

misleading information or they have withheld information 

that is relevant to their housing application, their current 

and any future applications will be suspended. Action may 

also be taken against the applicant by the corporate anti-

fraud team. This may result in prosecution.  

 

 
and will be signed off as an exception to policy by the Assistant 
Director of Housing.  
 
2.5) Financial Means 
 

Applicants will not qualify if they have the financial means to 
meet their own housing need. We define this as the applicant 
and/or their partner having in excess of £60,000 gross income 
or £16,000 in savings (except where a lump sum has been paid 
to a current or former member of the armed forces as 
compensation). Supported housing applicants will be exempt 
from this criteria if it is evident that their financial means is 
£250,000 or less.   
 
2.6) Anti-Social Behaviour 
 

Applicants will not qualify where there is evidence that legal or 
other serious action has been taken against any member of the 
household due to anti-social behaviour (ASB) within the 2 
years immediately preceding the date of application. 
Applicants with any of the below legal orders will not be 
considered to qualify and will be unable to access the housing 
register for a period of 1, 3 or 5 years (see below): 
 

 Acceptable Behaviour Contract (1 year); 

 Community Protection Notice (1 year); 

 Legal Undertakings (3 years); 

 Anti-Social Behaviour Injunction (3 years); 

 Premise Closure Order (5 years); or 

 Criminal Behaviour Order (5 years).  
 
In addition, applicants will also not qualify if they or any 
members of their household: 
 

 Have been evicted on the grounds of ASB in the 5 years 
immediately preceding the application; 

 Have held a demoted tenancy due to ASB in the 2 years 
immediately preceding the application; or 

 Are a person known to be or have been involved with 
serious ASB within the 2 years immediately preceding the 
application, as per the advice of the council’s ASB team.  

 
2.7) Rent Arrears  
 

Applicants will not qualify where there is evidence that they or 
a member of the household has property-related arrears owed  
 

 

2.0 Eligibility and 

Qualification 

 

 
2.3) Right to Move 
 

Applicants applying for housing within Dacorum from 
another local authority due to an offer of work within the 
borough must demonstrate a genuine intention to take up 
the offer. Evidence can include a contract of employment, 
wage slips or bank statements, tax/benefit information and 
a formal offer letter. Any contracts must be for more than 
12 months, consisting of 16 hours or more a week. 
Voluntary work does not qualify for the right to move.  
We must also be satisfied that the required move is based 
on applicants’ needs, rather than wishes. Things considered 
when assessing this include (but are not limited to):  
 

 Distance / time to travel between work and home; 

 Opportunities available closer to home; 

 Impact on opportunity to improve employment 
circumstances (e.g. promotion; 

 Availability and affordability of transport. 
 
The council may contact the employer to verify an 
application at the point of joining the housing register or 
before making an offer.  
 

2.4) Home Ownership 
 

Applicants must not own the freehold or leasehold to any 
property within the UK and/or internationally. This does not 
apply to supported housing applicants aged 60 or over. 
However, if a supported housing applicant has sufficient 
means (including financial interest in a property) to 
purchase suitable accommodation for their needs in the 
Dacorum area they may not qualify for an allocation. If 
exceptional circumstances preclude this from happening 
they may still be eligible for supported housing. Such 
applications will be assessed on a case-by-case basis 

 

2.0 Eligibility and 

Qualification  

 

P
age 246



 

 

  

2.0 Eligibility and 

Qualification 

3.0 Administration of the 

Housing Register  

 
2.10) The Household 
 

As part of the application, applicants will be required to 
prove they have lived at their current address for a 
minimum of 12 months immediately before application and 
give details of all members of their household.  
 
Any non-dependent children (aged 18 or over) or other 
adults who are considered part of applicants the household 
must have lived with the applicant for a minimum of 12 
months and continue to do so. Any changes to the 
household may affect the level of priority afforded to them 
under the qualification criteria.  
 
Subject to a review of supporting evidence by the council’s 
independent medical advisor, dependent adults who have 
joined or wish to join a household because they are unable 
to live independently are not required to have lived with the 
applicant for the minimum of 12 months.   
 
If an applicant holds responsibility for residency of a child 
through a court decision, the child is immediately 
considered part of the household.   
 
Residency arrangements agreed by parents require the 
applicant to provide supporting evidence of the 
arrangement, including evidence that the child has been 
living as part of their household for a minimum of 6 months 
and any documents required by Housing Benefit to support 
this claim.  
 
Any child residency arrangements submitted as part of a 
housing application will be checked throughout the  
 
 

application process and the period of the tenancy.  
 
A child is not part of the household if: 
 

 The applicant has staying contact with the child for less 
than 50% of the time; or  

 In the case of equal contact time, the property will not be 
the child’s main or principal home.  

 
A baby will be considered a household member from the date 
of birth, and not during the pregnancy.  
 
However, some housing associations will consider an unborn 
baby as a household member at the point that the mother  
receives her MATB1 certificate. For this reason, the council 
will still take a record of the MATB1 and in these cases an 
applicant may be able to bid for larger housing association 
properties prior to the birth.  
 
Where the applicant is eligible (see 2.0) but other members of 
the household are not eligible, they may be considered as 
part of the application if they are dependent. This applies to 
both adults and children.  
 
Applicants applying as part of a couple will need to decide 
who is the primary applicant as both partners will be 
considered as members of the household and will not be able 
to hold an active application in both names. These 
applications are assessed on the primary applicant’s housing 
need only.  
 

3.0 Administration of the Housing 
Register  

3.1) Bidding  
 

Applicants who have applied to be on the housing register, 
are eligible, and qualify can then begin bidding on properties 
through Moving with Dacorum. Alternative options for 
bidding include: 
 

 Over the phone on 0300 111 3570; 

 By text message to 07786 201131; or 

 In person at The Forum, Hemel Hempstead.  

Due to the operation of a choice based lettings system 
whereby applicants pick which properties they wish to bid 
for, we consider it reasonable to expect that where an 
applicant has been successful in bidding for their chosen 
property, they will accept the offer of that property.  
 
Therefore, successful applicants will only receive one 
property offer. A refusal of a property will only be 
considered if the applicant can provide evidence of a valid 
reason, of which the Independent Reviewing Officer shall 
be the final arbiter, as to why they cannot accept it. 
Examples of reasons which are unlikely to be considered 
valid include (but are not limited to);  
 

 Location, size or layout  of property; 

 Condition of property; or 

 Lack of garden and/or parking facilities (unless 
required under a medical needs assessment).  

 
Where an applicant can provide evidence to support their 
refusal, and this is accepted by the Independent Reviewing 
Officer, they will be able to continue bidding on other 
properties. Where an applicant cannot provide evidence to 
support their refusal of a property, their offer can be 
cancelled and they may be unable to bid on any future 
homes for 6 months.  
 
3.2) Property Adverts 
 

All properties (except supported housing), advertised 
through Moving with Dacorum will be made live on any 
given weekday. They will then remain live for a minimum of 
three days, closing at one minute to midnight on the final 
day. The first day of advertising will be the day on which an 
advert goes live, provided it goes live before midday; and 
will otherwise be the day afterwards. 
 
We recommend that applicants check for properties a 
minimum of every three days to avoid missing 
opportunities to bid. 
 
Supported housing properties are advertised on a weekly 
cycle and adverts will be live for five days, from one minute 
to midnight on a Thursday until one minute to midnight on 
the following Monday.  
 

P
age 247

https://www.movingwithdacorum.org.uk/


 

 

  

 
 
3.3) Direct Offers 
 

On some occasions, properties will be allocated through a 
direct offer. A direct offer means that an applicant will not 
bid on properties but will receive one offer of suitable 
accommodation. Direct offers are made by the housing 
service outside of the choice based lettings system. When 
making a direct offer the council is required to consider the 
suitability of a property for all members of the household.  
 
These offers are used as part of our approach to preventing 
homelessness. Applicants who are given a homelessness 
status at the point of receiving the main housing duty will 
receive one direct offer of suitable accommodation.  
 
In addition to homeless applicants, direct offers may also 
be used: 
 

 To match applicants requiring complex adaptations to 
a suitable property; 

 For applicants living in Mother & Baby units; 

 In the case of hard-to-let properties (advertised at 
least twice with no suitable bids); 

 For applicants in high-risk priority groups (see 4.0) 
where a sensitive letting is required; or 

 For individual cases that would usually fall outside of 
this policy but have an urgent or high risk housing need 
(these offers can only be approved by the internal 
Housing Panel) 

 
As with all other offers, applicants will only receive one 
direct offer of accommodation.  
 

3.0 Administration of the 

Housing Register 

 

 

3.4) Checks and Assessments 
 

If an applicant is successful in bidding, a full verification is 
carried out at the point of offer. In some cases, a full 
verification may be carried out before an offer is made.  
 
Documents required as part of this include (but are not 
limited to):  
 

 Proof of identity; 

 Proof of income and savings;  

 Proof of residency of children (Child Benefit);  

 Proof of pregnancy (MATB1 Form);  

 Confirmation of immigration status and right to work 
if from abroad;  

 Medical evidence; and 

 Notice of eviction (if relevant).  
 
Existing tenants seeking a transfer will also need to make 
themselves available for a home visit.  
 
Applicants can aid this process by ensuring they have 
accurately reflected their circumstances in their 
application and by making sure they have all the 
necessary documents required to evidence their situation.  
 
At the point an offer has been made, if an applicant 
cannot provide their documentation within 48 hours 
(unless there are exceptional circumstances), the offer 
will be withdrawn and the property offered to the next 
eligible person on the shortlist.  
 
3.5) Renewal and Removal 
 

Applicants are required to confirm their details as part of 
renewing their application on an annual basis. The council 
however can ask for confirmation at any point during the 
application process.  
 
All renewal requests must be completed within 28 days 
and completed through Moving with Dacorum. Failure to 
renew an application within this time will result in details 
being deleted from the register. 
 

 
If a renewal application is started but not completed, a 
member of staff will contact the applicant directly to 
request the missing information.  
 
If this information is not supplied to the council’s 
satisfaction within 21 days then the details will be deleted 
from the register as above.  
 
Deleted applicants may re-apply at any point and the new 
application will be considered. It is advised that applications 
are only submitted or renewed if there is a genuine housing 
need.  
 
Applicants can also be removed from the register for other 
reasons including: 
 

 At their request; 

 Where they no longer meet eligibility or qualifying 
requirements;  

 Where they have knowingly provided false, misleading 
or incomplete information; or 

 Where they have accepted an offer of accommodation.  
 
3.6) Reviews and Appeals 
 

As a housing service, we will provide an open and fair review 
process, in accordance with legislation, with appropriate 
support being offered.  
 
Applicants have the right to request a review of decisions 
under the Housing Act 1996:  
 

 Section 160ZA Housing Act 1996 (not a qualifying 
person); or  

 Section 166a Housing Act 1996.  
 
Review requests must be made in writing within 21 days of 
the applicant being notified of the decision. The review will 
be conducted by the Independent Reviewing Officer who is 
not involved in original case assessments.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 248



 

 

  

3.0 Administration of the 

Housing Register 

4.0 Points and Additional 

Priority 

 
Applicants have the right to request an appeal of the 
outcome of review decisions. Any appeal request must be 
made in writing within 21 days of the applicant being notified 
of the review decision. An appeal investigation will be carried 
out by the Group Manager for Strategic Housing.  
 
 
3.7) Disclosure of Information and Conflicts of Interest 
 

Information on any housing applicant is confidential and will 
not be disclosed with any member of the public.  
 
This also applies to any information related to applications. 
Applicant’s family members will need written permission 
from the applicant to access any information.  
 
In certain circumstances, disclosure of an applicant’s 
information to other professionals or services may be 
necessary. This will only apply in certain circumstances for 
example to prevent and detect fraud, or where an applicant 
has particular support needs that need to be met in order to 
enable them to maintain a tenancy.  
 
In such cases, any information that is disclosed will be shared 
on a need to know basis. Examples of services include but are 
not limited to:  
 

 Housing officers or tenancy sustainment officers; 

 Corporate anti-fraud team; 
 

 Occupational health officers; 

 Doctors or social services; 

 Police or probation services; or 

 Other local authorities or housing associations.  
 

Councillors, council employees and their close relatives 
applying to join the housing register must disclose their 
association with DBC on their application form.  

Applicants with an association to DBC that are successful in 
bidding on a property require approval from the Corporate 
Director of Housing and Regeneration prior to the formal offer 
being made. 

4.0 Points and Additional Priority  

All applications are reviewed and assessed by a Housing Needs 
Officer who will make the decisions in terms of allocating 
points to each applicant on the housing register. Points 
awarded are reflective of housing need and are used to bid on 
a property. Applicants with the highest number of points will 
be made an offer on the property at the close of bidding (see 
appendix 1 for a detailed table of points awarded). 
 
If two or more applicants are at the top of the shortlist and are 
in all other ways equal, a property will be offered to the 
applicant with the earliest registration date.  
 
4.1) People Who Are Homeless 
 

Part 7 of The Housing Act 1996 (as referred to in the 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 as the main housing duty) 
distinguishes between people who are homeless with the main 
housing duty to be re-housed by a local authority and those 
who are homeless with no main housing duty. This will also 
reflect the requirements set out by the Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017. Applicants who are homeless but are 
owed either no main housing duty or a limited duty may 
receive points. Those whom we have a full duty to house will 
receive a direct offer as stated in section 3.3.  
 
Prior to receiving the main housing duty decision, applicants 
will receive assistance to prevent homelessness and to bid 
through the choice based letting scheme with points awarded 
for relevant priority need criteria.  
 

4.2) Insanitary, Overcrowded and Unsatisfactory 
Housing 
 

As a council, we recognise that tenants in the private 
rented sector are more likely to be in insanitary or 
otherwise unsatisfactory dwellings which can lead to 
potentially harmful health and safety risks. As a local 
authority, we use the Housing Health and Safety Rating 
System (HHSRS), introduced by the Housing Act 2004 to 
formally score and demonstrate the seriousness of 
hazards in dwellings. To address these issues, we will give 
additional priority to applicants currently in private 
rented sector accommodation if the property is found to: 
 

 Lack facilities or have shared facilities; or 

 Be in a state of disrepair.  
 
This additional preference will only be given once and will 
not increase where applicants identify both of the above 
issues. Points awarded will either be of a ‘high’ or ‘low’ 
category (see Appendix 1) based on the following:  
 
Low: 

 Minor disrepair  
o Category 2 hazard from bands D – F 

under the HHSRS; or 

 Sharing kitchen and/or bathroom facilities.  
 
High: 

 Major disrepair 
o Category 1 hazard from bands A – C 

under the HHSRS,; or 

 Lacking kitchen and/or bathroom facilities. 
  
Both minor and major disrepair will need to be confirmed 
by an officer from the Private Sector Housing Team and 
there must be evidence that the landlord is non-
compliant in carrying out the repairs.  
 
As a local authority we recognise that overcrowding in a 
property can cause stress and have other negative 
impacts on a household. In light of this, we will give 
additional priority to those applicants who are 

overcrowded according to our bedroom standard. 
 

P
age 249

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/9425/150940.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/9425/150940.pdf
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/default-document-library/bedroom-standards---2019.pdf


 

 

  

4.7) Other Additional Priority Criteria 
 

The council is also committed to recognising a number of 
other criteria, and in all cases the additional priority will be 
awarded as points (see appendix 1).  The additional 
priority criteria are as follows: 
 

 Existing tenants of supported housing accommodation 
who wish to move from a dispersed property in the 
community to a supported housing scheme;  

 Existing tenants aged 60 or over in general needs 
accommodation who wish to move into sheltered 
accommodation;  

 Applicants with a dependent child or children who 
occupy a flat on the first floor of a building or above 
which does not have a lift. 

 Active applicants on the housing register who have 
completed a pre-tenancy training course (not including 
transfer tenants); and 

 
Please note that transfer applicants with tenancy breaches 
will be required to complete a pre-tenancy training course 
as part of the approval process for their transfer.  
 
Additional priority criteria have been established in 
relation to other high-risk applicants who are hard-to-
house and may require sensitive lettings. These applicants 
include: 
 

 Care leavers; 

 Witness protection cases; 

 Applicants moving on from supported housing; or  

 Individuals identified through multi-agency 
groups.  

 
Applicants meeting the additional priority criteria are not 
expected to be frequent or high in number and will always 
be considered on a case-by-case basis.  
 
 

 
 
  

which we define as care and support needs or other social 
needs that do not require medical care or support e.g. 
victim of domestic violence. These points are awarded 
using four categories that are reflective of the level of risk 
involved in the applicant remaining in their current 
accommodation. Where appropriate, we may request 
information from relevant professionals involved in the 
applicant’s case to assess the level of need. All welfare 
cases are presented to and assessed by the internal 
housing panel.  
 
4.4) Moving Due to Hardship 
 

In some cases, we understand that current tenants may 
need to move within the borough in order to avoid 
hardship. We consider that hardship may be personal or 
financial. Due to this, we will allocate points to applicants 
who need to move within the borough due to hardship.  
 
4.5) Armed Forces 
 

Members of the armed forces who qualify to our housing 
register will receive additional points if: 
 

 They are serving in the regular forces and are suffering 
from a serious injury, illness or disability which is 
attributable to their service; 

 They formally served in the regular forces;  

 They have recently ceased, or will cease to be entitled 
to reside in the accommodation provided by the 
Ministry of Defence following the death of their spouse 
or civil partner who served in the regular forces and 
whose death was attributable to that service; or 

 They are serving or have served in the reserve forces 
and are suffering from a serious injury, illness or 
disability which is attributable to their service.  
 

4.6) Right to Move  
 

Applicants who meet the ‘Right to Move’ qualifying criteria 
(see 2.3) will receive additional points.  
 

 
 
 
 

4.0 Points and Additional 

Priority 

 

 
 
Any points allocated to an applicant for overcrowding will 
reflect the need set out within the bedroom standard. 
Applicants are advised to read the standard when making 
an application for further information on the size of 
property they may be entitled to.  
 
In order to make best use of our available housing stock, 
we encourage tenants under-occupying their home (see 
4.8 bedroom criteria) to downsize to a smaller property, as 
this is more reflective of their housing need.  
 
Applicants who wish to downsize will receive points based 
on how many bedrooms they would like to downsize by. 
This will need to be specified in the application. As a result, 
the applicant will be limited in the size of property they 
can bid for.   
 
4.3) Medical and Welfare 
 

We will award additional points on medical grounds when 
there is evidence that an applicant’s current housing 
situation is having a direct impact on their and/or a 
household member’s medical condition. The term ‘medical 
grounds’ also covers disability. 
 
Points will be awarded based on four categories (Extreme, 
high, medium or low) and reflect the level of risk caused by 
remaining in the current housing (see Appendix 1). Medical 
cases are assessed by an independent medical advisor who 
will advise the council when making our final decision.  
 
We will also award additional points on welfare grounds,  
 
 
 
 

P
age 250



 

 

  

4.8) Bedroom Criteria 
 

To ensure homes reflect people’s housing need, we operate 
in line with the Governments Code of Guidance 2012 as 

well as the DBC bedroom standards. 
 
Households who fall between the criteria within the 
standards will be able to bid for properties in two size 
categories to provide maximum choice.  
 
For the purpose of this policy, the reference to children 
sharing a room shall be considered to mean siblings or step-
siblings, not other relations or non-relations. We 
understand there may be mitigating circumstances where it 
is not appropriate for siblings or step-siblings to share a 
bedroom as required by the standard. These cases, 
including supporting evidence, will be reviewed on an 
individual basis by the internal housing panel.   
 
Exceptions to the bedroom criteria will also be considered if 
medical evidence is provided to the housing panel showing 
that a member of the household is unable to share a room 
or requires an additional room for medical equipment. 
Prospective adoptive or foster parents will also be 
considered for exemption at the discretion of the housing 
panel.  
 
Where these cases are approved it is essential applicants 
consider the affordability of separate bedrooms as the 
household will be considered under-occupying their home 
which may affect Housing Benefit entitlement.   
 
Some housing association tenancy agreements may differ 
from the bedroom standard used within this policy. In these 
cases, we will restrict the size of the household able to bid 
for the property based on the details received from the 
relevant housing association.    
 

 

5.0 Further Specific Criteria 

5.1) Adapted Properties 
 

Due to the low number of properties available in the 
borough that are suitable to meet the needs of people 
who have mobility and physical health conditions, we are 
committed to making sure that people who need adapted 
properties are prioritised for them.  
 

To do this, we categorise adapted properties and 
applicants who need adaptations as low, medium or high; 
and applicants may only bid for properties falling within 
the category for which their needs are suited (see 
Appendix 2).  Applicants will then be shortlisted according 
to their needs. The applicant whose needs are best 
matched to the adapted property will be given priority. 
 
There is also a fourth category, ‘extreme’, for those 
applicants with very complex needs, where only very few 
properties would be appropriate for the extent of the 
adaptations required. In these cases we will make use of 
direct offers (see 3.3) to allocate appropriately.  
 

5.2 Village Lettings 
 

When shortlisting for village properties, applicants with a 
local connection (see 2.2) to a specific village (known as 
village connection) will be considered above applicants 
without a village connection. Villages for which additional 
priority will be given for a local connection are: 
 
Aldbury, Bovingdon, Chipperfield, Flaunden, Flamsted, 
Great Gaddesden, Gaddesden Row, Kings Langley, Little 
Gaddesden, Long Marston, Markyate, Northchurch, 
Potten End, Wilstone and Wigginton.  
 

Where no bids for village properties have been made by 
applicants with a village connection, the property will be 
direct offered to a suitable household (without 
consideration of village connection). In the event that 
there is no suitable household to receive a direct offer, 
the offer will extend to applicants living and/or working in 
neighbouring parishes, before being opened up to the 
wider applicant population.   
 

4.0 Points and Other Criteria 

5.0 Further Specific Criteria 

 

P
age 251

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/default-document-library/bedroom-standards---2019.pdf


 

 

  

 
In exceptional circumstances the Assistant Director of 
Housing has authority to award additional priority to 
applicants and to amend or dis-apply the qualification 
criteria. All exceptions such as this will be monitored and 
reported on to the Corporate Director of Housing and 
Regeneration.  
 
In the interest of fairness and good administration, such 
awards, amendments and dis-applications will operate at 
the sole and absolute discretion of the Assistant Director of 
Housing and, DBC expects, will be both rare and few in 
number.  

5.0 Further Specific Criteria 

6.0 Exemptions & Exceptions 

 

6.0 Exemptions and Exceptions   

Lettings that are not treated as allocations under this 
scheme include:  
 

 Mutual exchanges between tenants of the council or 
housing associations, whether by Deed of Assignment 
or by commencement of new tenancies (including 
those arranged via national schemes such as 
Homeswapper); 

 Successions of a tenancy  following the death of a 
tenant;  

 Where an introductory tenancy, assured shorthold 
starter, or probationary tenancy becomes an assured or 
secure tenancy; 

 Where a secure or assured tenancy is granted by court 
order under Matrimonial Causes Act 1973, Matrimonial 
and Family Proceedings Act 1984, or Children Act 1989; 
or 

 Where a tenancy is demoted by court order or where a 
demoted tenancy reverts back to secure tenancy status.  

 
Other exemptions may include (but are not limited to): 
 

 A property allocated to a relative or carer of a 
tenant who has died without a statutory right to 
succession being present;  

 Changes to a tenancy which do not result in a 
vacancy (e.g. joint to sole tenancy); 

 Where a vacancy is required to enable us to 
discharge duty to statutorily homeless households; 

 The need to re-house an existing tenant 
temporarily in order to carry out repairs; or 

 Any other exceptional circumstances agreed by the 
Strategic Housing Team Leader and Strategic 
Housing Group Manager.  

 A move agreed from a property with adaptations 
that are no longer required in line with Help to 
Move Policy.  

 

 
5.3) Local Lettings Scheme 
 

At DBC we reserve the right to implement local lettings 
schemes for new developments or to address issues on 
existing estates. These are used to ensure that communities 
are sustainable and contain an appropriate mix of 
households. 
 
5.4) Supported Housing & Flexi Care 
 

Supported housing properties are designed for people aged 
60 and over. Applicants below that age, who seek an 
allocation of supported housing, will be required to 
demonstrate a medical or social isolation need. These 
applications will be assessed by the internal housing panel. 
 
Supported housing residents benefit from a Supported 
Housing Officer who can offer differing levels of support as 
required and/or requested, as well as opportunities to 
socialise with other residents in their supported housing 
scheme.  
 
The majority of our supported housing homes are one 
bedroom, however on occasion a two-bedroom property 
may become available. In these cases, the allocation of this 
property will be considered on a case-by-case basis, 
specifically taking into account the age of any additional 
household members living with the successful applicant and 
how this could impact the wider scheme.  
 
We can also offer Flexi Care supported housing services for 
older people whose needs are beyond the provision 
available within traditional supported housing.  
 

P
age 252

https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home%5Chousing/housing-advice-and-options/older-people/flexicare


 

Priority Category Criteria within priority categories 
For all priority categories, applicants will only receive points for meeting one 
level of criteria.  

Points 

 
 
 
People who are homeless 

All people who are homeless (within the meaning of the Housing Act 1996, 
Part 7), which includes people who are intentionally homeless and those who 
are not in priority need. People with no fixed abode, rough sleepers and sofa 
surfers.  

 
10 

People who are owed the full statutory duty by the housing authority under 
the Housing Act, 1996, Part 7 (as referred to in the Homelessness Reduction 
Act 2017 as the main housing duty).   
Note: Only to be given at the point that the duty is awarded and not before 
even if an applicant is considered likely to receive this.  

 
Homelessness 
Status 

   

 
 
 
 
Condition of private sector property 

Major disrepair – the property has a high level hazard assessed using the 
HHSRS.  
Note: This needs to be confirmed by a local authority Environmental Health 
Officer.  
Or 
Lacking kitchen and/or bathroom facilities.  

 
 
50  

Minor disrepair – the property has a lower level hazard assessed using the 
HHSRS.  
Note: This needs to be confirmed by a local authority Environmental Health 
Officer.  
 

 
 
10 

   

Sharing kitchen and/or bathroom facilities A household that does not have sole use of kitchen and/or bathroom facilities.  
At Dacorum Borough Council we consider this to be in cases when applicants 
are residing in: 
 

- Temporary accommodation which is not self-contained 
- Houses of multiple occupation  
- A household that is living with family or friends and has resided there 

for a minimum of 12 months. 
 

 

10 

   

Appendix 1 

How we allocate points 
 

 

P
age 253



 

 
 
Overcrowding  
 
 

A household that is overcrowded.  
 
At Dacorum Borough Council, we consider overcrowding to occur when an 
additional person does not have a bed-space, if one bedroom is allocated to 
each: 

- Married or co-habiting couple;  
- Adult aged 16 years or more;  
- Pair of children aged 0 – 15 years of the same sex; and 
- Pair of children aged under 5 years regardless of sex.  

 

 
15 
(to be given for 
each additional 
personal lacking a 
bed-space if 
maximum use of 
available bed-
spaces is assumed).  
 

P
age 254



 

 

   

 
 
 
Under-occupation in Council or Housing 
Association properties within Dacorum 

A household choosing to downsize by one or more bedrooms because they are 
currently under-occupying.  
 
Under-occupation will occur when: 

- A bedroom is unoccupied;  
- The household contains two same-sex children aged 15 or under who 

occupy separate bedrooms;  
- The household contains any two children aged 9 or under who occupy 

separate bedrooms.  

 
45 
(to be given for 
each bedroom a 
household is 
choosing to 
downsize by).  
 

   

 
Medical grounds 

Extreme medical needs as awarded by a Medical Advisor 100 

High medical needs as awarded by a Medical Advisor 50 

Medium medical needs as awarded by a Medical Advisor 30 

Low medical needs as awarded by a Medical Advisor 10 

   

 
Welfare grounds 

Extreme welfare needs as awarded by the Housing Panel 100 

High welfare needs as awarded by the Housing Panel 50 

Medium welfare needs as awarded by the Housing Panel 30 

Low welfare needs as awarded by the Housing Panel 10 

   

Children in flats A household with one or more children aged 9 years or under in a flat (first 
floor or above) where no lift is available.  

10 
(only to be given 
once, regardless or 
number of children 
in household).  

   

 
 
 
Members of the armed forces 
 

People who have: 
- Formerly served in the regular forces (including those suffering injury, 

illness or disability attributable to their service);  
- Ceased entitlement to accommodation provided by the Ministry of 

Defence following the death of their spouse or civil partner who served 
in the regular forces (whose death was attributable to that service); 

- Served in the reserve forces, suffering serious injury, illness or 
disability which is attributable to their service. 

 
 
 
10 

P
age 255



 

   

 
Sheltered housing moves  

Existing tenants of sheltered housing in Dacorum who wish to move from 
Category 1 to a Category 2 accommodation.  
Or 
An existing tenant aged 60 or over in general needs bedsit or one bedroom 
accommodation in Dacorum who wishes to move into sheltered 
accommodation.  
 

 
 
25 

   

 
Pre-tenancy training 

People who have completed a pre-tenancy training course.  
Note: Except in the case of a transfer tenant.  

 
5 

   

Length of time on housing register  A single point to be given to people for each year they have been on the 
housing register, up to five years.  

1 
(Up to a maximum 
of 5 points).  
 

   

Use and Occupation Applicants that have been awarded points by Housing Panel in cases where 
they are under ‘Use and Occupation’ and Dacorum Borough Council require 
the property back 
 

50  

   

Hardship Applicants who need to move within the Borough due to hardship as noted by 
the Housing Panel.  
Or 
Applicants who have been awarded the ‘right to move’.  

 
10  

   

High risk groups People from high-risk groups who meet hard-to-house or sensitive lettings 
criteria, such as (this list is not exhaustive):  

- Care leavers;  
- Witness protection cases;  
- Move-on from supported housing; or  
- Individuals identified through multi-agency groups.  

Direct offer or 
points at the 
discretion of the 
Housing Panel.  

P
age 256



 

 

 

 

 

 

Applicant Criteria Property Criteria 

Low: 
- Needs ground floor or property with lift access or a house 

with shallow stairs; 
- Needs a level access shower or shower with a seat;  
- Property accessible by shallow steps or a ramp;  
- Parking close to entrance.  

Low: 
- Ground floor property or property with lift access or a house 

with shallow stairs; 

- Property with a level access shower or shower with a seat;  

- Property accessible by shallow steps or a ramp;  

- Parking guaranteed close to entrance. 

Medium: 
- Needs ground floor property or a property with lift access or 

a house with a stair lift;  
- Needs a level access shower or wet room;  
- Property accessible by shallow steps or a ramp;  
- Parking close to entrance.  

Medium: 
- Ground floor property or property with lift access or a house 

with shallow stairs; 

- Property with a level access shower or shower with a seat;  

- Property accessible by shallow steps or a ramp;  

- Parking guaranteed close to entrance. 

High:  
- Needs ground floor or a property with a lift access wide 

enough for a wheelchair or a house with a stair lift;  
- Space within property for limited wheelchair use in the 

entrance hall;  
- Needs a level access shower or wet room;  
- Needs a level access entrance;  
- Parking close to entrance;  
- Property on a flat road.  

High:  
- Ground floor or a property with a lift access wide enough for 

a wheelchair or a house with a stair lift;  
- Space within property for limited wheelchair use in the 

entrance hall;  
- Property with level access shower or wet room;  
- Property accessible via a level-access entrance;  
- Parking guaranteed close to entrance;  
- Property on a flat road. 

Appendix 2 

How we categorise and allocate adapted properties 
 

 

P
age 257



 

 

 

 

Links to other corporate 
documents 

 

Legislation 

 

This policy links to and should be read in 

conjunction with the following policies and 

strategies:  

 Homelessness Strategy  

 Strategic Tenancy Policy 

 Mutual Exchange Policy 

 Help to move Policy 

 

The legislation listed below will be taken into 
consideration when implementing this policy: 

 

 Housing Act 1996, Part VI and part VII 

 

 Homelessness Act 2002 

 

 Housing Act 2004 

 

 Equality Act 2010 

 

 Localism Act 2011 

 

 Welfare Reform Act 2012 

 

 Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 

P
age 258



TLC Presentation

Proposed changes for the Housing Allocations Policy

Paul Hunt & Taylor Burr

Housing Needs Team

P
age 259



Myth Busting

• Those with the highest priority gets housed

• The Housing Register is a waiting list and you will eventually be housed

• We can enforce downsizing

• People have to make themselves homeless in order the meet the Local Connection 

Criteria

• Having a medical condition, automatically means medical points will be awarded

• You need social or care needs to access Supported Housing

P
age 260



Consultation 

• Currently, 8257 applicants have an active or suspended Housing Register 

application.

• 5987 active applicants, however, only 1205 have placed a bid in the last 12 months.

• 306 submissions for the Housing Allocations Policy Consultation.

• Majority of submissions felt that an applications should be suspended for 6 months if 

an offer is turned down if there is not a valid reason.

• Majority of submissions agreed that applicants should be removed from Housing 

Register if no bid has been placed in last 12 months.

• Other suggestions were consulted on such as, income thresholds and Local 

Coonection.

P
age 261



Proposals

• Increase Supported Housing capital threshold

• Introduce income thresholds

• Removal of inactive applicants

• Local and Village Connection reduced from 10 to 5 years.

• Make tenancy sustainment training mandatory & removal of time points

• Supported Housing applicants to have 3 refusals

• Implementation of Prevention and Relief Points

P
age 262

LA- Income, LC & Stock.docx


Questions

P
age 263



Natasha Beresford, Paul Hunt, Taylor Burr & Laura Brennan

08/12/2020

Member Development Session 

Overview of Housing Allocations Policy 

P
age 264



Strategic position

• Statutory responsibility to deliver allocations functionality

• Current Housing Allocations Policy – Appendix A

• Prevention of homelessness

• Building sustainable communities

• Engagement with Registered Providers- Appendix B

• Liaison with Strategic planning teams

P
age 265



Myth Busting

• Those with the highest priority gets housed

• The Housing Register is a waiting list and you will eventually be housed

• We can enforce downsizing

• People have to make themselves homeless in order the meet the Local Connection 

Criteria

• Having a medical condition, automatically means medical points will be awarded

• You need social or care needs to access Supported Housing

P
age 266



Areas of Challenge

• Supported Housing Demand- Report at Appendix C & D

• Managing Expectations- Appendix E

• Increase of Homelessness Approaches

• Direct Offers & Adaptations

• Village lets

P
age 267



Proposals

• Report went to Tenants & Leaseholder Comity- Appendix F & G

• Increase Supported Housing capital threshold- Appendix H

• Introduce assisted bidding

• Introduce income thresholds- Appendix I

• Removal of inactive applicants

• Review weighting of points

• Consider reducing/ changing village local connection

• Make tenancy sustainment training mandatory & removal of time points

P
age 268



What next? 

• Full stakeholder engagement & consultation

• Draft policy review April - May 2021

• Tenant Leaseholder Committee

• H&COSC June 2021

• Cabinet approval July 2021

• Policy implementation August – September 2021

• Introduction of Registered Provider charging October 2021

P
age 269



Appendix E 

• Waiting List

Dacorum St Albans Hatfield Stevenage

Waiting List 7859 651 2610 1970

1 Bed 5124 209 1409 1168

2 Bed 1703 220 727 354

3 Bed 793 199 410 350

4 Bed + 239 23 64 98

Dacorum St Albans Hatfield Stevenage

10158 4898 9044 7871
Stock

Back

P
age 270



Appendix H 

Back

Supported Housing Info

1906 Supported Housing Properties

691 CAT 1- Community properties

1215 CAT 2- Indoor & Outdoor Schemes

1136 Applicants over the age of 60 on the Housing Register

823 are active

675 of the 823 have stated that would like to move into SH.

P
age 271



Appendix I 

• Income thresholds

Dacorum

£60,000- Household

Watford

£70,000- Household

Stevenage

No Maximum income

St. Albans

1 bed- £35,469- Household

2 bed- £40,351- Household

3 bed- £51,455- Household

4 bed- £61,620- Household

Welwyn & Hatfield

1 bed- £40,000- Household

1 bed (Couple) - £45,000- Household

2 bed- £55,000- Household

3 bed- £73,000- Household

4 bed- £105,000- Household
Back

P
age 272



Consultation Results- 

306 people participated in the consultation. The majority was made up of 81 Homeowners and 79 
council tenants. 

 

241 of those had read the housing allocations policy and of those, 201 were clear on what points 
they were eligible for. 

 

Over a 3rd were somewhat satisfied with the standard of adverts available on the website, with 106 
participants choosing this option. Only 14 were very dissatisfied. 

Should an applicant refuse a property with no valid reason, do you feel their account should be 
suspended for 6 months? 

 

128 felt that an applicant should be suspended for not proving a valid reason when turning down a 
property, these people felt that it’s not a chance to be picky and if were in need of housing would 
accept what was given to them. 

78 felt that an applicant should not be suspended for 6 months, they felt it should be either reduced 
or have 3 offers as previous policy has allowed. There was a regular theme for questioning what is 
considered a valid reason as this is subjective. 

100 had no opinion and made no comment. 

Page 273



Do you think it is reasonable to be removed from the housing register if an applicant has not 
placed a bid in the last 12 months and there have been suitable properties available? 

 

133 people felt that it was reasonable to remove these applicants and felt that these people were 
again not in great need of rehousing and were wasting time. 

90 participants feel that this is not fair as they may want a property in a certain area and this may 
not be available for some time. Wanted clarification on was deemed a suitable property. 

83 had no opinion and made no comment. 

Other local boroughs have tiered income thresholds in their allocation policy. Currently, in our 
policy every household size can earn up to the same amount of £60000, annually. Do you think 
that this is fair? 

 

73 people felt that a tiered income approach was fair as this would allow lower income households 
to be rehoused over those who could afford to privately rent or own their home. 

86 people did not agree with this stating that an annual income of £60,000 is still not enough to be 
able to get a mortgage. 

147 had no opinion. 

For a single household (one adult), which income threshold do you think should apply? 

 

 

Page 274



The top 3 consisted of the following breakdown: 

 115 for £30,000  
 99 for that it should remain the same (£60,000) 
 54 for £40,000 

 

Following on from the previous question, which income threshold should apply for a family who 
require a 4 bedroom property? 

 

The top 3 consisted of the following breakdown: 

 138 for that it should remain the same (£60,000) 
 64 for £50,000 
 55 for £65,000 

 
Currently the local connection criteria to be eligible to be active on the Housing Register is: A 10 
year residency within the borough at some point in their lifetime; Family connection where an 
immediate family member (parents, children, siblings) has continuously been a resident within the 
borough for 10 years immediately preceding the date of application; Currently in permanent 
employment within the borough boundary, consisting of 16 hours a week or more, and which has 
been continuous for the last 24 months. Do you think 10 years is fair? 

 

201 participants were happy with our local connection criteria. 

65 were not and the average suggested timeframe was 5 years 

40 had no opinion. 

 

 

Page 275



Additional local connection criteria apply to certain villages within the borough and applicants 
with a connection to the specified village are given priority at the shortlisting stage. The eligibility 
for Village connect is: A 10 year residency within the village at some point in their lifetime; Family 
connection where an immediate family member (parents, children, siblings) has continuously been 
a resident within the village for 10 years immediately preceding the date of application; Currently 
in permanent employment within the village boundary, consisting of 16 hours a week or more, 
and which has been continuous for the last 24 months. Do you think 10 years is fair? 

 

181 were happy with our village local connection critiera. 

79 were not and the average suggested timeframe was 5 years 

46 had no opinion. 

Supported Housing is designed for applicants 60 and above. What are your views on Supported 
Housing? 

The majority of the comments felt positive towards supported housing but were not currently 
eligible for it. There were mix views on the ages with some feeling as if there were more under 60’s 
being housed in the schemes and that is not what they had originally signed up for. However, there 
were also the view that the age should be lowered to 40 in some cases as some people required 
support at younger ages. 

Do you think it is easy to access Supported Housing accommodation for over 60's? 
Do you think it is easy to access Supported Housing accommodation for over 60's? 

 

199 participants had no opinion on this question. 

58 felt that it was easy to access 

49 felt that it wasn’t easy to access 

 

 

Page 276



Do you have ideas that will positively impact the Allocations Policy? (Please do not add comments 
about your own personal application as it will not be actioned as part of this consultation). 

The majority of participants had no further comment. Looking at the general theme of the 
suggestions that were made, people felt more should be done to encourage tenants to downsize as 
they are aware there are a lot of people living in houses that are too large for them.  

Comments were also made about the lack of adaptable and 4 bedroom properties. The current 
policy allows additional bed spaces that then requires larger bedroom properties and our current 
stock does not reflect this. 

Some comments were made on the ability to manipulate the homeless process and that the policy 
already leans towards assisting this. 

Page 277



Other Hertfordshire Local Authorities Income and Local Connection Criteria + Housing Stock- 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Broxbourne  
Income Criteria Blanket £60,000 
Local Connection 5 Years 
Stock Owned No or very few stock owned properties 

East Herts  
Income Criteria Blanket £48,000 
Local Connection 12 Months 
Stock Owned No stock owned properties 

North Herts  
Income Criteria Blanket £60,000 
Local Connection last 12 months or 3 out of 5 years 
Stock Owned No stock owned properties 

Stevenage  
Income Criteria No Maximum- financial assessment competed 

to determine if applicants can afford alternative 
accommodation. 

Local Connection 5 out of last 7 years 
Stock Owned Just under 8000 stock owned properties 

Hertsmere  
Income Criteria No Maximum- financial assessment competed 

to determine if applicants can afford alternative 
accommodation. 

Local Connection 3 years 
Stock Owned No stock owned properties 

Watford  
Income Criteria Blanket £70,000 
Local Connection Live in local area 
Stock Owned No stock owned properties 

Page 278



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Three Rivers  
Income Criteria £35,000 and over will trigger a financial 

assessment. 
Local Connection 5 years 
Stock Owned No stock owned properties 

St Albans  
Income Criteria 1 Bed Property £36,295  

2 Bed Property £48,173  
3 Bed Property £56,152 
4 Bed Property £69,608 

Local Connection 3 years 
Stock Owned under 4900 properties 

Welwyn & Hatfield  
Income Criteria 1 Bed Property £40,000 

1 Bed Property (couple) £45,000  
2 Bed Property £55,000  
3 Bed Property £73,000 
4 Bed Property £105,000 

Local Connection demonstrate a LC 
Stock Owned Just over 9000 stock 

Page 279



Property size Village Number of bidsPoints of succesful applicant Did they have VC? If not, where was their previous area? Notes

New Build Properties 5 Talbot Close 2 Bed House Bovingdon 75 30 No Hemel Hempstead

4 Talbot Close 2 Bed House Bovingdon 77 15 No Hemel Hempstead Offered as applicant had 9 year VC

3 Talbot Close 2 Bed House Bovingdon 72 30 No Watford (does have LC to Dacorum)

2 Talbot Close 2 Bed House Bovingdon 74 30 No Hemel Hempstead

1 Talbot Close 2 Bed House Bovingdon 80 32 No Hemel Hempstead 2 out of 12 new build properties in villages went to applicants with a VC

Talbot Close & Rucklers Lane were Watford CHT

Rucklers Lane 2 Bed House Kings Langley 87 21 No Hemel Hempstead

Rucklers Lane 2 Bed House Kings Langley 87 25 No Hemel Hempstead

Rucklers Lane 2 Bed House Kings Langley 86 27 No Hemel Hempstead

Rucklers Lane 2 Bed House Kings Langley 91 11 Yes

1 Binghams Mews 2 Bed House Gaddesden Row 111 45 No Hemel Hempstead

2 Bingham Mews 2 Bed House Gaddesden Row 114 34 No Leeds (Does have LC to Dacorum)

3 Bingham Mews 2 Bed House Gaddesden Row 112 15 Yes

General Needs 56 Stocks Road 1 Bed House Aldbury 109 100 No Hemel Hempstead

53 Trooper Road 2 Bed House Aldbury 86 17 Yes Highest applicant had without VC had 100 points

30 Malting Lane 3 Bed House Aldbury 89 55 VC to a neighbouring Village

5A Old Dean 2 Bed Flat Bovingdon 18 25 No Hemel Hempstead

9 Old Dean 2 Bed Flat Bovingdon 74 30 No Hemel Hempstead

32 Hyde Meadows 3 Bed House Bovingdon 102 16 Yes Highest applicant had without VC had 55 points

3 Boundary Cottages 2 Bed House Bovingdon 82 31 No Hemel Hempstead

8 Chesham Road 2 Bed House Bovingdon 0 Direct Offer No Fleeing DV

30 Hyde Meadows 3 Bed House Bovingdon 103 55 No Bovingdon Didn’t have the 10 year VC but had the highest amount of points

29a Old Dean 1 Bed flat Bovingdon 116 10 Yes Highest applicant had without VC had 50 points

4 Nunfield 3 Bed House Chipperfield 0 Direct Offer No Hemel Hempstead Panel Report for agreed VC exemption 

121 Rucklers lane 3 Bed House Kings Langley 83 25 Yes Highest applicant had without VC had 67 points

18 Great Park 2 Bed Flat Kings Langley 86 15 Yes Highest applicant had without VC had 41 points 32 General Needs properties let.

98 Rucklers Lane 3 Bed House Kings Langley 111 16 Yes Highest applicant had without VC had 75 points 13 were allocated to applicants with VC

1a Beechfield 2 Bed House Kings Langley 52 26 No Hemel Hempstead 2 were allocated with VC to a neighbouring village

67 Blackwell Road 3 Bed House Kings Langley 0 Direct Offer No Hemel Hempstead Adapated Property 17 were allocated to applicants with no VC

151 Rucklers Lane 2 Bed House Kings Langley 145 30 No Hemel Hempstead

51 Coniston Road 2 Bed House Kings Langley 0 Direct Offer No Fleeing DV

15 Cromer Close 3 Bed House Little Gaddesden 103 26 Yes Hightest applicant who placed a bid without VC had 56 points

21 Bromley 2 Bed Bungalow Long Marston 69 41 No Tring

65 Parkfield 2 Bed House Markyate 98 32 Yes Highest Applicant who placed a bid without VC had 60 points

44 Roman Way 3 Bed House Markyate 69 50 No Hemel Hempstead

19 Humbers 1 Bed flat Markyate 124 25 Yes Highest applicant had without VC had 35 points

50 Cavendish Road 3 Bed House Markyate 69 16 Yes Highest applicant had without VC had 50 points

3A Park Close 1 bed flat Markyate 142 13 Yes Highest applicant had without VC had 75 points

63 Parkfield 2 Bed House Markyate 85 41 Yes

51 Durrants Lane 2 Bed House Northchurch 90 90 No Hemel Hempstead

1 Common Field 1 bed Bungalow Wigginton 4 10 No Hemel Hempstead

5 Pollywick Road 3 Bed House Wigginton 81 50 No Hemel Hempstead

11 Grymsdke Road 1 bed Flat Wigginton 109 60 No St Albans

20 Grange Road 3 Bed House Wilstone 79 27 Yes Applicant top of the short list had 55 points but was skipped because of VC

3 Dixons Wharf 2 Bed Flat Wilstone 0 Direct Offer VC to a neighbouring Village

Supported Housing 17 Dudley House 1 Bed Flat Bovingdon 1 60 No Hemel Hempstead

29 Dudley House 1 Bed Flat Bovingdon 1 10 No Cornwall

10 Havensfield 1 Bed flat Chipperfield 3 10 No Welwyn Garden City

6 Havensfield 1 Bed flat Chipperfield 3 90 No Chipperfield Didn’t have the 10 year VC but had the highest amount of points

15 Havensfield 1 Bed Flat Chipperfield 1 50 No St Albans

5A Singlets Lane 1 Bed Flat Flamsted 1 12 Yes 18 Supported Housing Properties let

10 Great Park 1 bed Bungalow Kings Langley 10 50 Yes Also had the highest amount of points 3 with a VC

9 Willow Edge 1 Bed flat Kings Langley 2 15 No Hemel Hempstead 15 with no VC

6 Willow Edge 1 Bed Flat Kings Langley 0 Direct Offer Yes

5 Bede Court 1 bed Bungalow Little Gaddesden 5 31 No Markyate

14 Chapel Close 1 Bed Bungalow Little Gaddesden 7 25 No Hemel Hempstead

6 Bede Court 1 bed Bungalow Little Gaddesden 4 56 No Hemel Hempstead

8 Bede Court 1 bed Bungalow Little Gaddesden 7 91 No Little Gaddesden Didn’t have the 10 year VC but had the highest amount of points

15 Bromley 1 bed Bungalow Long Marston 5 20 No Hemel Hempstead

20 Bromley 2 Bed Bungalow Long Marston 2 35 No Northchurch

52 George Street 1 Bed Flat Markyate 1 10 No Watford- has LC to Dacorum

17 Compass Point 1 Bed flat Northchurch 2 104 No Berkhamsted

17 Homefield 1 Bed flat Potten End 2 15 No Berkhamsted

P
age 280



 

  

 

 Housing Allocations Policy 
Last reviewed September 2021 

 

P
age 281



 

 

  

Contents 

1.0 Policy overview     
   
1.1 Introduction    
1.2 Aim(s) of the Policy 
1.3 Links to the Council’s Corporate Aims 
1.4 Equality and Diversity 
1.5 Policy Statement 

 
2.0 Eligibility and Qualification  

2.1 Age 
2.2 Local Connection 
2.3 Right to Move 
2.4 Home Ownership 
2.5 Financial Means 
2.6 Anti-social Behaviour 
2.7 Rent Arrears 
2.8 Deliberately Worsened Circumstances 
2.9 False, Misleading or Withheld Information 

2.10 The Household 
 
3.0 Administration of the Housing Register  

3.1 Bidding 
3.2 Property Adverts 
3.3 Direct Offers 
3.4 Checks and Assessments 
3.5 Renewal and Removal 
3.6 Review and Appeal 
3.7 Disclosure of Information and Conflicts of Interest 
3.8 Supported Housing and Flexi Care 

 

4.0 Points and Additional Priority   
 

4.1  People who are Homeless 
4.2  Unsanitary, Overcrowded and Unsatisfactory 

 Housing 
4.3  Medical and Welfare  
4.4  Moving due to Hardship 
4.5  Armed Forces 
4.6  Right to Move 
4.7  Other Additional Priority Criteria 
4.8  Move On Accommodation for Young People 

 and Care Leavers 
4.9  Domestic Abuse 
4.10 Bedroom Standard 

 
5.0 Further Specific Criteria 

5.1  Adapted Properties 
5.2  Village Lettings 
5.3  Local Lettings Scheme 
5.4  Supported Housing and Flexi Care 

 
6.0 Exemptions and Exceptions 

 6.1  Use and Occupation 
 6.2  Ending your Tenancy 
  

7.0 Data Protection 

P
age 282



 

 

  

1.0 Allocations policy 
overview  
This policy will be reviewed annually 

 

 

1.1 Introduction  
 

Dacorum Borough Council is committed to allocating 
all social and affordable housing within the borough 
to those in most need, and ensuring people have the 
best possible chance of sustaining their tenancy. This 
Housing Allocations Policy sets out how we prioritise 
applications for council and housing association 
homes based on a person’s circumstances and level 
of housing need. 

To deliver this, we manage a choice based lettings 
system in Dacorum, and households wanting to 
apply to be on the council’s housing register will 
need to complete an online application form at 
Moving with Dacorum. Support is available to those 
applicants who are unable to submit their 
application online, either by booking an 
appointment for the Customer Service Unit at The 
Forum or by requesting a paper application. 
Applications are usually assessed within 4-6 weeks. 

Whilst Moving with Dacorum advertises all social 
and the majority of affordable housing options, each 
housing association within the borough may have its 
own allocations policy, which may have different 
rules about who is eligible. These policies should be 
available on their websites or by contacting the 
housing association directly. 

Many people who apply for housing will never be 
allocated a property by the council because of the 
shortage of social housing in the borough. Even if 
you have a high housing need, it is likely that you will 
have to wait for a considerable time before you are 
offered a property. 

 

The council is required to respond to any local or national 
restrictions imposed by central government. The 
administration of this and other council policies could, 
therefore, be impacted by a pandemic or other emergency 
for the period that such restrictions are in operation. 

1.2 Aim(s) of the policy  
Discharge the council’s statutory duties as contained in Part 
6 of the Housing Act 1996, as amended by the 
Homelessness Act 2002, Civil Partnership Act 2004, Housing 
and Regeneration Act 2008, Localism Act 2011 and the 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017. 

The aims of this policy are to: 

 Ensure we allocate homes appropriately and fairly to 
those in need;  

 Ensure that the allocations and assessment policy is 
transparent, simple, and easy to understand for all; 

 Offer as much choice as possible to customers, to create 
genuine customer choice and empowerment; 

 Help increase the housing options for homelessness 
applicants; 

 Prioritise households that have been assessed to be in 
most need and to those who make a positive 
contribution to our community; 

 Ensure we make best use of local housing stock; 
 To reduce the time properties are empty between 

lettings; 
 Create strong, mixed and sustainable communities, and; 
 Set out our approach to eligibility for and qualification 

to the council’s housing register. 

 

 

P
age 283



 

 

 

 

 

  

1.0 Allocations policy 
overview (continued) 

1.3 Links to the council’s 
corporate aims 
 
This policy supports the council’s corporate priorities 
of providing good quality affordable homes, in 
particular for those most in need; and building 
strong and vibrant communities. Our corporate 
priorities are set out in the Corporate Plan 2020 - 
2025. 

1.4 Equality and diversity  
 

All applicants will be invited to provide details of 
ethnic origin, sexuality, disability and other 
equalities information. Provision of this information 
will not be obligatory or a requirement for 
acceptance of an application. Such information 
however will help the Council monitor the number 
and types of applicants with protected 
characteristics seeking housing and their position 
under the policy, and therefore applicants will be 
encouraged to supply the relevant information to be 
used for this purpose.  

Equalities data will be kept and monitored on a 
regular basis to ensure properties are being 
allocated fairly. This policy itself will be monitored to 
ensure it does not operate in ways that discriminate 
against, or unfairly disadvantage, any particular 
group. 

The Council will seek to ensure that this policy is 
operated in a manner that is fair to all sections of the 
community. The information provided will be kept 
confidential and treated with respect at all times. 

 

1.5 Policy Statement(s) 
 

 Applicants will need to meet eligibility and any 
applicable qualification requirements in order to 
be active on the housing register (see 2.0).  
 

 We will administer the housing register and 
allocate homes by adhering to a fair and 
transparent process (see 3.0).  
 

 Points will be awarded to applicants based on 
their housing need and priority group status (see 
4.0).  
 

 We will offer additional priority to applicants 
who fit specialist criteria (see 5.0).  
 

 There are a number of exemptions and 
exceptions to the guidelines laid out in this 
policy (see 6.0).   

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 284



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 2.0 Eligibility and Qualification 
As a local authority, we must adhere to all legal 
requirements that affect whom we allocate social and 
affordable housing to. We are required to consider an 
applicant’s eligibility at the time of their initial 
application and again when they have been successful 
in bidding for a property in order to allocate them a 
home. If an applicant is found not eligible at any time 
during this process, the allocation cannot continue 
and neither a sole nor a joint tenancy can be granted.      

Under this policy, an applicant is not eligible if:   

 They are subject to immigration control (unless 
covered under the exceptions stated at section 
160ZA(2) of the Housing Act 1996).  

 They are prescribed as being ‘persons from 
abroad’ other than a person subject to 
immigration control as defined by regulations 
made under section 160ZA(4) of the Housing Act 
1996. 

If you have any doubts as to whether or not you are 
“eligible” to apply join the register please do not 
hesitate to contact us for advice and guidance. 

Where an applicant lacks capacity, the housing service 
will liaise with the relevant appointed representative 
to ensure that their housing needs are fully assessed 
and, where appropriate, arrangements are made to 
meet future accommodation needs. This may include 
liaison with alternative housing agencies to provide 
specialist packages of support. 

In addition to eligibility, applicants must also meet the 
criteria outlined at 2.1 to 2.10 in order to qualify for 
the housing register and bid on homes. Eligible but 
non-qualifying applicants will not receive a sole 
tenancy under this policy; however, they will be able 
to enter into a joint tenancy as long as the other 
applicant is both eligible and qualifying. The qualifying  

 

 
 
 
criteria do not apply to applicants to whom a 
‘reasonable preference’ must be given under the 
Housing Act 1996 and Regulations made by the 
Secretary of State.  

Reasonable preference categories: 

 People who are homeless as defined by the Housing 
Act 1996, Part 7; 

 People who are owed a duty by any local housing 
authority under section 190(2), 193(2) or 195(2) (or 
under section 65(2) or 68(2) of the Housing Act 1985), 
or who are occupying accommodation secured by 
any such authority under section 192(3); 

 People occupying insanitary or overcrowded housing, 
or who are otherwise living in unsatisfactory 
conditions; 

 People who need to move on medical or welfare 
grounds (including any grounds relevant to a 
disability); and 

 People who need to move to a particular locality in 
the district of the Council, where failure to meet that 
need would cause hardship (to themselves or to 
others). 

 

2.1 Age 
Applicants must be 18 or over, unless age 16 or 17 and 
are either entitled to a reasonable preference under 
Part 6 of the Housing Act 1996 or are otherwise 
considered as part of a high risk property group (see 
4.0).  

 

2.0 Eligibility and 
Qualification  

 

P
age 285



 

  

2.0 Eligibility and 
Qualification (continued) 

 

These are as follows: 
 

 Current council or housing association resident living 
within the borough;  

 Applicants for sheltered housing aged 60 and over 
or between 50 – 59 when there is a medical or social 
isolation need, recognised by the internal Housing 
Panel; 

 Members of the armed forces where the application 
is made within five years of discharge (includes 
bereaved spouses and civil partners leaving service 
family accommodation following the death of their 
partner);  

 Existing social housing tenants seeking to transfer 
from another local authority district in England 
because they work in the district, need to avoid 
hardship or need to move to take up an offer of 
work in the area (see below ‘Right to Move’)  

 Where the requirement of a local connection may 
infringe equality and diversity legislation (e.g. 
Equality Act 2010) considered on a case-by-case 
basis by the Housing Panel; or 

 Residents living in refuges within the Dacorum area.  

 

2.3 Right to Move 
 
Applicants applying for housing within Dacorum from 
another local authority due to an offer of work within 
the borough must demonstrate a genuine intention to 
take up the offer. Evidence can include a contract of 
employment, wage slips or bank statements, tax/benefit 
information and a formal offer letter.  

 
Any contracts must be for more than 12 months, 
consisting of 16 hours or more a week. Voluntary work 
does not qualify for the Right to Move.  
We must also be satisfied that the required move is 
based on applicants’ needs, rather than wishes.  
 

2.2 Local Connection 
 
Subject to the exceptions outlined below, applicants 
must meet the local connection criteria by providing 
evidence of at least one of the following:  

 A 10 year residency within the borough at some 
point in their lifetime;  

 Family connection where an immediate family 
member (parents, children, siblings) who are over 
the age of 18 and has continuously been a resident 
within the borough for 10 years immediately 
preceding the date of application; 

 Currently in permanent employment within the 
borough boundary, consisting of 16 hours a week or 
more, and which has been continuous for the last 24 
months. Applicants that are home working must 
provide evidence that their main workplace is in 
based in Dacorum. The employment must be based 
on actual place of work and not based on where the 
head/ regional office is based. 

 Additional local connection criteria apply to certain 
villages within the borough; applicants will need to 
meet criteria above for the specific village and 
applicants with a connection to the specified village 
are given priority at the short listing stage (see 5.2). 
There are, however, a number of circumstances 
which mean that an applicant may not need to meet 
the local connection criteria in order to qualify.  
 

 

Things considered when assessing this include (but are 
not limited to): 
 
 Distance / time to travel between work and home; 
 Opportunities available closer to home; 
 Impact on opportunity to improve employment 

circumstances (e.g. promotion); 
 Availability and affordability of transport. 
 
The council may contact the employer to verify an 
application at the point of joining the housing register or 
before making an offer.  

 

2.4 Home Ownership 
 
Applicants must not hold a legal or beneficial interest in 
a property within the UK and/or internationally.  This 
does not apply to supported housing applicants aged 60 
or over. However, if a supported housing applicant has 
sufficient means (including financial interest in a 
property) to purchase suitable accommodation for their 
needs in the Dacorum area they may not qualify for an 
allocation. If exceptional circumstances preclude this 
from happening they may still be eligible for supported 
housing. Such cases will be looked at on a case by case 
basis. An applicant will need to evidence a housing need 
to move into Supported Housing if they hold a legal 
interest in a property (see Appendix 1 for how the 
council allocates points on a housing need). 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 286



 

  

2.6 Unacceptable Behaviour 
 
Applicants will not qualify where there is evidence that 
serious action or legal proceedings have successfully 
been brought against the applicant or any member of 
their household  due to unacceptable behaviour, 
including breaches of tenancy and misuse of social 
housing (such as sub-letting), within the two years 
immediately preceding the date of application. 
 
Applicants with any of the below legal orders will not be 
considered to qualify and will be unable to access the 
housing register for a period of one, three or five years 
(see below). The serious action or legal proceedings 
include but are not limited to: 
 Acceptable Behaviour Agreements (one year 

exclusion from the register); 
 Community Protection Notices (one year); 
 Legal Undertakings (three years); 
 Anti-Social Behaviour Injunctions (three years); 
 Premises Closure Orders (five years); or 
 Criminal Behaviour Orders (five years); 
 Current Non-molestation order/ Occupation order 

(one year); 
 Current Restraining order (five years). 
 
In addition, applicants will also not qualify if they or any 
members of their household: 
 Have an existing notice (such as a notice seeking 

possession, section 21 notice requiring possession 
or notice to quit) or a possession order.  

 Have been evicted on the grounds of unacceptable 
behaviour in the five years immediately preceding 
the application; 

 Have held a demoted tenancy due to unacceptable 
behaviour in the two years immediately preceding 
the application;  
 

 
 

2.0 Eligibility and 
Qualification 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2.0 Eligibility and 
Qualification (continued) 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  

2.5 Financial Means 
 
Applicants will not qualify if they have the financial 
means to meet their own housing need. We define this 
as the applicant and/or their partner having in excess of 
the gross annual income limits which are set out below, 
or £16,000 in savings (except where a lump sum has 
been paid to a current or former member of the armed 
forces as compensation). 
 
1 Bedroom/studio Property £40,000  
2 Bedroom Property £50,000 
3 Bedroom Property £60,000 
4 Bedroom Property £60,000 
 
Supported Housing applicants over the age of 60 will be 
exempt from this criteria.  
 
These income thresholds have been based on a housing 
affordability model completed by an external 
consultant.  
 
 

 
 Are a person known to be or have been involved with 

serious unacceptable behaviour within the two years 
immediately preceding the application, as per the 
advice of the council’s Tenancy Management and 
Enforcement team or Community Safety team.   

 
Any household can be removed from the register for 
unacceptable behaviour. 
 
2.7 Rent Arrears 
 
Applicants will not qualify where there is evidence that 
they or a member of the household has property-related 
arrears owed to the council (including Council Tax and 
service charges), a housing association or a private 
rented sector landlord, unless six months of an agreed 
repayment plan have been adhered to. This includes both 
current and former arrears. Applicants will also not 
qualify if they or any member of their household:  
 
 Have been evicted on the grounds of rent arrears 

from a council or housing association property in the 
five years immediately preceding the application; or 

 There is an existing notice or a possession order on 
the property.  

 
Exceptions may be made in certain circumstances, e.g. a 
current tenant downsizing to make rent payments more 
manageable, which will be considered at the discretion of 
the internal Housing Panel. When exceptions are made, 
and an applicant with arrears owing to the council is 
permitted to move, any debt owed will still be required 
to be paid. 

 

P
age 287



 

  

 

2.9 False, Misleading or 
Withheld Information 
 
Applicants will not qualify if they have deliberately 
provided fraudulent information by: 
 
 Giving false information; 
 Not disclosing all information required; or  
 Not informing the housing service of any 

important changes to their situation.  
 

If an applicant is found to have provided any false or 
misleading information or they have withheld 
information that is relevant to their housing 
application, their current and any future applications 
will be suspended. Action may also be taken against 
the applicant by the corporate anti-fraud team. This 
may result in prosecution.  
 
It is an offence (under Section 171, Housing Act 
1996), for an applicant to knowingly or recklessly 
provide the council with information that is 
materially false or deliberately withhold or 
misrepresent their housing circumstances. 

Applicants who have sourced accommodation via the 
council that have provided false, misleading or 
withheld information during the Housing Register 
process will be subject to eviction proceedings and 
the council will support other landlords who are 
seeking to gain possession of accommodation 
through an applicant providing false or withholding 
information. 
 

 
 

 

2.8 Deliberately Worsened 
Circumstances 
 
An applicant will not qualify if there is evidence that they 
have deliberately changed their circumstances in order to 
qualify to and/or receive additional priority on the housing 
register. 

This may include but is not limited to: 

 Homeowners who have transferred their property to 
another family member within the last five years from 
the date of application. 

 An applicant moving from accommodation that was 
available for their occupation that was suitable or 
more suitable for them than the accommodation they 
have moved into and which it was reasonable for 
them to continue to occupy. 

 Applicants who have disposed of or deprived 
themselves of assets which reasonably could have 
been used to secure housing within the last three 
years from the date of application. 

 

2.0 Eligibility and 
Qualification 

 

2.0 Eligibility and 
Qualification (continued) 

 

2.10 The Household 
 
As part of the application, applicants will be required to 
prove they have lived at their current address for a 
minimum of 12 months immediately before application 
and give details of all members of their household.  
 
Any non-dependant children (aged 18 or over), or other 
adults who are considered part of the applicant’s 
household, must have lived with the applicant for a 
minimum of 12 months and continue to do so. Any 
changes to the household may affect the level of priority 
afforded to them under the qualification criteria.  
 
Household members over the age of 18 that can be 
considered as part of your household: 

 Partner 
 Child over the age of 18 
 Carer (medical evidence and support package 

will need to be submitted) 

Household members over the age of 18 that do not fall 
into one of the above categories will not be considered 
for an additional bedroom or awarded lacking bed space 
points. 
 
Subject to a review of supporting evidence by the 
council’s independent medical advisor, dependant adults 
who have joined or wish to join a household because  
 
they are unable to live independently are not required to 
have lived with the applicant for the minimum of 12 
months.   
 
(Continued on the next page) 
 
 

P
age 288



 

  

2.0 Eligibility and 
Qualification (continued) 

 

 
Where the applicant is eligible (see 2.0) but other members 
of the household are not eligible, they may be considered as 
part of the application if they are dependant. This applies to 
both adults and children.  
 
Applicants applying as part of a couple will need to decide 
who is the primary applicant, as both partners will be 
considered as members of the household and will not be 
able to hold an active application in both names. These 
applications are assessed on the primary applicant’s 
housing need only.  
All applicants can be subject to a home verification visit or 
other appropriate investigations by a Housing Needs 
Officer. The purpose of a visit is to check that all 
information relating to the applicant‘s housing application is 
properly recorded, and that their housing needs have been 
correctly assessed, and that they are a Qualifying Person 
and otherwise eligible for an offer. 

 
 
 

If an applicant holds responsibility for residency of a child 
through a court decision, the child is immediately 
considered part of the household.   
 
Residency arrangements agreed by parents require the 
applicant to provide supporting evidence of the 
arrangement, including evidence that the child has been  
living as part of their household for a minimum of six 
months and any documents required by Housing Benefit 
to support this claim.  
 
Any child residency arrangements submitted as part of a 
housing application will be checked throughout the 
application process and the period of the tenancy.  
 
A child is not part of the household if: 
 
 The applicant has staying contact with the child for 

less than 50% of the time; or  
 In the case of equal contact time, the property will 

not be the child’s main or principal home.  
 
A baby will be considered a household member from the 
date of birth, and not during the pregnancy.  
However, some housing associations will consider an 
unborn baby as a household member at the point that 
the mother receives her MATB1 certificate. For this 
reason, the council will still take a record of the MATB1 
and in these cases an applicant may be able to bid for 
larger housing association properties before the birth.  
 
 
 

P
age 289



 

 

 

 

  

3.0 Administration of the 
Housing Register  

 

 

 

 

3.1 Bidding  
 
Applicants who have applied to be on the housing register, 
are eligible, and qualify can then begin bidding on 
properties through Moving with Dacorum. Alternative 
options for bidding include: 
 
 Over the phone on 0300 111 3570; 
 By text message to 07786 201131; or 
 In person at The Forum, Hemel Hempstead.  
 
Due to the operation of a choice based lettings system, 
whereby applicants pick which properties they wish to bid 
for, we consider it reasonable to expect that - where an 
applicant has been successful in bidding for their chosen 
property - they will accept the offer of that property.  
 
Therefore, successful applicants will only receive one 
property offer. If an applicant refuses the offer of 
accommodation, the housing register application will be 
suspended for six months. A refusal of a property will only 
be considered if the applicant can provide evidence of a 
valid reason, of which the Service Improvement and 
Projects Team Leader shall be the final arbiter, as to why 
they cannot accept it. Examples of reasons which are 
unlikely to be considered valid include (but are not limited 
to);  
 

 Location, size or layout  of property; 
 Condition of property; or 
 Lack of garden and/or parking facilities (unless 

required under a medical needs assessment).  
 
Where an applicant can provide evidence to support their 
refusal, and this is accepted by the Independent Reviewing 
Officer, they will be able to continue bidding on other 
properties. 
 

 
 
Where an applicant cannot provide evidence to 
support their refusal of a property, their offer can be 
cancelled and they may be unable to bid on any future 
homes for six months. Supported Housing Applicants 
over the age of 60 who are downsizing from the 
council or Housing Association property, will be 
eligible to have three refusal options. After the third 
refusal, where an applicant cannot provide evidence to 
support their refusal of a property, their offer can be 
withdrawn and they may be unable to bid on any 
future homes for six months.  
 

3.2 Approved Bidding 
 
Applicants who have sensitive cases may still be able 
to bid themselves, but the council will have the right to 
review and approve the offer as suitable. This would 
happen if an offer of accommodation put the applicant 
or existing tenants at risk or in danger. The council 
would work with the applicant and potentially with 
third parties to discuss the reasoning and what 
alternatives are available.  

P
age 290



 

 

  

 

3.3 Property Adverts 
 
All properties (except supported housing), advertised 
through Moving with Dacorum will be made live on any 
given weekday. They will then remain live for a 
minimum of three days, closing at one minute to 
midnight on the final day. The first day of advertising will 
be the day on which an advert goes live, provided it goes 
live before midday; and will otherwise be the day 
afterwards.  
 
We recommend that applicants check for properties a 
minimum of every two days to avoid missing 
opportunities to bid. 
 
Supported Housing properties are advertised on a 
weekly cycle and adverts will be live for a minimum of 
five days, from one minute to midnight on a Wednesday 
until one minute to midnight on the following Monday.  
 
Supported Housing applicants can also request a weekly 
newsletter to be posted to them to assist them in 
alternative ways of bidding. Please state in your Housing 
Register application or contact Housing Needs if you 
would like this service. 
 

3.0 Administration of the 
Housing Register 
(continued) 
 

 
 

3.4 Direct Offers 
 
On some occasions, properties will be allocated 
through a direct offer. A direct offer means that an 
applicant will not bid on properties but will receive one 
offer of suitable accommodation. Direct offers are 
made by the housing service outside of the choice 
based lettings system. When making a direct offer, the 
council is required to consider the suitability of a 
property for all members of the household.  
These offers are used as part of our approach to 
preventing homelessness. Applicants who are given a 
homelessness status at the point of receiving the main 
housing duty will receive one direct offer of suitable 
accommodation. If the direct offer is refused without a 
valid reason, the council will no longer have a duty to 
provide the applicant with accommodation. 
In addition to homeless applicants, direct offers may 
also be used: 
 
 To match applicants requiring complex adaptations 

to a suitable property; 
 For applicants living in Mother & Baby units; 
 In the case of hard-to-let properties (advertised at 

least twice with no suitable bids); 
 For applicants in high-risk priority groups (see 4.0) 

where a sensitive letting is required; or 
 For individual cases that would usually fall outside 

of this policy but have an urgent or high risk 
housing need (these offers can only be approved 
by the internal Housing Panel). 

 Flexi Care applicants; 
 Supported Housing applicants who do not have 

sufficient accessibility to placing bids can request 
to go on the assisted bidding system. Information 
surrounding location and scheme preference is 
taken and applicants will be contacted by the  

 
 

 
 
 
 
Housing Needs team when there is a suitable vacant 
home to ascertain if they want the team to place a bid for 
them. Applicants will only receive one direct offer of 
accommodation.  
 

3.5 Tenancies Offered 
 
Home seekers will be offered an introductory tenancy. 
This usually lasts for 12 months from the start date of the 
tenancy. Upon successful completion of the introductory 
tenancy, a secure tenancy will be issued. 
Transfer applicants that already hold a secure tenancy 
with the council or a registered provider, will be issued 
with a secure tenancy. All Supported Housing applicants 
are issued with a secure tenancy from the date of the 
signed tenancy agreement. 
 
Joint applicants could be eligible to be offered a joint 
tenancy. Both applicants will have equal rights to the 
whole property. Both parties are liable for the rent and 
any damage that may occur. Applicants are encouraged 
to research joint tenancies before signing or speak to the 
Housing Needs team. Joint applications are accepted by 
those who are married, in a civil partnership or living 
together as if they were. We do not offer cross 
generation tenancies.  
 
Applicants that have been offered a council general needs 
property will be invited to complete a pre tenancy course 
before signing their tenancy agreement.  
 

3.6 Types of Rent Offered 
 
Social Rents- rents for these properties have been agreed 
based on a formula set by government.  
(Continued on next page) 
 

P
age 291



 

 

 

  

3.0 Administration of the 
Housing Register 
(continued) 
 

Tenancy Sustainment- Supporting households from the 
initial stages of their tenancy to help them understand 
their roles and responsibilities as a tenant and how to 
sustain a tenancy and encourage and facilitate their 
independence, quality of life, health and well-being. 
All applicants under the age of 25 will automatically be 
referred to the Tenancy Sustainment team to ensure 
they have access to support and provide the best 
platform to sustain their tenancy. 
 
Welfare & Sustainment- Provide support, advice and 
assistance to households in new or existing tenancies 
and to those who have been or are at risk of 
homelessness including applicants that are in 
temporary accommodation.  
 
If an applicant is housed by the council via a homeless 
application, the support worker will continue to work 
with the applicant for a minimum of six months, 
ensuring a successful transition to their new tenancy. 

 
3.8 Checks and Assessments 
 
If an applicant is successful in bidding, a full verification 
is carried out at the point of offer. In some cases, a full 
verification may be carried out before an offer is made.  
 
Documents required as part of this include (but are not 
limited to):  
 
 Proof of identity (Full Birth Certificate or Passport); 
 Proof of income and savings;  
 Completed income and expenditure form*; 
 Proof of residency of children (Child Benefit) (court 

arrangement);  
 Proof of pregnancy (MATB1 Form);  
 

 Confirmation of immigration status and right to 
work if from abroad;  

 Medical evidence; and 
 Notice of eviction (if relevant).  
* We may use a credit checking agency to verify details 
and as part of our policy to prevent/detect fraud, share 
information with other departments within the council 
and other Housing Providers. By completing the 
Housing Register declaration and consent form you will 
be giving your consent for this. 
 
Existing tenants seeking a transfer will also need to 
make themselves available for a home visit.  
Applicants can aid this process by ensuring they have 
accurately reflected their circumstances in their 
application and by making sure they have all the 
necessary documents required to evidence their 
situation. Applicant are able to use the document 
upload function on their Housing register application 
via Moving with Dacorum 
 
At the point an offer has been made, if an applicant 
cannot provide their documentation within 48 hours 
(unless there are exceptional circumstances), the offer 
will be withdrawn and the property offered to the next 
eligible person on the shortlist.  
 

3.9 Renewal and Removal 
 
It is the responsibility of the applicant to inform us if 
their circumstances change and to provide us with up 
to date contact details. Failure to notify the Council of a 
change of circumstance may result in an offer of a 
property being withdrawn. Some changes in 
circumstances will mean that the application will be 
suspended, this is because it could affect applicant’s 
priority or eligibility for an offer. 
 
(Continued on next page) 
 

This creates a ‘formula rent’ for each property, which is 
calculated based on the relative value of the property, 
local income levels, and the size of the property. An aim 
of this formula-based approach is to ensure that similar 
rents are charged for similar social rent properties. The 
majority of council properties are let on Social Rent. 
 
Affordable Rents- In 2011, the government introduced 
affordable rent. This permits rents that are inclusive of 
service charges to be set up to 80% of market rent. 
Property size, location type and service provision must 
be taken into account when determining what gross 
market rent a property might achieve if let in the private 
rented sector. These properties are still defined as social 
housing. 
 
Rent Increases- the government announced its intention 
to set a long term rent deal for both local authority 
landlords and housing associations. This would permit 
annual rent increases on both social rent and affordable 
rent properties of up to CPI plus one percentage point 
from 2020, for a period of at least five years. (Gov.uk) 
 
More information about council’s rent and service 
charges setting can be found in our Rents and other 
charges policy 
 

3.7 Housing Support Provided 
 
The Council has in-house support services: 
 
 

P
age 292



 

 

  

3.0 Administration of the 
Housing Register 
(continued) 
 

 

3.11 Disclosure of Information 
and Conflicts of Interest 
 
Information on any housing applicant is confidential 
and will not be disclosed with any member of the 
public.  
 
This also applies to any information related to 
applications. Applicants’ family members will need 
written permission from the applicant to access any 
information.  
 
In certain circumstances, disclosure of an applicant’s 
information to other professionals or services may be 
necessary. This will only apply in certain circumstances -  
for example to prevent and detect fraud, or where an 
applicant has particular support needs that need to be 
met in order to enable them to maintain a tenancy.  
 
In such cases, any information that is disclosed will be 
shared on a need-to-know basis. Examples of services 
include but are not limited to:  
 

 Housing officers or tenancy sustainment 
officers; 

 Corporate anti-fraud team; 
 Occupational health officers; 
 Doctors or social services; 
 Police or probation services; or 
 Other local authorities or housing associations. 

 
Councillors, council employees and their close relatives 
applying to join the housing register must disclose their 
association with the council on their application form.  

Applicants with an association to the council that are 
successful in bidding on a property require approval 
from the Corporate Director of Housing and 
Regeneration before the formal offer being made. 

 

 Where they have knowingly provided false, 
misleading or incomplete information; or 

 Where they have accepted an offer of 
accommodation.  

 
Any applicant who is active on the Housing Register 
and has not placed a bid in the last 12 months, will be 
written to. Failure to respond to the letter within 28 
days will result in details being removed from the 
Housing Register.   

 
3.10 Reviews and Appeals 
 
As a housing service, we will provide an open and fair 
review process, in accordance with legislation, with 
appropriate support being offered.  
 
Applicants have the right to request a review of 
decisions under the Housing Act 1996:  
 
 concerning their eligibility; or  
 concerning their qualification to the scheme.  
 
Review requests must be made in writing within 21 
days of the applicant being notified of the decision.  
The review will be conducted by the Service 
Improvement and Projects Team Leader who is not 
involved in original case assessments.  
 
Applicants have the right to request an appeal of the 
outcome of review decisions. Any appeal request must 
be made in writing within 21 days of the applicant 
being notified of the review decision.  
 
An appeal investigation will be carried out by the 
Group Manager for Strategic Housing.  
 
 
 
 
 

Applicants are required to confirm their details as part 
of renewing their application on an annual basis. The 
council can, however, ask for confirmation at any point 
during the application process.  
 
All renewal requests must be completed within 28 days 
and completed through Moving with Dacorum. Failure 
to renew an application within this time will result in 
details being deleted from the register. 
 
If a renewal application is started but not completed, a 
member of staff will contact the applicant directly to 
request the missing information.  
If this information is not supplied to the council’s 
satisfaction within 21 days then the details will be 
deleted from the register as above. 
  
Deleted applicants may re-apply at any point and the 
new application will be considered. It is advised that 
applications are only submitted or renewed if there is a 
genuine housing need.  
 
Applicants can also be removed from the register for 
other reasons including: 
 
 At their request; 
 Where they no longer meet eligibility or qualifying 

requirements;  
 

P
age 293



 

 

 

 

  

4.0 Points and Additional 
Priority 

 

  

All applications are reviewed and assessed by a Housing 
Needs Officer who will make the decisions in terms of 
allocating points to each applicant on the housing register. 
Points awarded are reflective of housing need and are used 
to bid on a property. Applicants with the highest number of 
points will be made an offer on the property at the close of 
bidding (see appendix 1 for a detailed table of points 
awarded). 
 
If two or more applicants are at the top of the shortlist and 
are in all other ways equal, a property will be offered to the 
applicant with the earliest registration date.  
 

4.1 People Who Are Homeless 
 
Part 7 of The Housing Act 1996  distinguishes between 
people who are homeless and owed the main housing duty 
to have accommodation secured for them by a local 
authority and those who are homeless with no main 
housing duty. Applicants who are homeless but are owed 
either no main housing duty or a limited duty may receive 
points. Those whom we have a full duty to house will 
receive a direct offer as stated in section 3.4.  
 
Before receiving the main housing duty decision, applicants 
will receive assistance to prevent homelessness and to bid 
through the choice based letting scheme, with points 
awarded for relevant priority need criteria. 
 

4.2 Insanitary, Overcrowded and 
Unsatisfactory Housing 
 
As a council, we recognise that tenants in the private rented 
sector are more likely to be in insanitary or otherwise 
unsatisfactory dwellings which can lead to potentially 
harmful health and safety risks. 
 

 
As a local authority, we use the Housing Health and 
Safety Rating System (HHSRS), introduced by the 
Housing Act 2004 to formally score and demonstrate 
the seriousness of hazards in dwellings. 
 
To address these issues, we will give additional priority 
to applicants currently in private rented sector 
accommodation if the property is found to: 
 
 Lack facilities or have shared facilities; or 
 Be in a state of disrepair.  
 
This additional preference will only be given once and 
will not increase where applicants identify both of the 
above issues. Points awarded will either be of a ‘high’ 
or ‘low’ category (see Appendix 1) based on the 
following:  
 
Low: 

 Minor disrepair  
o Category 2 hazard from bands D – F 

under the HHSRS; or 
 Sharing kitchen and/or bathroom facilities.  

 
High: 

 Major disrepair 
o Category 1 hazard from bands A – C 

under the HHSRS,; or 
 Lacking kitchen and/or bathroom facilities. 

  
Both minor and major disrepair will need to be 
confirmed by an officer from the Private Sector 
Housing Team and there must be evidence that the 
landlord is non-compliant in carrying out the repairs.  
 
As a local authority we recognise that overcrowding in 
a property can cause stress and have other negative 
impacts on a household. In light of this, we will give 
additional priority to those applicants who are 
overcrowded according to our Bedroom Standard. 
 
  

P
age 294



 

 

  

 They formally served in the regular forces;  
 They have recently ceased, or will cease to be 

entitled to reside in the accommodation provided 
by the Ministry of Defence following the death of 
their spouse or civil partner who served in the 
regular forces and whose death was attributable to 
that service; or 

 They are serving or have served in the reserve 
forces and are suffering from a serious injury, illness 
or disability which is attributable to their service.  

 
Armed Forces points will only be awarded once. If the 
applicant is housed by the council but wishes to move 
again in the future, the additional points will not be 
awarded again. 
 

4.6 Right to Move  
 
Applicants who meet the ‘Right to Move’ qualifying 
criteria (see 2.3) will receive additional points.  
 

4.7 Other Additional Priority 
Criteria 
 
The council is also committed to recognising a number 
of other criteria, and in all cases the additional priority 
will be awarded as points (see Appendix 1).  The 
additional priority criteria are as follows: 
 
 Existing tenants of supported housing 

accommodation who wish to move from a 
dispersed property in the community to a 
supported housing scheme (CAT1 to CAT2 
property); 

 Existing tenants aged 60 or over in general needs 
accommodation who wish to move into sheltered 
accommodation;  

 
(Continued on next page) 

of risk caused by remaining in the current housing (see 
Appendix 1).  
 
Medical cases are assessed by a Housing Needs Officer 
and may seek advice from an independent medical 
advisor who will advise the council when making our 
final decision.   
 
Applicants need to state how their medical condition will 
be improved or alleviated by a move to alternative 
accommodation. 
 
We will also award additional points on welfare grounds, 
which we define as care and support needs or other 
social needs that do not require medical care or support 
e.g. victim of domestic violence. These points are 
awarded using four categories that are reflective of the 
level of risk involved in the applicant remaining in their 
current accommodation. Where appropriate, we may 
request information from relevant professionals 
involved in the applicant’s case to assess the level of 
need. All welfare cases are presented to and assessed by 
the internal housing panel.  
 

4.4 Moving Due to Hardship 
 
In some cases, we understand that current tenants may 
need to move within the borough in order to avoid 
hardship. We consider that hardship may be personal or 
financial. Due to this, we will allocate points to 
applicants who need to move within the borough due to 
hardship.  
 

4.5 Armed Forces 
 
Members of the armed forces who qualify to our 
housing register will receive additional points if: 
 
 They are serving in the regular forces and are 

suffering from a serious injury, illness or disability 
which is attributable to their service;  

4.0 Points and Additional 
Priority (continued) 

 
4.2 Insanitary, Overcrowded and Unsatisfactory 
Housing (continued) 
 
Any points allocated to an applicant for overcrowding 
will reflect the need set out within the Bedroom 
Standard. Applicants are advised to read the standard 
when making an application for further information on 
the size of property they may be entitled to.  
Overcrowding points are not awarded to applicants 
currently residing in temporary accommodation. 
 
In order to make best use of our available housing stock, 
we encourage tenants under-occupying their home (see 
4.8 bedroom criteria) to downsize to a smaller property, 
as this is more reflective of their housing need.  
 
Applicants who wish to downsize will receive points 
based on how many bedrooms they would like to 
downsize by. This will need to be specified in the 
application. As a result, the applicant will be limited in 
the size of property they can bid for.   
 

4.3 Medical and Welfare 
 

We will award additional points on medical grounds 
when there is evidence that an applicant’s current 
housing situation is having a direct impact on their 
and/or a household member’s medical condition. The 
term ‘medical grounds’ also covers disability. 
 
Points will be awarded based on four categories 
(Extreme, high, medium or low) and reflect the level  
 

P
age 295



 

 

  

 

4.8 Move on Accommodation for 
Young People and Care Leavers 
 
Applicants who are ready for settled accommodation 
after a successful placement can make an application to 
the Housing Register. Evidence will need to be submitted 
from the applicant and Support Worker to show that 
that the applicant is ready to live independently. These 
cases will be heard at housing panel. 
 
The evidence required but not limited to: 
 

 Up to date rent statement showing no rent 
arrears 

 Tenancy reference confirming young person has 
had no tenancy breaches as a result of nuisance, 
anti-social behaviour or other such behaviour 
that requires enforcement action 

 Evidence that young person is ready to move on 
and able to sustain a tenancy 

 Recently updated risk assessment 
 Recently updated support plan 
 Move on application form 

 

4.9 Applicants involving Domestic 
Abuse 
 
The definition of Domestic Abuse can be found here: 

Domestic Abuse cases through the Housing Register may 
be presented at the Domestic Abuse Panel. Where 
appropriate, we may request information from relevant 
professionals involved in the applicant’s case to assess 
the level of need. 

Points are awarded using four categories that are 
reflective of the level of risk involved in the applicant 
remaining in their current accommodation. 

4.10 Bedroom Criteria 
 
To ensure homes reflect people’s housing need, we 
operate in line with the Government’s Code of 
Guidance 2012 as well as the Dacorum Borough 
Council Bedroom Standards 
 
Households who fall between the criteria within the 
standards will be able to bid for properties in two size 
categories to provide maximum choice.  
 
For the purpose of this policy, the reference to children 
sharing a room shall be considered to mean siblings or 
step-siblings, not other relations or non-relations. We 
understand there may be mitigating circumstances 
where it is not appropriate for siblings or step-siblings 
to share a bedroom as required by the standard. These 
cases, including supporting evidence, will be reviewed 
on an individual basis by the internal Housing Panel.   
 
Exceptions to the bedroom criteria will also be 
considered if medical evidence is provided to the 
Housing Panel showing that a member of the 
household is unable to share a room or requires an 
additional room for medical equipment.  
 
Prospective adoptive or foster parents will also be 
considered for exemption at the discretion of the 
Housing Panel.  
 
Where these cases are approved, it is essential that 
applicants consider the affordability of separate 
bedrooms as the household will be considered under-
occupying their home, which may affect Housing 
Benefit entitlement.   
 
Some housing association tenancy agreements may 
differ from the bedroom standard used within this 
policy. In these cases, we will restrict the size of the 
household able to bid for the property based on the 
details received from the relevant housing association.    
 

4.0 Points and Additional 
Priority (continued) 

 

4.7 Other Additional Priority Criteria (continued) 
 
 Applicants with a dependant child or children who 

occupy a flat on the first floor of a building or above 
which does not have a lift. 

 Applicants that express an interest in moving to a 
Supported Housing property to prevent social 
isolation, be part of a community or require 
additional support. 

 
Referrals received from Multi-agency public protection 
arrangements (MAPPA) panel. One nomination to us per 
year. All necessary information will need to be provided 
to us before an offer is made. All MAPPA referrals will be 
considered at the internal Housing Panel 
 
Additional priority criteria have been established in 
relation to other high-risk applicants who are hard-to-
house and may require sensitive lettings. These 
applicants include: 
 

 Witness protection cases; 
 Applicants moving on from supported housing; 

or  
 Individuals identified through multi-agency 

groups.  
 
Applicants meeting the additional priority criteria are 
not expected to be frequent or high in number and will 
always be considered on a case-by-case basis. 
 
 

P
age 296



 

  

5.0 Further Specific Criteria 
 

 
 
 A five-year residency within the village at some point 

in their lifetime;  
 Family connection where an immediate family 

member (parents, children, siblings) who are over 
the age of 18 and has continuously been a resident 
within the village for 10 years immediately preceding 
the date of application; 

 Currently in permanent employment within the 
village boundary, consisting of 16 hours a week or 
more, and which has been continuous for the last 24 
months. 

 Villages for which additional priority will be given for 
a local connection are: 

 Aldbury, Bovingdon, Chipperfield, Flaunden, 
Flamsted, Great Gaddesden, Gaddesden Row, Kings 
Langley, Little Gaddesden, Long Marston, Markyate, 
Northchurch, Potten End, Wilstone and Wigginton. 

 

5.3 Local Lettings Scheme 
 

We reserve the right to implement local lettings schemes 
for new developments or to address issues on existing 
estates. These are used to ensure that communities are 
sustainable and contain an appropriate mix of 
households. Local Lettings Schemes may override the 
Council’s normal lettings procedure. Examples include 
properties that may have criteria based on age or 
household composition to address specific local issues or 
may override occupancy level agreements and demand 
issues to address local management or supply.  
 
The Council, in these circumstances, will ensure that 
their local lettings policies do not discriminate, directly 
or indirectly, on equality grounds. Local lettings policies 
will normally apply to new developments where over 10 
affordable homes will be provided. 
 

5.1 Adapted Properties 
 
Due to the low number of properties available in the 
borough that are suitable to meet the needs of people 
who have mobility and physical health conditions, we 
are committed to making sure that people who need 
adapted properties are prioritised for them. Applicants 
will be asked to provide a completed Occupational 
Therapist (OT) report that states all the 
recommendations for future housing.  
 
When properties become vacant they are assessed by 
the adaptations team to determine if the property can 
be adapted and what level of adaptations can be 
completed.  When completing direct offers we will 
consider individual needs, area preference and length 
of time they have been waiting for a property, 
unfortunately this means we are not able to offer in 
order of length of time an applicant has been waiting 
as it depends on the attributes of any available 
property. 
 

5.2 Village Lettings 
 
When shortlisting for village properties, applicants 
must meet the Local Connection to the borough (see 
2.2). To be considered for an additional village 
connection, applicants must meet the following 
criteria: 
 
 
 
 

5.4 Supported Housing and 
Flexi Care 
 
Supported housing properties are designed for 
people aged 60 and over. On occasion, the age limit 
is lowered to 55 and 50 when there has been no 
interest in a property. However, applicants below 50 
years old that would benefit from Supported 
Housing will be required to demonstrate a medical 
or welfare need. These applications will be assessed 
by the internal Housing Panel. 
 
Supported housing residents benefit from a 
Supported Housing Officer, who can offer differing 
levels of support as required and/or requested, as 
well as opportunities to socialise with other 
residents in their supported housing scheme.  
 
The majority of our supported housing homes are 
one bedroom, however on occasion a two-bedroom 
property may become available. In these cases, the 
allocation of this property will be considered on a 
case-by-case basis, specifically taking into account 
the age of any additional household members living 
with the successful applicant and how this could 
impact the wider scheme.  
 
We can also offer Flexi Care supported housing 
services for older people whose needs are beyond 
the provision available within traditional supported 
housing. Flexi care is different from other Supported 
Housing schemes as there is a care team based 
onsite which provides care packages and can attend 
emergency situations. Flexi Care offers are always 
made through a direct offer. 
 

P
age 297



 

 

 

  

 In circumstances where the tenant has died, 
and the person left in occupation has no right 
of Succession, a use and occupation account 
can be set up. Please refer to Succession 
Procedure for details regarding eligibility to 
succeed to a tenancy. 

 
The use and occupation account does not confer any 
legal rights to the person left in occupation and they 
have no legal right to remain in the property. 
 
In exceptional circumstances the Assistant Director of 
Housing has authority to award additional priority to 
applicants and to amend or dis-apply the qualification 
criteria. All exceptions such as this will be monitored 
and reported on to the Corporate Director of Housing 
and Regeneration.  
 
In the interest of fairness and good administration, 
such awards, amendments and dis-applications will 
operate at the sole and absolute discretion of the 
Assistant Director of Housing and, the Council 
expects, will be both rare and few in number.  
 
Dacorum Borough Council has the right to change this 
Housing Allocations Policy at any given time and 
implement changes immediately.  
 

6.0 Exemptions and Exceptions 
 

 Where a vacancy is required to enable us to 
discharge duty to statutorily homeless 
households; 

 The need to re-house an existing tenant 
temporarily in order to carry out repairs; or 

 Any other exceptional circumstances agreed by 
the Housing Needs Team Leader and Strategic 
Housing Group Manager.  

 A move agreed from a property with adaptations 
that are no longer required in line with Help to 
Move Policy.  

 

6.1 Use and Occupation 
 
A use and occupation account can be created when a 
person is left in occupation following the death or 
abandonment by the tenant(s). 
 

 These accounts must only be created once the 
original tenancy has been properly terminated 
either by a Notice to Quit (NTQ) being served 
and expired or, in cases where the tenant is 
deceased, a signed termination form from the 
Next of Kin (NOK) will suffice. 

 The use and occupation provision allows the 
person left in occupation to stay in the property 
on a short-term, temporary basis whilst they 
seek alternative accommodation. During this 
time, the person left in occupation is expected to 
pay a property charge which is known as mesne 
profits. This payment is not and must not be 
referred to as rent as this can have legal 
implications that could imply the person has a 
tenancy giving them rights to the property. 

 

 
Lettings that are not treated as allocations under this 
scheme include:  
 

 Mutual exchanges between tenants of the 
council or housing associations, whether by Deed 
of Assignment or by commencement of new 
tenancies (including those arranged via national 
schemes such as Homeswapper); 

 Successions of a tenancy  following the death of 
a tenant;  

 Where an introductory tenancy, assured 
shorthold starter, or probationary tenancy 
becomes an assured or secure tenancy; 

 Where a secure or assured tenancy is granted by 
court order under Matrimonial Causes Act 1973, 
Matrimonial and Family Proceedings Act 1984, or 
Children Act 1989; or 

 Where a tenancy is demoted by court order or 
where a demoted tenancy reverts back to secure 
tenancy status.  

 
Other exemptions may include (but are not limited to): 
 

 A property allocated to a relative or carer of a 
tenant who has died without a statutory right to 
succession being present;  

 Changes to a tenancy which do not result in a 
vacancy (e.g. joint to sole tenancy); 

 

P
age 298



 

 

  

 
 6.0 Exemptions and Exceptions 

(continued) 

7.0 Data Protection  
 

 
 

7.1 Data Protection 
 
When an applicant applies for housing, the council will 
seek only information that they require to assess the 
applicant’s housing need. The council is processing the 
personal data you provide to comply with its legal 
obligation, therefore processing is in accordance with 
Article 6 (1) (c) of General Data Protection Regulation 
(“GDPR”). 
 
If you are providing us with special category personal 
information (such as details about your health) we will be 
processing this under Art. 9(2) of GDPR. If you are 
providing us with criminal conviction personal 
information we will be processing this under Art.10 of 
GDPR. 
 
We will use the data you have supplied for the purposes 
of your housing application. The Privacy Notice for 
Housing Applications details how the council will use the 
personal data, who this data will be shared with and how 
we will store your personal data. 
 
Your personal data will be treated in accordance with the 
council’s GDPR Personal Data Policy, the GDPR and Data 
Protection Act 2018. 
 
Section 166(4) of the Housing Act 1996 provides: 
 
“The fact that a person is an applicant for an allocation of 
housing accommodation shall not be divulged (without 
his consent) to any other member of the public.” 
 

 

 6.2 Ending your tenancy 
 
To end your tenancy, there are several things that you 
must do. 
 

 Give 4 weeks’ written notice - you can end your 
tenancy by giving us 4 weeks’ written notice that 
ends on a Monday. You can get a form sent to 
you by your Tenancy Management Officer. 

 
 You need to allow our staff to inspect your 

property during the 4-week notice period. 
 

 When your tenancy ends, you must clear the 
inside and outside of your property unless we 
have agreed for you to keep certain items. 

 
 A key safe will be provided at the property, you 

will need to place the keys in the key safe by 
midday on the day of the termination. 

 
Further information on changing your sole tenancy to a 
joint tenancy and other queries around ending tenancies 
can be found on the Changing or ending your tenancy 
page of our website. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 299



 

 
 
 

Priority Category Criteria within priority categories 
For all priority categories, applicants will only receive points for meeting one 
level of criteria.  

Points 

 
 
 
People who are homeless and haven’t 
received full housing duty under section 
193(2) of the Housing Act 1996, Part 7 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
People who have received main housing 
duty under section 193(2)of the Housing Act 
1996, Part 7 

All people who are homeless (within the meaning of the Housing Act 1996, 
Part 7). People with no fixed abode, rough sleepers and sofa surfers.  
 
Temporary Accommodation 
If you are placed into temporary accommodation, you will be awarded 
‘temporary accommodation points’ however, applicants will be exempt from 
sharing, overcrowding and flats without a lift points. 
 
The Elms 
Applicants who are residing at The Elms Hostel who have effectively engaged 
with support workers, have no licence breaches and no rent arrears at The 
Elms.  
Confirmation from The Elms support workers is required before these points 
are added. 
 
 
Successful Move on accommodation provided by the Elms. 
Applicants who have moved into ‘Move on’ accommodation through The Elms, 
once completed a satisfactory move on assessment. 
Confirmation from The Elms management is required before these points are 
added. 

 
10 
 
 
10 
 
 
 
 
 
5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10 

People who are owed the full statutory duty by the housing authority under 
the Housing Act, 1996, Part 7 (as referred to in the Homelessness Reduction 
Act 2017 as the main housing duty).   
Note: Only to be given at the point that the duty is awarded and not before 
even if an applicant is considered likely to receive this.  

 
Homelessness 
Status/ Direct Offer 

   
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Appendix 1 
How we allocate points 

P
age 300



 

 
Condition of private sector property 

Major disrepair – the property has a high level hazard assessed using the 
HHSRS.  
Note: This needs to be confirmed by a local authority Environmental Health 
Officer.  
Or 
Lacking kitchen and/or bathroom facilities.  

50  

 Minor disrepair – the property has a lower level hazard assessed using the 
HHSRS.  
Note: This needs to be confirmed by a local authority Environmental Health 
Officer.  
 

 
 
10 

   
Sharing kitchen and/or bathroom facilities A household that does not have sole use of kitchen and/or bathroom facilities.  

At Dacorum Borough Council we consider this to be in cases when applicants 
are residing in: 

- A household that is living with family or friends and has resided 
there for a minimum of 12 months. 

 
A household that is residing in a House of multiple occupancy (HMO)  

 
 

 
 
10 
 
 
 
15 
 
 

   
 
 
Overcrowding  
 
 

A household that is overcrowded.  
At Dacorum Borough Council, we consider overcrowding to occur when an 
additional person does not have a bed-space, if one bedroom is allocated to 
each: 

- Married or co-habiting couple;  
- Adult aged 18 years or more;  
- Pair of children aged 0 - 16 years of the same sex; and 
- Pair of children aged 10 years regardless of sex.  

 
 
Applicants that reside in a bedsit who are overcrowded will receive points in 
addition to the above. 
 
 

 
20 
(to be given for 
each additional 
personal lacking a 
bed-space if 
maximum use of 
available bed-
spaces is assumed).  
 
 
5 per lacking bed-
space 

P
age 301



 

 
 
Under-occupation in Council or Housing 
Association properties within Dacorum 

A household choosing to downsize by one or more bedrooms because they are 
currently under-occupying.  
 
Under-occupation will occur when: 

- A bedroom is unoccupied;  
- The household contains two same-sex children aged 15 or under who 

occupy separate bedrooms;  
- The household contains any two children aged 9 or under who occupy 

separate bedrooms.  

30 points per 
bedroom if 
applicant wants to 
downsize to a 
general needs 
property 
 
50 points per 
bedroom if 
applicant wants to 
downsize to a 
Supported Housing 
property 
 

   
 
Medical grounds 

Extreme medical needs as awarded by a Medical Advisor- add in very high- 75 100 
Very high medical needs as awarded by a Medical Advisor 75 
High medical needs as awarded by a Medical Advisor 50 
Medium medical needs as awarded by a Medical Advisor 30 
Low medical needs as awarded by a Medical Advisor 10 

   
 
Welfare grounds 

Extreme welfare needs as awarded by the Housing Panel 100 
Very high welfare needs as awarded by the Housing Panel 75 
High welfare needs as awarded by the Housing Panel 50 
Medium welfare needs as awarded by the Housing Panel 30 
Low welfare needs as awarded by the Housing Panel 10 

   
Children in flats A household with one or more children aged 5 years or under in a flat (first 

floor or above) where no lift is available.  
 
These points can only be awarded when another housing need is established. 
Applicants will not be made active just on these points.  
 

10 
(only to be given 
once, regardless or 
number of children 
in household).  

   
 
 
 

People who have: 
- Formerly served in the regular forces (including those suffering injury, 

illness or disability attributable to their service);  

 
 
 

P
age 302



 

Members of the armed forces 
 

- Ceased entitlement to accommodation provided by the Ministry of 
Defence following the death of their spouse or civil partner who 
served in the regular forces (whose death was attributable to that 
service); 

- Served in the reserve forces, suffering serious injury, illness or 
disability which is attributable to their service. 

10 

   

 
Supported housing moves  

Existing tenants of sheltered housing in Dacorum who wish to move from 
Category 1 to a Category 2 accommodation.  
Or 
An existing tenant aged 60 or over in general needs bedsit or one bedroom 
accommodation in Dacorum who wishes to move into sheltered 
accommodation.  
 
 

 
 
25 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

Use and Occupation Applicants that have been awarded points by Housing Panel in cases where 
they are under ‘Use and Occupation’ and Dacorum Borough Council require 
the property back.  
A Use and Occupation account will be created after the original tenancy has 
ended, a Notice to Quit has been served and any remaining household 
members are required to vacate the property. 
 

50  

   

Hardship Applicants who need to move within the Borough due to hardship as noted by 
the Housing Panel.  
Or 
Applicants who have been awarded the ‘right to move’.  

 
10  

   

P
age 303



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

High risk groups People from high-risk groups who meet hard-to-house or sensitive lettings 
criteria, such as (this list is not exhaustive):  

- Care leavers;  
- Witness protection cases;  
- Move-on from supported housing; or  
- Individuals identified through multi-agency groups.  

Direct offer or 
points at the 
discretion of the 
Housing Panel.  

   

Management Reasons Housing management can award points as an additional priority. In rare 
circumstances that these points will be used, it will need to be agreed by two 
housing managers.  

10-100 

P
age 304



 

 

 

 

 

Links to other corporate 
documents 
 

Legislation 
 

This policy links to and should be read in 
conjunction with the following policies and 
strategies:  

 Prevention of Homelessness & Rough 

Sleeping Strategy  

 Tenancy Strategy 

 Mutual Exchange Policy 

 Help to move Policy 

 Rents and other charges Policy 

 Lettable standard? 

 Adaptations Policy?  

 PRS Enforcement policy? (Check titles 

of these documents) 

The legislation listed below will be taken into 
consideration when implementing this policy: 

 
 Housing Act 1996, Part 6 and 7 
 Children Act 2004 
 Equality Act 2010 
 Localism Act 2011 
 Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 
 Domestic Abuse Act 2021 
 Allocation of accommodation: guidance for 

local housing authorities in England (June 
2012) 

 Providing social housing for local people 
(December 2013) 

 Right to Move (March 2015) 
 Improving access to social housing for victims 

of domestic abuse in refuges or other types 
of temporary accommodation (November 
2018) 

 Homelessness Code of Guidance for Local 
Authorities (2018) 

 Homeless Suitability of Accommodation 
Order 2012 

P
age 305



September 2019 V2 1 

Dacorum BC Community Impact Assessment (CIA) Template 

Policy / service / decision Policy: Housing Allocations Policy  

Description of what is being impact assessed 
What are the aims of the service, proposal, and project? What outcomes do you want to achieve? What are the reasons for the proposal or change? Do 
you need to reference/consider any related projects? 
Stakeholders; Who will be affected? Which protected characteristics is it most relevant to? Consider the public, service users, partners, staff, Members, 
etc. 

It is advisable to involve at least one colleague in the preparation of the assessment,  dependent on likely level of impact 

 What is the aim 
In accordance with the Localism Act 2011, each local authority has the right to determine their own Housing Allocations Policy. This 
allows local authorities to give “reasonable preference” to certain categories of applicants, ensure that properties are allocated in a 
fair and reasonable manner as well as being able to better manage our stock. The Allocations Policy sets out the rules that Dacorum 
Borough Council must follow when letting our properties. This also allows us to manage the unrealistic expectations of those 
applicants who have little or no prospect of being allocated a property. It is a legal requirement that this policy should be reviewed 
every 4 years to take ensure the current policy evolves with the ever changing climate.   

 Outcomes 
To make best use of our housing stock to house applicants most in need and ensure that access to Dacorum’s social 
housing is fair, transparent and flexible.  

 What are the reasons for proposal or change 
Changes to Housing Allocations Policy – recent significant change to address demand. Good practice to review policy 
every four years. Changes has been proposed to help and support applicants most in demand and to increase the uptake 
of Supported Housing stock. 

 Consider any related projects 
Not applicable.  
 
 

P
age 306



September 2019 V2 2 

 Who will be affected? 

All residents wishing to apply for social housing in Dacorum.  

Evidence 

What data/information have you used to assess how this policy/service/decision might impact on protected groups? 
(Include relevant national/local data, research, monitoring information, service user feedback, complaints, audits, consultations, CIAs from other projects 
or other local authorities, etc.). You should include such information in a proportionate manner to reflect the level of impact of the policy/service/decision.   

The Strategic Housing team have used the following evidence to help support the proposed changes to the policy and assess the 
impact of the protected groups: complaints and service review requests, public consultations, KPI keys to key targets, village 
demand data, Microsoft Teams engagement sessions and benchmarking against other local authorities and housing 
associations. The policy will impact all protected groups and it is vital that the policy can support certain protected group and also 
ensure that it does not discriminate against them. The opinion of Counsel has been sought, and acted upon, in order to ensure 
that the changes are fair and comply with the law and is fair and non-discriminatory. 

At engagement sessions, one was focused on Age of applicants at the Supported Housing Tenants Forum. Certain proposed 
changes in the policy could have a positive impact of the demand of Supported Housing and to make it more accessible for 
applicants over 60. However, this will not prevent applicants under 60 accessing this accommodation if their needs require.  

 

 

 

P
age 307



September 2019 V2 3 

Who have you consulted with to assess possible impact on protected groups?  If you have not consulted other people, please 
explain why? You should include such information in a proportionate manner to reflect the level of impact of the policy/service/decision.   

We have consulted with the general public (via Dacorum’s social media), Tenants & Leaseholders, staff, stakeholders and 
partners. This aligns with the government’s ‘Charter for Social Housing Residents’ social housing white paper  

Analysis of impact on protected groups (and others) 

The Public Sector Equality Duty requires Dacorum BC to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster 
good relations with protected groups. Consider how this policy/service/decision will achieve these aims.  Using the table below, 
detail what considerations and potential impacts against each of these using the evidence that you have collated and your own 
understanding.  Based on this information, make an assessment of the likely outcome, before you have implemented any 
mitigation. 

 The PCs of Marriage and Civil Partnership and Pregnancy and Maternity should be added if their inclusion is relevant for impact assessment. 
 Use “insert below” menu layout option to insert extra rows where relevant (e.g. extra rows for different impairments within Disability). 

Protected group 

Summary of impact 

What do you know?  What do people tell you? Summary of data and feedback about service 
users and the wider community/ public. Who uses / will use the service? Who doesn’t / can’t 
and why? Feedback/complaints?  

Negative 
impact / 
outcome 

Neutral 
impact / 
outcome 

Positive 
impact / 
outcome 

Age Internet access – older people less likely to be able to apply online. 
 
Older people – more likely to be physically disabled (as per AGEUK) 
 
Younger people cannot be tenants until they are 18 years old. 
 
Older people may be isolated in terms of information as they may 
not have access to IT or the internet. 

☒ ☐ ☐ 

P
age 308



September 2019 V2 4 

 
Older people may have vision issues which means they cannot read 
and write.  
 
16 year olds are able to apply for the Housing Register, however, a 
tenancy cannot be awarded until 18. 
 
Supported Housing is designed for 60+, limits the number of 
applicants that can apply for this type of housing.  
 
Applicants under 60 that have over £16k may not be eligible for 
Supported Housing. 
 
 
 
 
 

Disability (physical, 
intellectual, mental) 

Refer to CIA Guidance Notes 
and Mental Illness & 
Learning Disability Guide 

 
Applicants might be partially sighted or blind so cannot read 
paperwork or websites. 
 
Deaf people may have difficulty communicating with officers and find 
the process daunting. 
 
Disability may impact on timescales for being rehoused due to lack 
of suitable property. 
 
Some people with a disability or mental health issues may not have 
been diagnosed, or may need extra support. 
 
Some applicants with mental health issues may not have the support 
worker in place to apply. 

☒ ☐ ☐ 

P
age 309



September 2019 V2 5 

 
People with intellectual impairment may not understand the 
application/allocation process. 
 
People that require major adaptations to their homes will receive a 
direct offer rather than being active and being able to bid. 
 
Blind applicants may want to the Housing Register bidding process 
be accessible via screen reader. 

Gender reassignment We should refer to people as you/they, gender neutral 
 
We could ask people for their preferred pronoun on the application 
 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

Race and ethnicity Some applicants may have English as a second language 
 
Some applicants may wish to live in an area where there are more 
likely to be other residents of the same ethnicity 
In some circumstances we may need to discriminate positively in 
favour of applicants from certain countries. 

☒ ☐ ☐ 

Religion or belief Some applicants may wish to live close to a place of worship, or in 
an area where there are more likely to be other residents who follow 
the same faith 
In some circumstances we may need to discriminate positively in 
favour of applicants from certain countries, who may also be more 
likely to follow a particular religion. 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

Sex Females are more likely to be a single parent than males and 
therefore more likely to have a housing need for properties with 
more than one bedroom. 
For this reason, single males are also less likely to be allocated 
social housing than females.  

☐ ☒ ☐ 

P
age 310



September 2019 V2 6 

According to Age UK, older women are more likely to be physically 
disabled than older men, partly because they live longer. 
 
Age and sex of children may impact how many bedrooms they are entitled 
to. 
 
Custody orders to determine their primary address. 
 
Social normality that children reside with Mother rather than their Father. 

Sexual orientation Applicants may have concerns about homophobia from staff or other 
residents.  
 
Gender/sexual orientation etc is not a factor. 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

Not protected 
characteristics but 
consider other 
factors, e.g. carers, 
veterans, homeless, 
low income, 
loneliness, rurality 
etc. 

Lack of data on our applicants and existing tenants means we 
cannot always identify protected groups. 
 
Language should always meet plain English standards and be 
gender neutral – e.g. ‘parent’ rather than mother/father. 
 
Some applicants may not wish to live in an area where there are 
more likely to be incidents of hate crime/asb or there is a perception 
that this is the case. 
 
Victims of domestic abuse may have cases reviewed and be allowed 
to apply for housing when they would not otherwise qualify. 
 
Low income families, affected by high rents either in private rent or 
affordable rents. They would be deemed adequately housed, they 
would not be eligible for the Housing Register.   

☐ ☒ ☐ 

P
age 311



September 2019 V2 7 

Negative impacts / outcomes action plan 

Where you have ascertained that there will potentially be negative impacts / outcomes, you are required to mitigate the impact of 
these.  Please detail below the actions that you intend to take. 

Action taken/to be taken 

(copy & paste the negative impact / outcome then detail action) 
Date 

Person 
responsible 

Action complete 

Age- 
 
Internet access- paper copies of the application can be provided, 
applicants can be given direct offers, able to bid by phone or text. 
Applicants can request a home visit if they struggle with completing 
paperwork online. 
 

Older people might be more physically disabled- If applicants have 
issues with applying or providing information, staff from DBC can help and 
assist with this. DBC have an adaptations team to ensure that properties 
offered are suitable for applicant’s needs. 

Younger people cannot be tenants until they are 18 years old- DBC 
can signpost applicants under 18 to suitable supported accommodation 
provided by HCC or RPS. Also known as move on accommodation. When 
applicant is 18, the landlord will work with DBC to house applicant long 
term. 
 

Older people may have vision issues which means they cannot read 
and write- We will provide paper versions of forms, in alternative 
language, in Braille, or as voice recording 

26.09.21 Paul Hunt 

☐ 

P
age 312



September 2019 V2 8 

 

Disability (physical, intellectual, mental) 

Applicants might be partially sighted or blind so cannot read 
paperwork or websites - We will provide paper versions of forms, in 
alternative language, in Braille, or as voice recording, staff can complete 
home visits or applicants can enter council offices. Supported Housing 
newsletters can be send out in braile. 
 

Deaf people may have difficulty communicating with officers and find 
the process daunting- staff will treat all applicants with the same help 
and advice. Emails, letters can be composed. If needed an interpreter can 
assist. 
 

Disability may impact on timescales for being rehoused due to lack 
of suitable property- OT reports are required for applicants that require 
adaptations, not all properties can be adapted, therefore can wait longer is 
likely. When properties become void, they are assessed to determine what 
adaptations are feasible. 
 
Some people with a disability or mental health issues may not have 
been diagnosed, or may need extra support- DBC has a tenancy 
sustainment team to help support applicants with complex needs & can 
make referrals to external agencies such as CMHT & ACS. 
 
People with intellectual impairment may not understand the 
application/allocation process- Applicants can have support with the 
allocation process, this can be provided by assisted bidding, direct offers 
or requesting staff to place bids for them. 
 

26.9.21 Paul Hunt 

☐ 

P
age 313



September 2019 V2 9 

People that require major adaptations to their homes will receive a 
direct offer rather than being active and being able to bid- as much 
personal information and preferences are taken and the Housing Needs 
team try to meet these preferences when allocating a property. 
 

 

 
 
Gender reassignment 
 
Applicants who are or who have children that identify as non binary 
may or may not be entitled to own bedroom- guidance required from 
counsel to fairly determine how applications are assessed fairly and in line 
with legislation. 
 
 

26.09.21 Paul Hunt 

☒ 

Race and ethnicity 
 
 
Some applicants may have English as a second language- application 
or communication can be provided in different languages or an interpreter 
can be used. 
 
Some applicants may wish to live in an area where there are more 
likely to be other residents of the same ethnicity 
In some circumstances we may need to discriminate positively in 
favour of applicants from certain countries.- applicants who are active 
on the housing register have a choice to bid for properties in certain areas. 
Applicants that are on the direct offers list, information and area 

26.9.21 Paul Hunt 

☐ 

P
age 314



September 2019 V2 10

preferences are taken into account when offering a property. Where area 
preference cannot be given, the Housing Needs team will make every 
effort to ensure that it is in the same town. 
 

Non protected characteristics- 

Veterans- are given additional priority on the Housing Register in line with 
legislation.  

Homeless- applicants that are homeless or at risk of homelessness can 
be awarded additional points. Homeless applications are taken from the 
Homeless Prevention team and are assessed in line with legislation and 
the homeless code of guidance. If a main housing duty is accepted, 
applicants are placed on the direct offers list. 

  

☐ 

   ☐ 

   ☐ 

   ☐ 

 

If negative impacts / outcomes remain, please provide an explanation below. 

P
age 315



September 2019 V2 11

 

Completed by (all involved in CIA) Paul Hunt, Sue Prowse, Cybele Fernandes  

Date  

Signed off by (AD from different Directorate 
if being presented to CMT / Cabinet) 

 

Date  

Entered onto CIA database - date  

To be reviewed by (officer name)  

Review date  

 

 

P
age 316


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	6 Cabinet Forward Plan
	7 Economic Recovery Strategy
	FINAL - ERB Terms of Reference
	FiNAL - Economic Recovery - Community Impact AssessmentERPlan2021
	FINAL - DACORUM RECOVERY PLAN final

	8 Financial Regulations
	FINAL - Financial Regulations 2021v3 clean

	9 River Gade Restoration and Improvements to Gadebridge Park Project
	Appendix I River Gade Restoration Plan update 15Sept 21
	Appendix II River Gade Illustrated Designs of Environmetal Amenities
	Appendix III River Gade Benefits and Risks of the Project
	Appendix IV River Gade LIVE_GP Engagement Plan V7 July 2021

	10 Covid Update
	FINAL - Covid Recovery Group TOR (Appendix 1)
	FINAL - Covid Recovery Action Plan Appendix 2

	11 Annual Infrastructure Funding Statement
	FINAL - APPENDIX 1 INFRASTRUCTURE FUNDING STATEMENT KG
	APPENDIX 2 DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS (S106) PROJECTS FUNDED 2021 KG

	12 Housing Allocations Policy
	Current Allocations Policy - Appendix 1
	HA - Appendix 2 TLC Presentation- Allocations Policy Nov20
	HA - Appendix 3 Member Development Presentation Dec 2020
	HA - Appendix 4 Consultation Results
	HA - Appendix 5 Herts LA- Income thresholds and LC
	HA - Copy of Appendix 6 Village Connection data- Final
	HA - Appendix 7 - Housing Allocations Policy New Version
	HA - Appendix 8 CIA Allocations Policy


